JOURNAL

OF A

V O Y A G E

ТО

NORTH-AMERICA.

JOURNAL

OF A

V O Y A G E

T O

NORTH-AMERICA.

Undertaken by ORDER of the

FRENCH KING.

CONTAINING

The GEOGRAPHICAL Description and Natural History of that Country, particularly

CANADA.

TOGETHER WITH

An Account of the Customs, Characters, Religion, Manners and Traditions of the original Inhabitants.

In a Series of Letters to the Duchess of LESDIGUIERES.

Translated from the French of P. DE CHARLEVOIX.

VOL. II.

LONDON:

Printed for R. and J. Dodsley, in Pall-Mall.

MDCCLXI.

THE

CONTENTS

OF THE

SECOND VOLUME.

LETTER XVII.

DESCRIPTION of Lake Erie. Voyage as far as Detroit or the Narrows. Project for a Settlement in this Place. Cause of its Failure. Council called by the Commandant of Fort Pontchartrain, and the Subject of it. Of the Games of the Indians

LETTER XVIII.

Some Particulars relating to the Character, Customs, and Government of the Indians 19

LETTER XIX.

Voyage from the Narrows to Michillimakinac. Defeription of the Country. Of the Marriages of the Indians 39

vi CONTENTS.

LETTER XX.

Voyage to the Bay. Description of it, and of the Course thither. Irruption of the Spaniards into the Country of the Missouri Indians, and their Defeat. Dances of the Indians 59

LETTER XXI.

Departure from Michillimakinac. Observations on the Currents in the Lakes. Character of the Indians of Canada. Their good and ill Qualities 77

LETTER XXII.

Voyage to the River St. Joseph. Observations with respect to the Rivers which fall into Lake Michigan on the eastern Side. Of Father Marquette's River, and of the Origin of this Name. Of the Games of the Indians. Some particulars of the Character of these Nations

LETTER XXIII.

Sequel of the Character of the Indians and of their
Manner of living 113

LETTER XXIV.

Of the Religion and Traditions of the Indians of Canada 141

LETTER XXV.

Sequel of the Traditions of the Indians

165

LETTER XXVI.

Departure from the Fort of the River St. Joseph. Sources of the Theakiki: What passes at the Death of the Indians; of their Funerals and Tombs. Of their Mourning and Widowhood. Of the Festival of the Dead 183

LETTER XXVII.

Voyage to Pimitiouy. Of the River of the Illinois; Reception of Prisoners of War amongst that People. Manner of burning them. Some particulars of their Manner of living

LETTER XXVIII.

Voyage from Pimiteouy to Caskasquias. Course of the River of the Illinois. Of the Copper Mines. Of the Missouri. Of the Mines of the River Marameg. Description of Fort Chartres, and of the Mission of Kaskasquias. Of the Fruittrees of Louisiana. Description of the Mississippi above the Ilinois. Different tribes of that Nation. Some Traditions of the Indians. Their Notions about the Stars, Eclipses and Thunder. Their Manner of calculating Time

LETTER XXIX.

Of the Colony of the Illinois. Voyage to Akanfas.

Description of the Country 235

LETTER XXX.

Voyage from the Akansas to the Natchez. Description of the Country. Of the River of the Yasous. Of the Customs, Manners, and Religion of the Natchez 249

viii CONTENTS.

LETTER XXXI.

Voyage from the Natchez to New Orleans. Defeription of the Country and of several Indian Villages, with that of the Capital of Louisiana 275

LETTER XXXII.

Voyage from New Orleans to the Mouth of the Mississippi. Description of that River to the Sea. Reslections on the Grants 289

LETTER XXXIII.

Description of Biloxi. Of the Plant Cassina or Apa-Cachina. Of Myrtle-wax, of the Mobile, of the Tchastas, of the Bay of St. Bernard. Voyage from Biloxi to New Orleans, by the Way of Lake Pontchartrain 303

LETTER XXXIV.

Voyage to the Gulph of Bahama. Shipwreck of the Adour. Return to Louisiana, along the Coast of Florida. Description of that Coast 315

LETTER XXXV.

Voyage from Biloxi to Cape François in St. Domingo 351

LETTER XXXVI.

Description of Cape François in St. Domingo.

Return to France, and the Author's touching in England.

371

JOUR-

JOURNAL

OF A

V O Y A G E

Made by Order of the French King through

NORTH AMERICA.

LETTER XVII.

Description of Lake Erie. Voyage as far as Detroit or the Narrows. Project for a Settlement in this Place. Cause of its Failure. Council called by the Commandant of Fort Pontchartrain, and the Subject of it. Of the Games of the Indians.

Fort Pontchartrain in the Narrows, June 8, 1721.

MADAM,

Set out on the 27th of last month from the entrance of lake Erie after sealing my last letter, and though it was then late I made three leagues farther that day with the advantage of a favourable wind and the finest weather in the world. The course is by coasting along the north shore amounting to a hundred leagues. The way turning off towards the south from Niagara is Vol. II.

much more agreeable but longer by one half. Lake Erie is a hundred leagues in length from east to west. Its breadth from north to fouth is thirty leagues, or thereabouts. The name it bears is that of an Indian nation of the Huron language, which was formerly feated on its banks, and who have been entirely destroyed by the Iroquoise. Erie in that language fignifies Cat, and in some accounts this nation is called the Cat nation. name comes probably, from the large quantity of these animals formerly found in this country. They are no larger than ours and their skins are reckoned very valuable. Some modern maps have given lake Erie the name of Conti, but with no better fuccess than the names of Condé, Tracy, and Orleans which have been given to the lakes Huron, Superior and Michigan.

On the 28th I advanced nineteen leagues, and found myself opposite to a river called, La grande Riviere, or the Great River, which runs from the eastward in 42 deg. 15 min. The largest trees however were not as yet covered with leaves. Excepting this circumstance, the country appeared to me extremely beautiful. We made little way the 29th, and none at all the 30th. We embarked again on the morrow before funrife, and advanced a good way. The 1st. of June being the day of Pentecost, after having sailed up a beautiful river for the space of an hour, which has its rife as they fay at a great distance, and runs betwixt two fine meadows; we passed over a carrying place of about fixty paces in breadth, in order to avoid turning round a point which is called the long Point; it is a very fandy spot of ground, and naturally bears a great quantity of vines. The followfollowing days I faw nothing remarkable, but coasted along a charming country, hid at times by very disagreeable prospects, which however are of no great extent. Wherever I went ashore I was quite enchanted by the beauty and variety of a landscape, which was terminated by the noblest forests in the whole world. Add to this, that every part of it swarms with water fowl; I cannot say whether the woods afford game in equal profusion; but I well know that on the south side there is a prodigious quantity of Bussaloes.

Were we always to fail as I then did, with a ferene sky in a most charming climate, and on water as clear as that of the purest fountain; were we fure of finding every where fecure and agreeable places to pass the night in, where we might enjoy the pleasure of hunting at a small expence, breathe at our ease the purest air, and enjoy the prospect of the finest countries in the universe, we might possibly be tempted to travel to the end of our days. I recalled to memory those ancient Patriarchs who had no fixed place of abode, who lived in tents, who were in a manner the masters of all the countries they passed through, and who enjoyed in peace and tranquillity all their productions, without the plague inevitable in the possession of a real and fixed estate. How many oaks represented to me that of Mamre? how many fountains put me in mind of that of Jacob? each day a new situation chosen at pleasure; a neat and commodious house built and furnished with all necessaries in less than a quarter of an hour, and floored with a pavement of flowers, continually springing up on a carpet of the most beautiful green; on all fides simple and natural beauties unadulterated and inimitable by any art. B 2

If these pleasures sometimes suffer a little interruption, whether by hard weather or some other unforeseen accident, it is only to render them more sensibly felt at a second enjoyment.

Were I inclined to moralize I might add, that these alternatives of pleasure and disappointment, which I have already undergone fince my fetting out, are very proper to make us fenfible that there is no kind of life more capable of placing this maxim constantly before our eyes, that we are no more than pilgrims on the earth, and that we have no right to use but as passengers, the good things of this world; that the real wants of man are very few in number, that little is sufficient to purchase contentment, and that we ought to take in good part those evils and crosses which surprize us, fince with the fame rapidity they make way for a mixture of better fortune. Lastly, how many things contribute in this way of life to make us fensible of our dependance on the divine providence, which in order to produce this mixture of good and evil, makes not use of the passions of men but of the vicisfitudes of seasons, which may entirely be foreseen, and the caprice of the elements which we ought to look for: and confequently what a multitude of opportunities of meriting by our confidence in, and refignation to the divine will? It is generally faid that long voyages are feldom attended with a large crop of divine grace; nothing however is more proper to produce it than this fort of life.

On the fourth we stopt a good part of the day on a point which runs north and south three leagues, and which is called *Pointe Pélée*, or Bald Point. It is however well enough wooded on the west side.

side, but that of the east is a sandy track producing nothing but red cedars, of an indifferent growth and in small quantities. The white cedar is of more general use than the red, the wood of which is easily broken, and is only sit for making small pieces of furniture. It is a notion in this country that women with child should not use it in busks. The leaves of this tree yield no odour but the wood does. Quite the reverse happens in the white cedar. There are a great number of bears in this country, and more than four hundred of these animals were killed last winter on *Pointe Pélée* alone.

On the fifth towards four o'clock in the afternoon we perceived the land on the fouth shore, and two little islands which lie very near it. These are called Rattlefnake islands, and we are told they are so infested with these reptiles that the air is infected with them. We entered the Narrows an hour before funfet, and paffed the night above a very beautiful island, called L'isle de Bois Blanc, or White-wood island. From Long-point to the Narrows the course is always west; from the entry of the Narrows to the island of St. Clair, which is five or fix leagues, and thence to Lake Huron it bends fowewhat towards the east, inclining to the fouth; thus the whole of the Narrows, which are thirty-two leagues long, lies between 42 degrees 12 or 15 minutes, and 43 degrees and a half north latitude. Above the island of St. Clair, the Narrows widen and form a lake, which has either received its name from the island, or given it its own. It is about fix leagues long and as many broad in some places.

It is pretended that this is the finest part of all Canada, and really if we may judge by appearances, nature feems to have refused it nothing that can contribute to make a country delightful; hills, meadows, fields, lofty forests, rivulets, fountains, rivers, and all of them so excellent in their kind, and so happily blended, as to equal the most romantic wishes; the lands however are not all equally proper for every fort of grain, but most are of a wonderful fertility, and I have known some produce good wheat for eighteen years running without any manure, and besides all of them are proper for some particular use. The islands feem pla ed on purpose for the pleasure of the prospect; the river and lake abound in fish, the air is pure, and the climate temperate and extremely wholfome.

Before you arrive at the fort, which stands on the lest, a league below the island of St. Claire, you find on the fame fide two pretty populous villages very near each other; the first is inhabited by the Tionnontatez a tribe of the Hurons, and the same who after having wandered to and fro for a long time, first settled at the balls of St. Mary, and at Michillimakinac; the second is inhabited by the Poutewatamie Indians. On the right, somewhat higher is a third village of the Outawais, inseparable companions of the Hurons from the time that both of them were driven from their country by the Iroquois; there are no christians at all among these last, and sew if any amongst the Poutewatemies; the Hurons are all christians, but have no missionaries; it is said they will admit of none, but this is only true of a few of their principal men who have not much religion, and who who do not suffer the others to be heard, who have been a long time desirous of having missionaries sent them.

It is a long time fince the importance of the place, still more than the beauty of the country about the Narrows has given ground to wish, that some considerable settlement were made in this place; this has been tolerably well begun fome fifteen years fince, but certain causes of which I am not informed, have reduced it almost to nothing; those who are against it alledge first, that it would bring the trade for the northern furs too near the English, who as they are able to afford their commodities to the Indians cheaper than we, would draw all that trade into the province of New York. Secondly, that the lands near the Narrows are not fertile, and that the whole surface to the depth of nine or ten inches confifts of fand, below which is hard clay impenetrable to the water; from whence it happens that the plains and interior parts of the woods are always drowned; that every where you fee nothing but diminutive ill-grown oaks, and hard walnut-trees, and that the trees having their roots always under water their fruits ripen very late. These reasons have not been unanswered; it is true that in the neighbourhood of fort Pontchartrain the lands have a mixture of fand, and that in the neighbouring forests there are bottoms almost constantly under water; however these very lands have produced wheat eighteen years fuccessively without the least manure, and you have no great way to go to find the finest soil in the world. With respect to woods, without going a great way from the fort, I have feen as I have been walking fuch as may vie with our noblest forests.

As for what has been said that by making a settlement at the Narrows, we should bring the furtrade too much within reach of the English; there is not a man in Canada who does not agree, that we can never succeed in hindering the Indians from carrying them their commodities, let them be settled where they will, and with all the precautions we can possibly take; except by causing them to find the same advantage in trading with us, as in the province of New York. I have many more things to acquaint your grace of, but these discussions would carry me too far; we shall talk over the matter some day at our leisure.

On the 7th of June, which was the day after my arrival at the fort, Mons. de Tonti who commands here, affembled the chiefs of the three villages I have just mentioned, in order to communicate to them the orders he had received from the Marquis de Vaudreuil; they heard him calmly and without interruption; when he had done speaking the orator of the Hurons told him in few words, that they were going to confult about what he had proposed to them, and would give him their answer in a short time; it is the custom of the Indians never to give an immediate answer on an affair of any consequence. Two days after they affembled in great numbers at the commandant's, who was defirous that I should be prefent at this council, together with the officers of the garrison. Sasteratsi, whom we French call king of the Hurons; and who is in fact hereditary chief of the Tionnontatez, who are the true Hurons was also present on this occasion; but as he is still a minor he came only for form sake; his uncle who governs in his name, and who is called regent, spoke in quality of orator of the nation:

nation; now the honour of speaking in the name of the whole is generally given to some Huron when any of them happens to be of the council. The first view of these assemblies gives you no great idea of the body; imagine to yourself madam, half a fcore favages almost stark naked with their hair disposed in as many different manners as their are different persons in the assembly, and all of them equally ridiculous; fome with laced hats, all with pipes in their mouths and with the most unthinking faces. It is besides a rare thing to hear any one utter fo much as a fingle word in a quarter of an hour, or to hear any answer made even in a monosyllable; not the least mark of distinction, nor any respect paid to any person whatfoever. We should however be apt to change our opinion of them upon hearing the refult of their deliberations.

The business in debate on this occasion, related to two points which the governor general had very much at heart; the first was to persuade the three villages fettled at the Narrows, to agree that no more brandy should be sold them, had been expresly prohibited by the council of the marine. The fecond was to engage all the nations to unite with the French, to destroy the Outagamies, commonly called Foxes, who had been favoured with an indemnity fome years before, and who had begun their robberies anew. Monsieur de Tonti first caused to be repeated to them by his interpreters in a few words, what he explained more at large in the first assembly, when the Huron orator made answer in the name of the three villages; he made no exordium but came at once to the point, he spoke a great while and with much gravity, paufing at each article to give time

to the interpreters to explain in French what he had been faying in his own language.

His mien, the tone of his voice, and the manner of his delivery, though without any gestures or inflections of the body, appeared to me extremely noble and calculated to persuade, and what he faid must have been very eloquent, fince after being stript of all its ornaments in the mouth of the interpreter, who was only a man of common parts, we were all perfectly charmed with it; and I do affure you, madam, that had he continued to speak for two whole hours I could have heard him with the greatest pleasure. Another proof that the beauty of his discourse came not from the interpreter is, that this man never could have dared to take upon him to tell us from himself all he said to us; I was even somewhat furprized at his boldness in repeating so faithfully as he did certain points which could not fail to be disagreeable to the commandant. When the Huron orator had ended, Onanguicé chief and orator of the Poutewatemies spoke in a few words, and after a very ingenious manner, to all that the other had more largely expatiated upon, concluding to the same purpose, as he had done; the Outawais fpoke not at all, but feemed to approve of what had been faid by the others.

The result was that the French might use their pleasure with respect to the selling of brandy to the Indians; but they had done well had they never supplied them with any; and it is impossible to imagine any thing stronger than what the Huron orator said whilst he was laying open the disorders occasioned by this beverage, and the mischiess it had done to all the Indian nations in general

The most zealous missionary could not have faid more; he added however that they were now fo much accustomed to it that they could no longer be without it; by which it was easy to guess that should the French refuse them, they would certainly have recourse to the English: that with respect to the war with the Outegamies nothing could be determined, except in a general council of all the nations who acknowledge Ononthio, (fo the Indians call the French king) for their father; that no doubt they would all agree in thinking the war necessary, but that they would with great difficulty be brought to place any confidence in the French, who after having once before united them to affift in exterminating the common enemy, had granted them peace without ever consulting with their allies, and without its being possible to find out any reason for such a proceeding.

The day after I visited the two Indian towns near the fort; I began with that of the Hurons where I found all the matrons, and amongst them the grand-mother of Sasteratsi in much affliction for being so long deprived of every spiritual succour; many circumstances which I learned at the same time consirmed me in the opinion I had before sometime adopted, that certain private interests were the sole obstacles to the desires of these good christians; it is to be hoped that the last orders of the council of the marine will remove all those obstacles; Monsieur de Tonti assured me he was going to set about it in an effectual manner.

Those who were my guides in this village asfured me, that were it not for the Hurons the other Indians of the Narrows must die of hunger; this is certainly not the fault of the land where they are fettled; were they to cultivate it ever fo little they would find at least sufficient for their fubfiftance; fifthing alone would supply them with a good part, and this exercise is far from being very laborious, but after having once tasted brandy they think only of amassing of furs to purchase wherewithal to intoxicate themselves. The Hurons who are wifer, more laborious and more accustomed to husbandry, being also endued with a greater share of foresight entertain more solid thoughts, and by means of their industry are in a condition not only to subfift without being behoiden to any one, but also to furnish a supply to their neighbours; this however is not done entirely from fentiments of humanity, for we must by no means reckon amongst the number of their good qualities that of difinterestedness.

I was still better received amongst the infidel Poutewatamies than amongst the christian Hurons; these Indians are the finest men in all Canada, and are besides of the sweetest natural temper, and have been always our very good friends. Onanguicé their chief treated me with a politeness which gave me full as high an opinion of his good sense as the discourse he had made in the council; he is a person of undoubted worth, and entirely in our interest.

As I was returning through a quarter of the Huron village, I perceived a number of these Indians, who seemed much heated at play; I approached them and found that the game they were paing at was what they call the game of the platter; this is the game to which the Indians are addicted above all others, they sometimes lose their rest, and in some degree their very senses.

fenfes at it; they stake all they are worth. and feveral of them are known to continue at it till they have stript themselves stark naked and lost all their moveables in their cabbins: fome have even been known to stake their liberty for a certain time; this circumstance proves beyond all doubt how paffionately fond they are of it, there being no people in the universe more jealous of their liberty than our Indians.

The game of the platter or bones, is played between two persons only; each person has fix or eight little bones, which I at first took for apricot stones, these being of the same size and shape; but upon viewing them nearer I found they had fix unequal faces, the two largest of which are painted, the one black and the other of a straw colour; they fling them up into the air, striking at the same time against the ground or table with a round hollow dish, in which they are contained. and which must first be made to spin round; when they have no dish they content themselves with throwing the bones up into the air with the hand; if all of them after falling to the ground present the fame colour, the player wins five points, the party is forty, and the points won are discounted in proportion to the gains on his fide; five bones of a colour give only one point for the first time, but the second the winner sweeps the board; any lower number goes for nothing.

He who wins the party still continues to play; the loser yields his place to another who is named by the markers on the fame fide; for they take fides at the beginning of the game, so that a whole village is sometimes concerned in the party,

and even sometimes one village plays against another; each side chuse their own marker who retires when he pleases, which happens only when things do not go so well on his side. At each throw that is played, especially if it be a decisive one, they make a prodigious shouting; the players seem possessed, and the spectators are scarce more masters of themselves; both make a thousand contorsions, address themselves to the bones, load the genii of the adverse party with imprecations, and the whole village rings with their howling; if all this is inessectual to retrieve their ill-luck the losers are at liberty to put off the party till tomorrow, at the expence of a very slender repast to the assistants.

They then prepare to return to the combat. each invoking his tutelary genius and throwing in honour of him fome tobacco into the fire; they implore of him above all things happy dreams: the moment day appears they fall to play, when if the losers take it into their head that the furniture of their cabbin is the cause of their ill-luck, they begin with changing it intirely; great parties generally last five or fix days, and oftentimes the night occasions no interruption; however as all the spectators, at least such as are concerned in the game, are in fuch an agitation as to be transported out of themselves to such a degree that they quarrel and fight, which never happens to the Hurons except on these occasions, or when they are drunk; we may eafily guess whether when the party is ended, both do not stand sufficiently in need of rest.

It happens fometimes that these parties at play are prescribed by some of their physicians, or at the

the request of some sick person; a dream is often fufficient cause for either; this dream is always understood for a command of some genius, and then they prepare for the party with prodigious care: they affemble feveral different nights to make an effay, and to fee who has the happiest hand at a throw; they confult their genius, they fast, and married persons observe the strictest continence and all to obtain a favourable dream; every morning they relate those they have had, and make a collection of all fuch things of which they happen to have dreamed, and which they imagine able to bring good luck to their fide, which they put into little bags and carry about with them. If any one has the reputation of being fortunate, that is according to the notions of these people, of having a more fortunate genius, or one that is more inclined to do good, they never fail to make him approach him who holds the platter; they go fometimes to feek this person at a great distance, and if through old age or fome infirmity he is unable to walk they carry him on their shoulders.

They have often pressed the missionaries to be present at these games, from a persuasion that their tutelar genii are more powerful than all others. It happened one day in a Huron village that a sick woman having caused one of their priests to be called, who are also their physicians, this quack prescribed for her the game of the platter, and appointed a village different from his own to play; she immediately sent to ask permission of the chief of this village; this was granted, the party was played and the game being ended, the patient returned the players a great many thanks for the cure, which as she said

faid they had procured her: fo far however from being better she was on the contrary much worse, but they are obliged to seem satisfied even when they have least cause to be so.

The resentment of this woman and of her relations fell upon the missionaries for refusing to be present at the party, notwithstanding all the solicitations that had been made to them for this purpose, and from their chagrin at the little complaifance they shewed on this occasion, they reproached them with faying, that ever fince their arrival in the country, the genii of the Indians had had no longer any power; the missionaries took advantage of this confession to shew these insidels the weakness of their divinities, and the superiority of the God of the christians; but as it seldom happens on fuch occasions that people are difposed to hear reason, these barbarians answered coolly, "You have your gods and we have ours, "only it is our misfortune that ours are the least " powerful of the two."

The Narrows is one of the countries where a botanist might make the greatest number of discoveries. I have already observed that all Canada produces a vast number of simple of sovereign virtue; it is not doubted that the snows contribute much to this, but there is in it besides such a variety of soil, which joined to the mildness of the climate, and the ease with which the sun warms this country which is more open than the rest, gives ground to believe that the plants have more virtue in this than in any other part of it.

One of my guides lately made a trial of the virtue of an herb which is to be met with every where, and the knowledge of which is exceeding necessary to travellers, not for any good qualities it possesses, for I have never as yet heard any attributed to it, but because too much care cannot be taken to avoid it; this is called, L'herbe a la puce. or Flea-wort, but this name is not expressive enough to shew the effects it produces. These are more or less sensible according to the constitution of those it happens to touch; there are even some persons on whom it does not operate at all; but fome persons merely by looking upon it are seized with a violent fever, which lasts more than fifteen days, and is accompanied with a very troublefome scab, attended with a prodigious itching all over the body; it operates on others only when they touch it, and then the patient appears as if entirely covered over with a leprofy: and fome have been known to have had their hands quite spoiled with it. No remedy is as yet known for it but patience; after some time it go s entirely off.

There grows also at the Narrows citron trees in the open fields, the fruit of which in shape and colour resemble those of Portugal, but they are fmaller and of a difagreeable flavour; they are excellent candied. The root of this tree is a mortal and most subtle poison, and at the same time a fovereign antidote against the bite of serpents. It must be bruised and applied instantly on the wound: this remedy is immediate and infallible. On both fides of the Narrows the country is faid to preserve all its beauty for ten leagues up the country; after which you meet with a smaller number of fruit trees and fewer meadows. But Vol. II. after

after travelling five or fix leagues farther inclining to lake Erie, towards the fouth-west, you discover immense meadows extending above a hundred leagues every way, and which feed an immense quantity of those buffaloes, whereof I have more than once made mention.

I am, &c.

L E T T E R XVIII.

Some Particulars relating to the Character, Cuftoms, and Government of the Indians.

The Narrows, June 14, 1721.

Madam,

FTERI had closed my last letter and given it to a person who was going down to Quebec, I made myself ready to pursue my voyage, and accordingly embarked next day; but I have not been able to get over, and through the neglect of those who conducted me, am returned back to fort Pontchartrain, where I very much fear being obliged to remain feveral days longer. These are disappointments we must lay our account with, in travelling with Canadians who are never in a hurry, and who are very careless in taking their meafures. But, as we are to make the most of every thing, I will take the opportunity of this delay, to divert you with beginning some account of the government of the Indians, and their manner of proceeding in the dispatch of public business: by this means, you will more easily understand many things, which I shall have occasion to mention to you in the fequel.

I shall, however, be as brief as possible on this head: first, because every thing relating to it is not equally interesting; in the second place, beeause I would not willingly write you any thing, but what is supported on the credit of good witnesses; and it is no easy matter to find people whose sincerity is beyond all suspicion, at least of exaggerating things; or who cannot be accused of having too flightly believed what has been told them; or lastly, who have judgment sufficient to take things in their true point of view; which requires one to have made a long stay in the country, and to have conversed much with the inhabitants. therefore give you nothing of my own on this article; for which cause, I shall not observe any exact order, in what I shall say; but you will easily collect together, and make a just whole of the passages I shall give you in my letters, in proportion as I shall be informed of them,

It must be agreed, Madam, that the nearer we view our Indians, the more good qualities we difcover in them: most of the principles which serve to regulate their conduct, the general maxims by which they govern themselves, and the essential part of their character, discover nothing of the barba-Besides those ideas, though wholly indistinct, which they still preserve of a Supreme Being, these veftiges, now almost nearly effaced, of a religious worship, which they seem formerly to have paid this fovereign ruler; and the weak traces which we remark in their most indifferent actions of the ancient belief, and of the primitive religion, might re-Hore them more easily than is imagined to the true path, render their conversion to christianity easier than is commonly found, and which is attended with greater obstacles, even in the most civilized nations.

hations. In effect, does not experience teach us, that politeness, knowledge, and the maxims of state, produce in these last an attachment to, and prejudice in favour of their false tenets; that all the zeal and abilities of the evangelical labourers, can with difficulty surmount them; and that grace must of necessity act more powerfully on the minds of enlightened infidels, who are almost always blinded by their presumption, than on those who oppose to it their narrow capacities only.

Most part of the people on this continent have a fort of Aristocratical government, the form of which is extremely various: for though each town has a chief of its own, independent of all the rest of the same nation, and whose Subjects are dependent on him in very few particulars; there is, notwithstanding, no affair of any consequence resolved upon, but by the advice of the Elders. Towards Acadia the Sagamos were more absolute, and it does not appear that they were under any obligation, as the chiefs are almost every where else, of making largesses to their subjects; on the contrary, they exacted a kind of tribute from them; and difinterestedness was by no means esteemed a royal virtue amongst them. But it feems the dispersion of these Acadian Indians. and perhaps too their commerce with the French, have introduced confiderable changes into their ancient form of government; whereof Lescarbot and Champlain are the only authors, who have given us any particular account.

Several nations have each of them three principal families or tribes, which feem to be as old as their first origin. They have all, however, one common stock; and there is one at least that is C₃ looked

looked upon as the first, and which has a fort of pre-eminence over the other two, in which those of this tribe are treated as brothers, whereas amongst themselves they treat one another as coufins. These tribes are mixed, without being confounded, each of them having a distinct chief in every village: and in such affairs as concern the whole nation, these chiefs assemble to deliberate upon it. Every tribe bears the name of some animal, the whole nation having also its own, whose name it takes, and whose figure is their bearing or ensigns armorial; and when they sign any treaties, it is always by drawing those figures upon them, except when for particular reasons they cause substitute some other.

Thus, the Huron nation is the nation of the porcupine: its first tribe bears the name of the bear, or of the roe-buck, authors varying on this head; the other two have the wolf and tortoile for their animals; lastly, every town has its own particular animal, and it is probably this variety which has misled the authors of some accounts. It is also proper to observe, that besides these distinctions of nations, tribes, and towns, by animals, there are also others founded on some custom, or particular event: as for instance, the Tionnontatez Hurons, who are of the first tribe, commonly call themselves the tobacco nation; and we have a treaty in which these Indians, who were then settled at Michillimakinac, have put for their mark the figure of a beaver.

The Iroquois nation has the same animals with the Huron, of which it appears to be a colony, with this difference, that the samily of the tortoise is split into two branches, called the great and little tortoise. toise. The chief of each family bears its name, and in all public deeds he is known by no other. The fame thing happens with regard to the chief of a nation, as well as of every village: but besides this name, which is only a fort of representative appellation, they have another, which distinguishes them more particularly, and which is properly a mark of dignity: thus, one is called the most noble, another the most ancient, and so forth. Lastly, they have a third which is personal; but I should be apt to believe, that this custom prevails only amongst those nations where the office of chief is hereditary.

These titles are always imposed with great ceremony; the new chief, or, in case he is too young, he who represents him, is to make a feast, bestow presents, pronounce the elogium of their predecessor, and sing his song. There are, however, some personal names in so much veneration, that no one dares to appropriate them to himself; or which are at least a long time before they are renewed; when this is done, it is called raising the person to life who formerly bore it.

In the northern parts, and wherever the Algonquin tongue prevails, the dignity of chief is elective; and the whole ceremony of election and infallation confifts in some feasts, accompanied with dances and songs: the chief elect likewise never fails to make the panegyrick of his predecessor, and to invoke his genius. Amongst the Hurons, where this dignity is hereditary, the succession is continued through the women, so that at the death of a chief, it is not his own, but his sister's son who succeeds him; or, in default of which, his nearest relation in the semale line. When the whole

branch happens to be extinct, the noblest matron of the tribe or in the nation chuses the person she approves of most, and declares him chief. person who is to govern must be come to years of maturity; and when the hereditary chief is not as yet arrived at this period, they appoint a regent, who has all the authority, but which he holds in name of the minor. These chiefs generally have no great marks of outward respect paid them, and if they are never disobeyed, it is because they know how to fet bounds to their authority. true that they request or propose, rather than command; and never exceed the boundaries of that fmall share of authority with which they are vefted. Thus it is properly reason which governs, and the government has fo much the more influence, as obedience is founded in liberty; and that they are free from any apprehension of its degenerating into tyranny.

Nay more, each family has a right to chuse a counsellor of its own, and an affishant to the chief, who is to watch for their interest; and without whose consent the chief can undertake nothing. These counsellors are, above all things, to have an eye to the public treasury; and it is properly they who determine the uses it is to be put to. They are invested with this character in a general council, but they do not acquaint their allies with it, as they do at the elections and installations of their chief. Amongst the Huron nations, the women name the counsellors, and often chuse persons of their own sex.

This body of counsellors or affistants is the highest of all; the next is that of the elders, confisting of all those who have come to the years of maturity. I have not been able to find exactly what

what this age is. The last of all is that of the warriors; this comprehends all who are able to bear arms. This body has often at its head, the chief of the nation or town; but he must first have distinguished himself by some signal action of bravery; if not, he is obliged to serve as a subaltern, that is, as a single centinel; there being no degrees in the militia of the Indians.

In fact, a large body may have several chiefs, this title being given to all who ever commanded; but they are not therefore the less subject to him who leads the party; a kind of general, without character or real authority, who has power neither to reward nor punish, whom his foldiers are at liberty to abandon at pleasure and with impunity, and whose orders notwithstanding are scarce ever disputed: so true it is, that amongst a people who are guided by reason, and inspired with sentiments of honour and love for their country, independance is not destructive of subordination; and, that a free and voluntary obedience is that on which we can always rely with the greatest certainty. Moreover, the qualities requisite are, that he be fortunate, of undoubted courage, and perfeetly difinterested. It is no miracle, that a perfon possessed of such eminent qualities should be obeyed.

The women have the chief authority amongst all the nations of the Huron language; if we except the Iroquois canton of Onneyouth, in which it is in both sexes alternately. But if this be their lawful constitution, their practice is seldom agreeable to it. In sact, the men never tell the women any thing they would have to be kept secret; and rarely any affair of consequence is communicated.

municated to them, though all is done in their name, and the chiefs are no more than their What I have told your grace of the lieutenants. grandmother of the hereditary chief of the Hurons of the Narrows, who could never obtain a missionary for her own town, is a convincing proof that the real authority of the women is very small: I have been however assured, that they always deliberate first on whatever is proposed in council; and that they afterwards give the refult of their deliberation to the chiefs, who make the report of it to the general council, composed of the elders; but in all probability this is done only for form's fake, and with the restrictions I have already mentioned. The warriors likewife confult together, on what relates to their particular province, but can conclude nothing of importance which concerns the nation or town; all being subject to the examination and controll of the council of elders, who judge in the last refource.

It must be acknowledged, that proceedings are carried on in these assemblies with a wisdom and a coolness, and a knowledge of affairs, and I may add generally with a probity, which would have done honour to the areopagus of Athens, or to the fenate of Rome, in the most glorious days of those republics: the reason of this is, that nothing is refolved upon with precipitation; and that those violent paffions, which have fo much difgraced the politics even of Christians, have never prevailed amongst the Indians over the public good. Interested persons fail not, however, to set many springs in motion, and apply an address in the execution of their defigns, we could hardly believe barbarians capable of; they also all of them posfefs. fefs, in the most sovereign degree, the art of concealing their real intentions: but generally speaking, the glory of the nation and motive of honour, are the chief movers in all enterprizes. What can never be excused in them is, that they often make honour consist in satisfing a revenge which knows no bounds; a fault which Christianity alone is able to correct, and in which all our politeness and religion are often unsuccessful.

Each tribe has an orator in every town, which orators are the only perfons who have a liberty to speak in the public councils and general assemblies: they always speak well and to the purpose. Besides this natural eloquence, and which none who are acquainted with them will dispute, they have a perfect knowledge of the interests of their employers, and an address in placing the best side of their own cause in the most advantageous light, which nothing can exceed. On some occasions, the women have an orator, who speaks in their name, or rather acts as their interpreter.

Nations who may be faid to possess nothing, neither public nor 'private, and who have no ambition to extend their territory, should, in appearance, have sew affairs to settle with one another. But the mind of man, naturally restless, is incapable of remaining inactive, and is very sagacious in cutting out business for itself. What is certain, is, that our Indians are eternally negociating, and have always some affairs or other on the tapis: such as the concluding or renewing of treaties, offers of service, mutual civilities, making alliances, invitations to become parties in a war, and lastly, compliments of condolance on the death of some chief or considerable person. All this is perform-

7 ed

ed with a dignity, an attention, and, I may add, with a capacity equal to the most important affairs; and theirs are sometimes of greater consequence than they seem to be: for those, who are deputed for this purpose, have commonly secret instructions; so that the outward motive of their deputation is no more than a veil which covers their real designs.

The nation, which has made the first figure in Canada, for two centuries past, is that of the Iroquois: their success in war has given them a superiority over most of the others, which none of them are, any longer, in a condition to dispute with them; and from being pacifick, which they formerly were, they have become very troublesome and pragmatical. But nothing has contributed more to render them formidable, than the advantage of their fituation, which they prefently difcovered; and whereof they have made all possible advantage. As they were situated between us and the English, they soon found that both would be under the necessity of keeping well with them; and, indeed, it has been the chief care of both colonies, fince their establishment, to gain them over to their own party, or, at least, to persuade them to fland neuter: and as they were perfuaded that if either of these nations should entirely get the ascendant over the other, they must soon be subjected themfelves; they have found the fecret of ballancing their fuccess; and if we reflect that their whole force united has never exceeded five or fix thoufand combatants, and that it is a great while fince they have diminished more than one half, we must needs allow, they must have used infinite abilities and address.

With respect to particulars and the interior government or police of towns, affairs are reduced to few articles, and are foon concluded. thority of the chief feldom or never extends to these; and, generally speaking, persons in any degree of credit, are entirely taken up about the public business. A single affair of however little importance, is long under deliberation; every thing being conducted with much coolness and phlegm, and nothing being decided till all who are defirous have been acquainted with it. If a present has been given underhand to any of the elders, to make fure of his fuffrage, you are fure to obtain it, if the present has been accepted of. It has scarce ever been known, that an Indian has failed in an engagement of this fort; but it is no easy matter to bring them to accept of it, nor does he ever receive with both hands. Young persons enter early into the knowledge of affairs, which naturally renders them grave and ripe, at an age in which we are still children; this interests them, from their tenderest infancy, in the public weal, and infpires them with an emulation which is fomented with great care, and from which there is nothing that might not be hoped for.

The greatest desect in this government is, that they have scarce the shadow of criminal justice among them; though, to say truth, it is far from being attended with the same bad essects it would certainly be amongst us: the great spring of our passions, and the chief source of those disorders which are the most pernicious to civil society, to wit, private interest, having scarce any power over men who never think of hoarding, and give themselves very little concern about to-morrow.

We may also justly reproach them with the way in which they bring up their children: they do not so much as know what it is to correct them. Whilst they are little, they say they have no reason; and it never enters into the head of an Indian, to think that the judgment is improved by punishment; when they are come to years of discretion, they pretend to be masters of their own actions, and therefore accountable to none. They carry these maxims to such a height, as to suffer themfelves to be maltreated by intoxicated persons, without fo much as defending themselves for fear of hurting them. Why should we do them any evil, fay they, when you talk to them of the ridiculousness of this behaviour; they know not what they do?

In a word, these Indians are perfectly convinced, that man is born free, and that no power on earth has a right to infringe his liberty, and that nothing can compensate the loss of it: and it has been found a very difficult matter to undeceive even the Christians among them, and to make them underitand how, by a natural confequence of the corruntion of our nature, which is the effect of fin, an unbridled liberty of doing mischief differs very little from obliging them to commit it, because of the strength of the byass which braws us to it; and that the law which restrains us, causes us to approach nearer to our original state of liberty, whillt it appears to take it from us. Happy for them, experience has not made them feel in many things all the power of this tende by which produces for many crimes elfewhere. Their understandings being narrower than ours, their defires are still more io: reduced to defire what is necessary only, for which providence has sufficiently provided, they have

have scarce so much as the notion of superflui-

After all this, toleration and impunity is a very great diforder; as is also that want of subordination in public as well as domestic life, in which every one does what seems good in his own eyes; where father, mother, and children often live, like so many persons who have met by chance, and linked together by no fort of tye; where young persons manage the affairs of the samily, without consulting their parents about them any more than if they were mere strangers; where the children are brought up in absolute independence, and where they are early accustomed to listen neither to the voice of nature, nor to the most indispensible duties of society.

If in those nations who are governed with more wisdom, and who are restrained by the bridle of a holy religion, we notwithstanding sometimes see fuch monsters as dishonour humanity, they at least excite the horror of others, and expose themselves to the lash of the law; but what is in this case the crime of an individual, becomes the crime of the nation, when it is suffered to go unpunished, as parricide itself is amongst the Indians; and were it still more rare than it is, this impunity, however, is such a stain as nothing can efface, and which favours entirely of the barbarian. are, however, in all this some exceptions, of which I shall presently speak; but, generally speaking, the genius and character of our Indians is such as I have been describing it.

They are not only perfuaded, that a person who is not in possession of his reason is not responsible

for his actions, at least, that he deserves no punishment; but they imagine likewise that it is beneath the dignity of a man to desend himself against a woman or a child: provided, however, as I should be apt to imagine, that there is no danger of life being lost, or any risque of being maimed; in which case, their way is, if possible, to save themselves by slight. But, should an Indian kill another in his cabin, being drunk, which they often pretend to be when they harbour any such designs, they content themselves with bewailing the dead: It was a great missortune, say they, but as for the murderer he knew not what he did.

If the thing was done in cold blood, they suppose without difficulty that the person who committed it, must have had very good reasons before he proceeded to this extremity. If it is clear he had none, it belongs to those of his own cabin, as being the only persons concerned, to punish him; these have power to punish him with death, but this they rarely do, and even then without any form of justice, so that his death does not so much look like a legal punishment as the revenge of some individual; and sometimes a chief is glad of this opportunity to get rid of a bad subject. In a word, crimes are punished in such a manner as neither to fat sfy justice nor establish the public tranquillity and security.

A murder, in which feveral cabins should be affected, would notwithstanding always have trouble-some consequences, and would often be sufficient to set a whole town, and even a whole nation in a combustion: for which reason, in such accidents the council of the elders leave nothing undone in order to accommodate matters timeously; and

and in case of success it is commonly the publick who makes the presents, and takes all the necessary steps with the offended family. The prompt punishment of the criminal would at once put an end to the affair, and the relations of the deceased are at liberty to do their pleasure on him, if they can get him in their hands; but his own cabbin think it inconsistent with their honour to facrifice him, and often the village do not think proper to compel them to it.

I have read in a letter of Father Brebeuf, who lived a long time among the Hurons, that these Indians were wont to punish murderers in this They extended the dead body on poles manner. fixed to the roof of a cabbin, and the murderer was obliged to fit feveral days fuccessively directly under it, and to receive all that fell from the carcass, not only on himself but also on his provisions, which were placed near him, except by means of some considerable present made to the cabbin of the defunct, he obtained the privilege of faving his diet from the pollution of this poison; but the Misfionary does not tell us whether this was done by publick authority, or was only by way of reprifal, which those it concerned made use of after getting the affaffin in their power.

Be this as it will, the way most in use amongst all the Indians to indemnify the relations of a man who has been murdered, is to replace him by means of a prisoner of war: in this case the captive is almost always adopted, enters into possession of all the rights of the deceased, and soon causes the person whose place he fills to be forgotten. There are, however, certain odious crimes Vol. II.

which are punished with death on the spot, at least among some nations; such as wichcraft.

Whosoever is suspected of this crime can never be safe any where; they even cause him undergo, when they can lay hold on him, a kind of rack, in order to oblige him to name his accomplices, after which he is condemned to the same punishment with the prisoners of war; but they first ask the consent of his family, which they dare not resuse. Those who are least criminal are knocked in the head, before they are burned: those who dishonour their families, are treated much in the same manner, and it is generally their own samily that does justice upon them.

Amongst the Hurons who are very much given to thieving, and who perform it with a dexterity which would do honour to our most expert pick-pockets, it was lawful, on discovery of the thief, not only to take from him what he had stolen, but also to carry off every thing in his cabbin, and to strip himself, his wife, and children stark naked without their daring to make the least And further in order to shun all refiftance. fuch contestation which might arise on this head, certain points were agreed upon from which they never deviated. For example, every thing found, were it but a moment after it was lost, belonged to the finder, provided the former proprietor had not before reclaimed it; but on discovery of the least dishonesty on the part of the former, they obliged him to make restitution, which occasioned fometimes diffentions, which were with difficulty put an end to: the following is an instance of this fort fingular enough.

A good old woman had for all her worldly goods, but one collar of Wampum, worth about ten crowns of our money, and which she carried about with her every where in a little bag. day as she was at work in the fields, she chanced to hang her bag on a tree; another woman who perceived it and had a great defire to filch her collar from her, thought the present a favourable occasion for feizing it, without being liable to be accused of theft: she therefore kept her eye continually upon it; and, in about the space of an hour or two, the old woman having gone into the next field, she flies to the tree, feizes the bag, and falls a crying how lucky she had been to find so valuable a prize. The old woman turns immediately about and fays the bag belonged to her, and that it was she who had hung it on the tree, that she had neither lost it nor forgot it, and that she intended to take it down, when her work should be over; her adversary made answer, that we are not to judge the intentions, and that having quitted the field without taking down her bag, she was deemed in law to have forgot it.

After many contestations between these two women, who never spoke so much as one disobliging word the whole time; the affair was brought before an artiter who was the chief of the village: "according to the rigor," says he, "the bag is the property of the sinder; but the circumstances of the thing are such, that if this woman would not be taxed with avarice, she ought to restore it to the claimant, and be fatisfied with some little present, which the other cannot in reason resule her." Both parties acquiesced in this judgment; and it is proper

per to observe that the sear of being accused of avarice had full as much power on the minds of the Indians, as the sear of punishment could have had; and that these people are generally governed by the principles of honour more than by any other motive whatever.

What I am now going to add, will give your Grace a new proof of this. I faid a little above, that in order to prevent the consequences of a murder, the public takes upon itself the charge of making the proper fubmiffions for the guilty, and indemnifying the interested. Would you believe that this very circumstance has more power in preventing these disorders than the most severe laws? nothing is, however, more true: for as these satisfactions cost much to men whose haughtiness is beyond all expression, the criminal is the more senfible of the mortification which he fees the publick fuffers on his account, than he could possibly be of his own; and their zeal for the honour of their nation, is a much more powerful curb on these barbarians than the fear of death, or any other punishment whatsoever.

Besides, it is certain that impunity has not always prevailed amongst them to the degree it has done lately; and our first missionaries found some traces of the ancient severity, with which they knew how to restrain crimes still remaining. Thest in particular has always been looked upon as a stain which dishonoured a family; and every individual had a right to wash off the scandal of it in the blood of the criminal. Father Brebeus perceived one day a young Huron who was dispatching a girl; he ran up to him in order to hinder him.

and asked him what it was that could provoke him to this violence. "It is my fifter," answered the Indian, " she is a thief, and I am going " to expiate by her death, the dishonour she has "brought upon me and all our family." My letter is just called for. I conclude with affuring you, that

I am, &c.

LETTER D_3

LETTER XIX.

Voyage from the Narrows to Michillimakinac. Deffeription of the country. Of the marriages of the Indians.

Michillimakinac, June 30, 1721.

Madam,

T T was on the 18th of this month I at length took my leave for good and all of fort Pontchartrain at the Narrows, a little before funfet. I had scarce advanced a league in my way before a storm accompanied with a deluge of rain, obliged me to make to land well foaked, where we passed the night in a very uncomfortable manner. All I was able to get forward the next day was to traverse lake St. Clair, which is about four leagues long; the country appeared to me very good on both fides. At half way you leave on your left a river 120 feet in breadth at its mouth; this has got the name of the river of the Hurons, these Indians having taken sanctuary here during the war with the Iroquois. On the right and almost opposite is another river, the mouth of which is twice as wide, and which is navigable for fourscore leagues without any rapid current, a rare thing in the rivers of this country: they could not tell me its name.

D 4

The

The course from the fort at the Narrows to the end of this traverse is east, north-east; from thence you turn to the north by way of the east, and so round till you come to the fouth for four leagues, at the end of which you find on your right a village of the Missinguy Judians, seated on a fertile foil at the entry of three magnificent meadows, and in the most charming situation that can be; from thence to lake Huron I reckon twelve leagues, the country continuing always most delightful. This is a noble channel as straight as a line and bordered with lofty forests, interspersed with fine meadows with many iflands feattered up and down in it, fome of which are confiderably large; the course through it is alway north one quarter east, and in the entrance of lake Huron the course is due north for twelve leagues more.

Croffing lake St. Claire, I had in my canoe a young Indian who was strong and vigorous, and on the strength of whose arms I relied a good deal, when I granted him his pass ge on his asking it; he was however of very little service to me, to make amends he diverted me highly till a storm that came on just over our heads begun to make me uneasy. This young man fell a dressing himfelf before he embarked, and at every three strokes of his oar, t ok up his looking glass to see whether the motion of his arms had discomposed the economy of his dress, or whether the sweat had not changed the disposition of the red and other colours with which he had daubed his face.

I dont know whether he expected to arrive at the village of the Miffifaguys before night, in order to be present at some scale; but we were not the to get so far. The storm increased as we were almost

almost close to an island situated at the end of the lake, where we were obliged to stop. Our young Indian seemed not much mortified at the disappointment, these people seldom taking any thing of that fort much to heart; perhaps he had no other intention in dreffing himself than the vanity of being admired by us; but if this was his defign, all his care was labour in vain, as I had feen him in his own likeness but two days before, when I thought he looked much better than with all that ridiculous dawbing that had cost him so much trouble; few of the women here paint their faces, but all the men, and especially the young fellows are mighty fond of this decking, there are fome of them who will spend half a day in dawbing themselves in this manner, only that they may have the pleasure of strolling from door to door in order to be admired, and return afterwards extremely well fatisfied with themselves, though not a word has been spoke to them.

We entered lake Huron the 21st about ten o'clock in the forenoon, where we had foon the pleasure of fishing for sturgeon. On the morrow in spite of the thunder which rumbled the whole day, but which was satisfied with threatening us; I advanced near twenty five leagues in the lake, but the 23d a thick fog, which hindered us from feeing four paces before our canoe, obliged us to shorten fail, because we were failing on a ledge of rocks, which in many places has scarce half a foot water on it; this rock extends a great way into the lake and is ten leagues in length; our Canadians call it the low countries. The day following we made the bay of Saguinam, five or fix leagues broad at the mouth and thirty deep; from thence to Michillimakinac the prospect is extremely disagreeable,

acceeable, no more vines, straggling shrubby woods, and very little game. Ten leagues beyond the bay of Saguinam you perceive two very large rivers, a league distant from each other, and four or five leagues farther a creek called, Ans eau Tonnerre, or Thunder Creek, three leagues over at the mouth, but of no great depth within land. Michillimakimac lies in 43 deg. and 30 min. north lat. and the course which is thirty leagues long from the mouth of the Narrows, coasting along the western shore of lake Huron is almost due north. I arrived the 28th in this post which is much fallen to decay, fince the time that Monsieur de la Motte Cadillac, carried to the Narrows the best part of the Indians who were fettled here, and especially the Hurons; several of the Outawaies followed them thirher, others dispersed themselves amongst the beaver islands, fo that what is left is only a forry village, where there is notwithstanding still carried on a confiderable fur-trade, this being a thoroughfare or rendezvous of a number of Indian nations.

The fort is still kept up as well as the house of the missionaries, who at present are not distressed with business, having never found the Outawaies much disposed to receive their instructions, but the court judges their presence necessary in a place where we are often obliged to treat with our allies, in order to exercise their functions on the French, who repair hither in great numbers. I have been assured that since the settlement of the Narrows, and the dispersion of the Indians which has sollowed upon it, several northern nations that were wont to bring their Furs to this place, have since found the way to Hudson's bay by the river Bourbon where they trade with the English; but Mon-

fieur de la Motte could not foresee this inconveniency as we were then in possession of Hudson's bay.

The fituation of Michillimakinac is most ad-This post stands between vantageous for traffic. three great lakes; lake Michigan which is three hundred leagues in circuit, without mentioning the great bay which falls into it; lake Huron which is three hundred and fifty leagues in circumference, and is in form of a triangle; and lake Superior, which is five hundred leagues round; all three are navigable for the largest fort of boats, and the two first are separated only by a small strait, which has also water sufficient for the same vessels, which may also without any obstacle sail all over lake Erie as far as Niagara. It is true that there is no communication between lake Huron and lake Superior, but by a channel two and twenty leagues long, and very much incommoded with rapid currents, which do not hinder canoes from going to Michillimakinac, loaded with all the commodities which lake Superior and its shores afford.

This lake is two hundred leagues in length from east to west, and in several places fourscore leagues broad from north to south; the whole south coast is sandy and pretty streight; it would be dangerous to be surprized by a north wind on it, and the north shore is much more commodious for navigation, it being entirely lined with rocks, which form little harbours, where you may shelter yourself with the greatest ease; and nothing is more necessary to those who sail in canoes on this lake, in which travellers have remarked a phenomenon which is singular enough.

When a storm is about to rife you are advertised of it, say they, two days before; at first you perceive a gentle murmuring on the furface of the water which lasts the whole day, without encreasing in any sensible manner; the day after the lake is covered with pretty large waves, but without breaking all that day, so that you may proceed without fear, and even make good way if the wind is favourable; but on the third day when you are least thinking of it the lake becomes all on fire; the ocean in its greatest rage is not more tost, in which case you must take care to be near shelter to fave yourself; this you are always sure to find on the north shore, whereas on the fouth you are obliged to secure yourself the second day at a confiderable diffance from the water fide.

The Indians out of gratitude for the plenty of fish with which this lake supplies them, and from the respect which its vast extent inspires them with, have made a fort of divinity of it, to which they offer facrifices after their own manner. I am however of opinion, that it is not to the lake itself but to the genius that prefides over it, that they address their vows. If we may credit these people this lake proceeds from a divine original, and was formed by Michabou god of the waters, in order to catch beavers. In the channel by which it difcharges itself into Lke Huron, is a rapid current caused by two great rocks; our missionaries who have a very flour thing church here have called it. Le fault de Sante Marie, or the Fall of St. Mary: these rocks according to the tradition of the Indians, are the remains of a causeway made by the god in order to dam up the waters of the rivers, and those of the lake Aimipegon which supply this great lake.

Large pieces of copper are found in some places on its banks and round some of the islands, which are still the object of a superstitious worship amongst the Indians; they look upon them with veneration, as if they were the prefents of those gods who dwell under the waters; they collect their smallest fragments which they carefully preferve without however making any use of them. They say that formerly a huge rock of this metal was to be feen elevated to a confiderable height above the furface of the water, and as it has now disappeared they pretend that the gods have carried it elsewhere; but there is great reason to believe that in process of time, the waves of the lake have covered it entirely with fand and flime; and it is certain that in feveral places pretty large quantities of this metal have been discovered, without even being obliged to dig very deep. During the course of my first voyage to this country, I was acquainted with one of our order, who had been formerly a goldsmith, and who, while he was at the mission of the Fall of St. Mary, used to fearch for this metal, and made candlesticks. crosses, and censers of it, for this copper is often to be met with almost intirely pure.

When Michabou, add the Indians, formed lake Superior he dwelt at Michillimakinac the place of his birth; this name properly belongs to an island almost round and very high, situated at the extremity of lake Huron, though custom has extended it to all the country round about. This island may be about three or four miles in circumference, and is seen at the distance of twelve leagues. There are two other islands to the south; the most distant of which is sive or six leagues long; the other is very small and quite round;

both of them are well wooded and the foil excellent, whereas that of Michillimakinac is only a barren rock, being scarce so much as covered with moss or herbage; it is notwithstanding one of the most celebrated places in all Canada, and has been a long time according to fome ancient traditions among the Indians, the chief residence of a nation of the same name, and whereof they reckoned as they fay to the number of thirty towns, which were difperfed up and down in the neighbourhood of the island. It is pretended they were destroyed by the Iroquois, but it is not faid at what time nor on what occasion; what is certain is, that no veftige of them now remains; I have somewhere read that our ancient missionaries have lately discovered fome relicks of them. The name of Michillimakinac signifies a great quantity of turtles, but I have never heard that more of them are found here at this day than elsewhere.

The Michillimakinacs live entirely by fifhing, and there is perhaps no place in the world where they are in greater plenty; the most common forts of fish in the three lakes, and in the rivers which discharge themselves into them, are the herring, the carp, the gilt-fish, the pike, the sturgeon, the astikamegue or white-fish, and especially the trout. There are three forts of these last taken; amongst which is one of a monstrous fize, and in so great quantities, that an Indian with his fword will strike to the number of fifty sometimes in the space of three hours: but the most famous of all is the white-fish; it is nearly of the size and figure of a mackrel, and whether fresh or salted nothing of a fish-kind can exceed it. The Indians tell you that it was Michabou who taught their ancestors to fish, invented nets of which he took the idea from 3 Arachne's

Arcahne's, or the spider's web. Those people, as your Grace very well sees, do their deity sull as little honour as he deserves, by sending him to school to such a contemptible insect.

The prospect you enjoy from this place gives no very great idea of the fertility of the foil, tho' you find excellent land at no great distance. The same may be said of the beaver islands, which you leave on your left foon after you have entered lake Michigan. The Outaways who retired thither fow maize on them, which good husbandry they have learned from the Hurons, with whom they have long dwelt in those parts. The Amikouys had formerly their abode in these islands; this nation is now reduced to a very small number of families, who have gone over to the island Manitoualin, to the north of lake Huron; it is however one of the nobleft in all Canada according to the Indians, who believe them descended from the great beaver whose name they bear, and who is next to Michabou or the great hare, their principal deity.

He it is, fay they likewise, who has formed lake Nipissing; and all the rapids or currents which are found in the great river of the Outaways, are the remains of the causeway he had built in order to compleat his design. They also add that he died in the same place, and that he is buried under a mountain which you perceive on the northern shore of lake Nipissing. This mountain viewed from one certain side, naturally enough represents the sigure of a beaver, which circumstance has no doubt occasioned all these tales; but the Indians maintain that it was the great beaver who gave this form to the mountain, after he had made

made choice of it for his burial-place, and they never pass by this place, without rendering him their homage, by offering him the smoke of their to-bacco.

This, Madam, is what feemed worthy of obfervation with respect to this post, so celebrated in the voyages and relations of Canada. I now return to the manners and customs of the Indians, and having already treated of what relates to their wars, I shall entertain with what passes at their marriages.

A plurality of wives is allowed of, amongst feveral of the nations of the Algonquin language, and it is common enough to marry all the fifters; this custom is founded on a persuasion, that sitters must agree better together than strangers. In this case all the women are upon an equal footing; but amongst the true Algonquins there are two orders of wives, those of the second order being the slaves of the first. Some nations have wives in every quarter where they have occasion to sojourn for a while in hunting time; and I have been affured, that this abuse has crept in some time since, amongst the nations of the Huron language, who were always before fatisfied with one wife. But there prevails in the Iroquois canton of Tionnonthouan a much greater diforder still, namely a plurality of husbands.

With respect to degrees of parentage in marriage, the Hurons and Iroquois are very scrupulous; the parties amongst them must have no manner of consanguinity, and even adoption itself is included in this law. But the husband when the wife happens to die first is obliged to marry her sister, or

in default of her, such person as the family of the deceased shall chuse for him. The wife on her part is under the fame obligation with respect to the brothers or relations of her hufband, provided he dies without leaving any children by her, and that she is still capable of having any. The reasons they alledge for this, are the same expressed in the 25th chapter of Deuteronomy. The husband who should refuse to marry the fister or relation of his departed wife, would thereby expose himself to all the outrages which the person he rejects shall think fit to offer him; and which he is obliged to fuffer without murmuring: when for want of fuch perfon a widow is permitted to provide herself in a husband elsewhere, they are obliged to make her presents, as a testimony rendered to her virtuous behaviour; and which she has a right to exact, provided she have really observed a prudent deportment during the time of her first marriage.

Amongst all the Indian nations, there are certain considerable samilies, who can only contract alliances with each other, and chiefly amongst the Algonquins. Generally speaking, the perpetuity of marriages is facred in this country, and most look upon those agreements to live together as long as they shall see fit, and to separate when they become weary of each other, as being contrary to good order. A husband who should abandon his wife without lawful cause, must lay his account with many insults from her relations; and a woman who should leave her husband without being forced to it by his ill conduct, must pass her time still worse.

Amongst the Miamis, a husband has a right to cut off the nose of the wife who elopes from him:

Vol. II.

E but.

but amongst the Iroquois and Hurons they may part by mutual confent; this is done without any noise, and the parties thus separated are at liberty to enter into new engagements. These Indians cannot fo much as conceive how men should make any difficulty about it: "My wife and I, (faid one "of them to a missionary, who endeavoured to " bring him to a fense of the indecency of this "fort of feparations,) cannot live in peace toge-"ther; my neighbour is exactly in the same situ-"ation, we have agreed to exchange wives and " are all four perfectly well fatisfied: now what " can be more reasonable than to render one another mutually happy when it can be so easily " brought about, and without hurting any body:" This custom however as I have already remarked, is looked upon as an abuse, and is of no great antiquity, at least among the Iroquois.

What most commonly destroys the peace of famalies amongst the Canadian nations is jealously, to which both sexes are equally subject. The Iroquois boast of being free from this evil; but those who have been most conversant among them assure us, that they are jealous to an extravagant height. When a woman has discovered that her husband likes another, her rival must take care to keep well upon her guard, and the more so as the unfaithful husband can neither defend her, nor side with her in any manner; a man who should maltreat his wife on this account would be disgraced for ever.

The parents are the only match-makers in this country; the parties concerned never appear in it, but abandon themselves blindly to the will of those on whom they depend; but behold the caprice of these barbarians, who suffer themselves to be dependent

pendant on their parents in no case, except in the very thing in which they ought least of all to depend on them: nothing however is concluded without their confent, but this is only a mere piece of formality. The first steps are taken by the matrons, but it is not common for the relations of the young woman to make any advances; not but that in case a girl should happen to remain too long in the market, her family would act underhand in order to get her disposed of, but in this a great deal of caution is used. In some places the girls are in no hurry to get themselves married, as they are at full liberty to make trial of that state beforehand, and as the ceremony of marriage makes no change in their condition except to render it harder.

They remark a great deal of modesty in the behaviour of young people whilst the match is making, though we are told the thing was quite different in ancient times; but what is almost incredible, and which is nevertheless attested by good authors is, that in several places the new married couple live together for a whole year in persect continence; this is done say they, to shew that they married out of friendship and not to greatify their passions; a young woman would even be pointed at who should prove with child the first year of her marriage.

After what has been faid we ought to have less difficulty in believing what is related of the manner in which young people behave during the courtship in those places, in which they are permitted to be alone. For though custom allows them great familiarities, they nevertheless pretend that in the most extreme danger to which modesty

 \mathbf{E}_{2}

can be exposed, and even under the veil of night, there passes nothing which trangresses the rules of the most rigid decorum, and that not a word is uttered which can offend the chastest ear. I slatter myself your Grace will not be offended, that I do not enter into the same detail on this subject with other authors; and especially as all they have said contributes nothing to the credit of their accounts.

I find many different relations with regard to the preliminaries and ceremonies of marriage amongst these nations; whether this proceeds from the different customs of different nations, or from the want of care in those authors to inform themselves exactly in those points; besides the whole of it feemed to me fo little worthy your curiofity, that I believed I ought not to take up your time with it. It is the bridegroom who is to make the prefents, in which, as indeed in every thing elfe, nothing can exceed the respect and decorum he shews his intended spouse; in some places the young man goes and feats himfelf by the fide of the girl in her own cabbin, which if she suffers without flirring from her place, she is held as consenting and the marriage is concluded; but through all this difference and respect he lets it plainly be seen, that he is foon to be the mafter.

In effect amongst the presents she receives, there are some which ought less to be understood as testimonies of friendship, than as so many symbols and admonitions of the slavery, to which she is going to be reduced; such are the collar or straps for carrying burthens, the kettle and a faggot, which are carried into her cabbin; this is done in order to give her to understand, that it is to be her of-size

fice to carry burdens, to drefs the victuals, and to make the provision of wood.

It is even customary in some places for the bride to stock the cabbin, in which she is to make her abode after marriage, with wood fufficient to serve the following winter; and it may be remarked that in all the circumstances I have been mentioning, there is no manner of difference between the nations, in which the women have all the authority, and those in which they have nothing to do with publick business; even those very women who are in some fort mistresses of the state, at least in outward appearance, and who make the principal body of the nation after arriving at a certain age, and when their children are in a condition to cause them to be respected are of no account before this, and in houshold affairs are no more than the slaves of their hufbands.

Generally speaking there is perhaps no nation in the world where the fex is more defpifed; to call an Indian a woman is the highest affront that can be offered him. Notwithstanding what is odd enough, children belong only to the mother, and acknowledge no authority but hers; the father is always held as a stranger with respect to them, in such manner however that if he is not looked upon as the father, he is at least always respected as the master of the cabbin. I do not know however if this is universal in every point, among all the nations we know in Canada, any more than what I have found in good memoirs, that the young wives, besides the right which their husbands have over them, with respect to the fervice of the cabbin, are also obliged to provide for all the necessities of their own parents, E 3

which probably is to be understood of those, who have no-body left to render them these services, and who by reason of their age or infirmities are incapable of serving themselves.

Be this as it will, the bridegroom has also his own peculiar functions; besides hunting and fishing, to which he is obliged during the whole course of his life, he is first of all to make a mattress for his wife, build her a cabbin, or repair that in which they are to live, and whilst he remains with his father and mother-in-law, he is obliged to carry the product of his hunting home to them. Amongst the Iroquois the woman never leaves her cabbin, she being deemed the mistress, or least the heiress of it; in other nations she goes at the expiration of a year or two after her marriage, to live with her mother-in-law.

The Indian women are generally delivered with. out pain, and without any affiftance; there are fome however who are a long time in labour and fuffer feverely; when this happens they acquaint the young people of it, who when the fick person is least thinking of it, come shouting in a prodigious manner to the door of her cabbin, when the furprize occasions a sudden fright, which procures her an immediate delivery; the women always lie in their own cabbins; several of them are surprized and bring forth at work or on the road; for others as foon as they perceive themselves near their time, a small hut is built without the village, where they remain till fort, days after they are brought to bed; I think I remember however to have heard it faid, that this is never done except at their first lying-in only.

This term being expired they put out all the fires in the cabbin, to which she is to return; they shake all the cloaths in it, and at her return light a new fire; the fame formalities nearly are obferved with regard to the fex in general during the time of their courses; and not only while thete last, but while a woman is with child, or giving fuck, which they commonly do for three years running, their hulbands never come near them; nothing would be more commendable than this custom, provided both parties observed the fidelity they ought all the while, but both fides often fail in this respect; such is the corruption of the heart of man, that the wifest regulations are often productive of the greatest disorders. It is even pretended that the use of certain simples, which have the virtue of keeping back in women the natural confequences of their infidelity, is familiar enough in this country.

Nothing can exceed the care which mothers take of their children whi st in the cradle; but from the moment they have weaned them, they abandon them entirely to themselves; not out of hard heartedness or indifference, for they never lose but with their life the affection they have for them; but from a persuasion that nature ought to be suffered to act upon them, and that she ought not to be confined in any thing. The act which terminates their state of infancy is the imposition of the name, which amongst the Indians is a matter of great importance.

This ceremony is performed at a feast, at which are present none but persons of the same sex with the child that is to be named; during the repast the child remains on the knees of its sather or E 4 mother,

mother, who are inceffantly recommending it to the genii, and above all to him who is to be his guardian, for each person has one but not from the time of birth; they never invent new names, each family preserves a certain number of them, which they make use of by turns; they even sometimes change them as they grow older, and there are some which cannot be used after a certain age, but I do not believe this practice to be universal; and as it is the custom amongst some nations on assuming a name, to put themselves in the place of the person who last bore it, it sometimes happens that a child is called grand-father by a person, who might well enough be his own.

They never call a man by his own name when they speak to him in a familiar manner; this would be a piece of great unpoliteness, they always name him by the relation he bears to the person that speaks to him; but when there is neither affinity nor consanguinity between them; they call one another brother, uncle, nephew or cousin, according to the age of either, or in proportion to the esteem in which they hold the person to whom they address themselves.

Farther, it is not so much with a view of perpetuating names that they renew them, as with a view to incite the person on whom they are bestowed, either to imitate the great actions of the persons that bore them, or to revenge them in case they have been either killed or burned; or lastly to comfort their families: thus a woman who has lost her husband or her son, and finds her herself thus void of all support makes all the haste in her power, to give the name of the person she mourns for, to some one who may stand

her in his stead; lastly, they likewise change their names on several other occasions, which it would take up too much time to mention minutely. In order to do this there wants only a dream, or the prescription of some physician, or some other reason equally frivolous. But I have already said enough on this subject, and a messenger waits below for my commands for Quebec; I therefore conclude in assuring your Grace, that

I ever am, &c.

LETTER XX.

Voyage to the Bay. Description of it, and of the Course thither. Irruption of the Spaniards into the Country of the Missouri Indians, and their Defeat. Dances of the Indians.

Michillimakinac, Ju'y 21, 1721.

Madam,

SINCE my last letter, I have made a voyage to the Bay, which is about four-score leagues distant from this post. I took the advantage for this purpose of going in company with Mons. Montigny, captain of a company of the troops which the king maintains in Canada, Knight of St. Lewis, and whose name is famous in the annals of the colony; but who is at least equally respected for his probity, and for his upright open deportment, and for his valour and military exploits.

We embarked the 2d of July in the afternoon, and for thirty leagues coasted along a neck of land which separates lake Michigan from lake Superior; in some places it is only a few leagues over, and it is scarce possible to see a more disagreeable country; but it is terminated by a beautiful river called La Manistie

Manistie, abounding in fish and especially sturgeon. A little farther inclining to the southwest, you come to a large gulph, in the entry of which are a number of islands, and which is called the gulph or bay of the Noquets. This is the name of an Indian nation, not very numerous, originally come from the coasts of lake Superior, and of which there remain only a few scattered samilies, who have no fixed residence.

The bay of the Noquets is separated from the great bay only by the islands of the Poutewatamies, which as I have already remarked, were the ancient residence of these Indians; most of them are extremely well wooded; but the only one that is now inhabited is neither the largest nor the best, and there remains a forry village, where, in spite of all our endeavours, we were obliged to pass the night, as it was impossible to resist the pressing instances of the inhabitants. For there is not a nation in all Canada more sincerely attached to the French, than these Indians have been at all times.

On the fixth, we were ftopt almost the whole day, by contrary winds, but it growing calm in the evening, we embarked a little after fun-set, by the favour of a most beautiful moon-shine, and continued our voyage for four and twenty hours together, having made only a very small halt, whilst we were saying mass and at dinner. The sun was so burning hot, and the water of the bay so warm, that the gum of our canoe melted in several places. To compleat our missortune, the place where we went ashore, was so much insested with what are called here marigouins and bruleaus, a species of very troublesome gnats, that we could not so much as close

close our eyes, though we had not slept for two days; and as the weather was fine, and the moon shone bright, we set out again at three o'clock in the morning.

After we had advanced five or fix leagues, we found ourselves a breast of a little island, which lies near the western side of the bay, and which concealed from our view, the mouth of a river, on which stands the village of the Malhomines Indians, called by our French Folles Avoines or Wild Oat Indians, probably from their living chiefly on this fort of grain. The whole nation confifts only of this village, and that too not very numerous. 'Tis really great pity, they being the finest and handsomest men in all Canada. They are even of a larger stature than the Poutewatamies. been assured that they had the same original and nearly the fame languages with the Noquets, and the Indians at the Falls. But they add that they have likewise a language peculiar to themselves, which they never communicate. I have also been told feveral stories of them, as of a serpent which visits their village every year and is received with much ceremony, which makes me believe them a little addicted to witchcraft.

A little below the island the face of the country is entirely changed, and from being very wild, as it is as far as this place, it becomes the most delightful in the universe. It is even something more pleasing and chearful than the Narrows; but though it is every where covered with the finest trees, yet it is more sandy, and therefore less fertile. The Otchagra Indians, commonly called Stinkards, dwelt formerly on the shore of the Bay, and in a most charming situation; they were attacked here by the

the Illinois, who killed a great number of them; the rest of them took shelter on the river of the Outagamies, which falls into the bottom of the Bay.

Here they fettled on the banks of a kind of lake. And I do not know whether it is not from their living on fish, with which the lake plentifully supplies them, that they had the name of Stinkards given them, there being nothing to be feen along the whole shore where their cabbins were built, but stinking fish, with which the air was perfectly infected. It appears at least that this is the original of the name the other Indians had given them before us; and which has been communicated to the Bay, from which they have never gone to any considerable distance. Some time before they quitted their ancient post, they had a mind to revenge the check they had got from the Illinois; but this enterprize occasioned them a new disaster, from the effects of which they have never recovered themfelves. Six hundred of their best warriors embarked, in order to go in quest of the enemy; but as they were croffing Lake Michigan, they were furprized by a furious tempest, in which they all perished to a man.

We have in the Bay, a fort erected on the western shore of the river of the Outagamies, and half a league from its mouth; before you arrive at it, you leave on your right a village of the Sakies. The Otchagras have lately settled themselves near us, and have built their cabbins quite round the fort. The missionary who is lodged pretty near the commandant, is in hopes, that when he shall have learned their language, he may possibly find more docility amongst them, than amongst the Sakies,

Sakies, with whom his labours have been sufficiently unsuccessful. Both of them appear to be a very good fort of people and especially the former, whose greatest defect is, that they seem to be a little addicted to thieving. Their language is very different from that of all the rest, which makes me believe, that it holds no resemblance with any of those of Canada. Thus, they have always had more commerce or intercourse with the western nations, than with those with which we are acquainted.

The Sakies, though few in number, are divided into two factions, one of which is in the interest of the Outagamies, and the other in that of the Poutewatamies. Those of them who are settled in this post are mostly of the party of the latter, and confequently are friends to us. They received the new commandant with great demonstrations of joy: the moment they were informed of his approach, they drew up under arms on the shore, and as soon as he appeared, faluted him with a discharge of their muskets, which they accompanied with great shouts of joy. Afterwards four of their chief men waded into the river, till the water came up to their middle; advanced up to his canoe, and received him on a large robe, composed of several skins of roebucks well fowed together, whereof each of them held a corner. In this manner they carried him to his apartment, where they complimented him, and faid a great many things extremely flattering.

Next day, the chiefs of the two nations paid me a visit; and one of the Otchagras shewed me a Catalonian pistol, a pair of Spanish shoes, and I do not know what drug, which appeared to me to be a fort of ointment. All this they had received from

from one of the Aionez, and the following is the occasion, by means of which these things fell into the hands of this person.

About two years ago, some Spaniards, who had come, as they fay, from New Mexico, with defign to penetrate as far as the country of the Illinois, and to drive the French out of it, whom they faw with extreme regret approach so near the Missouri, defcended this river and attacked two villages of the Octoratas, a people in alliance with the Aionez. from whom it is pretended they draw their original. As these Indians had no fire-arms, and being besides surprized, the Spaniards easily succeeded in their enterprize, and made a great slaughter A third village of the same nation, and at no great distance from the two others, making no doubt that the conquerors would pay them a vifit, laid an ambuscade for them, into which the Spaniards blindly stumbled. Others fay, that the Indians having learned that the Spaniards had almost all of them got drunk, and were sleeping in great fecurity, fell upon them in the night; and it is certain they cut the throats of almost every one of them.

There were two chaplains in this party, one of whom was killed in the beginning of the affair, and the other faved himfelf amongst the Missourites who kepthim prisoner, and from whom he made his escape in a very dexterous manner. He happened to have a very fine horse, and the Missourites delighting in beholding him perform feats of horsemanship, he took the advantage of their curiosity, in order to get out of their hands. One day as he was scampering about in their presence, he withdrew insensibly to a distance, when clapping spurs to his horse, he instantly disappeared. As they made no other

other prisoner but him, it is not yet exactly known neither from what part of New Mexico these Spaniards came, nor with what design: for what I first told you of the affair, was founded upon the reports of the Indians only, who perhaps had a mind to make their court to us by giving it to be understood, that they had done us a very material piece of service by this deseat.

All they brought me was the spoils of the chaplain who had been killed, and they found likewise a prayer-book, which I have not feen: this was probably his breviary. I bought the piftol: the shoes were good for nothing; and the Indian would by no means part with the ointment, having taken it into his head, that it was a fovereign remedy against all forts of evils. I was curious to know how he intended to make use of it; he answered that it was fufficient to fwallow a little of it, and let the disease be what it would the cure was immediate; he did not fay however that he had as yet made trial of it, and I advised him against it. The Indians begin here to be very ignorant, and are very far from being so sensible or at least so communicative, as those who have more commerce with us.

The day following, the Sakies came in a confiderable body to the missionary's house, where I lodged, and begged me to be present at a council they were going to hold. I consented, and when every one had taken his place, the chief laid a collar upon the ground before me, and the orator breaking silence, besought me, in the name of the whole body, to engage the King to take them under his protection, and to purify the air, which, said they, had been corrupted for some time past; which Vol. II.

appeared by the great number of fick they had in their villages, and to defend them against their enemies.

I answered, that the King was indeed very powerful, and perhaps more fo than they thought; but that his power did not extend over the elements; and that when difeases or any other such accidents laid waste his provinces, he addressed himself, in order to cause them cease, to the Great Spirit who created the heaven and the earth, and who alone is the fovereign Lord of nature: that they should do the fame, and that they would find themselves the better for it; but that in order to merit being heard, they must begin with acknowledging him, and with rendering him that worship and homage which he has a right to expect from all reasonable creatures: and that they could not do any thing better or more agreeable to the King, than to hearken to the Father whom his Majelly had fent them, and to his instructions; that he was a man beloved of heaven; that the manner in which he lived amongst them, could not fail to have crassed them conceive a great esteem for him; and that his charity towards the fick and all fuch as had any need of his affiftance, ought to have convinced them of that tender and fincere friend hip he bore them: lastly, that I would by no means receive it, till after they had promised to behave themselves with regard to this missionary, in a quite different manner from what they had hitherto done, and henceforth to remove all cause of complaint against them, with respect to their indocility.

"As to the protection of the King which you demand, and the request you have made me to undertake your defence against your

" your enemies; that great prince has already pre-" vented your wishes, and has given sufficient or-" ders on that head to Ononthio *, who is of him-" felf disposed to execute them with all the zeal " and affection of a father †. This is what you " need make no doubt of, if you pay a proper " regard to the good qualities of the commandant " he has fent you. It is not possible you should " be ignorant, and you appear to me perfectly " well fatisfied that amongst all the French Cap-" tains there are few equal to him in valour; and " you will have cause to love him fill better than "you now do." This answer seemed to fati fy them, and they promised much more than I fear they will ever perform. Notwithstanding I took their collar, which the missionary flattered himself would be productive of some good effects.

On the afternoon of the following day the two nations entertained us, one after another, with the dance of the Calumet, in a great esplanade facing the commandant's apartment. There was some little difference in the manner in which they performed this dance; but this was very inconsiderable. It only gave me to understand, that these teasts vary considerably: thus it is impossible to give a description which may agree to all of them. The Otchagras diversified somewhat more their entertainment, and shewed extraordinary againty, being better made as well as more graceful performers than the Sakies.

† They always call the governors and the commandants their Fathers.

F 2 This

^{*} This is the name which the Indians give to the governorgeneral, it fignifies great mountain, and is derived from the Chevalier Montgnagny, who was the fecond governor of Canada.

This is properly a military festival, in which the warriors are the fole actors, and one would naturally conclude it had been instituted only to give them an opportunity of vaunting of their famous exploits. I am not the author of this opinion, which does not quadrate with the fentiments of those who maintain that the calumet derives its origin from caduceus of Mercury, and that on its first institution it was looked upon as a fymbol of peace. All those whom I saw dancing, singing, and beating the drum and chichikoué, were young persons equipt as when they prepare to take the field; they had their faces painted with all forts of colours, their heads were adorned with feathers, some of which they held in their hands by way of fans: and the calumet was also adorned with them and was fet in the most conspicuous place: the orchestre and the dancers were placed quite round, the spectators being placed up and down in small bodies, the women apart from the men, all of them fitting on the ground, and adorned with their finest robes, which at a distance made a very pretty appearance.

Between the orcheftre and the commandant who fat at the door of his own apartment, they had erected a post, to which at the end of each dance, a warrior came and gave a blow with his battle-ax; on this fignal followed prosound silence, when this man proclaimed some of his own valorous atchievements; and receiving afterwards the applause of the company, he returned to his place, when the games begun again. This lasted sour hours two for each nation, and I confess I was far from being charmed with it, not only on account of the monotony and unpleasantness of the musick, but also because the whole of the dances consisted

only of certain contorsions of the body, which in appearance were expressive of nothing, and had nothing diverting.

The feast was made in honour of the new commandant; they however paid him none of those honours mentioned in fome relations. They were neither feen to place him on a new mattrefs; nor to make him any present, at least as far as I know, nor did they place any feathers on his head, nor did I fee them present him the calumet; and there were not any menentirely naked painted all over their bodies, adorned with feathers and strings of wampum, and holding a calumet in their hands. Perhaps these two nations have not any such customs, or it may be, that Monf. de Montigny had exempted them from this part of the ceremony. I observed only from time to time all the spectators raifing great cries by way of applauding the dancers, especially during the dance of the Otchagras, who in the opinion of the French bore away all the honour of the day.

I should probably have been more diverted by feeing the dance of the Discovery. This has more action than the former, and is much more expressive of the thing it is intended to represent. This is an image drawn to the life of all that passes in a warlike expedition; and as I have already obferved, that the Indians generally think only of furprizing their enemies, it is no doubt for this reason, they have given this exercise the name of the Discovery.

Be this as it will, one man always dances fingly in it, advancing at first slowly towards the middle of the place, where he remains for some time motionless, after which he represents in order the departure of the warriors; their march encampments, the discovery of the enemy, the approach towards them, the halt as it were in order to draw breath, when all of a fudden he falls into fuch a fury as if he were going to kill all the world; when recovered from this trance, he feizes some person in the affamily as if he took him priloner of war, feems to kill another, levels at a third, and laftly falls a running at full speed, when he stops and recovers himself; this represents a retreat which is at first precipitate, but atterwards more at leisure. then expresses by different cries, the different agitations in which he was during his last campaign, and concludes with relating all the fine exploits he has performed in war.

When the cance of the Calumet has for its object, as is generally the case, the conclusion of a peace, or of tome treaty of alliance against a common enemy, they engrave a ferpent on the stalk of the pipe, and near it is placed a plate, on which are represented two men of the two confederate nations trampling upon an enemy, who is defigned by the mark of his nation. Sometimes instead of the calumet they make use of a battle-ax. But when the subject of the treaty is only a simple alliance, they represent two men holding each other by one hand and bearing in the other a calumet of peace, and having each at his fide the mark of his nation. In all these treaties they give mutual pledges, fach as collars of porcelain or wampum, calumers, flaves: fometimes the hides of deer or elks well tawned, adorned with figures made of the hair of the porcupine; in which case, the above-mentioned circumstances are represented on these skins, whether with the hair of the porcupine or fimple colours.

There are other dances which are more simple, or which feem to have no other view besides giving the warriors opportunity of relating their own ex-This is what the Indians cover above all ploits. things, and in doing of which they are never wearied. He who gives the feast, causes invite the whole village by best of drum; and it is in his cabbin they affemble, if it be capable of containing all the guests. The warriors dance here by turns, afterwards they strike upon the post, filence is proclaimed, when they fay any thing they have a mind, paufing from time to time in order to receive the congratulations of the spectators who are not sparing of incense. But if they perceive that any one boasts without grounds, any one is at liberty to take earth or ashes, and to smear his head all over or to do him any other affront they have a mind. The general way is to black his face, accosting him in these words, "This I do to conceal your shame; for ".the first time you see the face of an enemy, you " will become as pale as ashes." Thus, it seems to be a received maxim amongst all nations, that the furest mark of a coward is boasting. He who has thus punished the recreant takes his place, and if he has the misfortune to fall into the fame fault the other is fure to pay him back in kind. greatest chiefs have no privilege above the common in this respect, and must take all without murmuring. This dance is always performed in the night time.

In the western parts they have another fort of dance, which is called the Buffalo dance. The dancers form feveral circles within each other, and the musick which is always composed of the drum and the chichikoué, is in the middle of the place. They take care never to separate those of the same family; they do not hold one another by the hand, and each carries his arms and buckler. The circles turn round different ways, and though there is much capering in which they spring to a great height, they are never out of time.

Some chief of a family presents his buckler at certain intervals: all of them strike upon it, and at each stroke he calls to remembrance some of his famous exploits: he afterwards cuts a bit of tobacco from a post to which they take care to tie a certain quantity, which he gives to one of his friends. any one can prove he has performed more famous exploits than he, or that he has had any share inthose of which he has been boasting, he has a right to take away the tobacco of which he has just made a present, and to give it to another. This dance is followed by a feast; but I do not well know whence it had the name it bears, if it does not come from the bucklers on which they strike, which are covered with buffaloes hides. are some dances which are prescribed by their quacks for the cure of fick persons; but they are generally very lascivious. There are some of them calculated purely for amusement, and which have no relation to any thing. These are always in the form of a circle to the found of the drum and chickikoué, and the women always apart from the man. These latter dance bearing their arms in their hands, and though they have no hold of one another, they never break the circle. As to what I mentioned of their never lofing time, this ought to create no difficulty, the mufick of the Indians confifting

confisting only of two or three notes, which are eternally repeated. On this account one is apt to grow extremely weary at those feasts after the first time, as they last a great while, and as you hear always the same thing over again.

As the nations in the neighbourhood of the Bay, if you except the Poutewatamies, are much more ignorant than the others, they are likewise much more addicted to all forts of superstition. Their principal divinities are the fun and thunder, and they feem much more perfuaded than the nations which we frequent more, that every species of animals has a genius that watches for their preservation. A French man having one day thrown away a mouse he had just taken, a little girl took it up to eat it; the father of the child who perceived it fnatched it from her, and fell a careffing the dead animal; and the French man asking him the reafon of it: "It is", answered he, "in order to " appeale the genius of the mice, that they may " not torment my child after the has eaten it." After which he restored the animal to the girl who eat it.

They have above all things a prodigious veneration for bears: when they happen to have killed one, they make a feaft which is accompanied with very fingular ceremonies. The head of the bear, after being painted with all forts of colours, is fet during the repaft in a confpicuous place, where it receives the homage of all the guefts, who celebrate in fongs the praifes of the animal, whilft they are tearing his body in pieces and regaling themselves with it. These Indians have not only like all the rest a custom of preparing themselves

themselves for great huntings by fasting, which the Outagamies carry as far as ten days running; but also whilst the hunters are in the field, they often oblige the children to fast, they observe the dreams they have during their fasts, and from them they draw good or evil omens, with respect to the success of the hunting. The intention of these fasts, is to appeale the tutelary genii of the animals they are going to hunt; and they pretend that they make known in dreams, whether they are to oppose or to be propitious to the hunters.

The nation that has occasioned most discourse in these western parts, for the last twenty years, is that of the Outagamies. The natural ferocity of these Indians soured by the repeated ill treatment they have received and fornetimes imprudently enough; and their alliance with the Iroquois, always disposed to stir up new enemies against us, have rendered them formidable. They have fince become still more closely connected with the Sioux. a numerous nation, and who have infenfibly become warlike; which union renders almost impracticable at prefent the navigation of the whole upper Missisppi. There is even very little security in failing on the river Illinois, at least if you are not provided against a surprize to the great hurt of the trade between the two colonies.

I met at the Bay some Sioux, to whom I put many questions with respect to the countries lying to the west and north-west of Canada; and though I well know we are not to take in a literal sense all that the Indians tell us, yet by comparing what

these told me with what I have heard several others fay, I have good reason to think, that there are in this continent either Spanish or some other European colonies much more to the north, than what we know of New-Mexico and of California, and that after sailing up the Missouri as far as it is navigable, you come to a great river which runs westward, and discharges itself into the South-Sea. And even independent of this discovery, which I believe easier this way than towards the north, I cannot doubt on account of the proofs which I have received from feveral hands, and which ently well agree, that by endeavouring to penetrate to the source of the Missauri, we should find fufficient to indemnify us for the expence and fatigue which such an enterprize must require.

I am, &c.

LETTER

LETTER XXI.

Departure from Michillimakinac. Observations on the Currents in the Lakes. Character of the Indians of Canada. Their good and ill Qualities.

Lake Michigan, July 31, 1721.

Madam,

Set out the day before yesterday, and am now confined to a little nameless island; a canoe which is come from the river St. Joseph where I am going, cannot stir any more than we, although the wind is savourable, but it being in our opinion very squally and the lake being extremely agitated, I am thereby furnished with an opportunity of writing to you.

Though the wind was contrary on the 29th when we embarked, we however advanced full eight leagues that day, which is a proof that we were helped along by the currents; I had before observed the same thing on my first entering the bay, and was much surprized at it. There is no doubt that this bay, which is a Cul de Sac, discharges itself into lake Michigan; and lake Michigan, which is also a Cul de Sac, discharges itself into

into lake Huron, and the more so as both, I mean lake Michigan and the bay, receive several rivers; lake Michigan especially, which receives a vast number of them, some of which are no way inferior to the Seine, but these great currents are only perceived in the middle of the channel, and produce on both shores eddies or counter currents, of which those who sail in shore take advantage, as all who sail in canoes of bark are obliged to do.

I advanced at first five leagues westward in order to make lake Michigan; afterwards I turned towards the south, which is the only course we had to steer for a hundred leagues, as far as the river St. Joseph. Nothing can be finer than the country which separates lake Michigan from lake Huron. I yesterday advanced three leagues farther, and a strong wind obliged us to stop at this island; I shall try to divert myself by continuing the account of the character of the natives of this vast country, of which I have already travelled over a considerable part.

The Indians of Canada are generally well made and of an advantageous stature; there are some nations however, where it is no new thing to see persons of a middling size, but it is extremely so to meet with any who are decrepid, or who have any external deformity; they are robust and of a strong and healthy constitution; they would also be very long-lived did they take a little more care of themselves; but most part of them ruin their constitutions by forced marches, by excessive fasting and intemperance in eating; besides that during their infancy they often go baresoot in water, and even upon snow and ice; the spirituous li-

quors which the Europeans have supplied them with, and for which they entertain a passion, or rather a sury which exceeds all expression, and which they never drink but on purpose to get drunk, have almost ruined them, and have not a little contributed to the depopulation of all the Indian nations, who are at present reduced to less than the twentieth part of what they were one hundred and fifty years ago. If this continues we shall certainly see them entirely disappear.

Their bodies are not constrained in the cradle like ours, and nothing is more proper to render them agile, and to give them that suppleness in all their members, which we fo much admire in them, than this liberty, and the exercises which they are accustomed from their earliest infancy; the mothers fuckle them a great while, and we fometimes fee children of fix or feven years of age which still fuck their mothers; this hinders not their giving them all forts of nourishment from the first years: lastly, the free and open air to which they are constantly exposed; the fatigues they are made to undergo, but by gentle degrees and in a manner proportioned to their age; their food which is simple and natural; all these contribute to form bodies capable of doing and fuffering incredible things, but which are pushed to an extravagance which I have already faid, carries off not a few before the age of maturity. Some have been known, after having their stomachs stretched four fingers with eating, fill to eat on with as voracious an appetite as if they had only just begun; when they find themselves overloaded they fall to smoaking, and afterwards fall afleep, and at their waking find their digestion compleated; sometimes they only fet themselves a vomiting, after which they return to the combat quite fresh. I_{n}

In the fouthern countries they scarce observe any mean with respect to the women, who are no less prone to lasciviousness; from hence comes that corruption of manners, which has infected the northern nations fome years fince; the Iroquois in particular had the reputation of chaftity before they had any commerce with the Illinois, and the other nations in the neighbourhood of Louisiana; they have gained nothing by the acquaintance except becoming like them. It must be confessed that effeminacy and lubricity were carried to the greatest excess in those parts; men were seen to wear the drefs of women without a blush, and to debase themselves so as to perform those occupations which are most peculiar to the fex, from whence followed a corruption of morals past all expression; it was pretended that this custom came from I know not what principle of religion; but this religion had like many others taken its birth in the depravation of the heart, or if the custom I speak of had its beginning in the spirit, it has ended in the flesh; these effeminate persons never marry, and abandon themselves to the most infamous passions, for which cause they are held in the most lovereign contempt.

On the other hand the women though strong and robust are far from being fruitful; besides the reasons I have already mentioned, to wit, the time they allow for the suckling of their children, their custom of not cohabiting with their husbands all that time, and the excessive labour they are obliged to undergo in whatever situation they are; this sterility proceeds likewise from a custom established in several places, by which young women are suffered to prostitute themselves before marriage; add to this the extreme misery to which

they are often reduced, and which extinguishes in them all desire of having children.

It is besides certain that they have great advantages over us, and I hold for the first of all the extreme perfection of their senses over us both internal and external. In spite of the snow which dazles them, and the smoak with which they are pestered for six months of the year, their sight continues in all its vigor; they have the sense of hearing extremely acute, and their smelling is so exquisite, that they smell fire at a great distance; for this reason it is that they cannot suffer the smell of musk, or any other strong scent; and it is even pretended that no smell is agreeable to them, except that of eatables.

Their imagination is a fort of prodigy, it suffices them to have been once in a place to have an exact idea of it, which is never effaced; let a forest be ever so vast and untrodden they will cross it without wandering out of the way, if they have made their observations right at setting out. The inhabitants of Acadia, and places in the neighbourhood of the gulph of St. Laurence, have often failed in their canoes of bark, to make a descent in the country of Labrador, in quest of their enemies the Eskimaux; they have gone thirty or forty leagues out in the open fea without any compass, and have landed precisely at the place intended. In the most cloudy weather they will follow the fun for feveral days, without mistaking; the exactest sun-dial would not inform us better of the course of that beautiful star, than they will do by the inspection of the heavens only; thus let us do what we will to put them out of their way, it is very rare they mistake their road. They are born with this ta-Vol. II. lent,

lent, so that it is not the fruit of their observations or of long custom. Children who have never been out of their village, will travel equally well with those who have been all over the country.

The beauty of their imagination equals its vivacity, which appears in all their discourse: they are very quick at repartees, and their harangues are full of shining passages, which would have been applauded at Rome and Athens. Their eloquence has a strength, nature, and pathos, which no art can give, and which the Greeks admired in the barbarians; and though this is supported by none of the action of an orator, and though they never raise their voice to any considerable pitch, yet you perceive that they are affected with what they say, and they persuade.

It would be really surprizing if with fo fine an imagination, they had not also an excellent memory. They are without all those helps which we have invented to eafe our memory, or to supply the want of it; yet you cannot imagine what an infinite number of different topicks, with an immense detail of circumstances, and an amazing order, are handled in their councils. fome occasions however they make use of little sticks, to remind them of the different articles they have to discuss; and with ease they form a kind of local memory, and that so sure and infallible, that they will fpeak for four or five hours together, and display twenty different presents, each of which requires an entire discourse, without forgetting any thing, and even without hefitation. Their narration is neat and precise; and though they use a great many allegories and other figures, yet at is lively, and has all the beauties which their language affords.

They have a clear and folid judgment, and come at once to the point, without the least stop or deviation. They eafily conceive whatever is within their reach, but it would require a long time and much labour, to put them in a condition of fucceeding in the arts, with which they have hitherto dispensed, and whereof they have not the smallest notion; and the more so as they have a sovereign contempt of whatever is not necessary, that is to fay, for that which we hold in the greatest estimation. It would also be no easy matter to render them capable of constraint, or to applying to things purely spiritual, or which they look upon as useless. As for those which they imagine of consequence, they observe the greatest care and deliberation; and in proportion as they discover phelgm in confidering before they have taken their meafures, they testify vivacity and ardour in the execution; this is remarked in an especial manner in the Hurons and Iroquois. They are not only quick but also very ingenious, and fmart in their repar-An Outaway called John le Blanc, who was a bad christian and a great drungard, on being asked by the Count de Frontenac, what he thought the brandy he was fo fond of was made of, he faid, of tongues and hearts; for, added he, after I have drank of it I fear nothing, and I talk like an angel.

Most of them have really a nobleness of soul and a constancy of mind, at which we rarely atrive, with all the affistance of philosophy and religion. Always masters of themselves in the most sudden reverses of fortune, not the smallest alteration is seen even in their countenances; a prisoner who knows what is to be the end of his captivity, or what is perhaps more surprizing, who is

G 2

still uncertain of his fate, loses not one quarter of an hour of his rest; and even the first and most sudden shocks of passion never surprize them. A Huron captain was one day insulted and struck by a young man, and the by-standers going to punish this insolence on the spot; Let him alone, replied the captain, did you not perceive the earth to quake, by that he his sufficiently warned of his folly.

Their constancy in torments is beyond all expression. A young woman shall be a whole day in labour without a shriek; should she discover the least weakness she would be held unworthy the name of mother, as being only capable of bringing forth cowards. Nothing is more common than to see persons of every age and sex suffer for several hours, and even sometimes for several days together, all the torments which fire, or the most instatiable sury can inslict or invent, in order to render them the more exquisite, without so much as a groan; they are even most commonly employed during their torture in provoking their executioners by the most gauling reproaches.

An Outagamie, whom the Illinois were burning with the utmost barbarity, having perceived a Frenchman amongst the spectators, begged him to have the goodness to assist his enemies in tormenting him; and upon the other's asking him the reason of this request, "It is, answered he, because I should then have the consolation of dying by the hands of a man." "My greatest regret, added he, is that I have never killed a man." But, returned an Illinois, you have killed such and such persons. "As for the Illinois, re-

" plied the patient, I have killed a sufficient number of them, but I do not reckon these to be
men."

What I have remarked elsewhere in order to diminish the surprize which such an insensibility might occasion, hinders us not from acknowledging an extraordinary courage in them. But however, in order to elevate the foul to fuch a degree, beyond all fense of feeling, requires an effort of which vulgar fouls are utterly incapable; this the Indians exercise themselves in during their whole lives, and accustom their children to it from their tenderest infancy. Little boys and girls have been feen to tie themselves together by an arm, and to put between a red coal to fee who should shrink first. Lastly, we must also agree, that according to the remark of Cicero, the habit of labour renders torments the more supportable. Now there is not perhaps in the whole world a people, who endure more fatigue than the Indians, both in their huntings and voyages In a word, what proves this infensibility in these barbarians, to be the effect of true courage is, that all of them are not equally possessed of it.

It is no wonder that with fuch a firmness of mind, and with sentiments so elevated, the Indians should be intrepid in the midst of danger, and of a courage which nothing can shake; it is nevertheless true, that in their wars they expose themselves as little as possible, only because they place their glory in never buying victory too dear, and that as their nations are thin of people, they have adopted this maxim to weaken themselves as little as possible; but when they are under a necessity of fighting, they behave like lions, and the fight of

their blood serves only to inspire them with new strength and courage. They have been several times in action in company with our bravoes, who have seen them perform exploits almost incredible.

A missionary being accompanied by some Abenaquis in an expedition against New England, and perceiving that they were purfued by a great body of English in their retreat, did all he could to cause them to make more haste, but to no purpose; all the answer he received was, that they did not fear such people as these. The English at length appeared, and were at least twenty to one. The Indians, without being at all intimidated, first placed the father in fafety, and afterwards went to wait for the enemy in a field, in which there was only the trunks of some trees. The combat lasted almost the whole day; the Abenaquis lost not a man, and put the English to flight, after having covered the field with dead bodies. I had this fact from father Vincent Bigot, who was the missionary in question.

But what is infinitely furprizing in men, whose whole exterior discovers nothing but the barbarian, is to see them treat one another with a gentleness and a respect unknown to the common people in the most polite nations. This no doubt proceeds from this, that meum and tuum, these cold words, as St. Chrysostom calls them, but which whilst they extinguish in our hearts the fire of charity, kindle up in them that of covetousness, are not as yet known amongst these Indians. We are no less charmed with that natural and unaffected gravity, which reigns in all their actions, and even in most of their diversions, as well as with that frankness, and that deference they discover towards their equals,

equals, and the respect shewn by young people to old age; and lastly, that we never see them in their quarrels make use of any indecent expressions, and those oaths so common amongst us; all of them proofs of their good sense and moderation.

I have told your Grace that it is a maxim adopted amongst them, and of which they are jealous above all things, that one man owes nothing to another: but from this evil principle they derive a very good consequence, to wit, that we must never injure a person who has not offended us. There wants only to compleat their happiness to do between nation and nation, as they almost always do between man and man; and never to attack a people who have given them no grounds of complaint, and not to push their thirst of vengeance so very far.

We must however agree that what we most admire in the Indians is not always to be attributed to pure virtue; that their natural disposition and their vanity, have a great share in it, and that their brightest qualities are obscured by great vices. These very men who appear to us so very contemptible at first sight, hold all the rest of mankind in the greatest contempt; and have the highest notion of themselves. The proudest of all were the Hurons, till success pussed up the Iroquois and inspired them with a haughtiness, which nothing has hitherto been able to tame, together with a brutal serocity which always constituted their chief characteristick.

On the other hand these people, so haughty and so jealous of their liberty, are beyond imagination G 4 slaves

flaves to human respect: they are also accused of being light and inconstant; but this is rather owing to the spirit of independance than to their natural character, as I have already remarked of the Canadians. They are easily offended, jealous and suspicious, especially of us Frenchmen; treacherous when it is for their interest; great dissemblers, and exceeding vindictive; no length of time extinguishes in them the thirst of vengeance; this is the dearest inheritance they leave to their children, and is transmitted from generation to generation, till an occasion is found to put it in execution.

With respect to the qualities of the heart, the Indians do not value themselves much upon them, or, to speak more properly, have no virtues in them: they feem even incapable of confidering them in this light; friendship, compassion, gratitude, attachment, are all known to them in some degree, but proceed not from the heart, and are in them less the effect of a good natural disposition, than of reflection. Their care of orphans, widows and infirm persons, the hospitality which they exercise in so admirable a manner, are in them no more than a consequence of a perfuafion, that all ought to be in common amongst men. Fathers and mothers have an affestion for their children which extends even to weakness, but which never induces them to render them virtuous, and which appears purely animal. Children on their fide shew no return of natural love for their parents, and even fometimes treat them with indignity, especially their fathers. have been told examples of it which strike us with horror, and which I cannot relate: that which follows was publickly known.

An Iroquois who had ferved a long time in our troops against his own nation, and even in quality of an officer, met his father in an engagement, and was going to run him through, when he discovered who he was. He flopt, and accosted him in this manner, "You have once given me life, and I " have this day returned the obligation; but "have a care of meeting me another time, as I " am now quit of that debt of nature which I " owed you." Nothing can be a stronger proof of the necessity of education, and that nature alone is incapable of instructing us sufficiently in the most essential duties of life: and what, if I am not deceived, is a more evident demonstration of the superior sanctity of the christian religion is. that it has produced in the heart of these barbarians, in all these respects, a change which is perfectly wonderful.

But if the Indians are incapable of tasting the sweets of friendship, they have at least discovered the advantage of it. Every one has a friend nearly the same age with himself, to whom he attaches himself by the most indissoluble bonds. Two persons thus united by one common interest, are capable of undertaking and hazarding every thing in order to aid and mutually succour each other; death itself, according to their belief, can only separate them for a time: they are well assured of meeting again in the other world never to part, where they are persuaded they will have occasion for the same services from one another.

I have been told a story on this head, that an Indian who was a Christian, but who did not live according to the maxims of the gospel, and who being threatened

threatened with hell by a Jesuit, asked this misfionary, whether he thought his friend who was lately departed had gone into that place of torment: the father answered him, that he had good grounds to think that the Lord had had mercy upon him: Then I wont go neither, replied the Indian; and this motive brought him to do every thing that was defired of him; that is to fay, that he would have been full as willing to go to hell as to heaven had he thought to find his companion there; but God makes use of every thing for the salvation of his elect. They add, that these friends when they happen to be at a distance from each other, reciprocally invoke one another in all dangers; but this, no doubt, ought to be understood of their tutelary genii. Presents are the ties of these associations, which are strengthened by interest and their mutual necessities; and the affistance they afford may be certainly depended on in almost every case. Some pretend that these friendships open a door to certain irregularities; but I have good grounds to think, that this is at least far from being general.

The colour of the Indians does not, as many believe, constitute a third species of men between the blacks and whites. They are very tawny and of a dirty and obscure red, which is more sensible in Florida, of which Louisiana makes a part; but this is not natural to them. The frequent frictions they use, is what gives them this copper complexion, and it is really wonderful that they are not still blacker, being continually exposed to the smoke in winter, and to the greatest heats of the sun in summer, and at all seasons to all the intemperance of the air.

It is not so easy to give a reason why, except the hair of their head which is univerfally jet black. and their eye-lashes and eye-brows, which some of them even pluck out, they have not a fingle hair on their whole body. Almost all the Americans are in the same situation. What is still more surprizing is, that their children are born with a long thin hair all over their bodies, but which difappears in eight days. We fee also some straggling hairs on the chins of old men, as it happens amongst us to women of a certain age. Some attribute this fingularity to the constant custom the Americans of both fexes have of fmoaking: what others alledge feems to me more natural, which is, that this proceeds from the quality of their blood, which being purer by reason of the simplicity of their food, produces fewer of those superfluities which our thicker blood occasions in so great an abundance; or that having fewer falts it is less proper for this fort of productions. is at least no room to doubt that it is owing to this simplicity of their diet, that the Indians are so nimble of foot. I have feen an islander from the neighbourhood of Japan, who having never tasted bread, assured me, that he could with ease have travelled on foot thirty leagues a day for a continuance; but that after beginning to make use of it, he could no longer perform it with the same ease.

What is certain is, that our Indians hold it as a fingular beauty to have no hair except on their heads only; and that if any happens fometimes to grow on their chin they pluck it out immediately: that the Europeans when they first faw them, appeared hideous to them on account of their long beards

beards which it was then the fashion to wear; that they did not like our white colour; and that the slesh of the French and English seemed of a disagreeable taste to them, because of its siltness. Thus, Madam, the idea which was formerly entertained in Europe of the Indians, who were represented there like men all covered with hair, not only differs from the truth in every particular, but is also precisely the same which they at first entertained of us, as they believed that our bodies were as hairy all over as the chin and breast of some persons.

I have the honour to be, &c.

LETTER

LETTER XXII.

Voyage to the River St. Joseph. Observations with respect to the Rivers which fall into Lake Michigan on the eastern Side. Of Father Marquette's river, and of the Origin of this Name. Of the Games of the Indians. Some particulars of the Character of these Nations.

River St. Joseph, August 16, 1721.

Madam,

T was eight days yesterday since I arrived at this post, where we have a mission, and where there is a commandant with a small garrison. The commandant's house, which is but a very forry one, is called the fort, from its being surrounded with an indifferent pallisado, which is pretty near the case in all the rest, except the forts Chambly and Catarocouy, which are real fortresses. There are however in almost every one of them some few cannons or pateraroes, which in case of necessity are sufficient to hinder a surprize and to keep the Indians in respect.

We have here two villages of Indians, one of the Miamis and the other of the Poutewatamies, both of them mostly Christians; but as they have been for a long time without any pastors, the misfionary who has lately been fent them, will have no small difficulty in bringing them back to the exercise of their religion. The river of St. Joseph comes from the fouth-east, and discharges itself into the bottom of lake Michigan, the eastern shore of which is a hundred leagues in length, and which you are obliged to fail along before you come to the entry of this river. You afterward, fail up twenty leagues in it before you reach the fort, which navigation requires great precautions; because when the wind is large, that is to fay westerly, which frequently prevails here, the waves extend the whole length of the lake. There is also good ground to believe, that the great number of rivers which discharge themselves into the lake on the eaftern fide, contribute much by the shock of their currents against the waves to render this voyage dangerous: what is certain is, that there are few places in all Canada where there are more shipwrecks. But I return to my journal where I left off.

On the first of August, after having crossed under sail a bay which is thirty leagues in depth, I lest on my right les isles de Castor, or Beaver islands, which seem to me very well wooded; and some leagues farther on the lest, I perceived on a sandy eminence a kind of grove or thicket, which when you are abreast of it, has the figure of an animal lying down: the French call this the Sleeping, and the Indians the Couching Bear. I advanced twenty leagues this day; and encamped in a little island, which lies in 44 deg. 30 min. north latitude, be-

ing nearly under the same parallel with Montreal. From the entry of the lake Michigan as far as this island, the coast is very sandy; but after you have got ever so small a distance up the country it appears extremely beautiful, at least if we may judge of it by the magnificent forests with which it is covered. It is besides extremely well watered and we made not a fingle league without discovering either some large rivulet or fine river; and the more you advance to the fouth the larger the rivers, and they likewise come from a greater distance, the peninsula which separates lake Michigan from lake Huron, growing broader in proportion as you advance towards the fouth. Most part however of these rivers are but of an indifferent breadth, and have no great depth at their mouth. There is one fingular circumstance attends them which is, that almost immediately after you have entered them, you meet with lakes of two, three, or four leagues in circuit: which comes no doubt from the great quantity of land which they carry down with them; these fands being driven back by the waves of the lake. which come almost constantly from the west, gather in heaps at the mouth of the rivers, the waters of which are stopt by these dykes which they with difficulty get past, and so by degrees hollow out these lakes or pools, which hinder the country from being laid under water, on the melting of the fnows.

On the 3d I entered the river of Father Marquette, in order to examine whether what I had been told of it was true. This is at first entring it, no more than a brook; but sifteen paces higher you enter a lake which is near two leagues in circuit. In order to make way for its discharge into lake Michigan, one would imagine that a great Hummock which you leave on the left as you enter, had been

been dug through, and on the right the coast is very low for the space of a good musker-shot, asterwards all of a sudden it rises to a very great height. It had actually been represented to me as such, and on that head, the following is the constant tradition of all our travellers, and what ancient missionaries have told me.

Father Joseph Marquette, a native of Laon in Picardy, where his family still maintains a distinguished rank, was one of the most illustrious misfionaries of New-France. This person travelled over almost all the countries in it, and made several important discoveries, the last of which was that of the Missisppi, which he entered with the Sieur Toliet in 1673. Two years after this discovery, an account of which he has published, as he was going from Chicagou, which is at the bottom of lake Michigan, to Michillimakinac, he entered on the 18th day of May 1675 the river in question, the mouth of which was then at the extremity of the low ground, which as I have already taken notice, you leave on the right hand as you enter. Here he erected his altar and faid mass. He went afterwards to a small distance in order to render thanks, and begged the two men that conducted his canoe to leave him alone for half an hour. time having past they went to seek him, and were furprized to find him dead; they called to mind however, that on entering the river he had let drop an expression that he should end his days at this place.

However, as it was too far to carry his body from thence to Michillimakinac, they buried him near the bank of the river, which from that time has retired by degrees, as out of respect to his remains,

mains, as far as the cape, the foot of which it now washes, and where it has opened itself a new pasfage. The year following, one of the persons who had paid the last offices to this servant of God, returned to the place where they had buried him, took what remained of him, and carried it to Michillimakinac. I have not been able to learn, or else I have forgot, the name this river formerly bore: but at this day the Indians always call it the river of the black robe, for thus the Indians term the jesuits. They call the secular clergy White-bands as they do the recollets Grey-gowns. The French call this river Father Marquette's river, and never fail to call upon him when they are in any danger on lake Michigan. Several of them have affirmed, that they believed themselves indebted to his intercession for having escaped very great dangers.

I advanced three leagues farther that day, and and pitched my camp at the mouth of the river St. Nicholas, on the banks of a fine lake, longer but not quite fo broad as the former. I found here great numbers of red and white pines, the latter of which have the roughest bark, but the wood of them is the better of the two, and from it issues a gum of tolerable fineness; the former have a smoother bark but the wood is heavier: from these is drawn the tar of which is made the best fort of pitch. I had a pleasant enough voyage as far as the river St. Joseph, which I entered very late on the 6th or very early on the 7th, for it was about midnight when we arrived at this place; having taken two full hours rest on the banks of the lake of the Black River, which is eight leagues distant from it, and where there grows much of the root called gingleng.

Vol. II. H The

The river of St. Joseph has more than an hundred leagues of course, its source being at no great distance from lake Erie; it is navigable for sourfcore leagues, and on the 25th as I was failing up towards the fort, I saw nothing but excellent lands covered with trees of a prodigious height, under which there grows in some places very fine capillaire. I was two days in getting hither, but on the evening of the first day I run a very great risque of putting an end to all my travels; I was taken for a bear, and had very near been killed on this footing by one of my conductors: it happened in this manner.

After supper and prayers were over, it being very not, I went to take a walk along the banks of the river. A spaniel which followed me wherever I went, happened to plunge into the water in quest of fomething I had thrown into it without thinking; my people who believed me retired to rest, and the more so as it was very late and the night dark, hearing the noise this creature made, took it into their head, that it was a roebuck swimming across the river, two of them immediately fet out with their muskets loaded; by good luck for me, one of the two who was a hair-brained fellow was called back by the rest for fear he should cause them miss their prey, but his hair-brainedness might very easily have caused him not to miss me.

The other advancing flowly perceived me at the distance of twenty paces from him, and made no doubt that it was a bear standing on its hind legs, as these animals always do on their hearing any noise. With this notion the huntsman cocks his piece in which he had put three balls, and couching

couching close to the ground, approached me as foftly as possible. He was just going to fire, when I likewise began to think I saw somewhat, but without being able to distinguish what it was. As I could not doubt however that this must be some of my people I asked him whether he took me for a bear; he made no answer, and when I came up to him I sound him quite speechless, and like a person seized with horror at the thoughts of what he was going to do. His comrades afterwards told me all that had happened.

The river St. Joseph is so commodious for the commerce of all parts of Canada, that it is no wonder it has always been much frequented by the In-Besides it waters an extreme fertile country, but this is not what these people esteem it most for. It is even great pity to give them good lands: which they either make no use of at all, or soon run out by fowing maize on them. The Mascoutins had not long fince a fettlement on this river, but have returned back to their own country which is faid to be still finer than this. The Poutewagamies have occupied fuccessively several posts here where they still are; their village is on the fame fide with the fort, a little below it and on a very fine spot of ground: that of the Miamis is on the other fide of the river.

These Indians, who have from the earliest times applied themselves more than others to the study of medicine, make great account of the root gingseng, and are persuaded that this plant has the virtue of rendering women fruitful. I do not believe however that it is for this reason they have given it the name of Abesoatchenza which signifies a child; it owes this name at least amongst the H 2 Iroqueis

Iroquois to the figure of its root. Your Grace has no doubt seen what Father Saffitau who first brought it into France, has written of it under the name Aureliana Canadensis: it is at least in shape exactly the fame with that which comes from China, and which the Chinese bring from Corea and Tartary. The name they give it, and which fignifies the likeness of man; the virtues attributed to it, and which have been experienced in Canada by such as have used it, and the conformity of the climate * are a strong presumption that did we only believe it to come from China, it would be as much esteemed as that which the Chinese sell us. And perhaps too it owes its little credit amongst us, to its growing in a country which belongs to us, and that it wants the advantage of being in every respect a foreign commodity.

Sailing up the river St. Joseph I remarked some trees which I had not seen any where else. The most singular of these, and which I at first took for an ash by its leaves, grows to an extreme thickness, and bears a fort of bean very beautiful to the eye, but which by being boiled become always harder and barder, so that it has been impossible to make any use of them. The fields round the fort are covered with saidafras to such a degree, that the air is perfumed with them. This is not a large tree as in Carolina but a small shrub creeping almost on the ground, and perhaps these are only the shoots of the trees which have been cut down in order to clear the ground round the fort and Indian towns.

^{*} The black river is in 4 deg. 50 min. that is in the same latitude with the place whence the gingseng of Corea is brought for the use of the emperor of China. Some of it has been sent to China, and after being prepared by the Chinese, has been by them sold as coming from Corea or Tartary. Besides, this preparation adds nothing to its value.

Here are a great number of simples which the Indians are faid to use at a venture, without any other principle than a few flight experiments, which lead them fometimes into confiderable mistakes: for the fame remedies do not always act in the fame manner on every constitution, even when affected with the same distemper; but these people are incapable of making such distinctions. one thing which has always furprized me, and that is the impenetrable fecrecy which they obferve with respect to their simples, or the little curiofity of the French to acquire the knowledge of them. If this be not the fault of these latter, nothing can, in my opinion, be a stronger proof, that the Indians do not behold us with pleasure in their country: but of this we have other proofs and equally undoubted. It may also be, that they entertain the same opinion with regard to their fimples, which we are affured they hold with respect to their mines; which is that they would certainly die, were they to discover any of them to itrangers.

The Indians of these parts are naturally thieves, and look upon all they can catch as lawful prize. It is however true, that if one discovers early that he has lost any thing, it is sufficient to advertise the chief of it, and you are sure of recovering it; but you must give this chief more than the value of the thing, besides which, he always demands something for him who has found it, who is probably the thief himself. I was in the same case on the morrow after my arrival, in which I had not the least favour or indulgence shown me: these barbarians will rather maintain a war than relax ever so little in this point.

 H_3

Some

Some days afterwards I paid a visit to the chief of the Miamis, who had been beforehand with me; this is a tall handsome man but very much disfigured, being without a nofe; I was told that he owed this misfortune to a debauch. As foon as he understood I was coming to visit him, he went and placed himself in the inner part of his cabbin in a fort of alcove, where I found him feated crosslegged in the manner of the orientals He faid scarce any thing to me, and seemed to affect a haughty fort of gravity, which he supported very ill; this is the first Indian chief I have ever seen to observe this ceremony; but I was told that I must repay him in kind, if I would not be despised by him.

On this day the Poutewatamies came to play at the game of straws, against the Miamis; the game was played in the cabbin of the chief, and in a fort of square over against it. These straws are small rushes of the thickness of a stalk of wheat and two fingers in length. They take up a parcel of these in their hand, which generally confists of two hundred and one, and always of an unequal number. After they have well stirred them, and making a thousand contortions of body and invoking the genii, they divide them, with a kind of awl or sharp bone into parcels of ten: each takes one at a venture, and he to whom the parcel with eleven in it falls gains a certain number of paints according to the agreement: fixty or four fcore make a party.

There are other ways of playing this game, and they would have explained them to me, but I could understand nothing of the matter, except that the number nine gained the whole party. They also told

told me, that there was as much of art as chance in this game, and that the Indians are great cheats at it, as well as at all others; that they are so eager at it, as to spend whole days and nights at it; and that fometimes they do not give over playing till they have stript the melves naked and have nothing more to lofe. They have another kind of game, which excites no strong delire of gain. This is for pure diversion only, but is almost always attended with fatal confequences with respect to their morals. At night fall several posts are erected, in a round form, in the middle of some great cabbin; in the midst of all are the instruments, on each post is fixed a packet of down, of which there must be some of every colour. The young people of both fexes promifcuo fly dance round the posts, the girls having also some down of the colour which they love: from time to time a young man goes out from the rest, and takes from a post some down, of the colour which he knows is agreeable to his mistress, places it upon her head, dances round her, and by a certain fignal gives her to understand some place of affignation. The dance ended, the feast begins and lasts the whole day long, in the evening all the company retire, when the girls manage matters with fo much address, that in spite of the vigilance of their mothers they reach the place of rendezvous.

The Miamis have also two other games; the first of which is called the game of the cross. This is played with a ball and crooked sticks, ending like a fort of racket. Two posts are erected which ferve as limits, and which are diftant from each other in proportion to the number of the play. ers. As for instance, if there are fourscore players, H_{4}

the distance between the posts is half a league. The players are divided into two companies who have each their own post, and the business is to toss the ball to that of the opposite party, without suffering it to fall to the ground or without touching it with the hand; for if either happen the party is lost; at least except he who is in the fault can repair it, by driving the ball to the end with one single stroke, which is often impossible. These Indians are so dexterous at catching the ball with their crosses, that sometimes a party lasts several days running.

The fecond game is pretty much like this, but not fo dangerous. Two boundaries are marked out as in the first, and the players occupy all the fpace which is between the two. He who is to begin toffes a ball up into the air, as nearly perpendicular as possible, to the end he may catch it again with the greater ease, in order to throw it towards the boundary. All the rest stand ready with their hands lifted, and he who catches the ball either performs the fame thing, or throws it to fome one of his own company, whom he judges more alert and dexterous than himself; for in order to win the party the ball must never be suffered to fall into the hands of any of the adversaries, before it reaches The women also play at this the boundary. game, but this rarely happens; their companies confift of four or five, and the first who lets fall the ball loses the party.

The Poutewatamies have here a chief and an orator, who are perfons of worth. The first who is called Piremon is upwards of fixty, very prudent in his conduct, and capable of giving very good advice; the second whose name is Wilamek is somewhat

fomewhat younger; this person is a Christian and well instructed, but makes no exercise of his religion. One day as I reproached him for it, he left me abrubtly, went directly to the chapel, and said his prayers with so audible a voice, that we could hear him at the missionary's. You can scarce any where meet with a more sensible man or a better speaker; and besides he is of a very amiable character and sincerely attached to the French. Piremon is no less so, and I heard both of them speak in a council held at the commandant's where they said a great many very fine things to us.

Several Indians of the two nations fettled upon this river, are just arrived from the English colonies, whither they had been to fell their furs, and from whence they have brought back in return a great quantity of spirituous liquors. The distribution of it is made in the usual manner; that is to fay, a certain number of persons have daily delivered to each of them a quantity sufficient to get drunk with, fo that the whole has been drank up in eight days. They began to drink in both villages, as foon as the fun was down, and every night the fields echoed with the most hideous howlings. One would have thought that a gang of devils had broke loofe from hell, or that the two towns had been cutting one another's throats. There were two men maimed, one of whom I met, who had broke his arm with a fall; I told him he would certainly take care to keep fober another time: he answered, that what had happened was nothing at all; and that he should very soon be well again, and would fall to drinking as foon as he could get wherewithal.

Your

Your Grace may from thence judge, what a missionary is capable of doing in midst of this disorder, and how disagreeable it must be to a good man, who has in a manner exiled himself, in order to gain fouls to God, to be obliged to become a witness of it, without being able to remedy it. These barbarians themselves well know, that drunkenness is their ruin and destruction; but when one goes about to perfuade them, that they ought of themselves to request that no more of this destructive beverage should be fold them, they answer you cooly: "It is you who have accustomed us to " it, we are now no longer able to difpense with "the want of it, and should you refuse to give " us any, we should certainly go to the English " for it. This liquor kills and destroys us we con-" fess, but it is to you we owe this mischief which " is now past remedy." It is, however, without just grounds that they blame us alone; for had it not been for the English, I do believe it possible to have put an end to this commerce in the colony, or at least to have reduced it to its just limits; it will perhaps very foon be necessary to permit the French to carry on this traffick, taking the proper measures to hinder the abuse of it; and the more, as the English spirituous liquors are much more mischievous than ours.

A diforder which attacks the morals never goes alone; it is always either the cause or the effect of several others. The Indians before they sell into this vice, if we except war which they have always carried on in a barbarous and inhuman manner, had nothing to trouble their happiness; drunkenness has rendered them interested, and has destroyed all the sweets, whether of domestick and publick

life. However, as they are only affected with the present object, the evils which this passion has occasioned are not yet become habitual; these are storms which soon blow over and whereof the good-nature and tranquillity of mind they are endowed with, take away almost the very remembrance.

It must be confessed that their way of life seems at first glance very rude, but besides that nothing is hard in this respect but by comparison, and that habit is a fecond nature, the liberty they enjoy, compensates sufficiently the loss of those conveniencies of which they are deprived. What we fee every day in some who are beggars by profesfion, and in some peasants, furnishes a sensible proof, that happiness may be found even in the bosom of indigence. Now the Indians are still more really so; first, because they believe themfelves fo; in the fecond place, as being in peaceable possession of the most invaluable gift of nature; lastly, from their being utterly ignorant of, and without fo much as the defire of knowing those false goods which we so much admire, which we purchase at the expense of real ones, and which we fo little enjoy.

In fact a thing in which they are more estimable and ought to be looked upon as true philosophers is, that the fight of all our conveniencies, riches, and magnificence affects them so little, and that they have sound out the art of easily dispensing with them. Some Iroquois who went to Paris in 1666, and who after being shown all the royal houses, and all the fine things of that great city, admired nothing in it; and would have preferred their villages to the capital of the most flourishing kingdom

kingdom in Europe, had they not feen the street De la Huchette, where the cook's shops, in which they found a constant supply of all sorts of eatables, pleased them highly.

Nor can we in justice say, that what makes them fo fond of their own way of living is their not being acquainted with the charms of ours. number of Frenchmen have tried their way of life, and were so pleased with it, that several of them, though they could have lived very comfortably in the colony, could never be prevailed upon to return to it; on the contrary, there never was fo much as a fingle Indian that could be brought to relish our way of living. have been taken even in their swadling clothes, and have been brought up with a great deal of care; nothing has been omitted to hinder them from the knowledge of what might pass at home with their parents: all these precautions have been fruitlefs, the force of blood having ever got the better of education: the moment they have found themselves at liberty, they have torn their clothes to pieces, and have gone across the woods in quest of their countrymen, whose way of living feemed preferable to ours.

An Iroquois called La Plaque, and the fame person, who by saving his father's life at an engagement, thought himself freed from all obligations to him, lived among the French for several years. He was even made a lieutenant in our army, in order to induce him to remain with us, as he was a very brave man. He could not however hold out, and returned to his own nation, carrying away with him only our vices, without

without correcting any of those he had brought along with him. He was fund of women to distraction. He was handsome, and his bravery and his warlike feats, made him much taken notice of, he had also a sprightly wit, and was of a very engaging behaviour; he debauched many of his countrywomen, and carried his irregularities to such a height, that it was debated in the council of his own canton, whether they should not dispatch him. It was however carried by a plurality of voices, that he should be suffered to live; because that being of distinguished valour, he would people the country with excellent warriors.

The care which the mothers take of their children, whilft they are still in the cradle is beyond all expression, and proves in a very sensible manner, that we often spoil all, by the reslections which we add to the dictates of simple nature. They never leave them, they carry them every where about with them; and even when they are ready to sink under the burthen with which they load themselves, the cradle of the child is held for nothing: and one would even think, that this additional weight were an ease to them and rendered them more agile.

Nothing can be neater than these cradles in which the child lies as commodiously and softly as possible. But the infant is only made fast from the middle downwards: so that when the cradle is upright, the little creatures have their head and the half of the body hanging down; we Europeans would imagine, that a child left in this condition would become entirely decrepid;

the quite the concrary happens, this porture rendering the body supple; and they are in sict of a point and stature, which the handsomest among us might look upon with envy. What can we oppose to so general an experience? But what I am going to tell you is not so easily justified.

There are nations in this continent called flatheads, and which have, in fact, their fore-head very flat, and the crown of their head fomewhat This conformation is not the work of nature but of their mothers, who give it to their children gradually from their birth. In order to this, they apply upon the for head and back part of the head, two maffes of clay or of some other heavy matter, which they pless together by degrees, till the cranium has taken the form they have a mind to give it. It appears that this operation causes the children to suffer a great deal, as there is a thick and a whitish matter which proceeds from their nostrils: but neither this circumstance nor the cries of the little innocents alarm the mothers, who are above all things defirous of procuring them this point of beauty which they conceive indiffernably necessary. Quite the contrary happens among certain Algonquins, whom we have thought fit to call Tetes de Boule, or Roundheads, and of whom I have already taken notice, they making their chief beauty to confift in having heads perfectly round, and the mothers likewise begin very early to give them I was willing, Madam, to make use of the leifure my stay in this place affords me, which will perhaps be longer than I am desirous (III)

it should be, in order to finish all I had to say on this subject, but some unexpected difficulties and the sudden departure of a traveller, who is returning to the colony, oblige me to interrupt this account which I shall resume as soon as possible.

I am, &c.

LETTER

LETTER XXIII.

Sequel of the Character of the Indians and of their Manner of living.

River St. Joseph, August 8, 1721.

Madam,

Resume the sequel of my memoirs where I lest ■ off. You may perhaps find fault with me for my want of order, but one may at least pardon in a relation what is admired in an ode; that which in a lyric poet is the effect of art, is the effect of necessity in a traveller, who can only relate things in proportion as he is informed of them, and who is obliged to write what is then passing before his eyes for fear of forgetting it. children of the Indians after leaving off the use of the cradle, are under no fort of confinement, and as foon as they are able to crawl about on hands and feet, are suffered to go stark naked whereever they have a mind, through woods, water, mire and fnow; which gives them strength and agility, and fortifies them against the injuries of the air and weather; but this conduct, as I have already remarked, occasions weaknesses in the stomach and breast, which destroy their constitution very early. In the fummer time they run the moment Vol. II. they

they get up to the next river or lake, where they remain a great part of the day playing, in the same manner we see fishes do in good weather, near the surface of the water. Nothing is more proper than this exercise to render the body active.

They take care likewise to put the bow and arrow into their hands betimes; and in order to excite in them that emulation which is the best mistress of the arts, there is no necessity of placing their breakfast on the top of a tree, as was formerly done to the Lacedemonian youth; they are all born with fo strong a passion for glory, as to have no need of a spur; thus they shoot their arrows with wonderful exactness, and it scarce costs them any trouble to arrive at a like dexterity in the use of our firearms. They also cause them wrestle together, and fo keen are they in this exercise, that they would often kill one another, were they not separated in time; those who come off with the worst, are so mortified at it that they can never be at rest till they have had their revenge.

We may in general fay, that fathers and mothers neglect nothing, in order to inspire their children with certain principles of honour which they preferve their whole lives, but which are often ill enough applied; and in this consists all the education that is given them. They take care always to communicate their instructions on this head, in an indirect manner. The most common way is by rehearsing to them the famous exploits of their ancestors or countrymen: the youth take fire at these recitals, and sigh for an opportunity of imitating what they have thus been made to admire. Sometimes in order to correct their faults they employ tears and entreaties, but never threats; these would

would make no manner of impression on minds which have imbibed this prejudice, that no one whatever has a right to force them to any thing.

A mother on feeing her daughter behave ill bursts into tears; and upon the other's asking her the cause of it, all the answer she makes is, Thou dishonourest me. It seldom happens that this fort of reproof fails of being efficacious. Notwithstanding, since they have had a more frequent commerce with the French, some of them begin to chastise their children, but this happens only among those that are Christians, or such as are settled in Generally the greatest punishment the colony. which the Indians make use of in chastising their children, is by throwing a little water in their face; the children are very fensible of this, and in general of every thing that looks like reproof, which is owing to this, that pride is the strongest passion at this age.

Young girls have been known to strangle themfelves for a slight reprimand from their mothers, or for having a few drops of water thrown in their face, warning them of what was going to happen in such words as these, You shall not have a daughter long to use so. The greatest evil in this sort of education, is that what they exhort young people to is not alway virtue, or that what comes nearly to the same thing, that the ideas they give them of it are not just. In fact, nothing is so much instilled into them, whether by precept or example, as an implacable desire of revenge.

It would feem, Madam, that a childhood fo ill instructed, should be followed by a very dissolute

I 2 and

and turbulent state of youth; but on one hand the Indians are naturally quiet and betimes masters of themselves, and are likewise more under the guidance of reason than other men; and on the other hand, their natural disposition, especially in the northern nations, does not incline them to debauchery. They however have some usages in which no sort of regard is paid to modesty; but it appears that in this, superstition has a much greater share than a depravation of heart.

The Hurons when we first began to frequent them were more lascivious as well as more brutal in their pleafures. For young people of both fexes abandoned themselves, without either shame or remorse, to all kinds of dissoluteness, and it was chiefly amongst these that it was thought no crime in a girl to profittute herfelf: their parents were the first to engage them in this vice, and husbands were seen to prostitute their wives for vile interest. Several of them never married, but took women to ferve them to use their own expression as companions, and the only difference they reckoned between these concubines and their lawful spoules, was in their being free from any engagement with the former; belides, their children were on the same footing with the others, which occasioned no fort of inconvenience in a country where there was nothing to inherit.

The nations in these parts are not distinguished by their habit: the men in hot weather have often no garment, except a shirt: In winter they wear more or fewer cloaths, in proportion to the climate. They wear on their feet a sort of socks, made of deer-skin dried in the smoke;

fmoke; their hole are also of skins or pieces of stuff wrapped round the leg. A waiftcoat of skins covers their bodies down to their middle, over which they wear a covering when they can get it; if not they wear a robe of bear-skin or of feveral skins of beavers, otters, or other such like furs, with the hairy fide inwards. The woman's boddices reach down to a little above the knee, and when they travel they cover the head with their coverings or robes. I have feen feverals who wore little bonnets, made in the manner of leather caps; others of them wear a fort of cowl, which is fewed to their vefts or boddices, and they have also a piece of stuff or skin which serves them for a petticoat, and which covers them from the middle down to the mid-leg.

They are all very fond of shirts, which they never wear under their vests till they become dirty, and never put them off, till they fall off with rottenness, they never giving themselves the trouble to wash them. Their tunicks or vests of skins, are commonly dried in the smoke like their socks, that is, they are suffered to be fully penetrated with it, when they rub them till they are capable of being washed like linnen. They also dress them by steeping them in water, and afterwards rub them between their hands till they become dry and pliant. They are, however, much fonder of our stuffs and coverings, which they esteem much more commodious.

Several of them paint themselves, as the Picts did formerly, over the whole body: others in some parts only. This is not considered by them as purely ornamental; they find it, likewise as is said, of great use to them: it contributes much to defend

fend them from the cold and wet, and faves them from the perfecution of the gnats. It is however only in the countries occupied by the English, and especially in Virginia, that the custom of painting themselves all over is very common. In New-France most are satisfied with making a few figures of birds, serpents, or other animals, and even foliage or the like, without any order or symmetry, and often on the face, and sometimes on the eye-lids, according to the caprice of the person. Many of the women too cause themselves to be painted over the jaw-bone, in order to prevent the tooth-ach.

This operation which is done by pricking the parts, is not painful in itself; it is done in this manner: they begin with tracing on the skin after it is well stretched, the figure they have a mind to paint on it. They afterwards prick with the bone of a fish or with needles, all these traces even till the blood comes, afterwards they rub it over with charcoal and other colours well pulverized. These powders infinuate themselves under the skin, so that the colours are never effaced. But in some time after the skin swells, when there arises a tetter accompanied with an inflammation: this is commonly followed by a fever, and if the weather proves hot, or if the operation has been pushed too far, the life of the patient is endangered.

The colour with which they paint their faces, and the grease with which they rub the whole body, produce the same advantages, and in the opinion of the Indians, contribute as much to the beauty and comelines of the person as the pricking. The warriors paint themselves when they take the field, in order to terrify the enemy, and perhaps too, with

a view to hide their own fear, for we must not believe them to be entirely exempt from it. Young persons do it, in order to conceal their youth, which makes them less esteemed by the old soldiers, or their paleness after some disease which they would be afraid would be taken for the effect of their want of courage. They do it likewise in order to improve their good looks; in which case the colours are more lively and in greater variety: they also paint the prisoners who are condemned to die, for what reason I know not; this is perhaps done to adorn the victim who is about to be facrificed to the god of war. Lastly, they paint dead persons and expose them covered with their finest robes, and this, no doubt, that they may conceal the dead paleness which disfigures them.

The colours made use of on these occasions are the same employed in dying their skins, and are drawn from certain earths and from the barks of trees. These are not very lively, but are very difficult to efface. The men add to these ornaments fome down of fwans or other birds, which they scatter over their hair, which is befineared with fat, by way of powder. To this they add feathers of all colours, and tufts of hair of different animals, all placed in a very grotefque manner. The disposition of their hair sometimes briftling on one side and lying flat on the other, or dreffed in a thousand odd ways; with pendants in their ears and sometimes in their nostrils, a large shell of porcelain hanging from their neck or on their breaft, crowns of feathers, with the claws, talons or heads of birds of prey, small deer horns; all these are so many essential articles in their dress. But whatever is of an extraordinary value, is always employed in adorning their captives when these wretches make their their first entry into the village of the conquero It is to be remarked, that the men take no care to adorn any part but the head. Quite the reverse happens with the women. They scarce use any dress on their heads at all; only they are very jealous of their hair and would think themselves dishonoured forever, were it to be cut. Thus, when at the death of their relations they cut off part of the hair, they pretend to shew by this act the most extreme grief they are capable of. In order to preserve this ornament of the head they rub it often with fat, powder it with the bark of a certain tree, and fometimes with vermilion, then wrap it in the skin of an eel or serpent, by way of locks, which are plaited in form of a chain, and which hang down to their middle. face, they content themselves with drawing a few lines on it with vermilion or other colours.

Their nostrils are never bored, and it is only among some nations that their ears are so. When this is the case, they insert in them, or hang to them, as well as the men, beads of porcelain. When they are in their finest dress they wear robes on which are painted all sorts of figures, small collars of porcelain, without any great order or symmetry, and a kind of border tolerably well worked with the hair of the porcupine, which they also paint with different colours. They adorn in the same manner their children's cradles, and over the extremity towards the head, they six a semicircle or two of cedar, that they may cover the child without incommoding its head.

Besides, the care of houshold affairs and making the necessary provision of wood, the women are likewise alone charged with the culture of the fields; as foon as the fnows are melted and the water fufficiently drained off, they begin with preparing the ground, which is done by stirring it slightly with a crooked piece of wood, the handle of which is very long, after having fet fire to the dried flalks of of their maize and other herbs which have remained fince the last harvest. Besides that, those forts of grain which are cultivated by these people are all fummer corn, they pretend that the nature of the foil of this country, will not permit them to fow any thing before the winter. But I believe that the true reason why corn would not sprout, if it were to be fown in autumn, is either that it would spoil during the winter, or would rot on the melting of the fnows. It may also be, and it is the opinion of feveral persons, that the corn which is sown in Canada, though originally come from France, has contracted, through length of time, the nature and properties of fummer corn, which is not strong enough to fprout feveral times, as it happens to fuch forts of grain as we fow in September and October.

Beans or rather Caravanches are sown with maize, the stalk of which serves for a support to them; I think I remember to have been told, that it is from us the Indians received this fort of pulse, which they hold in great esteem, and which, in fact, differs nothing from ours. But what I am surprized at is, that they make little or no use of our peas, which have acquired in the soil of Canada a degree of excellence, much superior to what they have in Europe. Turnsoles, water melons, and pompions, are first raised in a hot-bed and afterwards transplanted.

The

The women commonly affift one another in their labour in the fields, and when reaping time comes, they have fometimes recourse to the men, who then condescend to put their hands to work. The whole concludes with a festival and with a feast, which is given in the night. Their corn and other fruits are preserved in repositories which they dig in the ground, and which are lined with large pieces of bark. Some of them leave the maize in the ear, which is tufted like our onions, and hang them on long poles over the entry of their cabbins. Others thresh it out and lay it up in large baskets of bark, bored on all fides to hinder it from heating. But when they are obliged to be from home for any time, or when they apprehend some irruption of the enemy, they make great concealments under ground, where these forts of grain are exceeding well preferred.

In the northern parts they fow little, and in feveral places none at all, but purchase maize by way of exchange for other commodities. This fort of pulse is very wholesome, nourishing, and light upon the stomach. The way in which our French Canadian travellers commonly dress it, is to boil it a little in a fort of lye. In this state it keeps a long time; they commonly make their provision of it for long journeys, and compleat the dressing of it as they want it, by boiling it in water or in broth, if they can get any, with a little salt along with it.

This is no disagreeable eating, but many are of opinion, that the too constant use of it is prejudicial to the health, the lye giving it a corrosive quality, the effects of which become sensible after some time. When the Maize is in the ear and still green, some roast it on the coals, in which way it has an excellent

cellent flavour. They commonly regale ftrangers with this dish. They also send it in some places to persons of distinction who arrive in their village, much in the same manner as they present the freedom of a city in France.

Lastly, it is of this pulse the Sagamity is made, which is the most common food of the Indians. In order to this they begin with roasting it, they asterwards bruise it, separate it from the husk and then make it into a fort of pap, which is insipid when without meat or prunes to give it a relish. It is sometimes made into meal, called here farine froide, and is the most commodious and best provision for a journey; and such persons as walk on foot can carry no other. They also boil the maize in the ear whilst it is still tender, they afterwards roast it a little, then separate it from the ear and lay it to dry in the sun: this will keep a long time, and the sagamity made of it has an excellent stayour.

The detail of these dishes is a proof how little delicate the Indians are in their eating: we should also be of opinion that their taste is very much vitiated, were it possible to fix this point. They are above all things fond of fat, which when they can get, it is the reigning ingredient in all their cookery: some pounds of candles in a kettle of sagamity, makes an excellent dish with them; they even put things in it which I dare not mention; and at which they are surprized to see us shocked.

The fouthern nations had no kitchen utenfils, but some vessels of earthen ware. In the north they made use of wooden kettles, and made the

water boil by throwing into it red hot pebbles. Our iron pots are esteemed by both as much more commodious than the others, and are the commodity you can promife most to dispose of quickly, in trading with Indians. Among the western nations they use wild oats instead of maize: this is likewise very wholesome, and if less nourishing, the hunting of the buffalo which is very plentiful in those parts, abundantly compensates that de-Amongst the wandering Indians who never cultivate the ground, the fole resource when their hunting and fishing fall short, is in a kind of moss which grows on certain rocks, and which our Frenchmen call Trippe de Roches: nothing can be more insipid than this food, which is even very far from being substantial; and can at most keep one from dying of hunger. I am less still able to conceive what has, however, been attested by persons worthy of credit, that the Indians eat as a great dainty a kind of maize, which is laid to rot in standing water as we do hemp, and which is taken out quite black and flinking. They even add, that fuch as have once taken a liking to this strange dish, do not with their will lose any of the water or rather of the dirt that runs from it, and the imell of which alone, would be enough to turn the stomach of any other person. It is probably necessity alone which has discovered this secret, and if this does not likewise constitute all the seasoning to it, nothing can be a stronger proof that there is no disputing of tastes.

The Indian women make bread of maize, and though this is only a mass of ill kneaded paste, without leaven, and baked under the ashes, these people reckon it excellent, and regale their friends with it; but it must be eaten hot for it will not keep

keep cold; sometimes they mix beans, different fruits, oil and fat with it: one must have a good stomach to digest such dainties.

The Indians make no other use of the turnsoles, but to extract from them an oil with which they rub themselves: this is more commonly drawn from the feeds than from the root of this plant. This root differs little from what we call, in France topinambours or apples of the earth. Potatoes fo common in the islands and on the continent of South America, have been planted with fuccess in Louifiana. The continual use which all the nations of Canada made of a kind of tobacco which grows all over this country, has given occasion to some travellers to fay that they swallowed the smoke of its which ferved them for food; but this has fince been discovered to be a falsity, and to have no foundation, except from their having been observed to remain a long time without eating. After once tasting our tobacco they can no longer endure their own, and it is very eafy to gratify them in this point, tobacco growing very well here, and it is even faid, that by making a proper choice of the foil, we might raise a most excellent fort of it.

The lesser occupations of the women and what is their common employment in their cabbins, are the making of thread from the interior pellicles of the bark of a tree, called white-wood, which they manufacture nearly as we do hemp. The women too are their dyers: they work also at several things made of bark, and make small sigures with the hair of the porcupine; they make small cups or other utensils of wood, they paint and embroider

broider deer-skins, and they knit belts and garters with the wool of the buffalo.

As for the men they glory in their idleness, and actually spend more than half their lives in doing nothing, from a perfuation that daily labour degrades a man, and that it is only proper for women. The proper function of a man, fay they, is to fish, hunt, and go to war. It is they, however, who are to make every thing necessary for these three exercises: thus the making of arms, nets, and all their hunting and fifting equipage as well as their canoes with their rigging, their racquets, or fnow shoes, the building and repairing of their cabbins, are the office of the men, who notwithstanding on these occasions often make use of the assistance of the women. The Christians are a little more industrious, but never work except by way of penance.

These people, before we provided them with hatchets and other instruments, were very much at a loss in felling their trees, and making them fit for the uses they intended them for. They burned them near the root, and in order to split and cut them into proper lengths, they made use of hatchets made of flint which never broke, but which required a prodigious time to sharpen. In order to fix them in a shaft, they cut off the top of a young tree, making a flit in it, as if they were going to graft it, into which flit they inferted the head of the axe. The tree growing together again in length of time, held the head of the hatchet fo firm, that it was impossible for it to get loose: they then cut the tree at the length they judged idfficient for the handle.

Their

Their villages are generally of no regular form: most of our ancient accounts have represented them of a round figure, and perhaps the authors of them saw none but such as were so. In a word, imagine to yourself, Madam, a confused heap of cabbins placed without any order or design: some of them like cart houses, others like so many tubs, built of bark, supported by a sew posts, and sometimes coarsely plaistered on the outside with clay; and, in fact, built with much less art, neatness, and solidity than those of the beavers. These cabbins are from sisteen to twenty foot broad, and sometimes a hundred in length. In this case they have several sires, each fire serving for a space of thirty feet.

When the floor happens not to be large enough for bedding for all the persons in the family, the young folks have their beds on a kind of loft five or fix feet from the ground, and which runs the whole length of the cabbin; the houshold furniture and provisions are placed above that on shelfs laid crossways next the roof. There is commonly before the entry, a fort of vestible or lobby where the youth fleep in the fummer-time, and which ferves as a repolitory for wood in the winter. The doors are only so many pieces of bark, suspended from the top like the ports of a ship. These cabbins have neither chimnies nor windows, only there is left in the middle of the roof an aperture by which part of the fmoke gets out, and which they are obliged to stop up, when it rains or snows, as also to put out the fire if they would not be blinded with smoke.

The Indians are more skilful in erecting their fortifications than in building their houses; here you

you see villages surrounded with a good palisado, and with redoubts, and they are very careful to lay in a proper provision of water and stones. These palisadoes are double, and even sometimes treble, and have generally battlements on the outward circumvallation. The piles of which they are composed, are interwoven with branches of trees, without any void space between. This sort of fortification was sufficient to sustain a long siege whilst the Indians were ignorant of the use of sirearms. Every village has a pretty large square, but these are seldom regular.

Formerly the Iroquois built their cabbins in a better manner than the other nations, and even than themselves do at this day; these were adorned with figures in relievo, but of very coarfe workmanship; and as almost all their towns have been fince burned in different expeditions, they have not taken the trouble to rebuild them with their former magnificence. Notwithstanding, if these nations are fo little curious in procuring themselves the conveniencies of life, in the places of their ordinary residence, what may we think of their encampments on journeys, and in their wintering places? An ancient missionary, who in order to oblige himself to learn the language of the Montagnais, would needs follow them in one of their winter huntings, gives a description of them, which I am going to give you almost word for word.

These Indians inhabit a country extremely rude and uncultivated, but not quite so much so, as that which they make choice of to go a hunting in. You must travel a long way, before you arrive at it, and at the same time, carry on your back every thing

thing you may stand in need of for five or fix months together, and that through ways sometimes so rugged and hideous, that it is even scarce possible to conceive how the very wild beasts themselves are able to pass them; and were you not to have the foresight to provide vourself in pieces of bark, you must be destitute of all means of sheltering yourself from the rain and snow, during your journey. After arriving at the end of it, you find yourself a little better accommodated, that is to say, you are not eternally exposed to all the injuries of the air and weather.

Every body falls to work for this purpose, and the missionaries themselves, who in the beginning had no body to wait on them, and for whom the Indians had no manner of confideration, were no more spared than the rest, and had not so much as a cabbin allowed them to themselves, but were obliged to take up their lodgings in the first that Ti ese cabbins among most made them welcome. of the Algonquin nations are nearly in the form of our ice-houses, round and terminating in a cone. These had no other supports than poles fixed in the fnow, and tied together by the ends, and which were covered with pieces of bark very ill joined, and fecured fo that the wind eafily found admittance on all fides.

The building of fuch a house employs half an hour at most, some branches of pine serving as mattresses, which are also the only beds in those palaces. There is one, and almost the only conveniency which attends them, and that is that you may change them every day: they likewise collect the snow quite round them, which forms a kind of parapet, which has its use, as it is impenetrable to Vol. II.

the wind. Under shelter of this parapet, they fleep as tranquilly on these branches, covered with a wretched coverlet of skin, as in the best bed in the world; it is true the missionaries had much difficulty to accustom themselves to this way of life, but fatigue and necessity soon compelled them The case is not entirely the same with to it. respect to the smoke, which almost continually fills the upper part of the cabbin in fuch a manner, that one cannot stand upright in it, without having one's head in a thick cloud of it. This is no manner of grievance to an Indian who is from his infancy accustomed to sit or lie, all the time they are within doors; but it is really a severe punishment to a Frenchman, who cannot bear such a state of inaction.

Besides the wind, which as I have already remarked, enters on all fides, blows with fuch a piercing cold, that one fide freezes whilst you are choaked and roasted on the other. And often you cannot fee two or three feet from you, you weep almost your eyes out, and sometimes you are obliged to lie flat on your face, and almost with your mouth close to the ground, to fetch a little breath: the shortest way would be to go out, but for most of the time this is impossible; sometimes because it snows so thick as to darken the day, and at other times on account of a wind fo pierceing that it almost peels the skin off one's face, and splits the trees in the forests. Notwithstanding a missionary is obliged to say his office, to celebrate mass, and to perform all the other functions of his ministry. To all these inconveniencies we must add one more, which though it may appear very small at first, is really very considerable, and this

this is being perfecuted by the dogs. The Indians have always a great number of these animals which follow them every where, and are remarkable for their fidelity; not very fawning indeed as they are never carefied by their mafters, but bold and good hunters: I have already faid that they are trained up betimes for the different chaces, for which they are intended; and I may add, that every Indian must have a considerable number of them, as many of them perish by the teeth and horns of wild beasts, which they attack with a courage that nothing is capable of shaking. Their masters are at very little pains in feeding them, fo that thev are obliged to live upon what they can catch, and as this goes no great way with them, it is no wonder they are very meagre and thin of flesh; besides they have very little hair, which renders them very fensible to the cold.

In order to defend themselves from it, if they cannot get near the fire, which it would be difficult for all of them to do, even were there nobody in the cabbin, they lye down on the first perfon they meet, and one is often fuddenly awakened in the night, almost choaked with two or three dogs upon him. Were they a little more discreet in chusing their place, their company would not be extremely troublesome, and one might put up with them pretty well; but they lay themselves down where they can, and it is in vain to drive them away for they return the instant after. It is still worse in the day time; as fon as any thing eatable appears, you cannot imagine what leaps they make to fnatch it out of your hands. Imagine to yourfelf the case of a poor missionary crouching near the fire, to fay his breviary or read some book, flriving with the smoke and exposed to the im-K 2 portunity portunity of a dozen curs, who leap backwards and forwards over him, in order to fnatch some morfel they may have seen. If he stands in need of a little rest, he is scarce able to find a corner where he can be free from this vexation. If any thing is brought him to eat, the dogs have that moment their mout in the dish before he tastes it, and often whilst he is defending his portion against those which attack him in front, another comes upon him from the rear, and either carries off half his allowance or justles against him, so that the plate falls from his hands, and the sagamity is tumbled amongst the assessment.

It often happens that the evils I have been fpeaking of, are effaced by a much greater, and in comparison of which, all the rest are as nothing; this is famine. The provisions they bring with them last them no great while, and they reckon upon a supply from their hunting, which does not always afford it. It is true Indians know how to endure hunger, with a patience equal to the little care they take to provide against it; but they are fometimes reduced to fuch extremities that they perish under them. The missionary, from whom I have drawn this detail, was obliged in his first wintering to eat the skins of eels and of elks. with which he had patched his caffock; after which he was forced to feed upon young branches, and the tenderest part of the bark of trees. underwent however this fevere tryal, without the least detriment to his health, but every one is not endowed with fo vigorous a conftitution.

The nastiness of these cabbins alone, and that infection which is a necessary consequence of it, are to any other but an Indian a real punishment.

It is eafy to judge to what a height, both the one and the other must arrive amongst persons who never change their cloaths, till they fall to pieces of themselves, and who take no care to keep them clean. In summer they bathe themselves every day, but immediately afterwards they rub themselves with oil and grease of a very rank smell. In the winter they remain in their fat, and during all that season it is impossible to enter their cabbins without being possoned with the stench.

Not only every thing they eat is ill-seasoned and commonly very insipid, but there prevails in all their repasts an uncleanliness, which passes all conception: what I have myself seen, as well as what I have been told of it, would strike you with horror. There are very sew animals which do not seed cleaner, and after seeing what passes amongst these people in this respect, there is no room to doubt, that the imagination contributes greatly to our repugnancies; and that many of those things which are really prejudicial to our health, are only so by means of those very repugnancies, and our want of courage in surmounting them.

It must however be granted, that things are somewhat changed with respect to all these points, since our arrival in this country; and I have even known some to endeavour to produre themselves conveniencies, with which they will probably very soon be scarce able to dispense. Some of them also begin to use more precaution than formerly, to prevent their being unprovided, in case the hunting should happen to fail them; and amongst those who are settled in the colony, there requires but a very small addition to surnish out a tolerable share of the conveniencies of life. But what is

K

(134)

to be feared is, that after arriving at this point they will be tempted to go a great deal farther, and full into such a luxury as may render them still more miserable, than they now are in the bosom of the most extreme indigence.

At least it will not be the fault of the missionaries if they are exposed to this danger; persuaded that it is morally impossible to arrive at that golden mean, without atterwards deviating from it, they have preferred sharing with these people whatever is most disagreeable in their manner of living, rather than to open their eyes to the means of finding any remedy for it. Thus those very persons who are every day witnesses of their sufferings, are at a loss to conceive how they are able to support them, and the more so as they are without the least relaxation, and as every season brings along with it some peculiar evil.

As their villages are always fituated either near a wood, or on the banks of some lake or river, and oftener between both, as foon as the weather becomes warm the muskettos, together with a prodigious army of other gnats, raise a persecution worse than that of the smoke, which you are often obliged to call to your affiftance; there being scarce any other remedy against the bite of these insects, which set the whole body on fire and fuffer you not to close your eyes. Add to this, the long and fatiguing journeys you are often forced to make with these barbarians, sometimes up to the middle in water, and sometimes to the knees in mire, through woods and among briars and thorns, with the danger of losing one's eyes, in open fields where nothing defends you from the burning burning heat of the fun in fummer, and the piercing wind in winter.

If you travel in a canoe the confined podure you are obliged to fit in, and the apprehension occasioned at your first setting out, by the entreme tragility of this vehicle; the inaction you mult of necessity be in, the slowness of your voyage, which is retarded by the least shower of rain, or gale of wind; the little fociety or conversation that can be had with performs who know nothing, who never open their mouths whilst they are employed, who poison you with their stench, and who fill you with vermin and naftiness; the caprice and rudeness you must put up with from them; the infults to which you are exposed from a drunkard, or a perfon whom any unforfeen accident, a dream or the remembrance of any thing disagreeable puts into an ill humour; the avarice natural to those barbarians at the fight of any thing they covet, and what has cost several missionaries their lives; and in case war happens to be declared between the nations, in whose territory you are, the danger you are constantly exposed to, either of being reduced to the most wretched flavery, or of periffing in the most hideous torments: fuch, madam, is the life that has been led by the first missionaries especially: if for some time past it has been less rude in some respects, it has been attended with regard to the evangelical labourers with internal, and confequently more fenfible mortifications, which far from diminishing in length of time grow in proportion to the increase of the colony, and as the natives begin to have a freer correspondence with all forts of perlons.

Lastly, that I may in a few words draw the portrait of these nations with a mien and appearance altogether favage, and with manners and customs which favour of the grossest barbarity, they enjoy all the advantages of fociety, without almost any of those defects, which disturb the publick tranquillity amongst us. Whilst they appear entirely void of passion, they commit in cold blood, and even fometimes from principle, the fame actions which the most violent and ungovernable rage is capable of inspiring. Those very persons who seemed to lead the most wretched lives, were perhaps the only happy mortals on the face of the earth, before they were acquainted with those objects which seduce and pervert us: and even yet luxury has made no great ravages amongst them. We perceive in them a mixture of ferocity and gentleness, the passions and appetites of beafts of prey, joined to a virtue which does honour to human nature. At first view one would imagine them without any form of government, law or subordination, and that living in an anifolute independence, they abandon themfelves to the conduct of blind chance, and to the wildest caprice; they notwithstanding enjoy all the advantages which the best regulated authority is capable of procuring, in the most civilized nations. Born free and independant, they are struck with horror at whatever has the shadow of desposic power, and very rarely deviate from certain maxims and usages founded in good sense alone, which holds the place of law, and supplies in some fort the want of legal authority. They have a natural repugnance to restraint of every fort, but reason alone is capable of retaining them in a kind of subordination, not the less effectual towards the end proposed for being entirely voluntary.

Any person who has once infinuated himself into a confiderable share of their esteem, will find them fufficiently docile and ready to do any thing he defires; but it is no easy matter to gain their esteem to such a pitch. This they give to merit only, and that to a superior degree of it, of which they are full as good judges as those amongst us, who pique themselves most on their discern-They form their notions of this by the physicanomy, and there is not perhaps in the world a let of men who are better judges this way: this is owing to their having none of those prejudices in favour of any person which mislead us, and that by fludying nature alone they know her perfeetly well. As they are neither flaves to ambition nor interest, as it is these two passions only which have weakened in us the fentiments of humanity, which the author of nature has engraven in our hearts, the difference of conditions is unnecessary for the maintenance of society amongst them.

Thus Madam we never, or at least very feldom, meet with those haughty minds, which filled with a notion of their own grandeur and merit, imagine themselves almost a species apart; who distain the rest of mankind whose love and considence they therefore never obtain; who never converse with their equals, because the jealousy which prevails amongst the great, will not permit them to cultivate a very near acquaintance; who know not themselves because they never study themselves, but are constantly blown up with self applause; and lastly, who never once restect, that in order to acquire the affections of men, they must first stoop, and in some sort, condescend to be their equals; so that with all this pretended superiority

of understanding, which they look upon as the peculiar right of the eminent stations they possess, most of them grovel in a proud and incurable ignorance, of what is really worth knowing, and confequently never tafte the true and genuine fweets of life. In this country all men are equal, manhood being the quality most esteemed amongst them, without any diffinction from birth; without any perogative of rank capable of doing prejudice to the rights of private persons; without any preeminence from merit which begets pride, and which makes others too fensible of their own inferiority. And though there is perhaps less delicacy of fentiment in the Indians than amongst us, there is however abundantly more probity with infinitely less ceremony, or equivocal compliments.

Religion alone is capable of perfecting the good qualities and natural dispositions of these people, and of correcting what is wrong in them: this is common to them with others, but what is peculiar to them is, that they bring sewer obstacles to this improvement, after they have once begun to believe, which must ever be the work of special grace. It is likewise true, that in order fully to establish the empire of religion over them, we must shew them the practice of it in all its purity in its professors: they are extremely susceptible of the scandal given by bad christians, and such are all those who are newly instructed in the principles of christian morality.

You will perhaps ask me, Madam, whether they have any religion? To this I answer, that though we cannot absolutely affirm that they are without any, we must however confess, that it is very difficult to define what religion this is. I shall entertain

tertain you more at large on this article with my first leisure; for though I have not a vast deal to do in this place, yet I am often interrupted in such manner, that I cannot promise on having two hours in a day to myself. This letter as well as most of the preceeding ones, will shew you that I do not finish them at one sitting. I shall content myself at present with observing, in order to compleat the portrait of Indians, that even in their most indifferent actions, we may discover traces of the primitive religion, but which escape those who do not view them with sufficient attention, these being still more essayed by the want of instruction, than changed by the mixture of superstitious worship, and by sabalous traditions.

I am, &c.

LETTER XXIV.

Of the Religion and Traditions of the Indians of Canada.

Fort at the River St. Joseph, Sept. 8, 1721.

Madam,

HIS letter will in all likelyhood be a very long one, unless fome unforeseen hindrance should oblige me to put off to some other opportunity, what I have been able to collect, relating to the belief, traditions and religion of our Indians.

Nothing is more certain than that the Indians of this continent, have an idea of a supreme Being, though nothing at the same time can be more obscure. They all in general agree in looking upon him as the first spirit, and the governor and creator of the world, but when you press them a little close on this article, in order to know what they understand by the sovereign spirit, you find no more than a tissue of absurd imaginations, of fables so ill contrived, of systems so ill digested and so wild, that it is impossible to give any regular or just account of them. It is pretended that the Sioux approach much nearer than the

other Indians, towards a just conception of this first principle, but the little commerce we have hitherto had with them, does not permit me to be sufficiently informed of their traditions, to enable me to speak of them with any degree of certainty.

Almost all the nations of the Algonquin language, give this fovereign Being the appellation of the great Hare; fome again call him Michabou, and others Atahocan. Most of them hold the opinion that he was born upon the waters, together with his whole court, entirely composed of four footed animals like himself; that he formed the earth of a grain of fand, which he took from the bottom of the ocean, and that he created man of the bodies of the dead animals. There are likewife fome who mention a god of the waters, who opposed the designs of the great Hare, or at least refused to be affishing to him. This god is according to some, the great Tyger, but it must be observed, that the true tyger is not to be found in Canada; thus this tradition is probably of foreign extraction. Laftly, they have a third god called Matcomek, whom they invoke in the winter feafon, and concerning whom, I have learned nothing particular.

The Arefkoui of the Hurons, and the Agrefkouê of the Iroquois, is in the opinion of these nations, the Sovereign Being and the god of war. These Indians do not give the same original to mankind with the Alqonquins; they do not so much as ascend so high as the first creation. According to them there were in the beginning six men in the world, and if you ask them who placed them there, they answer you, they dont know. They

They add, that one of these men ascended into heaven in quest of a woman, called Atahentsic, of whom he had carnal knowledge, and who soon afterwards proved with child: that the master of heaven perceiving it, threw her headlong from the height of the Empyrean, and that she was received on the back of a tortoise: that she was asterwards brought to bed of two children, one of which killed the other.

There is no more faid either of the five men. or even of the husband of Atahentsic, who according to some, had only one daughter, who was the mother of Thaouitsaran and Jouskeka. This latter who was the eldeft, killed his brother, and in a little time after his grand-mother refigned in his favour the government of the world. fay likewife, that Atahentsic is the same with the moon, and that Joufkeka was the fun. There is as you fee, Madam, very little connexion in all this, the fun being often taken for Areskoui, in as much as he is the great genius; but is there less contradiction in the theology of the Egyptians and Grecians, who are the first sages of pagan antiquity? The reason is, that it is essential to falsehood to contradict itself, and to have no folid foundation.

The gods of the Indians have bodies, and live much in the fame manner with us, but without any of those inconveniencies to which we are subject. The word spirit amongst them, signifies only a being of a more excellent nature than others. They have no words to express what passes the bounds of their own understanding, their conceptions being extremely limited, with respect to whatever is not the object of their senses, or to

any thing besides the common occurrences of life. They however ascribe to those imaginary beings, a kind of immensity and omnipresence, for in whatever place they are, they invoke them, speak to them, believe they hear what is said to them, and act in consequence. To all the questions you put to these barbarians, in order to obtain a farther account of their belief, they answer that this is all they have been taught or know of the matter; nay, there are only a few old men who have been initiated in their mysteries who know so much.

According to the Iroquois, the posterity of Jouskeka did not go beyond the third generation. There came on a deluge in which not a foul was faved, so that in order to repeople the earth it was necessary to change beasts into men. This notion Madam, of an universal deluge is very general amongst the Americans; but there is scarce any room to doubt, that there has been another much more recent and peculiar to America. I should never have done, were I to relate all that the Indians tell us with respect to the history of their principal divinities, and the origin of the world; but besides the first being, or the great spirit, and the other Gods who are often confounded with them, there is likewise an infinite number of genii or inferior spirits, both good and evil, who have each their peculiar form of worthip.

The Iroquois place Atahentsic at the head of these latter, and make Jouskeka the chief of the former; they even sometimes confound him with the god, who drove his grandmother out of heaven, for suffering herself to be seduced by a mortal. They never address themselves to the evil genii, except to beg of them to do them no

hurt, but they suppose that the others are placed as so many guardians of mankind, and that every person has his own tutelary. In the Huron language these are called Okkis, and in the Algonquin Manitous: it is to them they have recourse in all perils and undertakings, as also when they would obtain some extraordinary favour; there is nothing but what they may think they may beg of them. let it be ever so unreasonable or contrary to good merals. This protection however is not acquired at the birth of the person, he must first be expert at the management of the bow and arrow, before he can merit this favour, and much preparation must be used before he can receive it, it being looked upon as the most important affair in their whole lives: the principal circumstances of it are these.

They begin with blacking the child's face; afterwards they make him fast for eight days together, without giving him a morfel of any thing to eat, and the tutelary genius must appear to him in a dream within this space of time. Now the empty brain of a poor child just entering into the state of adolescence, cannot fail of furnishing him with dreams, which they take great care to cause him repeat every morning. The fast however often ends before the lawful time, there being few children who have strength enough to carry it so far; but this occasions no difficulty, the conveniency of dispensations being fully known here as it is every where elfe. Whatever thing the child happens to dream of, is always supposed to be the tutelary genius, or rather this thing is held as a symbol, or figure, under which the genius manifests himself; but it happens to the Indians as it does to every other people, who have deviated from the primi-L tive Vol. II.

tive religion, that is, to hold fast by the figure whilst they lose fight of the reality.

Notwithstanding these symbols signify nothing of themselves, sometimes it is the head of a bird, at other times the foot of some animal, or perhaps a bit of wood; in a word, the vileft and most common thing imaginable. This is preferved however with as much care, as the Dii Penates, or houshold gods were amongst the ancients. There is even nothing in all nature, it we believe the Indians, which has not its genius, of which there are some of all ranks, but with different powers. When they are at a loss to conceive any thing, they attribute it to a superior genius, and their manner of expressing themselves then is, This is a spirit. This is faid with greater justice of them, who have any fingular talent, or who have performed any extraordinary action, These are spirits, that is they have a tutelary genius of an order fuperior to the common.

Some of them, and especially their jugglers, endeavour to perfuade the multitude, that they are transported into extasses. This folly has been of all ages and an anget all nations, and is the parent of all false religions; the vanity natural to mankind, not being able to devise any more efficaclous means of governing the weak and simple, and the multitude at last carried along with them, those who valued themselves the most on the superiority of their understandings. The American impostors, though they owe to themselves only all their address in this point, draw all the advantiges from it to which they aspire. glers never fail to publish that their genii give them great infight into the remotest transactions, and the most distant futurity in their pretended extalies; tasies; and as chance alone, if we would not ascribe some share of it to the devil, causes them to divine or conjecture some times pretty right, they acquire by this means great credit, and are believed to be genii of the first order.

As foon as it has been declared to a child what he is thence forward to regard as his protecting genius, they inftruct him with great care in the obligation he owes him, to honour him, to follow the council he shall receive from him in sleep, to merit his favour, to place in him his whole considence, and to dread the effect of his displeasure should he neglect to acquit himself of his duty to him. This solemnity ends with a feast, and the custom is likewise to prick on the body of the child the figure of his OKKI, or MANITOU. It would seem that so solemn an engagement, the mark of which can never be effaced, ought to be inviolable; a very small matter is however sufficient to break it.

The Indians are not easily brought to confess themselves in the wrong, even to their gods themselves, and make no manner of distinctly in justifying themselves at their expence: thus whenever they are under the necessity either of condemning themselves or their tutelar, the blame is always thrown upon the latter, and they apply to another without any ceremony, only observing the same rights as to the former: The women have also their Manitous, or Okkis, but are far from paying them the same respect with the men, perhaps from their giving them less employment.

To all these genii are offered different forts of offerings, or if you will facrifices. They throw into the rivers and lakes tobacco or birds, which

L 2 have

have been strangled, in order to render the god of the waters propitious. In honour of the fun, and fometimes even of inferior spirits, they throw into the fire all forts of useful things, and such as they believe they owe to them. This is fometimes done out of g atitude, but oftner from interested views. these people not being susceptible of any sentiments of affection towards their divinities. They obferve also on some occasions a fort of libations. and all this accompanied with invocations, wrapt up in mysterious terms, which they have never been able to explain to Europeans, whether it be that these at bottom have no fignification at all, or that the fense has been loft, whilst the words by which the tradition has been transmitted have been preserved; and perhaps too, they may be willing to make a mystery of it. We also meet with collars of porcelain, tobacco, maize, peafe, and whole animals, especially dogs, on the sides of difficult or dangerous roads on rocks, or near cataracts, which are so many offerings to the genii who prefide in these places. I formerly said that the dog was the victim most commonly offered to them; these are hung up, and even sometimes alive by the hind feet, and fuffered to die mad. The war fealt, which always confifts of dogs, may also pass for a facrifice. Lastly, they render nearly the fame honours to the evil genii as to those which pass for propitious, when they have any reason to dread their malice.

Thus Madam, amongst nations who were pretended to have no idea of religion or of a deity, every thing on the contrary appears to be an object of religious worship, or least to have some relation to it. Some have imagined that their fasts had no other end, than to accustom them to support port hunger, and I will allow that this motive might be some part of the reason of this usage; but every circumstance with which they are accompanied, proves that religion has the greatest share in it; where it only their extreme attention in observing, as I have already taken notice, what dreams they have during that time, it being certain that such dreams are looked upon as true oracles and warnings from heaven.

It is still less doubtful, that their vows are pure acts of religion, the utage being absolutely the same in this respect as with us. For example, when they happen to be without provisions, as often falls out in their voyages and huntings, they promise their genii to present in honour of them, a portion of the first beast they shall afterwards kill to some chief, and not to touch a morsel of it till they shall have acquitted themselves of their promise. Should this happen to be impossible by reason of the great distance of this chief, they burn the part allotted for him, and thus make it a kind of facrisice.

Formerly the Indians in the neighbourhood of Acadia, had in their country near the sea-shore, a tree extremely ancient, of which they relate many wonders, and which was always loaden with offerings. After the sea had laid open its whole root, it still supported itself a long time almost in the air, against the violence of the winds and waves, which confirmed those Indians in the notion, that this tree must be the abode of some powerful spirit, nor was its fall even capable of undeceiving them, so that as long as the smallest part of its branches appeared above water, they paid it the same honours as whilst it stood.

Most

Most of their festivals songs and dances also appeared to me to have their origin in religion, and to preferve several traces of it; but one must be very sharp-fighted, or rather one must have a very ftrong imagination to perceive what certain travellers pretend to have discovered in them. I have known fome perfons, who not being able to get it out of their heads, that our Indians are descended from the ancient Hebrews, find in every thing a strong resemblance between these barbarians and the people of God. It is true there are fome customs which have some appearance of this, fuch as not to make use of knives in certain repasts, and not to break the bones of the beasts eaten in them; and fuch also is the separation of the women from their husbands, during certain infirmities of the fex. And some have even heard, or at least have thought they heard them pronounce the word Allelujah in some of their songs: but who would ever believe their boring their ears and nostrils, to be in obedience to the law of circumcifion? And besides who does not know that the rite of circumcifion, is more ancient than the law which ordained the observation of it to Abraham and his posterity? The feast which is made on their return from hunting, and in which nothing must be left, has likewise been taken for a kind of Holocaust, or for a relique of the Jewish passover, and the rather, fay they, because when any person was not able to get the better of his own portion, he was at liberty to make use of the assistance of his neighbours, as was the practice amongst the people of God, when one family were not able to eat the whole Paschal lamb.

An ancient missionary, who lived long amongst the Outaways, writes, that amongst these Indians an old man does the office of a priest on the festivals I have been just mentioning, that he begins by returning thanks to the genii for the faccels of the hunting, and that afterwards another person takes a roll of tobacco, breaks it in two and throws it into the fire. What is certain is, that those who have cited them as a proof of the possibility of atheism, properly so called, were not acquainted with them. It is true they never discourse about religion, and that their extreme indolence and indifference on this point, has always been the greatest obstacle to their conversion to Christianity, but the smallest acquaintance with them is sufficient to confute those, who say they have no idea of a deity. Indolence is their predominant passion; it even appears in their most important affairs, but in spite of this defect, and even in spite of that spirit of independence in which they are brought up, there is no nation in the world who pay a more flavish respect to the Deity, of whom their ideas are very confused, so that they never attribute any thing to chance, and derive an omen from every thing that happens, which is according to them, as I have already remarked, a declaration of the will of heaven.

I have read in some memoirs, that among several nations on this continent, there were formerly young women who lived separate from all commerce with men, and who never married. I am neither able to vouch nor contradict this affertion. Virginity is in itself so perfect a state, that we ought not to be surprized it should have been respected in all countries in the world; but our most ancient missionaries never make mention, at least as far as I know of these vestals, though several of them agree in the esteem in which centacy was L 4

held in some countries. I even find that amongst the Hurons and Iroquois, there were not long since recluses, who observed continence, and they shew certain very salutary plants which have no virtue, according to the Indians, except they are employed by virgin hands.

The best established opinion amongst our Americans is, that of the immortality of the foul. They do not however believe it to be purely spiritual more than their genii, and to tell truth, are incapable of giving any distinct definition of either. If you ask them what they think of their souls, they answer, that they are like so many shadows and living images of the body, and it is by a confequence of this principle, that they believe every thing in the universe to be animated. Thus it is only by tradition they have received this notion of the immortality of the foul. And in the different expressions they make use of, in explaining themselves on this subject, they frequently confound the foul with its faculties, and these again with their operations, though they very well know how to distinguish them, when they have a mind to speak with accuracy.

They maintain, likewise, that the soul when separated from the body, preserves the same inclinations and passions it had in its former state, and this is the reason why they bury along with the dead, the things they imagine they may stand in need of. They are even persuaded, that it remains hovering about the carcase until the sestival of the dead, of which I shall give you an account by and by; and that afterwards it goes into the country of souls, where, according to some, it is transformed into a tortoice.

There

There are others who acknowledge two fools in men; to the one, they attribute every thing I have been just now speaking of, and pretend that the other never quits the body, unless it is to pass into some other, which however happens only, fay they, to the fouls of little children, which having enjoyed but a short term of Ife, obtain leave to begin a new one. It is for this reason that they bury children by the high-way fides, that the women who pass that way may collect their souls. Now these souls which are such faithful companions to their bodies must be fed, and it is in order to discharge this duty, that eatables are laid upon their tombs; but this is of short continuance, so that the fouls must begin in time to learn to fast. They are sometimes hard enough put to it to subfift the living, without the additional charge of feeding the dead.

One thing with respect to which the Indians are never forgetful, let them be in ever so great an extremity, whereas amongst us the living are enriched by the spoils of the dead; the Indians on the contrary, not only carry along with them to the grave every thing that belonged to them, but also receive presents of their relations and friends besides. For this reason they were extremely scandalized, on seeing the French open the sepulchers in order to strip the dead of their robes of beaver skins. Tombs are held so facred in this country, that to violate them is the greatest hostility that can be committed against a nation, and the strongest proof that you set them at desiance.

I have already faid, that the fouls, when the time of leaving their bodies forever is come, go into a region which is allotted for their everlasting abode. This country say the Indians, lies very far to the westward so that the souls are several months in arriving at it. They have even vast difficulties to surmount, and are exposed to prodigious dangers by the way. They above all things talk much of a river they have to pass, and on which many have been shipwrecked; of a dog from whom they have much ado to defend themselves, of a place of torment where they expiate their sins; of another, where the souls of those prisoners of war who have been burned are tormented, and where they arrive as late as possible.

This notion is the reason why after the death of these wretches, they take great care to visit every place near their cabbins, flriking inceffantly with rods and raising the most hideous cries, in order to drive the fouls to a diffance, and to keep them from lurking about their cabbins, in order to revenge the torments they have made them under-The Iroquois fay, that Atahenstic has her common refidence in this tartarus, and that her fole occupation is the feducing of fouls to their destruction; but that Jouskeka omits nothing to fecure them against the wicked designs of his grand-Amongst the fabulous stories of what passes in the lower regions, and which resemble so much those in Homer and Virgil, there is one which feems to have been copied from the fable of Orpheus and Euridice, in which there hardly wants any thing, except to change the names.

Moreover, Madam, this happiness, which the Indians hope to enjoy in their imaginary Elysium, is not believed to be the recompense of virtue only; to have been a good hunter, brave in war, fortunate in all one's enterprises, to have killed

and burned a great number of enemies, are the fole merits which entitle them to this paradite, the whole felicity of which confifts in an inexhaustible plenty of game and fishes, an everlasting spring, a vast abundance of all things without being obliged to work, and a full satisfaction of all their sensual appetites. These are likewise the only blessings they ask of their gods in their life-time. All their songs, which are originally their prayers, have no other theme besides the goods of this life, there being not the least mention any more than in their vows of an hereaster; they are certain of being happy in the other world in proportion to their happiness in this.

The fouls of beafts have also a place in the infernal regions, and are according to the Indians immortal, as well as ours; they even acknowledge in them a kind of reason, and not only every species, but every individual animal, if we may believe them, has its tutelary genius. In a word they hold no difference between us, and the brutes but in degree only. Man, fay they, is king of the animals, who have all of them the fame faculties, but that man possesses them in a very su-They hold likewise that in hell perior degree. there are models of fouls of all kinds, but they give themselves very little trouble in explaining this notion, and in general concern themselves very little with matters of pure speculation: have the fagest philosophers of Pagan antiquity who have been at so much pains to explain them, been much more fuccessful than they? It is impossible to walk fafely amidst these absurdities, but by the torch of faith.

There.

There is nothing in which these barbarians carry their superstition to a more extravagant length, than in what regards dreams; but they vary greatly in their manner of explaining themselves on this point. Sometimes it is the reasonable soul which ranges abroad, whilst the sensitive soul continues to animate the body. Sometimes it is the samiliar genius, who gives salutary council with respect to what is going to happen. Sometimes it is a visit made by the soul of the object of which he dreams. But in whatever manner the dream is conceived, it is always looked upon as a thing sacred, and as the most ordinary way in which the gods make known their will to men.

Filled with this idea, they cannot conceive how we should pay no regard to them. For the most part they look upon them either as a desire of the soul inspired by some genius, or an order from him; and in consequence of this principle, they hold it a religious duty to obey them; and an Indian having dreamed of having a singer cut off, had it really cut off as soon as he awoke, after having prepared himself for this important action by a feast. Another having dreamed of being prisoner and in the hands of his enemies, was much at a loss what to do; he consulted the jugglers, and by their advice, caused himself to be tied to a post and burnt in several parts of the body.

There are happy and unhappy dreams. For instance, to dream of seeing a great number of elks is, say they, a sign of life; but to dream of seeing bears, denotes that the party is soon to die. I have already said, that we must except those times in which they prepare themselves for the hunting

of these animals. But in order to shew you, Madam, to what a length these barbarians carry their extravagance, with regard to dreams, I will relate to you a fact attested by two irreproachable persons who were eye-witnesses to it.

Two missionaries were travelling in the company of fome Indians, and one night as their guides were in a profound fleep, one of them awaked fuddenly quite out of breath, making efforts to cry out, and beating himself as if he had been possessed with some devil. The noise he made foon waked every body: they at fift thought the man mad; they seized him as ry means to bring him to himself, but all to no purpose: his fury continued to encrease and as they were no longer able to hold him, they hid all the arms for fear of the worst. Some of them afterwards bethought themselves of preparing for him a beverage made of certain herbs of great virtue; but when they were least aware the patient leaped into the river.

He was immediately drawn out, and though he confessed he was cold, he refused to come near a good fire that had been just lighted: he sat down at the foot of a tree, and as he appeared more composed, they brought him the draught they had prepared for him. It is to this child, said he, you must give it, pointing to a bears skin stuffed with straw; he was obeyed, and the whole of the beverage was poured down the throat of the animal. They then asked what had been the matter with him? I dreamed, said he, that a raccon had got into my belly. They all burst out a laughing, but there was a necessity of curing his distempered imagination, which was done in this manner.

They

They all fell to counterfeit the madman, crying with all their might, that they had animals in their bellies, but added, that they were unwilling to throw themselves into the river in order to dislodge them, on account of the cold; and that they thought fweating a much better way. Our hypocondriac found this propofal excellent; a stove was immediately erected, into which they all entered with foud cries, every one endeavouring to counterfeit the cry of the animal he pretended to have in his belly, one a goose, another a duck, a third a buftard, and a fourth a frog; the dreamer also counterfeited the cry of a racoon. But what is really ridiculous is, that all the rest beat measure, friking with all their might upon his shoulders, with defign to fatigue him, and cause him to fall assep. To any other than an Indian, he had what was fufficient to hinder him from closing his eyes for several days; they however succeeded in what they intended. The patient flept long, and at his waking found himfelf perfectly cured, being neither fensible of the sweating which must have exhausted him, nor of the blows and bruises which he had received, and having lost the remembrance even of the very dream which had cost him so dear.

But it is not only he who dreams that is to fatisfy the obligations, he believes he is laid under by the dream: it would be a crime, in any person to refuse him, what he has desired in his dream, and you may very well judge, Madam, with what consequences this is likely to be attended. But as the Indians are not much governed by self-interest, this principle is attended with less abuse than it would be any where else; and besides, every one may use it in his turn. If the thing desired happen to be of such a nature as not to be capable of being furnished

furnished by a private person, the public take the obligation of it upon themselves, and even should they be obliged to go in quest of it sive hundred leagues, it must be found, cost what it will; and when it has once been obtained, it is inconceivable with what care it is preserved. If it happen to be any inanimate thing, they are more at ease; but if an animal, its death occasions a surprizing anxiety.

The affair becomes still more serious, should any one take it into his head to dream that he cuts the throat of another, for he will certainly accomplish it if he can; but woe to him, in his turn, should a third person dream that he revenges the dead. They may, however, easily cutricate themselves from such difficulties, provided they have presence of mind immediately to oppose to such a dream another which contradicts it. "I plainly see", says the first dreamer, in that case, "that your spirit is stronger than mine, so let us mention it no more." They are not all, however, so easily brought to relinquish their purpose; but there are see who may not be satisfied, or in other words, have their genius appealed by some small present.

I do not know whether religion has any share in what is commonly called the festival of dreams, to which the Iroquois and some others have with more propriety, given the appellation of the turning of the head. This is a fort of Bacchanalian ceremony which commonly lasts sisteen days, and is celebrated towards the end of winter. There is no species of folly which is not then committed; every one running from cabbin to cabbin, disguised in a thousand different shapes, all of them equally ridiculous

ridiculous, breaking and destroying every thing, no one daring to oppose them. Whoever would avoid fuch a confusion, and not be exposed to all the outrages he must suffer on this occasion, ought to take care to absent himself. The moment any of those Bacchanalians meet with any one he gives him his dream to interpret, which if he does, it is certainly at his own cost, as he is obliged to procure whatever he has dreamed of. The festival ended, every thing is restored, a great feast is made, when they are folely intent on repairing the damages during the masquerade, which are most commonly far from being inconsiderable; for this is likewife one of those opportunities which are waited for in filence, in order to give a hearty drubbing to those, from whom they imagine they have received any affront: but the feast being over, every thing is to be forgotten.

I find a description of one of these festivals in the journal of a missionary, who was, contrary to his inclination, spectator of one of them at Onnontague. This was proclaimed 22d of February, the proclamation being made by the elders, with as much formality as if it had been an affair This was fcarce over, when men, women, and children were running about almost entirely naked, although it was then intollerably At first they visited every cabbin, then they wandered about for some time on all sides, without knowing whither they went, or what they would be at; one would have taken them for fo many drunken persons or madmen, whom some fudden transport of fury had driven besides themfelves.

Many were fatisfied with having indulged themfelves in this piece of folly, and appeared no more. But the rest resolved to make use of the privilege of the feltival, during which they are reputed as perfons out of their fenses, and consequently as not accountable for what they do, and accordingly embrace fuch opportunity of revenging their private quarrels, which on this occasion they did most effectually. Upon some they threw water by whole pail-fulls, which freezing immediately pierced with cold those upon whom it fell. On others they threw hot ashes, or all manner of filth; some threw fire-brands or burning coals at the head of the first person they met; others destroyed every thing in the cabbins, fell upon those to whom they bore any grudge or spite, and loaded them with blows. In order to be delivered from this perfecution, it was necessary to guess their dreams, of which it was frequently impossible to have any manner of conception.

The missionary and his companion were often on the point of being more than bare spectators of this extravagance: one of those madmen went into a cabbin where they had seen them take refuge at the beginning of the fray. Luckily for them they had just left it, otherwise there is reason to believe, this furious sellow would have done them a mischief. Disconcerted by their retreat, he cried out that he wanted somebody to guess his dream, and that he would be fatisfied on the spot: Some delay being made he said, I will kill a Frenchman; immediately the owner of the cabbin threw him a French coat, which he ran through in several places.

Vol. II. M The

Then the person who had thrown him the coat, falling in his turn into a fury, cried out that he would revenge the French, and that he would reduce the whole village to ashes: He began by fetting fire to his own cabbin in which this fcene had paged, and every body having left it, he shut himfelf up in it. The five which was kindled in feveral places had not as yet broke our, when one of the miffionaries appeared and was going to enter it, when being told what had happened, and fearing what might happen to his halt, he broke open the door, laid hold on the Indian, turned him out, extinguished the fire, and shut himself up in the c.bbin. His hoft in the mean time ran through the whole village, crying out that he would fet it on fire: a dog was then thrown to him, in hopes that he would fatiate his rage upon this animal, but he faid, this was still not sufficient to repair the affront that had been done him, by killing a Frenchman in his cabbin; upon which they threw him a fecond which he cut in pieces, and his transport immediately cealed.

This man had a brother, who had a mind to play his part likewife. He dreffed himself nearly in the same manner as the satyrs are represented, being covered all over from head to foot with the leaves of maize: he caused equip two women like megæras, their saces being blacked, their hair disheveled, a wolf's skin over their body, and a stake in their hands. Thus escorted he went through all the cabbins, crying out and howling with all his might; he clambered up their roofs, where he played a thousand tricks, with as much dexterity as the most experienced rope-dancer could have done, then he sent forth dreadful cries, as if some great missortune had befallen him; afterwards he came down,

and walked gravely along, preceded by his two bacchanalians, who being feized with the fame phrenzy in their turn, overthrew every thing they met with in their way. These were scarce recovered from this madness or wearied with their part, when another woman succeeded in their place, entered the cabbin, in which were the two jesuits, armed with a musket, she had just got by propounding a dream to be explained, and sung the war song making a thousand imprecations if she did not make some prisoners.

A warrior followed close after this Amazon, a bow and arrow in one hand, and in the other a bayo. After he had made his throat fore with crying, he fuddenly fell upon a woman who was not in the least aware of it, held his bayonet to her throat, seized her by the hair, cut off a handful of it, and so went off. Next appeared a juggler holding in his hand a staff adorned with feathers, by means of which he boafted that he could divine the most secret and hidden transactions. dian accompanied bearing a vale filled with I know not what liquor, of which he gave him to drink from time to time; the quack had no fooner put it to his lips than he thrust it from him again, blowing on his hands and staff, and at each time divining all fuch riddles as were proposed to him.

Two women came afterwards, giving it to be understood, that they wanted something. One of them immediately spread on the ground a mattress, by which it was divined that she wanted some fish, which were accordingly given her. The other carried a mattock in her hand, by which they conceived she wanted a field to labour, she was there-

M 2 fore

fore led without the village, and immediately had her request granted her. A chief had dreamed, as he fuid, of feeing two human hearts: the dream could not be explained which caused universal anxiety; this person made a great deal of noise about it, fo that the feast was prolonged for a day on this account: but all was to no purpose, so that he was obliged to be fatisfied. Sometimes were feen companies of armed men, who feemed as it they were going to engage; fometimes troops of dancers, playing all forts of farces. mac es lasted four days, and it appeared that the utua time of it had been abridged, in confideration of the two jefuits; they, however, committed full as many disorders as they used to do in fifteen. They had moreover this further regard for the misfionaries, as not to diffurb them in the exercise of their functions, nor to hinder the Christians from performing their religious duties. But I have already faid enough on this article; I am now fealing my letter, in order to give it to a traveller, who fets out for the colony, and am, &c.

LETTER XXV.

Sequel of the Traditions of the Indians.

Fort on the River St. Joseph, September 14, 1721.

Madam,

IT is now three days fince I fet out from this place for Chicagou, by coasting along the fouth shore of lake Michigan; but we found the lake so stormy that we resolved to return hither and to seek out some other way to reach Louisiana. Our departure is fixed on the 16th, and I am going to make use of this delay of two days to continue my account of the customs and traditions of our Americans.

The Indians, with respect to what I have been speaking of in my last letter, acknowledge only the power of the good genii, and none but wizards and such as have recourse to witchcrast, are held to have any commerce with evil spirits; and it is the women chiefly who exercise this detestable profession. Their professed jugglers not only do not exercise.

ercise it openly, but it is even a particular study with them, to be able to study witchcrast, and to hinder its pernicious effects. There is nothing at bottom in all I have been told on this head but meer quackery; sometimes they extract the venom of serpents, or make use of herbs gathered at certain times, while they are pronouncing certain words, or of animals which are first strangled, and some parts of which are afterwards thrown into the sire.

Amongst the Illinois and almost all the other nations, they make fmall figures to represent those whose days they have a mind to shorten, and which they stao to the heart. At other times they take a stone, and by means of certain invocations, they pretend to form such another in the heart of their enemy. I am perfuaded this happens but feldom, provided the devil has no share in it; they are, however, in fuch apprehension of magicians, that the least suspicion of exercising this profession, is fufficient to cause a person to be torn to pieces. Notwithstanding, however, the danger which attends the following this trade, there are everywhere persons who have no other. And it is even true, that the most sensible and least credulous perfons, who have frequented the Indians agree, that there is fometimes more than mere conceit in their magick.

Now, Madam, is it to be thought, that these insidels are the only persons who have never had any intercourse with the devil? And what other master besides this wicked spirit, who was a murderer from the beginning, could have taught so many nations, who have never had any intercourse one with another, an art, which we cannot hold

as entirely imaginary, without contradicting the holy scriptures? We must therefore confess, that the infernal powers have some agents upon earth, but that God has prescribed very narrow limits to their malignity; and if he sometimes permits us to feel the effects of the power he hath thought proper to suffer them to pokess, it is only in order to manifest his justice and mercy.

Much the same thing may be said of the jugglers of Canada, who profess to have no commerce but with, what they call, the benevolent genii, and by whose means they boast of knowing what passes in the most distant countries, and in the remotest futurity; of being able to discover the source and nature of the most hidden diseases, and of having the fecret of curing them; to discern the part that is to be taken, in the most perplexed affairs; to explain the most obscure dreams; to make the most difficult nesociations prove successful; and laitly, to render the gods propitious to warriors and hunters. These pretended good genii are like all the gods of Paranism, real devile, which received that homage which is due to God alone, and whose illusions are still more dangerous than those of the evil genii, as they contribute to retain their adorers in their blind devotion.

It is beyond all doubt, that amongst their agents the most audacious are always the most respected, who with a very little address, easily pertuade nations born and brought up in superstition. And although they have seen with their own eyes the birth of those impostures, yet should they entertain a desire of ascribing to themselves a supernatural birth, they find persons credulous enough to M 4 believe

believe them on their bare word, as much as if they had feen them descend from heaven, and who look upon it as a fort of enchantment, that they formerly believed them born like other men; their artifices are, however, generally so coarse and thread-bare, that there are none besides sools and children deceived by them, except when they act in quality of physicians: for who does not know when the business in question is the recovery of one's health, that the most excessive credulity is of all countries, and even as common in such as picque themselves most on their wisdom as in those whose understandings are less enlightened?

After all, Madam, I repeat it, it is difficult not to allow, that amongst these infidels there are fome things very capable of deceiving, at least, the multitude. I have heard persons say, whose veracity and wisdom I could not suspect, that when these impostors shut themselves up in a stove, in order to make themselves sweat, which is one of their most common preparations for their illusions, they differ in nothing from the Pythias or fybils, as the poets represent them on the tripod: that they are feen to fall into convulsions and extacies, to affume a tone of voice, and to perform actions which appear beyond human power, and which inspire even those spectators who have the strongest difbelief of their impostures, with a horror and astonishment, which they are unable to overcome,

It is also affirmed that they suffer greatly on those occasions, and that there are some of them who are very difficultly prevailed with, and even though they have been very well paid to deliver themselves into the hands of the spirit which convulses vulses them. But we are not to believe that there is any thing supernatural in this, that just after coming out of those violent sweats they plunge into cold water, and even som times when it is frozen, without feeling the least inconvenience from it. This is common to them, with all the other Indians, and even with other northern nations *. This is an experiment, which somewhat disconcerts the science of physick, but in which the devil has certainly no manner of share.

It is also certain, that their jugglers are too often true in their predictions, to faffer us to believe that they divine at random, and that there pass on those occasions, things which it is almost impossible to acccount for, in any natural way. And even the very posts with which these stoves were supported, have been feen to bend to the earth, whilst the juggler remained motionless and without touching them, and whilft he fweated and foretold what was to The letters of the ancient missionaries are happen. filled with facts which leave no room to doubt, that these seducers have a real compact with the Father of deceit and lies. Several Franchmen have told me the fame thing, I shall only quote one paffage which I have from the fountain-head.

You have feen at Paris, Madame de Marfon, and she is there still; now this is what the Marquis de Vaudreuil her son-in-law and our present governor told me this winter, and which he had from this lady, who is far from being a person of a weak mind. She was one day very uneasy about M. de Marson, her husband who commanded at that time

The poet Regnard affures us, in his voyage to Lapponia, that he has seen the same thing done in Eothma.

in a post in Acadia; he was still absent, though the time he had fixed for his return was already An Indian woman seeing Madame de Marfon uneasy, asked her the reason of it, and having learned it, told her, after musing some time on it, not to vex herself, that her husband would return fuch a day at fuch a hour, naming both, with a grey hat on his head. As she perceived the lady gave no credit to her prediction, she returned to her, at the day and hour she had affigned, and asked her whether she would not come to see her husband arrive, and preffed her so strongly to follow her, that at last she led her to the bank of the ri-They had fcarce arrived there, when Monf. de Marson appeared in a canoe, with a grey bat on his head; and being told what had passed, assured them, that he was utterly at a loss to conceive which way the Indian woman could know the day and hour of his arrival.

This example, Madam, with many others which I know, and which are no less certain, prove, that the devil is sometimes concerned in the magick of the Indians; but it belongs only, fay they, to the jugglers to make the evocations, when the business is of publick concern. It is pretended that all the Algonquins and Abenaquis, formerly, practifed a kind of pyromancy, the whole mystery of which is as follows. They reduced to a very fine powder fome charcoal, made of cedar, they disposed this powder in their own manner, and afterwards fet fire to it, and by the form which the fire took whilft it ran along this powder, they pretended to discover what they wanted to know. They add, that the Abenaquis, when they were converted to Christianity, had much difficulty in renouncing cing this usage, which they looked upon as a very innocent way of knowing what passed at a distance.

I have never heard it faid whether fuch private persons, as were inclined to possess such fecrets, were under any necessity of passing any trial at their initiation; but professed jugglers are never invested with this character, by which they enter into a kind of compact with the genit, and which renders their persons venerable, till after they have prepared themf lves by fastings, which they carry to a great length, during which they are incessantly beating the drum, thouting, howling, finging and smoaking. The installation is afterwards made in a kind of Bacchanalian festival with ceremonies fo very extravagant and accompanied with fuch transports of fury, that one would imagine the devil took possession of their bodily organs, from that moment.

They are, notwith standing, the ministers of those pretended gods, only in as much as they make known to men their will, and serve them as interpreters; for if we might give the appellation of sacrifices, to the offerings which these nations pay to their divinities, their prichs are always different from their jugglers: these in all publick ceremonies are the chiefs, and in domestick occurrences, it is generally the father of the samily, or in his abtence the most considerable person in the cabbin, who performs this function. But the chief occupation of the jugglers, at least that by which they get most profit is physick: they exercise this art by principles, founded on the knowledge

ledge of fimples, on experience, and as is done every where elfe, on the circumstances of the case, but very rarely without a mixture of superstition and quackery, of which the vulgar are constantly the dupes.

There is, perhaps, no fet of men in the world more so to these impostures, than the Indians, though there are very few who are under less neceffity of having recourse to physick. They are not only almost all of a found and robust constitution, but were utterly unacquainted with most of the difeases to which we are subject, before we had commerce with them. They knew not what the fmall-pox was when they got it from us, and we can only attribute the prodigious ravages it has made amongst them to their ignorance. The gout, the gravel, stone and apoplexy, with a number of other evils fo common in Europe, are not yet known in this part of North-America, at least amongst the natives.

It is true, those excesses committed in their feasts, and in their outrageous fastings, occasion pains and weaknesses in the breast and stomach, which carry off great numbers of them; many young persons also die of the consumption, which they pretend, is a consequence of the excessive fatigue and violent exercises to which they expose themselves from their infancy, and before they are able to support them. It is a folly to believe with some, that their blood is of a colder nature than ours, and to attribute to this, their pretended insensibility in torments; but it is extremely balfamick, which proceeds, no doubt, from their not using any salt or high seasonings in their diet.

They feldom look upon a difease as purely natural, and amongst the ordinary remedies which they use, there are some who have the virtue of curing fimply by themselves. The great use which they make of their fimples, is for the cure of wounds, fractures, diflocations, luxations and rup-They blame the great incisions which our furgeons make, in order to clean wounds, they express the juice of several plants, and with this composition, they draw from them all the matter and even splinters, stones, iron, and in general all extraneous bodies remaining in the wound. Thefe very juices are also the sole nourishment of the patient till the wound is closed: he who probes it, likewise takes a draught of it before he sucks the wound, when this operation is necessary: this rarely happens, and they most commonly content themselves with syringing the wound with this liquor.

All this is in the rules of the art, but as these people must always have something supernatural in every thing, the juggler often tears the wound with his teeth, and afterwards a bit of wood or fuch like matter, which he took care to conceal in his mouth, makes the fick person believe he extracted it from the wound, and that this was the charm which made his disease so dangerous. This much is certain, that they are in possession of secrets and remedies which are admirable. A broken bone is immediately fet, and is perfectly folid in eight days A French foldier who was in garrifon in a fort in Acadia, was seized with the Epilepsy, and and the fits were become almost daily and extremely violent: an Indian woman that happened to be present at one of his fits, made him two boluses of a pulverifed root, the name of which she did not disclose, and defired that one might be given him at his next fit, told him that he would swear much, and that he would have large evacuations bot by vomiting and fool, and added, that if the fir bolus did not entirely cure him, the fecond certainly would: the thing happened as she had foretold; the patient had, indeed, a fecond fit, but this was his last. He from that day enjoyed a perfect state of health.

These people have also speedy and sovereign remedies against the palty, dropsy, and venereal complaints. The raspings of guiacum and sassafras are their common specificks against these last complaints; of these they make a draught which is both a cure and prefervative, provided it be made constant use of. In acute diseases, such as the pleurify, they fall to work on the fide opposite to that where the pain is; to this they apply drawing cataplasms, and which hinder it from settling. In fevers they use cooling lotions with decoctions of herbs, and by this means prevent inflammations and deliriousness. They boast above all things of their skill in dieting, which according to them confifts in abstaining from certain aliments which they reckon detrimental.

They were formerly unacquainted with the method of bleeding, which they supplied by scarifications of the parts affected: they afterwards applied a fort of cupping-glasses made of gourds. and filled with combultible matters to which they fet fire. The use of causticks, and ustulations, were all familiar to them; but as they had no knowledge of the lunar caustick. they made use of rotten wood in its place. At prefent, bleeding alone is substituted instead of all thefe. these. In the northern parts they made much use of glisters, a bladder was their instrument for this purpose. They have a remedy for the bloody-flux which seldom or never fails; this is a juice expressed from the extremities of cedar branches aster they have been well boiled.

But their grand remedy and preservative against all evils, is sweating. I just told you, Madam, that the moment after coming out of the stove, and even whilft the sweat is still running down from all parts of the body, they throw themselves into the river; if this happens to be at too great a diftance, they cause themselves to be sprinkled with the coldest water. They often sweat only to refresh themselves, to calm their minds and to render them fitter for speaking on publick affairs. The moment a stranger arrives in any of their cabbins, they make a fire for him, rub his feet with oil, and immediately conduct him into a stove where his hoft keeps him company. They have another very fingular method of provoking fweat, which is made use of in certain diseases: this consists in extending the patient on a couch raised a little above the ground, under which are boiled in a kettle, the wood of the hiccery tree and the branches of pine. The vapour which proceeds from it produces a most profuse sweat: they also pretend that the smell of it is extremely wholsome; the sweat by means of a stove, and which is procured by the vapour arifing from the water, poured upon red-hot flints, is without this advantage.

In Acadia no difease was thought worth their notice, till the patient had entirely lost his appetite;

tite: and feveral nations are still in the same error: and whatever fort of fever a person happens to be seized with, if they incline to eat, he is never allowed any particular diet, but must eat of such food as the rest. But as soon as the disease appears dangerous, that is to fay, when the person rejects all kind of nourishment, they treat it with much at-It is true, the principles on which the tention. science of physic among the Indians is founded. are altogether extraordinary, and they refuse a fick man nothing he asks for, from a belief that the defires of a person in this condition, are so many orders from the genius who watches for his prefervation; and in calling their jugglers it is less from any perfuation of their abilities, than from a supposition that they are better able to know of the spirits, the cause of the evil, and the remedies that are to be applied for the cure of it.

They are moreover unwilling to have any thing to reproach themselves with, death seems to lose a part of its terror, even when it follows on the heels of the remedies, of which it is a natural confequence. Our Indians are in this subject to the common law of humanity, and to the general prejudice which has obtained in all ages and nations; and they are, in my opinion the more excusable, or carrying their credulity to fo great a length; because, as they find something supernatural in all diseases, and as their physick consists n a mixture of religion, they therefore beieve themselves less under any obligation to reason about it; and make it a sacred duty, to ibandon themselves to the guidance of blind thance.

A fick person often takes it into his head that his disease is owing to witchcrast, in which case their whole attention is employed in discovering it, which is the juggler's province. This personage begins with causing himself to be sweated, and after he has quite fatigued himself with shouting, beating himself, and invoking his genius, the first out of the way thing that comes into his head, is that to which he attributes the cause of the disease. There are some who, before they enter the stove, take a draught of a composition very proper, say they, for disposing them to receive the divine impulse, and they pretend that the advent of the spirit, is made manifest by a rushing wind, which suddenly arises; or by a bellowing heard under ground; or by the agitation and shaking of the stove. Then full of his pretended divinity, and more like a person possessed by the devil than one inspired of heaven. he pronounces in a positive tone of voice on the flate of the patient, and sometimes guesses tolerably just.

The fraternity of quacks have devised a very fingular method of exempting themselves from being responsible for events. As soon as they see the patient in danger of dying, they never sail to give a prescription, the execution of which is so difficult, as to be almost impossible to perform with any degree of exactness, so that they easily find some omission to justify themselves. It is scarce conceivable what extravagancies they prescribe on those occasions; some patients they order to counterseit madness; in certain diseases they prescribe dances, generally extreme-Vol. II.

ly lascivious, and one would almost alway think, that they meant not so much to cure as to kill the patient: but what proves the power of imagination over men is, that these physicians with all their absurdities cure to the full as often as our own.

In some countries, when the patient is despaired of, they dispatch him to keep him from languishing. In the canton of Onnontague they put to death young children who have lost their mothers before they are weaned; they even bury them alive with them, from a perfuafion that no other woman could fuckle them. and that they would languish away their lives; I do not, however, know whether they have not lately renounced this barbarous custom. Others abandon their fick, the moment they are given over by the physicians, and leave them to die of hunger and thirst. And some there are who, in order to hide the contortions of visage in the dying person, shut his eyes and mouth, as soon as he begins to be in agony.

In Accadia the quacks were called Autmoins, and it was commonly the chief of the village, who was invested with this dignity. Thus they had much more authority than the other jugglers, although they were neither possessed of greater abilities nor less impostors. When they happened to be called upon to visit a patient, they first inspected him for a considerable time, after which they breathed upon him. If this produced nothing, "of certainty," said they, "the devil is "within him; he must, however, very soon

go out of him; but let every one be upon "his guard, as this wicked spirit will, if he can " out of spite, attack some here present." They then fell into a kind of rage, were shaken with agonies, shouted out aloud, and threatened the pretended demon; they spoke to him as if they had feen him with their eyes, made feveral passes at him, as if they would stab him, the whole being only intended to conceal their imposture.

On entering the cabbin they take care to fix into the ground a bit of wood, to which a cord is made fast; They afterwards present the end of the cord to the spectators inviting them at the same time to draw out the bit of wood, and as scarce any one ever succeeds in it, they are fure to tell him that it is the devil who holds it; afterwards making as if he would stab this pretended devil, they loosen by little and little the piece of wood, by raking up the earth round it, after which they eafily draw it up, the crowd all the while crying out, A miracle! To the underpart of this piece of wood, was fastened a little bone, or some fuch thing, which was not at first perceived, and the quacks shewing it to the company: "Behold," cried they, "the cause of the dis-" ease, it was necessary to kill the devil to " get at it."

This farce lasted three or four hours, after which the physician stood in need of rest and refreshment; he went away affuring them, that N 2

the fick person would infallibly be cured, provided the disease had not already got the better, that is to fay, provided the devil before his retreat, had not given him his death's The business was to know whether he This the autmoin pretended to had or not. discover by dreams, but he took care never to speak clearly, till he saw what turn the disease took. On perceiving it incurable, he went away, every one likewise after his example abandoning the patient. If after three days were expired, he were still alive: "The devil," said the physician, "will neither allow him to be "cured, nor fuffer him to die; you must "out of charity put an end to his days." Immediately the greatest friend of the patient went to fetch cold water and poured it upon his face till he expired. The enchantment was fuch, that besides making vast acknowledgements to the autmoin, for his extraordinary care and attendance, they also largely gratified him.

Some fouthern nations have quite contrary maxims, and never pay the physician till after the cure is performed; and if the patient happen to die, the physician who attended him, is in danger of his life. According to the Iroquois, every disease is a desire of the soul, and people die only because this desire has not been satisfied. I must now conclude, Madam, because the article of the dead would lead me too sar, and because every thing is getting ready for my departure; I shall probably very soon find leisure

leisure to write you again, but with very little profit to you, as from hence to the country of the Illinois, there is is no likelihood of my meeting with any opportunity of forwarding my letter to you; so that if I write you before my arrival there, you will, perhaps, receive it at the same time with that I shall write you, when I am at my journey's end.

I am, &c.

N₃ LETTER

LETTER XXVI.

Departure from the Fort of the River St. Joseph. Sources of the Theakiki: What passes at the Death of the Indians; of their Funer is and Tombs. Of their Mourning and Widowhood. Of the Festival of the Dead.

Source of the River Theakiki, September 17, 1721.

Madam,

I did not imagine I should have so soon taken up my pen again to write you; but my guides have just now broken their canoe, and I am detained a whole day in a place that affords nothing to attract the curiosity of a traveller, so that I cannot do better, than employ my leisure time in endeavouring to divert you.

I believe I gave you to understand in my last, thut I had two routs to chuse, in order to gain the country of the Illinois; the first was by returning to lake Michigan, coasting along the southern coast, and entering the little river of Chicagou. After ascending sive or six leagues up this river, there is a passage to that of the Illinois, by means N 4 of

of two carrying places, the longest of which is not above a league and a quarter; but being informed that at this season of the year, there is not water sufficient for a canoe, I have taken the other route, which has likewise its inconveniencies, and is far from being so agreeable, but it is more certain.

I departed yesterday from the fort of the river St. Joseph, and sailed up that river about six leagues. I went ashore on the right, and walked a league and a quarter, first along the water-side, and afterwards across a field in an immense meadow, entirely covered with copses of wood, which produce a very sine effect; it is called the meadow of the Buffaloes head, because it is said a head of that animal of a monstruous size was once found there. Why might not there have been giants among the brutes? I pitched my tent on a very beautiful spot, called the Fort of the Foxes, because the foxes, that is to say, the Outagamies had not long ago a village there, which was fortified after their sashion.

This morning I walked a league farther in the meadow, having my feet almost always in the water; afterwards I met with a kind of pool or marsh which had a communication with several others of different sizes, but the largest not above a hundred paces in circuit. These are the sources of the river Theakiki, which by a corrupted pronounciation our Indians call Kiakiki. Theak signifies a wolf, in I do not remember what language, but this river bears that name, because the Mahingans, who are likewise called the wolves, had formerly taken refuge on its banks.

We put our canoe which two men had carried thus far into the second of those springs, and we embarked ourselves, but we had scarce water sufficient to keep her associate. Ten men would in two days make a streight and navigable canal, which would save a great deal of trouble and ten or twelve leagues of way; for the river at its source is so very narrow, and such short turns must of necessity be constantly made, that there is danger of damage every moment to the canoe, as has just now happened to us. But we shall now return to the Indians, and after having seen in what manner they are treated during sickness, we shall take a view of them whilst they are a-dying, and of what passes after their death.

For the most part, when they believe themselves past hopes of recovery, they put on a resolution truly stoical, and even see their death hastened by those persons who are dearest to them, without testifying the least chagrin. No sooner has the physician pronounced sentence on a dying person, than he makes an effort to harrangue those who are about him. If he is the head of a samily, he makes his funeral oration before hand, which he concludes with giving his children the best advice he can; afterwards he takes his leave of every body, gives orders for a feast, in which all the provisions remaining in the cabbin must be consumed, and lastly, receives presents from his family.

While this passes, they cut the throats of all the dogs they can catch, that the souls of these animals may give information to the people in the other world, that such a person is soon coming to join them; and they throw all their bodies into the kettle in order to encrease the seast. The repast being

being over, they begin their lamentations, which are interrupted with taking their last farewell of the dying person, wishing him a good voyage, comforting him on his feparation from his friends and relations, and affuring him that his children will maintain all the glory he has acquired.

It must be confessed, Madam, that the indifference with which these people face death, has fomething admirable in it; and this is fo univerfal that an Indian has feldom been known to be uncasy, on being informed that he has but a few hours to live; the fame genius and principle prevail every where, though the usages with respect to what I have been now relating vary greatly in the different nations. Dances, fongs, invocations and feasts are every where prescribed by the physicians, remedies almost all of them more likely, according to our notions, to kill a man in perfect health, than to recover a fick person. In some places they are contented with having recourse to the spirits, who, if the patients recover their health, have all the honour of the cure, but the fick person is always the most unconcerned about his fate.

On the other hand, if these people show little judgement in the manner of their treating the fick, it must be confessed that they behave with regard to the dead, with a generofity and an affection that cannot be too much admired. Some mothers have been known to preferve for years together the corpse of their children, and others to draw the milk from their breafts and sprinkle it on their graves. If a village in which there are any dead corps happens to be fet on fire, the first thing done is to remove them to a place of fafety: they strip themselves

themselves of every thing most valuable about them, in order to adorn the deceased: they open their cossins from time to time, in order to change their habits; and they take victuals from their mouth, in order to carry them to their graves, and to the places where they imagine their souls resort. In a word they are much more expensive upon the dead than the living

As foon as the fick person has setched his last breath, the whole cabbin refounds with lamentations, which continues as long as the family is in a condition to furnish the expence; for open table must be kept during all that time. The carcass adorned with its finest robe, the face painted, the arms of the deceased, with every thing he possesfed laid by his fide, is exposed at the gate of the cabbin, in the fame posture in which he is to lie in the tomb, and that is in many places, the same with that of a child in the womb. It is customary among fome nations for the relations of the deceased to fast till the funeral is over, all which interval is past in weeping and howling, in regaling all those who visit them, in making the elogium of the dead, and in reciprocal compliments. Amongst other nations they hire mourners, who acquit themfelves perfectly well of their duty. They fing, they dance and weep inceffantly, and always in cadence; but this outward show of borrowed grief is not prejudicial to that which nature exacts, from the relations of the deceased.

It appears to me that they carry the corps to the place of burial without any ceremony, at least I have found nothing upon this head in any relation; but when they are once in the grave, they take care to cover them in such manner that the earth does not touch

touch them: fo that they lie as in a cell entirely covered with skins, much richer and better adorned than any of their cabbins. A post is afterwards erected, on which they fix every thing capable of expressing the esteem in which they held the deceased. His portrait is sometimes placed upon it, with whatever else can serve to make passengers acquainted with his state and condition, and signify the most remarkable actions of his life. Fresh provisions are carried to the place every morning, and as the dogs and other beasts do not fail to take advantage of this, they would fain persuade themselves that it is the soul of the deceased, who comes to take some refreshment.

After this, it is not to be wondered at if the Indians believe in apparitions: in fact they have numberless stories of that kind. I have seen a poor man, who merely by the strength of hearing them talked of, imagined he had always a troop of dead men at his heels; and as people took a pleasure in terrifying him, he at last became stark mad. After, however, a certain term of years, they use as much precaution to essage the remembrances of those they have lost from their minds, as they had before taken care to preserve it, and this they do entirely to put an end to the grief they selt on that occasion.

Some of our missionaries asked of their converts, one day, why they deprived themselves of the most necessary things in favour of their dead? "It is," answered they, "not only to testify to our neighbours the love we bore them, but likewise to prevent our having always before our eyes, objects, which being constantly used by them, must incessantly renew our grief." It is likewise for

for this reason, they refrain during a certain time from mentioning their names; and that, if any other of the family hears it, he quits it all the time the mourning continues. This likewise is probably the reason, why the highest affront that can be offered to any one, is to tell him: Your father is dead, or Your mother is dead.

When an Indian dies in the time of hunting, his body is exposed on a very high scaffold, where it remains till the departure of the company, who carry it with them to the village. There are some nations who have the fame custom, with respect to all their dead; and I have feen it practifed among the Missifaguez at the Narrows. The bodies of those who are killed in war are burnt, and the ashes carried back, in order to be deposited in the fepulchres of their ancestors. These sepulchres, among those nations who are best fixed in their fettlements, are a fort of burial-grounds near the village. Others inter their dead in the woods at the foot of some tree, else dry them, and preserve them in boxes till the festival of the dead, of which I shall presently say somewhat; but in some other places, a ceremonial ridiculous enough is put in practice, with respect to those who have been drowned or starved to death by the cold.

Before I enter on the description of it, it will be proper to take notice, Madam, that the Indians believe when such accidents happen, that the souls are angry, and will not be appealed till the bodies are found. Then the preliminaries of weeping, dancing, singing and feating being first over, the body is carried to the burial-place, or if that is at too great a distance, to the place where it is to remain

main till the festival of the dead. A very large ditch is dug here, and a fire kindled. Then the young men approach the carcase, cut the sless from those parts which had been marked out by the master of the ceremonies, and throw it into the fire, together with the bowels. During this whole operation, the women and especially the relations of the deceased, continue turning round those who are at work, exhorting them to acquit themselves well of their duty, and putting grains of porcelain in their mouths; as we do sugar plums in the mouths of children, when we would have them do any particular thing.

The burial is followed by prefents, which are made to the family afflicted, and this is called' covering the dead. These presents are made in name of the village, and fometimes in that of the na-The allies likewife fend prefents at the death of confiderable persons. But before this, the family of the deceased make a feast in his name, accompanied with games, for which prizes are pro-There are a fort of justs or tournaments carried on in this manner: one of their chiefs throws upon the tomb three buttons, about a foot in length, a young man, a woman and a girl take each of them one, and those of the same age, sex and condition endeavour to wrest them out of The persons with whom they remain their hands. are reckoned the conquerors. There are likewise races, and sometimes they shoot at a mark; in a word, by a custom established through all Pagan antiquity, an action wholly melancholy in itself, concludes with longs and shouts of victory.

It is true, the family of the deceased take no part in these rejoicings; but on the contrary observe

ferve in their cabbin after the obsequies are over, a mourning the laws of which are very fevere. They must have their hair cut off, and their faces blacked; they must have their head in an erect posture. their head wrapped up in a covering, without looking upon any one, making any visits, or eating any thing hot; but must deprive themselves of all pleasures, having scarce any clouthing on their bodies, and never warming themselves, even in the midst of winter. After this grand mourning they begin another more moderate, which lasts for two or three years longer, but which may yet. be mitigated a little; but nothing prescribed is. ever dispensed with, without the permission of the cabbin, to which the widow and widower belong; and these permissions as well as the conclusion of the mourning, are always attended with a feaft.

Lastly, they are not at liberty, by the laws of widowhood, to engage in fecond nuptials, without the confent of those on whom they depend. should there be no husband found for the widow, she is very little concerned about it, in case she has male children old enough to provide for her fupport; the may still remain in the state of widowhood without fear of being reduced to want. the has a mind to marry again, the is at liberty to chuse for herself, and the person she marries becomes the father to her former children, enters into all the rights, and is subject to all the obligations of the first husband. A husband never weeps for the loss of a wife; tears in the opinion of the Indians, being looked upon as unworthy of men; but this does not hold true amongst all the nations.

The women, on the contrary, bewail their hufbands a year, are eternally invoking him, and fill the villages with their cries and lamentations, and especially especially at the rising and setting of the sun, at noon, and in some parts when they go forth to their labour or return from it. Mothers mourn in much the same manner for their children. The chiess mourn for six months only, after which they are free to marry again.

Lastly, the first and oftentimes the only salutation paid to a friend and even to a stranger on his entering their cabbins, is to bewail the relations they lost since they last saw them. They lay their hand on his head and signify the person they lament, but without naming him. This is entirely sounded on nature, and savours nothing of the barbarian; but what I am going to relate to you appears inexcusable in every respect. This is the conduct which these nations observe, with regard to all who have died a violent death, even in war and in the service of their country.

They have taken it into their heads, that the fouls of these persons in the other world, have no commerce with the rest; and on this principle they burn them or bury them immediately, and even sometimes before they are quite dead. They never lay them in the common burying-ground, and allow them no share in the grand ceremony, which is repeated every eight years among some nations, and every ten years amongst the Hurons and Iroquois.

This is called the festival of the dead, or of souls. The following is what I have been able to collect, and is the most uniform as well as most remarkable account, of this most singular and extraordinary act of religion known amongst the Indians. They begin with agreeing upon the place where the assembly

affembly is to be held, afterwards they make choice of a king of the feaft, whose business is to take order for every thing, and to invite the neighbouring villages. On the day appointed they affemble, and go in procession, two and two to the burial-place; there every one falls to work to uncover the dead bodies, and afterwards they remain some time in silent contemplation of a spectacle, so capable of furnishing the most serious redections. The women are the first who break this religious silence, by raising lamentable cries, which still add to the horror with which every spectator is seized.

This first act ended, they take up the carcasses and gather the dry and loose bones, with which they load the persons who are appointed to carry them. They wash such bodies as are not entirely corrupted, take away the putrid flesh with all other filth from them, and wrap them in new robes of beaver skins. Afterwards they return in the same order they came, and when the procession reaches the village, each person deposites his load in his own cabbin. During the march, the women continue their wailings, and the men wear the same marks of grief, as on the day of the death of the person whose remains they are thus carrying. This second act is followed with a feast in each cabbin, in honour of the dead of the family.

On the following days there are publick feaftings, which are accompanied, as on the day of the interment, with dances, games, and combats; for which there are also prizes proposed. From time to time they raise certain cries, which they call the cries of the souls. They make presents to the strangers amongst whom there are sometimes persons who have come a hundred and sifty leagues off, Vol. II.

and receive prefents again from them. They even make use of these opportunities to treat of their common affairs, as the election of a chief: all passes with a great deal of order, decency and modesty; and every person present appears filled with sentiments proper to the occasion; every thing, even the very dances and songs, breath such a forrowful air, that the heart is penetrated with the most lively forrow, so that the most indifferent person must be struck at the sight of this spectuale.

After some days have past, they go in procession to a large council-room built on purpose, where they hang up against the walls the bones and carcaffes, in the same condition in which they were taken up, and they display the presents destined for the dead. If amongit the rest there happen to be the remains of some chief, his successor gives a grand repatt in his name, and fings his fong. In feveral places the dead bodies are carried from canton to canton, where they are always received with great demonstrations of grief and tenderness, and every where prefents are made them: laftly, they carry them to the place where they are to remain for eternity. But I forgot to tell you, that all these processions are to the found of instruments, accompanied with the finest voices, and that every person observes an exact cadence in his motion.

This last and common place of burial, is a great ditch lined with the finest furs and with whatever is most precious. The presents destined for the dead are placed apart, and in proportion as the procession arrives, each family places itself on a kind of scassolds erected around the ditch. The moment the dead bodies are deposited, the women begin their

their cries and lamentations. Afterwards all the spectators go down into the ditch, when every one takes a small quantity of earth which he preserves with the greatest care, from a belief that it brings good luck at play. The dead bodies and bones are placed in proper order, being covered with new surs, over which is a layer of bark, and above all are thrown stones, timber and earth. Every one afterwards retires to his own home, but the women continue to return for several days to the same place, to deposite some sagamity by way of sood for the departed.

I am, &c.

L E T T E R XXVII.

Voyage to Pimiteouy. Of the river of the Illianois; Reception of prisoners of war amongst that people. Manner of burning them. Some particulars of their manner of living.

Pimiteouy, Oct. 5, 1721.

Madam,

N the night between the 17th and 18th of last month, the frost, which for eight days before had been pretty sensible every morning, was considerably encreased; this was early for the climate in which we were, it being in 40 deg. 40 min. north latitude. The following days we continued our voyage, failing from morning till night, being favoured by a pretty strong current, and sometimes by the wind; we made, indeed, a great deal of way, but yet advanced very little in our course; after having sailed ten or twelve leagues, we often found ourselves so near our last encampment, that from the one place to the other we could have seen one another, or even conversed together at least by means of a speaking trumpet.

We were a little comforted for this inconvenience by the extreme plenty of game on the river and its banks, which were fattened by the wild oars then in their maturity. I likewise gathered some ripe grapes, of the fize and figure of a musket-ball, and fufficiently tender, but of a bad relish. to all appearance, the fame with what are called Prune Grapes in Louisiana. The river, by degrees, takes a straiter course, but its banks are not pleafant till at the distance of fifty leagues from its It is even throughout that whole space very narrow, and as it is bordered with trees which have their roots in the water, when any one happens to fall it bars up the whole river, and a great deal of time is lost in clearing a passage for a canoe.

All these difficulties being passed the river at the distance of fifty leagues from its source, forms a fmall lake, after which it grows confiderably broader. The country becomes beautiful, confifting of unbounded meadows, where buffaloes are to be feen grazing in herds of two or three hundred; but here it is necessary to keep a good look out, for fear of being furprized by the Sioux and Outagamies, whom the neighbourhood of the Illinois, their mortal enemies draws hither, and who give no more quarter to those French whom they happen to meet in their The misfortune is, that the Theakiki loses in depth, in proportion as it encreases in breadth, fo that we were often obliged to unload the canoe and travel on foot, which is never done without fome danger, by which means I should have been greatly embarraffed, if I had not been furnished with an escorte at the river St. Joseph.

I was not a little furprized at feeing so little water in the Theakiki, notwithstanding it receives a good many pretty large rivers, one of which is more than 120 feet in breadth at its mouth, and has been called the River of the Iroquois, because some of that nation were surprized on its banks by the Illinois, who killed a great many of them. This check mortisted them so much the more, as they held the Illinois in great contempt, who indeed for the most part are not able to stand before them.

The 27th of September we arrived at the Forks, that being the name given by the Canadians to the place where the Theakiki and the river of the Illinois join. This last, notwithstanding it is fixty leagues from its fource is still so very shallow, that I have feen a buffalo cross it, without being up to the mid-leg in water. The Theakiki on the contrary, besides, that it brings its waters from the distance of a hundred leagues, is a most beautiful river. Here, however, it loses its name, without doubt, because the Illinois having settled it in several places from the other, have communicated to it their own. Being enriched all of a fudden with this junction, it does not yield in largeness to any of our rivers in France; and, I can affure you, Madam, it is not possible to behold a finer and a better country than this which it waters, at least as far as the place from whence I write. But it does not acquire a depth correspondent to its breadth, till fifteen leagues below the Forks; though in that interval many other rivers fall into it.

The largest of these is called *Pisiconi*, and proceeds from the fine country of the Mascotins. At its mouth is a fall, or a rapid stream, which is O 4.

cailed le Charboniere, or the Coal-pit, from the great quantity of sea coal found in the places adjacent. Nothing is to be seen in this course but immense meadows, interspersed with small copses of wood, which seem to have been planted by the hand; the grass is so very high that a man is lost amongst it, but paths are every where to be found as well trodden as they could have been in the best peopled countries, though nothing passes that way excepting busfaloes, and from time to time some herds of deer, and a sew roe-buck.

A league below the coal pit you fee a rock on the right, entirely round, excremely high, and its fummit in the form of a terrals; this is called the Fort of the Miamis, because these Indians had formerly a village there. A league beyond this on the left, is feen another rock, quite fimilar to the former, and which has got the simple appellation of the Rock. This is the point of a very high terras, stretching the space of two hundred paces, and bending or winding with the course of the river which is very broad in this place. This rock is steep on all fides, and at a diffance one would take it for a fortress. Some remains of a palisado are still to be seen on it, the Illinois having formerly cast up an entrenchment here, which might be easily repaired in case of any irruption of the enemy.

The village of these Indians stands at the foot of this rock in an island, which, together with several others, all of a wonderful fertility, divides the river in this place into two pretty large channels. I went ashore here in the evening about four o'clock, where I met with some of my countrymen, who were trading with the Indians. I had scarce landed when

when I received a visit from the chief of the village, who is a man of about forty years of age, well-made, of a mild temper, a good countenance, and very well spoken of by the French.

I afterwards went up to this rock by a pretty eafy, but very narrow afcent. I found here a very level terras, and of a great extent, where twenty men might defend themselves against all the Indians of Canada, provided they had fire-arms, and could be supplied with water; but that is only to be had from the river, and to obtain it they would be obliged to expose themselves. The only resource of the befieged would be the natural impatience of those barbarians. In small parties they will wait with pleasure for eight or ten days behind a bush, in the hope that some one may pass, whom they may kill or take prisoner; but, in large bodies, if they do not succeed at the first, they are soon tired, and lay hold of the first pretence to retire, which is never wanting, a dream, real or pretended, being all that is necessary for that purpose.

The rain, and much more a spectacle which struck me with horror, prevented me from making the tour of these rocks, from whence I imagined I should discover an extensive country. I perceived at the extremity, and immediately above the village, the bodies of two Indians who had been burnt a few days before, and whom they had left according to custom, to be devoured by the birds, in the same posture in which they were executed. The manner of burning prisoners amongst these southern nations is somewhat singular, and they have some customs different from the others in their manner of treating those unhappy wretches.

When they have met with success in any military expedition, the warriors contrive their march in such a manner, that they always arrive at the village in the evening. As soon as they are come near it, they halt, and when night is come, depute two or three young people to the chief, to inform him of the principal events of the campaign. On the morrow at day-break they attire their prisoners in new robes, dress their hair with down, paint their faces with different colours, and put into their hands a white staff surrounded with the tails of deer. At the same time, the war-chief shouts, and the whole village assembles at the water-side, provided it happens to be near a river.

As foon as the warriors appear, four young perfons well-dreffed embark on board a Pirogue*, the two first carry each of them a calumet, and proceed finging at the fame time to fetch the prisoners whom they conduct as in triumph to the cabbin where they are to be judged. The master of the cabbin, to whom it belongs to determine their fate, begins with giving them to eat, and holds a council during the repast. In case they grant any one his life, two young persons until him, and take him each by a hand,' and so make him run with all his might towards the river, into which they throw him headlong. They also throw themselves into it after him, and when they have well washed him, conduct him to the person whose slave he is to be.

As for those who are condemned to die, as soon as sentence is pronounced, the cry is made to assem-

^{*} This is a long fort of boat made of the trunk of a fingle tree. Canoes of bark are feldom made use of in these parts.

ble the village, and the execution is put off no longer than till the necessary preparations are made. They begin with stripping the sufferer stark naked; they fix two posts in the ground, to which they make fast two cross pieces, one two foot from the ground, and the other six or seven feet higher, and this is what they call a square. They cause the person, who is to suffer to mount the first cross piece, to which they tie his feet at some distance from each other; they afterwards bind his hands to the two angles formed by the upper cross piece, and in this posture they burn him in all the different parts of his body.

The whole village, men, women, and children crowd round him, every one being at liberty to infult and torment him at pleasure. If none of the spectators happen to have any particular reason to prolong his torments, his sufferings are soon over, and the common way is to dispatch him with arrows, or else they cover him with bark to which they set fire. They then leave him to himself in his square, and in the evening visit all the cabbins, striking with rods against the furniture, walls, and roof, in order to frighten the soul from harbouring there, to revenge the mischiefs they have done his body. The rest of the night passes in rejoicing.

If the party hath met with no enemy, or if they have been obliged to fly, they enter the village in the day-time, observing a profound silence; but if they have been beaten, they make their entry in the evening, after having given notice of their return by a death cry, and named all those they have lost, either by sickness or the sword of the enemy. Sometimes the prisoners are judged and executed before they

they arrive at the village, and especially, if they have any grounds to sear their being rescued. Some time ago, a Frenchman having been taken by the Outagamies, these barbarians held a council on their march to determine what they should do with him. The result of their deliberation was to throw a stick upon a tree, and if it remained there to burn the prisoner, but not to throw it above a certain number of times. Happily for the captive, the stick fell always to the ground, though the tree was extremely bushy.

I remained twenty-four hours at the rock, and to oblige the favages, and to testify an entire confidence in them, though all my guides encamped on the other side of the river, I lay in a cabbin in the middle of the village. I passed the night quietly enough, but was very early awaked by a woman that dwelt in the neighbouring cabbin; on her awakening, she happened to call to mind the remembrance of a son she had lost some years before, and she immediately fell a weeping or singing in a very mournful tone.

The Illinois have the character of bold and dexterous thieves, which is the reason why I caused transport all the baggage to the other side of the river; but in spite of this precaution, and the watchfulness of my people, when we came to set out we found a musquet and some other trisless wanting, which we could never afterwards, by any means recover. The same evening we passed the last part of the river, where you are obliged to carry your canoe; from this place forwards, it is every where, both in breadth and deepness equal to most great rivers in Europe.

On this day, likewise, I saw parrots for the first time; there are some it is true, on the banks of the Theakiki, but only in the summertime; but these I now saw were only stragglers on their passage to the Mississippi, where they are found at all seasons of the year. They are no bigger than a blackbird, their head is yellow, with a red fpot in the middle; in the rest of their plumage green is the predominant colour. The two following days we croffed a charming country, and on the third of October towards noon found ourselves at the entrance of Lake Pimiteouy; this is a widening of the river, which, for three leagues is a league in breadth. At the end of these three leagues you find on the right a fecond village of the Illinois, fifteen leagues distant from that of the rock.

Nothing can be more delightful than its fituation; opposite to it is the prospect of a most beautiful forest, which was then adorned with all the variety of colours, and behind it is a plain of an immense extent, skirted with woods. The lake and river fwarm with fish, and the banks of both with game. I likewise met in this village four French Canadians, who informed me, that I was between four parties of enemies, and that I could neither go backwards nor forwards with fafety; they also told me, that on the way I had come there was an ambuscade of thirty Outagamies, that an equal number of the fame Indians were hovering about the village of Pimiteouy, and that another body, to the number of fourfcore, were posted lower down the river in two companies.

This account made me reflect on what had past the evening before; we had flopt at the extremity of an island to look for bustards on which some of my guides had fired; and we heard fomebody cutting wood in the middle of the island. The nearness of the village of Pimeteouy made us of opinion that this must be some of the Illinois, and we were pleased with this thought; but there is a strong likelihood that these were some Outagamies, who having discovered us, and not daring to attack us, as I had twelve men well armed, had a mind to draw fome of us into the wood, concluding probably they would eafily manage the rest; but our little curiofity faved us from this misfortune, which I should certainly not have shunned, if my efcort had not been commanded by a man who had no mind to any idle delays.

What confirmed us still the more in the belief of the four Frenchmen, is that thirty warriors of Pemiteouy, and these too commanded by the chief of the village, were in the field, to try to get more certain information of the enemy, and that a few days before their departure, there had been a sharp action in the neighbourhood, in which the two parties had taken each one prisoner; the Outagami had been burnt at the distance of a musket-shot from the village, and was still in his square. The Canadians who were present at his execution, told me it had lasted six hours, and that this unhappy person maintained to his last breath that he was an Illinois, and had been taken when a child by the Outagamies, who had adopted him.

He had however fought with extreme valour; and had it not been for a wound he received in one

of his legs, he had not been taken; but as he could give no proofs for what he advanced, and had been very near making his escape, they did not chuse to credit him on his word. In the midst of his torments he made it appear, that bravery and the courage to endure pain, are two very different virtues. and not always found in one and the same person; for he fent forth lamentable shrieks, which served only to animate his tormentors: it is true, an old Illinois woman, whose son had been formerly killed by the Outagamies, did him all the mischief that fury inspired by revenge could invent; at last, however, taking pity on his cries, they covered him with straw, to which they set fire, and as he was still found to breathe after this was confumed, he was pierced with arrows by the children: for the most part, when a victim does not die like a brave man, he receives his death's wound from a woman or from children; he is unworthy, fay they, to die by the hands of men.

In the mean time, Madam, I found myself very much embarassed. On the one hand, my guides did not imagine it prudent to advance any farther; and on the other it was very inconvenient for me to winter at Pimiteouy. I should even have been obliged to follow the Indians to their winter encampment, by which means I should have lost a whole year. But at last two of the four Canadians I found at Pimiteouy, having offered to join our escort, every one took heart. I determined to set out on the morrow, being the 4th of October; but the rain and some other things that happened prevented me all that day.

In the afternoon the warriors who had gone out on the discovery returned, without raising any shouts, because they had seen nothing. They all filed off before me with a pretty fierce air, being armed only with arrows and a buckler of buffaloe's hide, and made not the least appearance of seeing me; for it is a cultom among the warriors not to take notice of any body whilst they are in an armed body; but scarce had every one returned to his cabbin, when the chief came to pay me a vifit of ceremony. He is a man of about forty years of age, of a good stature, a little thin, of a mild disposition, and extreme good sense. He is, besides, the best soldier of the nation, and there are none of the Illinois who better deserve the sirname of modas wave, which Homer gives by way of preference to the hero of his Iliad, than he. This is faying a great deal, for the Illinois are perhaps the swiftest footed people in the world; and there are none but the Misfouris who can dispute this piece of excellence with them.

Perceiving a cross of copper and a small image of the Virgin suspended at the neck of this Indian, I imagined he had been a Christian, but was informed it was quite otherwise, and that he had dressed himself in that manner only to do me honour: I was likewise told a story, which I am now going to relate to you, without desiring you should give it any more credit than its authors deserve, who were Canadian travellers, who assuredly have not invented it, but have heard it affirmed for a certain fact.

The image of the Virgin which this Indian carried about with him having fallen into his hands, I know

know not how, he was curious to know what it represented: he was told that it was the mother of God, and that the child she held in her arms was, God himself, who had made himself man for the falvation of the human species: the mystery of this ineffable incarnation was explained to him in a few words, and he was further told, that in all dangers the Christians constantly addressed themselves to this holy mother, who feldom failed to extricate them. The Indian liftened to this discourse with a great deal of attention, and sometime afterwards being hunting by himself in the woods, an Outagami, who had been lying in ambush came upon him just as he had discharged his piece, and levelled it at his Then recollecting what he had been told about the Mother of God, he invoked her protection, and the Outagami endeavouring to discharge his piece it missed fire. He cocked it a second time, but the fame thing happened five times running. In the mean time, the Illinois having loaded his piece, levelled in his turn at the head of his enemy, who chose rather to surrender than to suffer himself to be shot. Ever since this adventure, the Illinois chief will never stir out of the village without carrying his fafeguard with him, by means of which he believes himself invulnerable. If this fact be true, there is good reason to believe that it has only been thro' the neglect of the missionary that he has not as yet become a Christian, and that the Mother of God having thus preserved him from a temporal death, will likewise procure him the grace of a fincere conversion *.

Vol. II. P Scarce

^{*} He has in reality been fince converted.

Scarce had the chief left me, when going abroad myself, in order to visit the neighbourhood about the village, I perceived two Indians going about from cabbin to cabbin, and making lamentations nearly in the same manner with the woman of the rock, whom I have already mentioned to you. The one had lost his friend in the last expedition, and the other was the father of the deceased. They walked at a great rate, laying both their hands on the heads of all they met, probably to invite them to partake in their grief. Those who have fought for refemblances between the Hebrews and Americans, undoubtedly would not have failed to take notice of this manner of weeping, which from some expressions in the scriptures, these hunters after conjectures might have had room to to imagine had been in use amongst the people of God.

Towards evening the chief fent me an invitation to meet him at a house where one of the missionaries had lodged fome years before, where probably they used to hold their councils; I went thither and found him with two or three of the elders. gan with telling me that he wanted to inform me of the greatness of the danger to which I should expose myself by continuing my journey; and that after having well considered every thing, he advised me to suspend my departure till the season of the year should be a little farther advanced, in the hopes that the parties of the enemy might in the meantime withdraw and leave the way open. Suspecting that he might have his views in detaining me at Pimitcouy, I gave him to understand that his reasons had no great weight with me, and added that I had flill more cogent ones to hasten my departure. My answer seemed to give him pain, and I foon

(211)

I foon perceived that it proceeded entirely from his affection to me, and his zeal for our nation.

"Since your resolution is fixed, said he to me, "I am of opinion that all the Frenchmen here " should join you, in order to strengthen your con-" voy. I have already declared my fentiments to "them on this head, and have represented to them " in a very strong manner, that they should for ever lose their honour if they suffered their fa-"ther to expose himself to such danger without " partaking it with him. I earnestly wish I could " accompany you myfelf at the head of all my fol-"diers, but you are not ignorant that my village " is every day on the eve of being attacked, and " it is not proper that in fuch a juncture I should " either be absent myself, or leave it unprovided " of defence. As to the French, nothing can de-" tain them here but a piece of felf-interest, which " they ought to facrifice to the care of your pre-" fervation. This is what I have given them to " understand, and I have added that if any one of "them should fall into the hands of the enemy, it "would only be the loss of a single man, where-" as a Father is himself alone worth many, and "that there is nothing which they ought not to " hazard, in order to prevent fo great a mistor-" tune."

I was charmed, Madam, with the good fense of this man, and still more with his generosity, which carried him so far as, out of regard for me, to dispense with the assistance of sour men, which ought not to have been indifferent to him in the situation wherein he then was. I have not even doubted P 2 that

that he wanted to keep me with him, in order to profit of my efcort for his defence. I made him a great many acknowledgments for his care and good intentions towards me, and affured him that I was very well fatisfied with the French, two of whom I should leave with him for his defence, and that the other two should accompany me till I should be in a place of safety, and that with this reinforcement I believed I was in a condition to travel over all the country without fear of any thing. He insisted no farther, and I retired.

This morning he came to pay me a fecond visit, attended by his mother-in-law, who carried a little infant in her arms. "You see before you, said he, ad-"dressing himself to me, a father in great affliction. Behold my daughter who is a-dying, her mother having already lost her life in bringing her into the world, and none of our women have been able to succeed in making her take any nourishment. She throws up every thing she swallows, and has perhaps but a few hours to live: you will do me a great favour if you will baptize her, that she may see God after her death." The child was indeed very ill, and appeared to be past all hopes of recovery, so that without any hesitation I performed the ceremony of baptism on her.

Should my voyage in every other respect be entirely fruitless, I own to you, Madam, I should not regret all the danger and fatigue I have undergone, since, in all probability, had I not been at Pimiteouy, this child would never have entered into the kingdom of heaven, where I make no doubt but it will soon be. I even hope this little angel will obtain for her father the same grace which he has procured

(213)

cured for her. I shall set out in an hour, and have given this letter to the two Frenchmen whom I leave here, and who are resolved to lay hold of the first opportunity to return to Canada.

I am, &c.

LETTER XXVIII.

Voyage from Pimiteouy to Kaskasquias. Course of the River of the Illinois. Of the Copper Mines. Of the Mission, Of the Mines of the River Marameg. Description of Fort Chartres, and of the Mission of Kaskasquias. Of the Fruittees of Louisiana. Description of the Mississippi above the Illinois. Different Tribes of that Nation. Some Traditions of the Indians. Their Notions about the Stars, Eclipses and Thunder. Their Manner of calculating Time.

Kaskasquias, October 20, 1721.

Madam,

must ingenuously confess to you, that at my departure from Pimiteouy, I was not quite so undaunted as I pretended to be, as well for my own honour as not entirely to dishearten those who accompanied me, some of whom had much ado to dissemble their fear. The alarm in which I found the Illinois, their mournful songs, the sight

of the dead bodies exposed upon the frames, terrible objects, which every moment represented to my imagination what I must expect, should I have the missortune to fall into the hands of these barbarians: all this made such an impression upon me, that I had not the command of myself, and for seven or eight days I was not able to sleep with tranquility.

I was not, indeed, apprehensive of an open attack from the enemy, because I had fourteen men with me, well armed and under a good commander; but every thing was to be dreaded from furprizes, there being no labour which the Indians will not undergo, in order to draw their enemies into the fnares which they lay for them. One of the most common is to counterfeit the cry of some wild beaft, or the voice of some bird, in the imitation of which they are so dexterous, that people are every day deceived by them. Por instance, being encamped at the entrance of a wood, they imagine that they hear the cry of a buffalo, deer, or wild duck; two or three run thither in hopes of finding game, and frequently never return.

The distance between Pimiteouy and the Missiffippi, is reckoned to be seventy leagues: I have already said, that from the rock to Pimiteouy, there is sisteen; the former of these two villages is in forty one degrees, north lat. and the mouth of the river of the Illinois in forty; so that from the rock, the course of this river is westward inclining a little to the south, but with several windings or circuits. There are islands scattered up and down in it, some of which are pretty large; its banks are but low in several places. During the spring

fpring the meadows on the right and left are for the most part under water, and afterwards are covered with very tall grass. It is pretended this river abounds every where with fish, but we had not time to catch any, nor had we any such nets as the depth of its waters would require. We would much rather have killed a buffalo or roebuck, and of these we had our choice.

On the fixth, we perceived a number of buffaloes swimming across the river, with a great deal of precipitation, which we doubted not had been purfued by some of the enemy's parties, of whom we have already spoken; this obliged us to continue our voyage all night in order to get at as great distance as possible from such dangerous neighbours. On the morrow before day-break we pasfed by the Saguimont, a large river which comes from the fouth, and five or fix leagues below that we left on the same side a smaller one, called the river of the *Macopines*; these are a large kind of root, which eaten raw is a rank poilon, but which when roafted five or fix hours or more before a flow fire, loses all its pernicious quality. Betwixt these two rivers, and at an equal diffance from either, is a marsh called *Machoutin*, precisely half way between Pimiteouy and the Mississippi.

Soon after passing the river of the Macopines, we perceived the banks of the Mississippi, which are extremely high. Notwithstanding which we were above four and twenty hours, and that frequently under sull sail, before we entered it; for at this place the river of the Illinois changes its course from west to south and by east. One might say, that out of regret to its being obliged to pay the

the tribute of its waters to another river, it endeayours to return back to its fource.

At its entrance into the Miffiffippi, its channel runs east-south-east. On the ninth of this month a little after two in the afternoon, we found ourselves in this river, which makes at present so great a noise in France, leaving on our right a large meadow, whence issues a small river, in which there is a great quantity of copper. Nothing can be more delightful than this whole coast. But it is quite another thing on the left, there being on that side very high mountains, interspersed with rocks, amongst which grow a few cedars; but this is only a narrow chain, and conceals behind it very fine meadows.

On the tenth about nine in the morning, after failing five leagues on the Miffifippi, we arrived at the mouth of the Miffouri, which lies north-west and south-south-east. Here is the finest consuence of two rivers that, I believe, is to be met with in the whole world, each of them being about half a league in breadth; but the Miffouri is by far the most rapid of the two, and seems to enter the Miffishippi like a conqueror, carrying its white waters unmixed across its channel quite to the opposite side; this colour it afterwards communicates to the Miffishippi, which henceforth it never loses, but hurls with precipitation to the sea itself.

We lay this night in a village of the Caoquias and the Tamarouas, two Illinois tribes which have been united, and together compose no very numerous canton. This village is situated on a small river which runs from the east, and has no water but in the

the spring season so that we were obliged to walk above half a league, before we could get to our cabbins. I was astonished they had pitched upon so inconvenient a situation, especially as they had so many better in their choice; but I was told that the Mississippi washed the foot of that village when it was built, that in three years it has lost half a league of its breadth, and that they were thinking of seeking out for another habitation, which is no great affair amongst the Indians.

I passed the night in the missionaries house, who are two Ecclesiasticks from the seminary of Quebeck, formerly my disciples, but they must now be my masters. M. Taumur the eldest of the two was absent; I found the youngest M. le Mercier such as he had been represented to me, rigid to himself, full of charity to others, and displaying in his own person, an amiable pattern of virtue. But he enjoyed so ill a state of health, that I am assaid he will not be able long to support that kind of life, which a missionary is obliged to lead in this country.

On the eleventh after failing five leagues farther, I left on my right the river Marameg, where they are at prefent employed in fearching for a filver mine. Perhaps, your Grace may not be displeased if I inform you what success may be expected from this undertaking. Here follows what I have been able to learn about this affair from a person who is well acquainted with it, and who has resided for several years on the spot. In the year 1719, the Sieur de Lochon being sent by the West-India company in quality of sounder, having dug in a place which had been marked out to him, drew up a pretty large quantity of ore, a pound whereof, which

which took up four days in melting, produced as they fay two drams of filver; but some have suspected him of putting in this quantity himself. A few months afterwards he returned thither, and without thinking any more of the filver, he extracted, from two or three thousand weight of ore, sourteen pounds of very bad lead, which stood him in sourteen hundred franks. Disgusted with a labour which was so unprofitable, he returned to France.

The company, perfuaded of the truth of the indications which had been given them, and that the incapacity of the founder had been the sole cause of their bad fuccess, fent in his room a Spaniard called Antonio, who had been taken at the fiege of Penfacola, had afterwards been a galley-flave, and boafted much of his having wrought in a mine at Mexico. They gave him very confiderable appointments, but he succeeded no better than had done the Sieur de Lochon. He was not discouraged himself, and others inclined to believe he had failed from his not being versed in the construction of furnaces. He gave over the search after lead, and undertook to make filver; he dug down to the rock which was found to be eight or ten feet in thickness; several pieces of it were blown up and put into a crucible, from whence it was given out, that he extracted three or four drams of filver; but many are still doubtful of the truth of this fact.

About this time arrived a company of the king's miners, under ithe direction of one La Renaudiere, who refolving to begin with the lead mine, was able to do nothing; because neither he himself nor any of his company were in the least acquainted with

with the construction of furnaces. Nothing could be more furprizing than the facility with which the company at that time exposed themselves to great expenses, and the little precaution they took to be fatisfied of the capacity of those they employed. La Renaudiere and his miners not being able to produce any lead, a private company undertook the mines of Marameg, and the Sieur Renaud one of the directors, superintended them with care. In the month of June last he found a bed of lead two foot in thickness, runing to a great length over a chain of mountains, where he has now fet his people to work. He flatters himfelf that there is filver below the lead. Every body is not of his opinion, but time will discover the truth.

Yesterday I arrived at Kaskasquias about nine o'clock in the morning. The Jesuits have here a very flourishing mission, which has lately been divided into two, thinking it convenient to have two cantons of Indians instead of one. The most numerous is on the banks of the Mississippi, of which two jesuits have the spiritual direction: half a league below stands fort Chartres, about the distance of a musket-shot from the river. M. Dugué de Boisbrillard, a gentleman of Canada, commands here for the company, to whom this place belongs; the French are now beginning to fettle the country between this fort and the first mission. Four leagues farther and about a league from the river, is a large village inhabited by the French, who are almost all Canadians and have a jefuit for The fecond village of the Illinois their curate. lies farther up the country, at the distance of two leagues from this last, and is under the charge of a fourth jesuit. The

The French in this place live pretty much at their ease; a Fleming, who was a domestic of the jefuits, has taught them to fow wheat which fucceeds very well. They have black cattle and The Illinois on their part manure the poultry. ground after their fashion, and are very laborious. They likewise bring up poultry, which they sell Their women are very neat-handto the French. ed and industrious. They spin the wool of the buffaloe, which they make as fine as that of the English sheep; nay sometimes it might even be miltaken for filk. Of this they manufacture stuffs which are dyed black, yellow, or a deep red. Of these stuffs they make robes which they sew with thread made of the finews of the roe-buck. manner of making this thread is very fimple. ter stripping the slesh from the sinews of the roebuck, they expose them to the sun for the space of two days; after they are dry they beat them, and then without difficulty draw out a thread as white and as fine as that of Mechlin, but much stronger.

The French canton is bounded on the north by a river, the banks of which are extremely high, so that though the waters sometimes rise five and twenty feet, they seldom overflow their channel. All this country is open consisting of vast meadows to the extent of five and twenty leagues, which are interspersed with small copies of very valuable wood. White mulberries especially are very common here; but I am surprized that the imhabitants should be suffered to cut them down for the building of their houses, especially, as there is a sufficient quantity of other trees equally proper for that purpose.

The most remarkable of the fruit-trees, peculiar to this country, are the Pacane, the Acimine, and the Piakimine trees. The Pacane is a nut of the fize and shape of a large acorn. The shell of some of them is very thin, while others have it harder and thicker, but the fruit is so much the less on that account. All have a very sine and delicate taste; the tree rises to a great height; in its wood, bark, smell and shape of its leaves, it seems to me greatly to resemble the filbert trees of Europe.

The Acimine is a fruit of the length of a man's finger, and an inch in diameter. Its pulp is tender and sweetish, and full of a seed much resembling that of the water melon. The tree grows to no great height or thickness; all those I have seen being nothing but shrubs, the wood of which is very tender. Its bark is thin, its leaves long and large like those of the chesnut, but of a deeper green.

The Piakimine is in shape like a damask plum, though somewhat larger: its skin is tender, its substance watery, and colour red; and has besides a very delicate slavour. It contains seeds which differ only from those of the Acimine, in being somewhat smaller. The Indians make a paste of this fruit, which they bake into loaves of the thickness of a man's singer, and of the consistence of a dried pear. The taste seems at first somewhat disagreeable, but people are easily accustomed to it. It is very nourishing, and a sovereign remedy, as they pretend, against a looseness and bloodyssux. The tree which bears this fruit, is a very sine one, and about the size of our ordinary plumtrees. Its leaves have sive points, its wood

is of a middling hardness, and its bark very rough.

The Osages, a pretty numerous nation settled on the banks of the river, bearing their own name, which runs into the Missouri about forty leagues from its confluence with the Mississippi, depute some of their people once or twice every year to sing the calumet among the Kaskasquias, and they are now actually here at present. I have just seen a Missourian woman who tells me, her nation is the first we meet with in going up the Missouri; from whence we have given it this name, on account of our not knowing its proper appellation. Their settlement is eighty leagues from the confluence of that river with the Mississippi.

A little higher we find the Cansez, then the OBotatas, called by some the MaBotatas; afterwards the Aïouez, and lastly the Panis, a very numerous nation, and divided into several cantons, which have names very different from one another. This woman has confirmed to me, what I had before learned from the Sioux, that the Missouri rises from very high and bare mountains, behind which there is another large river, which probably rises from thence also and runs to the westward. This testimony is of some weight, because no Indians we know of are accustomed to travel so much as the Missouris.

All these nations of whom I have been speaking, dwell upon the western bank of the Missouri, excepting the Aïouez who live on the eastern, and are neighbours to the Sioux and their allies. The most considerable rivers which fall into the Missispi

fisippi above the river of the Illinois, are in the first place, the river of Buffaloes, which is at the distance of twenty leagues from the former, and comes from the westward; a fine salt-tit has been discovered in its neighbourhood. Pits of the same kind have been found on the banks of the Marameg, twenty leagues from hence. About forty leagues farther is the Affenction, or river at the rock; because its mouth is directly opposite to a mountain placed in the river itself, where travellers affirm rock-chrystal is to be found.

Twenty-five leagues higher up, we find on the right hand the Ouisconsing, by which father Marquette and the Sieur Joliet entered the Missisppi, when they first discovered it. The Aïouez who are fettled in this place, lying in 43 deg. 30 min. north latitude, who are great travellers, and as is faid march five and twenty or thirty leagues a day, when without their families, tell us that after leaving their country we should in three days arrive amongst a people called Omans, who have white skins and fair hair, especially the women. They add, that this people is continually at war with the Panis and other more remote Indians towards the west, and that they have heard them speak of a great lake very far from their country, on the banks of which are people refembling the Fren h, with buttons on their cloths, living in cities, and using horses in hunting the Buffalo, and cloathed with the skins of that animal; but without any arms except the bow and arrow.

On the left fide about fifty leagues above the river of Buffaloes, the river Meingona iffues from the midft of an immense meadow, which swarms Vol. II.

with Buffaloes and other wild beafts: at its entrance into the Miffifippi, it is very shallow as well as narrow; nevertheless, its course from north to west, is said to be two hundred and fifty leagues in length. It rises from a lake and is said to form a second, at the distance of fifty leagues from the first.

Turning to the left from this fecond lake we enter into Blue River, so called from its bottom, which is an earth of that colour. It discharges itself into the river of St. Peter. Going up to the Moingona, we find great plenty of pit coal, and a hundred and fifty leagues from its mouth there is a very large cape, which causes a turn in the river, in which place its waters are red and stinking. It is affirmed, that great quantities of mineral stones and some antimony have been found upon this cape.

A league above the mouth of the Moingona, there are two rapids or strong currents of a considerable length in the Missisppi, where passengers are obliged to unload and carry their pirogues: and above the fecond rapide, that is about twenty leagues from the Moingona, there are lead mines on both fides of the river, which were discovered fome time ago, by a famous traveller of Canada called Nicholas Perrot, whose name they still bear. Ten leagues above the Ouisconsing, and on the fame fide is a meadow fixty leagues in length, and bounded by mountains which afford a delightful prospect; there is another on the west side, but it is not of fuch a length. Twenty leagues higher than the extremity of the first meadow, the river grows wider, and is here called le lac de bon Secours. This is a league over and feven leagues in circuit. Nicholas Perrot built a fort on the right fide.

On leaving this lake you meet with l'ifle Pelle, or Bald Island, fo named from its having no trees upon it; this is a very fine meadow: and the French of Canada have frequently made it the center of their commerce for the western parts, and many have even wintered there, all this country being very plentiful of game. Three leagues above Bald Island you leave on your right hand the riviere de Sainte Croix, or river of the Holy Crofs, which proceeds from the neighbourhood of Lake Superior; copper is faid to have been found near its mouth. Some leagues farther you leave on the left the river of St. Peter, the banks of which are inhabited by the Sioux, and its mouth is at no great distance from St. Anthony's fall. Beyond this great cascade the Missisppi is altogether unknown.

To return to the Illinois; if what I have heard afferted in feveral places be true, and which the Miffouri woman above-mentioned has also confirmed to me, that they and the Miamis come from the banks of a very distant sea, to the westward *, it would seem that their first station after they made their descent into this country was the Moingona: at least it is certain, that one of their tribes bears that name. The rest are known under the

names

^{*} A Miamise woman who had been prisoner among the Sioux assured Father de St. Pé, at present superior of the missions of New-France, that she had been carried by the Sioux to a village of their nation, which was very near the sea.

names of Peorias, Tamarouas, Caoquias, and Kafkafquias; these tribes are at present very much contounded, and are become very inconsiderable. There remains only, a very small number of the Kaskasquias, and the two villages of that name are almost entirely composed of the Tamarouas and Metaligancias, a foreign nation adopted by the Raskasquias, and originally settled on the banks of a small river you meet with going down the Missisppi.

This is, Madam, all I can at present inform you of with respect to Louisiana, which country I have but just entered; but before I conclude this letter, I must impart to you a few circumstances which I have learned on my journey from the river St. Joseph to this place, and which will serve as a supplement to what I have already said of the Indians in general.

You might have feen in the fable of Atahentfic expelled from heaven, fome traces of the first woman driven out of the terrestrial paradife, as a punishment of her disobedience; and of the deluge, as also of the ark in which Noah faved himself with his family. This circumstance prevents me from agreeing to the opinion of P. de Acosta, who alledges that this tradition does not respect the universal deluge, but another peculiar to America. In effect, the Algonquins and all the nations who speak their language, supposing the creation of the first man, fay that his posterity having almost entirely perished by a general inundation, a person named Mellen, whom others call Saketchak, who faw the w hole

whole world overwhelmed by the waters from the overflowing of a lake, fent a raven to the bottom of the abyfs in order to bring him some that this raven having failed to execute his commission, he sent a musk rat which had better success; with the small quantity of earth which this animal brought him, he reflored the world to its former state and condition; that he shot arrows into the trunks of trees which still appear, and that those arrows were changed into branches: that he performe! feveral other wonders; and that out of graticude for the fervice the musk-rat had done him, he married a female of his species, by whom he had shildren who repeopled the earth: that he had communicated his immortality to a certain favage. which he gave him in a little packet, forbidding him, at the fame time to open it, under the penalty of losing so precious a gift.

The Hurons and the Iroquois fay, that Taronbinagon, the king of heaven, gave his wife for rude a blow with his foot, that it made her tumble down from heaven to earth; that this woman fell upon the back of a tortoife, who by removing the waters of the deluge with his feet, at left discovered the earth, and carried the woman to the foot of a tree, where she brought forth twins, and that the elder whom they call Tabouiskaren, killed his younger brother.

It is not at all furprifing, that these people so indifferent about the past, and to whom the confideration of the future gives so little uneafiness, should know almost nothing of the heavens, and

Q 3

make no difference between the planets and fixed stars, unless it be their dividing these last as we do, into constellations. The Pleiades, they call the Dancers, and give the name of the Bear to the four first stars of that constellation, which we call the Great Bear; the three others which compose its tail are, according to them, three hunters who pursue the bear; and the little star which accompanies that in the middle, is, with them a kettle with which the fecond is loaded. The Indians of Acadia call this and the next constellation simply the Great and Little Bear; is there not reason to suspect, that when they spoke in this manner to the Sieur Lescarbot, they only repeated what they had before heard from the French themselves.

The Indians, for the most part, call the polar star, the star which has no motion. It is this which directs their course by night, as the sun serves them for a compass by day. They have likewise other marks by which to distinguish the north. They pretend to have observed that the tops of trees incline a little to that side, as also that the interior pellicles of their bark are thicker on that side. They do not, however, trust so entirely to this, as to neglect other precautions to prevent their wandering, and to help them to find their way back to a place from whence they had set out.

As to what regards the course of the stars, the causes of the celestial phenomena, the nature of meteors, and other such like things; they are with respect to all these, as with respect to every thing which does not affect the senses, profoundly ignorant

and perfectly indifferent. When an eclipse happens, they imagine there is a great battle in heaven, and shoot arrows in the air, in order to drive away the pretended enemies of the sun and moon. The Hurons in an eclipse of the moon, were perfuaded she was indisposed, and in order to recover her out of her distemper, used to make a great notic, accompanied with abundance of ceremonies and with prayers. Particularly, they never failed to throw stones at the dogs and beat them cruelly with sticks to make them cry, imagining the moon to be fond of these animals.

These Indians, as well as many others, could never be brought to believe, that an eclipse was an indifferent thing and purely natural: they drew good or bad auguries from it according to the place of the sky in which that star happened to be obscured. Nothing astonished them more than to see with what exactness the missionaries foretold these phenomena, and they concluded from thence, that they ought likewise to foresee their consequences.

These people are equally ignorant of the nature of thunder; some taking it to be the voice of a particular species of men, who sly in the air, while others imagine this noise proceeds from certain unknown birds. According to the Montagnais, it is the effort of a certain genius, in order to vomit up a serpent he had swallowed, and they support this opinion by alledging that when thunder falls on a tree they discover a figure on it, something resembling that animal.

All

All of them reckon by lunar months; for the most part the year has but twelve; some, however, give it always thirteen. There are no great inconveniencies attending this diversity amongst people who have no annals, and whose affairs do not depend on annual epochas. There is likewise a great variety in the names of the feafons and months amongst them; because in all these countries the leasons for hunting and fishing, feed-time and harvest, the birth and fall of the leaf, the passages of particular be sts and birds, the time when the roe-bucks change their hair, and when different animals are in rut, ferve to distinguish all these things which, besides, vary considerably in the different cantons.

In some nations, the years are reckoned by the signs, except when a person intends to specify his age, and on some occasions, when they make use of lunar months. There is no where any distinction of weeks, and the days have no name in any of their languages. They have four fixed points in the day, to wit, sun-rising and sun-setting, midday and mid-night, with respect to which or any other time of the day, they are never deceived. But the astronomical exactness to make the lunar years agree with the solar, of which the Baron de la Hontan does them the honour, is a mere imagination of that writer.

They have no chronological supputation, and if they preserve the epochas of certain remarkable events, they do not reckon the time elapsed since to a scrupulous exactness; but content themselves with retaining the facts themselves, and have invented

vented feveral means whereby to perpetuate the memory of them. For inflance, the Hurons and Iroquois have porcelain in their publick treasures on which are painted figures, which recal the remembrance of memorable incidents. Others make use of knots tied after a certain fashion, and if the imagination is set at work to sound out their meaning, they are not therefore deceived. Lastly, all of them reckon by units till the number ten, and then by decads or tens to a hundred, and so by hundreds to tens of hundreds or thousands, farther than which they never carry any calculations.

LETTER XXIX.

Of the Colony of the Illinois. Voyage to Akanfas. Description of the Country.

Kaskasquias, November 8, 1721.

Madam,

Y last letter is now gone for Canada, whence I am affured it will soon be forwarded for France, by the way of Cape Breton. Besides, should it miscarry by the way, the loss would not be very great: I begin this letter likewise at Kaskasquias, but, in all probability, shall not finish it here, having been above a month in this place, and now hastening my departure as fast as possible.

As I have seen nothing of Louisiana as yet, except this post, being the first of them all with respect to antiquity; I cannot form any judgement of it, by comparing it with the rest. What seems certain to me is, that this has a double advantage, one of which can never be disputed, and the other, at least at present renders it necessary to the whole province.

province. The first is its situation, which is very near Canada, with which it will at all times preferve a communication, equally useful to both colonies. The second is, that it is capable of becoming the granary of Louisiana, which it is able to furnish with corn in abundance, even should it be peopled quite to the sea.

The foil is not only extremely proper for wheat, but, belides, refules nothing necessary or useful for The climate is extremely temperate, human life. lying in thirty-eight degrees, thirty-nine minutes north latitude; cattle and sheep would multiply here wonderfully, even the wild Buffaloes might be tamed, and great advantages drawn from a trade of their wool and hides, and from their supplying the inhabitants with food. The air is very wholfome, and if some distempers are seen in it, they ought to be imputed to the poverty or libertinism of the inhabitants, and perhaps, in some measure, to the lands being newly cleared; but this last inconvenience cannot always last, and the change of climate will be nothing to those who may happen to be born here afterwards. In the last place, we are more assured of the friendship of the Illinois, then of any other Indian nation in Canada, the Abenaquis except-They are almost all Christians, of a mild disposition, and extremely well affected towards the French.

Here I am, Madam, at the distance of a hundred and fifty leagues from the place where I began this letter: I shall finish it here, and give it to a traveller, who reckons to be much somer at New-Orleans than I, as he intends to stop no where, whereas I shall be obliged to make some stay among the Natchez. Besides, I had laid my account of

two things at my departure from the Illinois; first, that having a very rapid river to descend, where there was no danger of being stopt by those salis and rapides, so trequent in the rivers of Canada, I should not be long on my voyage, though I had the space of four hundred leagues to traverse, by means of the circuits the river makes; next, that as my course lay always to the southward, I should have no occasion to take any precautions against the cold; but I have been deceived in both these particulars. I have been obliged to make a much slower passage than I had formerly on the lakes, and have felt a cold sull as piercing as I ever knew at Quebec.

It is true, it was quite otherwise at Kaskasquias fome days ago, when I left it; but I have fince learned on my way hither, that the river was at first frozen over in such a manner that people crosfed it in carriages, notwithstanding it is at that place half a league broad, and more rapid than the Rhone. This is the more furprising, as for the most part, excepting a few slight frosts occasioned by the north and north-west winds, the winter is in this country hardly fensible. The river has not been frozen wherever I have been, but as I was obliged to remain all the day in an open boat, and confequently, was exposed to all the injuries of the weather, and had taken no precautions against a cold I did not foresee, I have suffered very great hardships.

Could I have made more haste, I should have found a sensible diminution of this inconvenience every day; but it is necessary to use great caution in failing on the Missippi. People do not chuse to venture themselves in canoes of bark, by reason that

that the river constantly carries down with the current a number of trees, or else receives them from other rivers which fall into it; and many of these trees stopping on some point of land or on some shoal, there is danger every moment of running soul of a branch or a root under water, which would be sufficient to break these frail vehicles to pieces, especially when in order to avoid an enemy or for some other reason you are obliged to travel by night, or to set out before day.

They must therefore substitute pirogues in room of canoes of bark, that is to say, trunks of trees hollowed, which are not subject to these inconveniencies, but are bad going vessels, and not so easily managed. I have one made of a wall-nut-tree, but so narrow that it cannot carry sail; and my guides being accustomed to those little paddles made use of in canoes, are far from being expert at the management of the oar. Besides, if the wind rises ever so little, the water comes into the pirogue; and this often happens at this season of the year.

On the tenth of November at funfet, I embarked in the little river of Kaskasquias, and though it was not two leagues to the Missisppi, yet I was obliged to encamp at half way, and the next day I could not get further than six leagues down the river. The leaves fall sooner in this place than in France, and do not begin to bud till about the end of May, notwithstanding that it snows very seldom here, and although, as I have already observed, the winters are exceeding temperate. What then can be the reason of this backwardness of the spring: for my part I can see no other than the thickness

thickness of the forests, which prevents the earth from being warmed by the sun soon enough to cause the sap to ascend.

On the 12th, after having advanced two leagues, I passed Cape St. Anthony on the left hand. Here the first canes are seen; these bear a great resemblance to those growing in Europe, but are taller and stronger. It is pretended they never appear but in good lands; but these lands must be very moist and wet, and consequently fitter to bear rice than wheat. When the cane lands are to be cleared, the canes are not to be plucked up by the roots; this would be a very difficult task, their knotty roots lying very deep, and being twined or linked together by a great number of fibres, which extend very far. These roots have naturally a beautiful varnish, not a little resembling those of the bamboos of Japan, of which those fine canes are made, which are fold by the Dutch under the name of rattans.

When a field overgrown with these canes is to be cultivated, it is sufficient to cut them close to the ground: they are afterwards lest to dry, and are then set on fire, the assess serving for manure, and the fire for opening the pores of the earth, which is afterwards tilled up, and sown with rice, maiz, water-melons, and in a word, with all sorts of grain and pulse, excepting wheat, which in these fat lands exhausts itself by running up into straw, and produces no grain. This defect might be easily remedied, by strewing the ground with sand, and sowing it for some years with maiz or Indian corn.

The

The high lands and other kinds of foil, not liable to be overflowed by the river, are even already very well adapted for producing corn, and if the trials made in some places have not succeeded, because the corn has been blasted or mildewed; it is owing to this circumstance, that the country not being cleared, the wind has not free access to disperse those noxious vapours which generate mildews.

An evident proof of which may be drawn from this, that amongst the Illinois, where there is more meadow than wood-land, wheat thrives and ripens as well as in France.

On the thirteenth, after a very warm night, we advanced about three leagues, in spite of a southerly wind, which still encreased, and at last became fo violent that we were obliged to halt. rain fell towards the evening, and about midnight the wind fprung up at north-west, which brought on that excessive cold I have already spoken of. To compleat our misfortune, an accident detained us all the following day, though we were not fafe to remain where we then were. Not long ago the Cherokees massacred thirty Frenchmen near this place; they were commanded by a fon of M. de Ramezar governor of Montreal, and a fon of the Baron de Longuevil King's-lieutenant of that city. Befides these Indians who are not as yet reconciled with us, we were kept in continual alarms for fear of the Outagamies, Sioux and Chacachas; and I had not above three men in my company.

On the fifteenth, the wind changed to the north, and the cold continued to encrease. We advanced four leagues to the southward, and then sound that

the river run four leagues more towards the north. Immediately after this uncommon winding we passed on the left the fine river Ouabache, by means of which there is a passage as far as the country of the Iroquois, when the waters are high. This river, at its entrance into the Mississippi, is not less than a quarter of a league in breadth. not, in my opinion, a place in all Louisiana more proper for a fettlement than this, nor where it is of greater importance to us to have one. whole country watered by the Ouabache and Ohio. which runs into it, is extremely fertile confisting of vast meadows, which feed thousands of buffaloes. Besides its communication with Canada is as easy as that by the river of the Illinois, and the passage much shorter. A fort with a good garrison would keep the Indians in awe, especially the Cherokees, who are the most numerous nation on this continent.

Six leagues below the mouth of the Ouabache, and on the same side, we found the coast extremely high, and the earth of a vellow colour, from whence some have imagined that there are mines of iron in this place. We made a good progress this day which was the fixteenth, but suffered extremely by the cold: it continued to encrease the following days, though the wind had changed to fouth-fouthwest: we were even obliged as we advanced to break the ice, which was formed on the furface of On the nineteenth we got four leagues the water. farther on our way, after which we were stopped I never found a north wind by a fouth wind. colder than this. It is probable, this was still the north-west wind which continued to blow, but that the land reflected it sometimes on one side, some-R Vol. II.

times on another, according as our course lay upon the river.

There is a species of wild cats called Pijous, very numerous in these parts. These bear a great resemblance to ours, but are larger. I observed that some of them had very short tails, and others again much longer and thicker: they have likewise a very sierce look, and I have been informed they are very ravenous and good hunters. The forests are full of wall-nut-trees, resembling those of Canada, and their roots have several properties not observed in the others. They are very soft, and their bark affords a black dye; but their principal use consists in medicine. They stop a looseness, and furnish an excellent emetick.

On the twentieth, there fell a great deal of snow, so that we did not stir from the place where we were, all that day; next day it grew milder, but the following night a wind at south-west cleared the sky, and the cold began afresh. Next day in the morning, the brandy lest in the pirogue was sound as thick as frozen oil, and the Spanish wine I used for mass, was quite frozen. The surther we descended the more windings we sound in the river, the wind sollowed all its meanders, and from whatever side it came, the cold still continued excessive. In the memory of man nothing like it had been seen in this country.

This day, we perceived a post erected, on the right side of the river, on taking a near view of it, we found it was a monument set up by the Illinois, on account of an expedition they had made sometime ago against the Chicaehas. There were

two figures of men without heads, and fome others entire. The first represented the dead, and the fecond the captives. One of my guides informed me upon this occasion, that when any French were amongst either, they were represented with their arms upon their haunches, in order to distinguish them from the Indians, whose arms were left in a hanging posture. This distinction is not merely arbitrary, but proceeds from their having observed the French to make use of this attitude frequently, which is never done amongst them.

Garcilasso de la Vega mentions the Chicachas, in his history of the conquest of Florida, and places them nearly in the same part of the country where they are at present. He reckons them amongst those nations of Florida who submitted to the Spaniards; but this pretended submission lasted no longer than the Spaniards were in their neighbourhood, and it is certain they fold the victory they gained over them very dear. are still accounted the bravest soldiers in Louisiana, and were much more numerous in the time of Ferdinand de Soto, than at present: but as to the riches which this historian attributes to them. I neither understand whence they had them, nor how the fource of them comes to be dried up, for at present they are neither more opulent nor better civilized than the rest of the Indians.

Our alliance with the Illinois has fet us at variance with the Chicachas, and the English of Carolina blow up the diffention. Our fettlement in Louisiana is a great eye-sore to them: as it is a barrier which we have placed between their power-

ful colonies in North-America and Mexico; and we must expect they will employ every method in their power to destroy it. The Spaniards who fee us with fo much jealoufy strengthening ourselves in this country, are not as yet fenfible of the important services we thereby render them. days after we paffed by this monument of the Illinois, the Chicachas had their revenge of two Frenchmen, who followed me in a pirog e. These Indians lying in ambush among the canes on the banks of the river, as soon as they saw the French opposite to them, made a ruftling among the canes without shewing themselves; the two men believing it was a bear or some other wild beaft drew near in order to take it; but just as they were going to land, they discharged their muskets at them, which laid them dead on the spot. I was very lucky not to be perceived by them; for my people would lose no opportunity of hunting.

On the twenty-third, after a very cold night, we had a very fine day, and though the ground was still covered with snow, the cold was supportable. On the morrow we passed by the river of the Chicachas, which is but narrow though it has a long course. Its mouth lies north and south, From hence to Kaskasquias are reckoned eightyfix leagues; but the way by land would be shorter by one half. Nothing could have been more agreeable than this navigation had the feafon been milder: the country is delightful, and in the forests there are a number of ever-green trees; the few meadows there likewise preserve their verdures and a confiderable number of well wooded islands. fome of whom are pretty large, form very beautiful canals through which the largest ships may safely pass: it being affirmed that there is fixty fathom water in this river above a hundred and fifty leagues from the sea.

As to the forests which almost entirely cover this immense country, there is nothing, perhaps, in nature comparable to them, whether we confider the fize and height of the trees, or their variety. and the advantages which may be drawn from them: for, excepting dye-wood, which require a warmer foil, and are only to be met with between the tropicks, there is hardly any fort of trees, which can be mentioned, that are not to be found here. There are forests of cypress, eight or ten leagues in extent, all the trees of which are of a thickness proportionable to their height, furpaffing every thing we have of that kind in France. That fort of ever-green laurel, which we have called the tulip-tree on account of the shape of its flower, is now beginning to be known in Europe. This grows to a greater height than the chesnut-tree of India, and its leaf is much more beautiful. The palm is still larger and thicker, and yields a balm not much inferior to that of Peru. All the known species of nuttrees are likewise to be found here in great quantities, and all the woods proper for building or carpenter's work; but care must be had to avoid those which grow on the banks of the river, or in that space which is liable to be overflowed by the rifing of the stream, for their roots being continually toaked in water, they would be too heavy and apt to rot very foon.

At length I arrived at the first village of the Akansas on the second of December about ten o'clock in the morning. This village stands in a small meadow on the western bank of the Missis-sippi. There are three others within the space

R 3

of eight leagues, every one of which contains a nation or particular tribe, and in one of the four there are even two tribes, but all of them are comprehended under the general name of the Akansas. The Indians inhabiting the village where I am now revisiting, are called Ouyapes. The western company have here a magazine or warehouse at which goods are soon expected, and they have likewise a factor here who is very uneasy at being obliged to wait for them so long.

The river of Akansas, which is said to have its rife at a great distance, discharges its waters into the Mississippi at two mouths, about four leagues from each other. The first is about eight leagues from hence. This river, it is said, has its rise in the country of a nation of Indians called Black Panis, who, I believe, are better known under the name of Panis Ricaras. I have with me a slave of that nation. It is very difficult to get up the river of the Akansas, on account of the great number of rapides; and the water being in many places so shallow that travellers are obliged to drag their pirogues.

The river divides at the distance of seven leagues above the second and last of its mouths, and at the distance of two leagues only, above the first. A fine river, called the White River, which comes from the country of the Osages, falls into it. Two leagues higher up are the Torimas and Topingas, who inhabit one village. Two leagues farther are the Southouis. The Kappas are situated a little higher up. This nation was very numerous in the time of Ferdinand de Soto, nor had they much decreased when M. de la Sale discovered the Mississippi. Opposite to their village may be seen the melancholy

melancholy ruins of Mr. Law's grant, of which the company now remain the proprietors.

It was to this place, that the nine thousand German palatinates were to have been sent; and it has been a great loss that that design proved abortive. There is not, perhaps, a country in all Louisiana, excepting that of the Illinois, where there is a better soil, for producing all sorts of grain and feeding of cattle. Mr. Law has been very ill used, as well as the greatest part of those to whom grants were given. In all probability, it will be some time before such levies are made again, there is occasion for them in the mother country; and besides, we commonly regulate our conduct upon the first success of such enterprizes, without considering what has occasioned their failure, in order to correct it for the future.

I found the village of the Ouyapes in the greatest desolation. Some time ago, a Frenchman passing this way was taken ill of the small-pox: the infection was at first communicated to a sew of the Indians, and soon after to the whole canton. The burial-place appeared like a wood of stakes and posts newly erected, on which was suspended almost every thing in use amongst these barbarians.

I pitched my tent pretty near the village, and all the night I heard nothing but weeping, in which the men joined as well as the women, incessantly repeating the word nibabani, as I have heard it among the Illinois, and pretty much in the same tone. The evening before, I saw a woman weeping over her son's grave, and pouring a great quantity of sagamity upon it. Another had light-

ed a fire befide a neighbouring tomb, probably in order to warm the deceased person. The Akansas are reckoned the largest and handsomest men of all the Indians of this continent, and are called by way of distinction les beaux hommes, or the handsome men. It is believed, and perhaps for this reason, that they have the same origin with the Cansez of the Missouri, and the Poutewatamies of Canada. But my pirogue is now loaded and I have only time to close my letter, assuring you, that I am, &c.

Akansas, December 2, 1721.

LETTER

LETTER XXX.

Voyage from the Akansas to the Natchez. Description of the Country. Of the River of the Yasous. Of the Customs, Manners, and Religion of the Natchez.

At the Natchez, December 25, 1721.

Madam,

T Set out from the village of the Ouyapes on the I third of December, somewhat late in the evening; I however pitched my tent that night a little below the first mouth of the river of the Akansas, which feems to be about five hundred paces in Next day I passed the second, which is very narrow, and, on the fifth, pushed as far as the Pointe Coupeé, or Cut Point. This was a pretty high point, which run out into the river on the West side, and which the river has cut so that it is become an island; but the new channel is not, as yet, navigable, unless when the waters are high. From this place to the principal branch of the river of the Akansas, are reckoned two and twenty leagues, but there cannot be above ten in a streight line; for the river is very serpentine, during the space of seventy leagues, which must be traversed

in going from the village of the Ouyapes to the river of the Yasous, or Yachous, which I entered on the ninth in the afternoon. There has not fallen any snow in this place, as amongst the Illinois, but there has been a hoar frost, which has shattered the young trees, with which the low points and wet lands are covered, in such manner, that it looks as if all their branches had been purposely broken off by a stick.

The entrance into the river of the Yasous lies North-West and South-East, and is about an Arpent in breadth. Its waters are of a reddish colour. and are faid to affect those who drink them with the bloody flux. The air is, besides, extremely unwholesome. I had three leagues to travel before I reached the fort, which I found all in mourning, on account of the death of Monf. Bizart, its go-Wherever I had been in Louisiana, I had heard the highest character of this officer from all my countrymen. He was a native of Canada, and Ion of a Swifs major of Montreal. At the Yasous I was told most extraordinary things of his religion, piety, and zeal, to which, at last, he fell a victim. They all regretted him as their father, and agreed that the colony had fuffered an irreparable loſs.

He had built the fort in a bad fituation, and, before he died, had thought of removing it a league tarther off, to a fine meadow, where the air was more wholesome, and where there was a village of the Yasous, mixed with the Couroas and Ofogulas, who strongether may send about two hundred fighting men into the field. We live in pretty good co respondence with them, but, at the same time repose no great confidence in them, on account

count of the connections which the Yasous particularly maintain with the English.

There are a great many alligators in this river. and I have feen two of them from twelve to fifteen feet in length. They are never heard but in the night-time, and their cry so much resembles the bellowing of bulls, that people are frequently deceived by it. Our people, notwithstanding, bathe in this river as freely as in the Seine. On my testifying my surprize at this, I was told, That they had nothing to fear; that indeed, when in the water, they were constantly surrounded by these animals, but that none of them came near them, and seemed only to watch them, in order to fall upon them, the moment they were going to leave the river: that then, in order to drive them away, they made a splashing in the water with a stick, which they took care to be provided with, and which made these animals sty to such a distance, that they had fufficient time to secure themselves.

The company has a ware-house at this port, as they have at the Akansas; but the fort and territory belong to a private company, consisting of M. Le Blanc, secretary of state; M. le Comte de Belle-Isle, M. le Marquis d'Arsseld, and M. le Blond, brigadier Ingeneer. This last resides in the colony in quality of director-general of the company. I cannot well comprehend what has made them pitch upon the river of the Yasous for the place of their grant. They had affuredly much better lands, and more advantageous situations in their choice. 'Tis true, it is a matter of importance to secure this river, the source of which is not far from Carolina; but a fort with a good garrison would have been sufficient for this purpose, as well as to keep the

Yasous in awe, who are allies to the Chicahas. The being obliged to be always on their guard against the Indians, who border upon the English, is not the way to settle a grant upon a solid foundation.

I left the Yasous on the tenth, and, on the thirteenth, had it not been for a Natché Indian, who asked his passage from me in order to return to his own country. I should have been lost in a whirlpool, with which none of my guides were acquainted, and which cannot be perceived till one is so far engaged with it, that it is impossible to get clear of it. It lies on the left, at the foot of a large cape, where it is said, there is a very good stone quarry: this is what people are most asraid of wanting in this colony, but, to make amends, they may easily make as many bricks as they will.

On the fifteenth we arrived at the Natchez. This canton, the finest, most fertile, and best peopled of all Louisiana, lies at the distance of forty leagues from the Yasous, upon the same side of the river. The landing place is opposite a high and rugged bank, at the foot of which runs a small rivulet, which is capable of receiving only shallops and pirogues. From this first bank we go up a second, or rather a hill, whose ascent is tollerably, easy, on the summit of which stands a redoubt, enclosed by a simple palisade. The name of a fort has been given to this entrenchment.

Several little hills appear above this last, and, when these are once past, we see, on all sides, very large meadows separated from one another by small copies of wood, which produce a very sine effect. The trees most common in these woods are the oak and

and nut-trees; and the foil is every where excellent. The late M. d'Iberville, who first entered the Mississippi by its mouth, having penetrated as far up as the Natchez, found the country so delightful, and so advantageously situated, that he concluded the metropolis of the new colony could no where be better placed; and accordingly traced out the plan of it, and intended to call it by the name of Rosalie, which is that of the lady of the chancellor of Portchartrain. But it should seem this project was not to be put in execution so soon, tho our geographers have always thought fit to lay down in their maps the town of Rosalie at the Natchez.

'Tis certain it was necessary to begin by a settlement nearer the sea; but if ever Louisiana becomes a slourishing colony, as it may very well happen, it is my opinion there cannot be a better situation for a capital than this. It is not liable to be over-slowed by the river, has a very pure air, and a great extent of country; the soil is well watered, and proper for producing every thing. Nor is it at too great a distance from the sea, and there is nothing to prevent shipping from going up to it. Lastly, it is at a convenient distance from all those places where there can be any design of making settlements. The company have a magazine, and keep a principal sactor here, who, as yet, has very little to do.

Amongst a great number of private grants, which are already in a condition to produce something valuable, there are two of the largest extent that is allowed, being each four leagues square; one belonging to a company of Mileins, the inhabitants of it, and which they bought of M. Hubert, commissary

commissary in chief, and president of the council in Louisiana; and the other to the company, who have sent work-men thither from Clerac, in order to make tobacco. These two grants are situated in such a manner, as to form a perfect triangle with the fort, the distance of one angle from the other being one league. Half way between the two grants lies the great village of the Natchez. I have carefully visited all these places, and here follows what I have observed most remarkable in them.

The grant of the Maloins is well fituated, and nothing is wanting to make it turn out to advantage but Negroes, or hired fervants. I should rather chuse to employ the latter, because, the time of their service being expired, they become inhabitants, and increase the number of the king's natural subjects; whereas the former always continue aliens: and who can be certain but that, by being multiplied in our colonies, they may not one day become our most formidable enemies! Can we depend upon slaves who are only attached to us by fear, and who never can have the pleasure of calling the place in which they are born by the endearing name of their native country?

The first night I lay in this settlement, there happened a great alarm about nine o'clock in the evening; upon asking the reason of it, I was told there was, in the neighbourhood, a beast of an unknown species, of an extraordinary bulk, and whose cry did not in the least resemble that of any known animal. Nobody however could say he had seen it, and they formed a judgment of its size entirely from its strength: it had already carried off some sheep and calves, and worried some cows. I told

told those who gave me this account, that an enraged wolf might very well have done all this, and that, as to its cry, people were deceived in these matters every day. I could persuade nobody, they still would have it that it was some monstrous beast. It was heard again, and every one ran out armed with what he could find, but it was to no purpose.

The company's grant is still more advantageously situated than that of the Maloins. The same river waters both, and falls into the Mississippi, two leagues from this place; a magnificent forest of cypress trees forms a barrier to it, and covers all the back settlements.

I have seen in the garden of the Sieur le Noir, the principal sactor, a very sine cotton tree, and, a little lower, we begin to find wild Indigo. A trial of it has not yet been made, but there is reason to believe that it will succeed as well as that which was found on the island of St. Domingo, where it is as much esteemed as the Indigo transported from foreign parts. Besides, experience informs us that a soil which produces this plant naturally is very well adapted to receive torkign seed.

The great village of the Natchez is at present reduced to a small number of cabbins; the reason of which, I am told, is, that the Indians, whose great chief has a right to take every thing from them, remove to as great a distance from him as they possibly can, by which means several villages of these people have been formed at some distance from this. The Tious, their allies and ours, have one likewise in their neighbourhood.

The cabbins of the great village of the Natchez, the only one I have seen, are in the form of fquare pavilions, very low, and without windows. Their roofs are rounded pretty much in the same Most of them are covered manner as an oven. with the leaves and straw of maiz. Some of them are built of a fort of mud, which feemed tolerably good, and is covered outfide and infide with That of the great chief is roughvery thin mats. cast very handsomely in the inside: it is likeways larger and higher than the rest, being placed in a more elevated fituation, and has no cabbins adjoining to it. It fronts a large square, which is none of the most regular, and looks to the north. the moveables I found in it were a bed of planks very narrow, and raifed about two or three feet from the ground; probably when the chief lies down he spreads over it a matt, or the skin of some animal.

There was not a foul in the village, all of them having gone to a neighbouring village, where there was a festival. All their doors were open, but there was not any thing to be feared from thieves, as nothing remained but the four walls. These cabbins have no vent for the smoke, notwithstanding those into which I entered were tolerably white. The temple stands at the side of the chief's cabbin, facing the east, and at the extremity of the square. It is built of the same materials with the cabbins, but of a different shape, being an oblong square, forty feet in length, and twenty in breadth, with a very fimple roof, in the same form as ours. At each extremity there is fomething like a weather-cock of wood, which has a very coarle resemblance of an eagle.

The

The gate is in the middle of the length of the building, which has no other opening: on each fide there are feats of stone. What is within is quite correspondent to this rustic outside. pieces of wood, joined at the extremity, and placed in a triangle, or rather at an equal distance from one another, take up almost the whole middle space of the temple, and burn flowly away. An Indian, whom they call keeper of the temple, is obliged to tend them, and to prevent their going out. If the weather is cold he may have a fire for himfelf, for he is not allowed to warm himself at this, which burns in honour of the fun. This keeper was also at the festival; at least I did not see him, but his brands occasioned a smoke which almost blinded us.

Ornaments I saw none, nor any thing indeed which could inform me that this was a temple. faw only three or four boxes lying in disorder, with a few dry bones in them, and some wooden heads on the ground, of somewhat better workmanship than the eagles on the roof. In short, if it had not been for the fire, I should have believed this temple had been deserted for some time, or that it had been lately plundered. Those cones, wrapt up in skins, the dead bodies of the chiefs ranged in a circle within a temple intirely round, and terminated in the manner of a dome, those altars, &c. of which some accounts make mention, of all these I have seen nothing; and, if ever such things were to be feen, they have been greatly changed fince that time.

But, as no one ought absolutely to be condemned while there is a shadow of an excuse for him, it is Vol. II.

S

possible

possible that the neighbourhood of the French made the Natchez apprehensive of losing the dead bodies of their chiefs, and whatever was most precious in their temple, for which cause they have carried them elsewhere; and that the little regard they pay to their temple at present is owing to its having been stript of whatever was held most facred amongst them. It is however true, that, close by the wall, and opposite to the gate, there is a table, the dimensions of which I was not a the trouble to take, as I had then no suspicion of its being an altar. I have been since informed, that it is three feet in height, five in length, and sour in breadth.

I have further heard, that they make a small fire on it with the bark of the oak, which never goes out, but this is false, for I saw no fire, nor any thing from which it could be imagined there ever was a fire there. They fay likeways that four old men lie in the temple by turns, in order to keep up this fire; that he who is upon guard must not go out during the eight days he is upon duty; that they take the lighted charcoal of the logs that are burning in the middle of the temple, to put upon the altar; that twelve men are employed in providing oak-bark; that there are monkeys of wood, and the figure of a rattlesnake, likewise of wood, placed upon the altar, to which they pay great honours: that when their chief dies he is buried. and, when they imagine his flesh is consumed, the keeper of the temple takes up his bones, washes them, wraps them up in their most precious robes, places them in large baskets made of canes, which he covers with deer skins, and disposes them before the altar, where they remain till the death of the reigning chief; and that then he shuts them up within the altar itself, in order to make room for the bones of him who died laft.

With respect to the last article, I can easily say, that I faw a few bones in one of two of the true ks: that they would not have made one half of shole belonging to the human body; that they feemed very old, and lay not on the table which is called the altar. As to the other articles, first, as I never was in the temple but in the day time, I am entirely ignorant of what passes there during the night; and, in the next place, there was no watch in the temple when I was there. I observed, as I have already faid, fome wooden monkeys, but faw no figure of a ferpent.

What I have seen in some relation, of this temple being hung with tapestry, of its pavement being covered with matts of canes, of its being kept in the greatest neatness, and of their carrying to it every year the first fruits of their harvest, must certainly be read with great allowances. On the contrary, I have never feen any thing more flovenly, or in greater disorder. The billets of wood were burning upon the bare ground, on which there was no matts, no more than on the walls. M. le Noir, who was with me, only told me, that every day he put a fresh billet to the fire, and, at every new moon they provided wood for the whele month. He had this however only from hear-fay, for this was the first time he had seen the temple as well as myself.

Here follows what I have been able to learn of the nation of the Natchez in general. In their external appearance they differ in nothing from the other Indians of Canada and Louisiana. They feldom destroying their fellow creatures. What distinguishes them more particularly is the form of their government, which is entirely despotic; the great dependance in the subject, which reaches even to a fort of slavery; a greater degree of haughtiness and grandeur in their chiefs, and a pacific spirit, from which however, for some years past, they have deviated a little.

The Hurons believe, as well as they, their chiefs descended from the sun, but there are none of them who will be his flave, and follow him to the other world to have the honour of ferving him there, as frequently happens among the Natchez. Garcilasso de la Vega speaks of this nation as a very powerful people, and it is not quite fix years fince that they reckoned four thousand warriours amongst them. It appears that they were still more numerous in the time of M. de la Sale, and even when M. d'Iberville discovered the mouth of the Missiffippi, whereas at prefent they cannot fend two thousand fighting men into the field. This decrease of their numbers is attributed to contagious diftempers, which for some years past have made great havock amongst them.

The grand chief of the Natchez bears the name of Sun, and, as among the Hurons, the son of his nearest female relations always succeeds him. This person has the quality of woman-chief, and great honours are paid her, tho' she seldom meddles in affairs of government. She has, as well as the chief himself, the power of life and death, and it is an usual thing for them to order their guards, whom they call Allouez, to dispatch any one who has the missortune to be obnoxious to either.

Go rid me of this dog, fay they, and they are instantly obeyed. Their subjects, and even the chiefs of their villages, never come into their presence without faluting them thrice, and raifing a cry, rather a fort of howling. They do the fame thing when they withdraw, and always retire going backwards. When they meet them they are obliged to stop, range themselves in order on the road, and howl in the manner above mentioned till they are past. They are likeways obliged to carry them the best of their harvest, and of the product of their hunting and fishing. In fine, no one, not even their nearest relations, and those who compose their nobility, when they have the honour to eat with them, have a right to drink out of the fame cup, or put their hands in the fame dish.

Every morning, as foon as the fun appears, the grand chief stands at the door of his cabbin, turns his face towards the east, and howls thrice, prostrating himself to the ground at the same time. A calumet is afterwards brought him, which is never used but upon this occasion; he smoaks, and blows the tobacco first towards the sun, and then towards the other three quarters of the world. acknowledges no mafter but the fun, from whom he pretends he derives his origin. He exercises an absolute power over his subjects, whose lives and goods are entirely at his disposal, and they can demand no payment for any labour he requires of them.

When the grand chief, or the woman chief, die, all the Allouez are obliged to follow them to the other world, nor are they the only persons who have this honour: for it is certainly reckoned one,

 S_3

and as such, greatly sought after. The death of a chief has been sometimes known to cost the lives of above a hundred persons, and I have been told there are sew Natchez of any considerable note who die without being attended to the country of souls, by some of their relations, friends, or servants. It appears from the different relations I have seen of these horrible ceremomes that there is much variation in them. Here follows an account of the obsequies of a we man chief, which I had from a traveller who was an eye-witness of it, and on whose sincerity I have good reason to depend.

The hurband of this woman not being noble, that is to fay, of the family of the fun, his eldeft fon, according to cultom, strangled him. Afterwards every thing was taken out of the cabbin, and a forc of triumphant car was erected of it, on which were placed the body of the deceafed and that of her husband. Immediately after, twelve little children whom their parents had strangled, by order of the eldest fon of the woman chief, who fuce-eded to her dignity, were laid around This done, they erected in the the carcaffes publick square sourteen scaffolds adorned with branches of trees and stuffs, on which were painted various figures. These scaffolds were designed for an equal number of persons, who were to attend the woman-chief to the other world. Their relations stood round them. looking upon the permission given them, to facrifice themselves in this manner, as the greatest honour that could be done to their families. They are fometimes ten years in foliciti g this favour before-land, and those who obtain it, are obliged to fpin the cord themselves with which they are to be strangled.

They

They appeared on the scaffolds dressed in their richest habits, each having a large shell in hisrighthand. Their nearest relation stood on the same hand, having a battle-ax in his left, and the cord which is to do the execution under his left-arm. From time to time he fings the death-cry, at which the fourteen victims come down from the scaffolds, and dance all together in the square before the temple, and the cabbin of the woman-chief. and the following days great respect is paid them, each has five domestics to attend him, and their faces are painted red. Some add, that during the eight days preceeding their death, they wear a red ribband on their leg, and that all that time every one is follicitous to regale them. this as it will, at the time I am now speaking of, the fathers and mothers of the strangled children took them in their arms, and disposed themfelves on each fide of the cabbin, the fourteen deftined to die, placed themselves in the same manner, and were followed by the friends and relations of the deceased, who had all their hair cut off, which is their way of mourning: all this time they made the air refound with fuch frightful cries, that one would have thought all the devils in hell had broke loofe, in order to come to howl in this place; this was followed with dances and fongs; those who were to die danced, and the relations of the woman-chief fung.

At last the procession began. The fathers and mothers carrying their dead children appeared first, walking two and two, and went immediately before the litter, in which was the corpse of the womanchief, carried on the shoulders of four men. The rest followed in the same order. At every ten

S 4 Paces

paces the children were thrown upon the ground, those who carried the litter trampling upon them, so that when the procession arrived at the temple, their little bodies were quite torn to pieces.

While they were interring the corpse of the woman-chief in the temple, the sourteen persons destined to die were undressed and seated on the ground before the gate, having each two Indians about him, one seated on his knees, and the other holding his hands behind him. The cords were passed round their necks, their heads were covered with the skin of a roe-buck, and after being made to swallow three pieces of tobacco, and to drink a glass of water, the relations of the woman-chief, who sung all the time, drew the cords at each end till they were strangled. After which all the carcasses were thrown together into a ditch and covered with earth.

When the grand chief dies, his nurse, if still alive, must die likewise. But it has often happened, that the French not being able to prevent this barbarity, have obtained leave to baptize the children who were to be strangled, and thus have prevented their accompanying those in whose honour they were strangled, to their pretended paradise.

I know no nation on the continent, where the fex is more disorderly than in this. They are even forced by the grand chief and his subalterns to prostitute themselves to all comers, and a woman is not the less esteemed for being public. Though polygamy is permitted and the number of wives which a man may have is unlimited, yet every one, for

for the most part contents himself with one, whom he may divorce at pleasure; but this, however, is a liberty never used by any but the chiefs. women are tolerably well-looked for favages, and neat enough in their drefs, and every thing belonging to them. The daughters of a noble family are allowed to marry none but private men; but they have a right to turn away their huf band when they think proper, and marry another, provided there is no alliance between them.

If their husbands are unfaithful to them, they may cause them to be put to death, but are not fubject to the same law themselves: on the contrary, they may entertain as many gallants as they please, without the husband's daring to take it amis, this being a privilege attached to the blood of the fun. He stands in a respectful posture, in the presence of his wife, never eats with her, falutes her in the same manner as the rest of her domesticks, and all the privilege which this burthensome alliance procures him, is an exemption from travel and some authority over his wife's fervants.

The Natchez have two chiefs of war, two mafters of ceremonies for the temple, two officers to regulate the proceedings in treaties of peace and war, one who has the inspection of the works, and four more who are charged with the management of the publick feasts. The grand chief disposes of these employments, and those on whom he confers them are respected and obeyed as himself. Their harvest is in common, the chief appoints the day, and assembles the village. About the end of July he appoints another day, for the commencement of a festival, to continue for three days which are spent in games and seasting.

Every private person contributes to this, from the produce of his hunting and fishing, and from his other provisions, confisting of maize, beans and The grand chief commonly called the fun, and the woman-chief preside at this festival in an elevated lodge, which is covered with folithey are carried thither in a litter, and the former holds in his hand a fort of scepter adorned with feathers of various colours. All the nobility fit round them in a posture of respect. On the last day the chief harrangues the affembly, and exhorts them all to be exact in fulfilling their duty, especially to preserve a great veneration for the spirits who refide in the temple, and to give good instructions to their children. If any one has fignalized himself by a publick-spirited action, he makes his eulogium. Twenty years ago the temple was reduced to ashes by lightning, seven or eight women threw their children into the flames, in order to appeale the genii; the chief immediately had these heroines before him, gave them publickly the highest praises, and concluded his discourse. by exhorting the rest of the women to imitate, when occasion offered, so great an example.

The heads of families never fail to carry to the temple the first fruits of all they gather, and the presents made to the nation, are disposed of in the same manner. They are laid before the door of the temple, and the keeper after having offered them to the spirits, carries them to the chief who disposes them as he sees proper. The seed which is to be thrown into the ground is, in like manner,

offered before the temple with great ceremony; but the offerings made of bread and flour at every new-moon, are for the benefit of the keepers of the temple.

The marriages of the Natchez differ but little from those of the Indians of Canada: the principal difference confifts in the bridegroom's making prefents to the parents of the young woman he is to espouse, and in the nuptials being sollowed by a great feaft. None but the chiefs have above one wife, the reason of which is, that they having their lands cultivated by the people at no expence, do not find the number of their wives burthen-The chiefs marry with still less fome to them. ceremony than the people. It is sufficient for them to give notice to the relations of the girl upon whom they have cast their eyes, that they enrol her into the number of their wives; but they keep only one or two in their own cabbins, the rest remaining with their relations, whom they visit when they think fit. There is no fuch thing as jealoufy in these marriages; on the contrary, the Natchez, without any ceremony, lend one another their wives, and this is probably the reason of the sacility with which they part with them, in order to take other wives.

When a war-chief wants to levy a party, he plants in a place appointed for that purpose two trees adorned with feathers, arrows, and battle-axes; all painted red as well as the trees, which are likewise marked on that side on which the expedition is to set out. Those who incline to enlist, prefent themselves before the chief dressed in the best manner, with their faces dawbed all over with different colours, and make known their desire of learning

learning the trade of arms under his conduct, and declare themselves disposed to endure all the fatigues of war, and ready to die, if necessary, for the good of their native country.

When the chief has got the number of soldiers required for the intended expedition, he causes prepare a beverage which is called the medicine of war. This is a vomit made with a root boiled in water: two pots of this drink are given to every one, which he must swallow one after another and is fure to throw up again with the most violent reaches. They are next busied in making preparations, and untill the day fixed for their departure the warriors meet every morning and evening in the square, where, dancing and recounting their greatest exploits in arms, every one fings his death-tong. This people are no lefs superstitious with respect to dreams than the Indians of Canada: there only wants a bad omen to make them return back, even after they have fet out on an expedition.

The warriors march in great order, and use great precaution in encamping, and to enable them to raily again. Scouts are frequently sent out on discoveries, but no centinels are set during the night: they put out all the fires, recommend themselves to the genii, and then go to sleep in security, the chief having first warned every one not to snore too loud, and to keep his arms always ready by him and in good condition. The idols are exposed on a branch which hangs towards the enemy, and all the warriors before they lie down pass one after another, with their tomahawk in their hand, before these pretended divinities. Then they

turn themselves towards the enemy's country pouring forth great menaces, which the winds frequently carry to the other side.

It does not appear that the Natchez during their march, exercise those cruelties on their prisoners which are usual in Canada. When these unhappy wretches arrive at the great village, they are made to sing and dance several days running before the temple, after which they are delivered up to the relations of those who have been killed in the campaign; who upon receiving them burst out into lamentations, and then drying up their tears with the scalps which the warriors have brought home, they tax themselves, in order to recompence those who have given them the slaves, whose lot is always to be burnt.

The warriors change their names as they perform new exploits; they receive them from the old warchiefs, and these names always bear some relation to the action by which they have merited this distinction; those who for the first time have taken a prisoner or cut off a scalp, must, for the space of a month, refrain from feeing their wives or eat-They imagine, that should they fail in ing meat. this, the fouls of those they have killed or burnt would occasion their death, or that the first wound they should receive from an enemy would prove mortal, or at least, that they would gain no farther advantages over their enemies. If the grand chief commands his fubjects in person, great care is taken that he do not expose himself too much, less, perhaps, out of zeal for his preservation, than out of fear that the other chiefs of war and principal men of the party, may run the risk of being put to death, for not having taken better care of him. The

The jugglers of the Natchez bear a great refemblance to those of Canada, and treat the sick much in the same manner. They are well rewarded, if the fick person recovers, but if he dies, it There is another often coths them their lives. fpecies of jugglers among this people, who run no These are some less risks than the physicians. worthless old feliows, who, in order to procure subfistence for their families, without being obliged to work, undertake to procure rain or fine weather, according as either is wanted. In spring the people tax themselves, in order to buy from these pretended magicians a favourable feafon for the fruits of the earth. If rain is required, they fill their mouths with water, and then with a pipe, the extremity of which is pierced into feveral holes like a funnel, they blow into the air on that fide where they perceive a cloud, and all the time playing on a chichikoué in one hand, and lifting up their manitou into the air with the other, they invoke the clouds with frightful cries, to water the fields of those who have fet them at work.

If good weather is demanded, they mount upon the roof of their cabbin, making figns to the clouds to pass by, and if they pass and diffipate they dance and fing round their idols, then swallow the smoke of tobacco, and offer their calumets towards heaven. All the time these operations last, they observe a rigorous fast, and do nothing but dance and sing; if they obtain what they have promised they are well rewarded, but if not they are put to death without mercy. But the same persons do not undertake to procure rain and sine weather; their genii, say they, have it not in their power to give both.

Mourning amongst those Indians consists in cutting off their hair, in forbearing to paint their faces, and in abjenting themselves from the affemblies; but I am ignorant how long it lasts. Nor have I been able to learn whether they celebrate the session of the dead, of which ceremony I have already given you a description; it seems, that in this nation where all are in some manner slaves to those who command, seneral honours are set apart for these alone, and especially for the grand chief and the woman-chief.

Treaties of peace and alliance are concluded with a great deal of form and ceremony, in which the grand chief conftantly maintains his dignity like a real fovereign. So foon as he is informed of the day of the arrival of Ambassadors, he gives orders to the masters of the ceremonies to make preparations for their reception, and appoints those who are to take their turns of maintaining the envoys. For it is at the expence of his subjects that he defrays the charge of an embassy. On the day of the entry of the Ambassadors, every one has his place appointed according to his rank, and when these ministers are at the distance of five hundred paces from the grand chief, they make a halt and sing the peace-song.

An embassy, for the most part, consists of thirty men and six women. Six of the best voices put themselves at the head of the train and sing, the rest following them, whilst a chichikoué regulates the measure. When the grand chief makes a sign to the ambassadors to draw near, they again begin their march; those who carry the calumet dance and sing, turning themselves on all sides, and making a thousand antick motions, grimaces, and contortions.

contortions. They play the same farce over again round the grand chief, as soon as they have come into his presence; then they stroak him with the calumet from head to spot, and afterwards return to their company.

And now they fill the calumet with tobacco, and holding the fire in one hand, advance all together towards the grand chief, and present him the calumet lighted. They fmoke along with him, blowing the first vapour of their tobacco towards the fky, the fecond towards the earth, and the third all This done they present their round the horizon. calumet to the relations of the grand chief and to the inferior chief. Afterwards they stroak the stomach of the grand chief with their hands, and then rub themselves over the body; lastly, they lay their calumets on forks over against the grand chief, when the orator of the embaffy begins his harangue, which continues for an hour.

This being over, a fign is made to the ambassadors, who had hitherto continued standing, to sit down, on fears placed for them, near the grandchief, who makes answer to their discourse, and likewise holds forth for a whole hour. This done. the master of the ceremonies lights a great calumet of peace, and gives it to the ambassadors who moke with it, and swallow the first draught. Then the grand chief enquires after their health, all those who affist at the audience pay the same compliment, and then they are conducted to the cabbin appointed for their residence, where a grand repast is prepared for them. On the evening of the same day the grand chief pays them a visit; but when they are informed he is about to leave his apartment, in order to do them this honour, they go in quest quest of him, carry him on their shoulders to their cabbin, and seat him on a large skin. One of them places himself behind him, leaning with both his hands on his shoulders, and gently shaking him for some time, whilst the rest seated on the ground in a circular form, sing their great exploits in war.

These visits are renewed every morning and evening, but at last the ceremonial is changed. The ambassadors erect a post in the middle of their cabbins, round which they all feat themselves. the warriors who accompany the grand chief, being dreffed in their richest habits, dance and strike upon the post by turns, recounting at the same time their gallant feats in war; after which they make pre fents to the ambassadors. On the next day, these, for the first time, have liberty to walk about in the village, and every evening feftivals are prepared for them, confifting only of dances. When they are about to depart, the masters of the ceremonies furnish them with the provisions requisite for their journey, which is always done at the expence of private persons.

. The greatest part of the nations of Louisiana, had formerly their temples as well as the Natchez, and in all these temples a perpetual fire is kept up. It should even seem, that the Maulians enjoyed a sort of primacy in religion, over all the other nations in this part of Florida; for when any of their fires happened to be extinguished through chance, or negligence, it was necessary to kindle them again at theirs. But the temple of the Natchez is the only one subssisting at present, and is held in great veneration by all the savages inhabiting this vast continent, the decrease of whose numbers is as considerable, and has been still more sudden, than that Vol. 11.

of the people of Canada, without its being possible to assign the true re son of this event. Whole nations have entirely disappeared within the space of forty years at most; and those who still remain, are no more than the shadow of what they were, when M. de Sale discovered this country. I must now take my leave of your Grace, for reasons which I shall soon have the honour to explain to you.

I am, &c.

LETTER

LETTER XXXI.

Veyage from the Natchez to New Orleans.

Description of the Country and of several

Indian Villages, with that of the Capital of
Louisiana.

Now Orleans, January 10, 1722.

Madam,

I am now at last arrived at this samous city of Nouvelle Orleans, New Orleans. Those who have given it this name, must have imagined Orleans was of the seminine gender. But of what consequence is this? Custom, which is superior to all the laws of grammar, has fixed it so.

This is the first city, which one of the greatest rivers in the world has seen erected on its banks. If the eight hundred fine houses and the five parishes, which our Mercury bestowed upon it two years ago, are at present reduced to a hundred barracks, placed in no very good order; to a large ware-house built of timber; to two or three houses which would be no ornament to a village in France;

to one half of a forry ware-house, formerly set apart for divine service, and was scarce appropriated for that purpose, when it was removed to a tent: what pleasure, on the other hand, must it give to see this future capital of an immense and beautiful country increasing insensibly, and to be able, not with a figh like Virgil's hero, when speaking of his native country contemed by the slames, et campus ubi Trojæ suit, but sull of the best grounded hopes to say, that this wild and desart place, at present almost entirely covered over with canes and trees, shall one day, and perhaps, that day is not very far off, become the capital of a large and rich colony.

Your Grace will, perhaps, ask me upon what these hopes are founded? They are founded on the situation of this city on the banks of a navigable river, at the distance of thirty three leagues from the fea, from which a veffel may come up in twenty-four hours; on the fertility of its foil; on the mildness and wholesomeness of the climate, in thirty degrees north latitude; on the industry of the inhabitants; on its neighbourhood to Mexico, the Havanna, the finest islands of America, and last y, to the English colonies. Can there be any thing more requifite to render a city flourishing? Rome and Paris had not fuch confiderable beginnings, were not bilt under such happy auspices, and their founders met not with those advantages on the Seine and the Tiber, which we have found on the Mississippi, in comparison of which, these two rivers are no more than brooks. But before I engage in the description of what is entious in this place, I shall, to preserve due order, refume my journal where I left off.

I stayed

I stayed among the Natchez much longer than I expected, which was owing to the destitute condition in which I found the French with respect to spiritual assistance. The dew of heaven has not as yet fallen upon this fine country, which is more than any other enriched with the fat of the earth. The late M. d'Iberville had defigned a jesuit sor this place, who accompanied him in his fecond voyage to Louisiana, in order to establish Christi anity in a nation, the conversion of which he doubt ed not would draw after it, that of all the rest; but this missionary on passing through the village of the Bayagoulas, imagined he found more favourable dispositions towards religion there, and while he was thinking on fixing his relidence amonast them, was recalled to France, by order of his had periors.

An eccleliaftic of Canada was in the fequel fent to the Natchez, where he refided a fur cient time. but made no profelites, though he fo far gained the good graces of the woman chief, that out of respect to him, the called one of her fons by his name. This missionary being obliged to make a voyage to the Mobile, was killed on his way thither by fome Indians, who probaily had no other motive for this cruel action, but to plunder his baggage, as had before happened to another prieft, on the fide of the Akanias. From this time firth all Louisiana, below the Illinois, has been without any ecclefiaftick, excepting the Tonicas, who for feveral years have had a missionary whom they love and efteem, and would even have chosen for their chief, but who has not been able, notwithstanding all this, to persuade one single person to embrace Christianity. But

But how can we imagine measures are to be taken to convert the infidels, when the children of the faith themselves are, almost all of them, without pastors? I have already had the honour to inform your Grace, that the canton of the Natchez is the most populous of this colony; yet it is five years since the French there have heard mass, or even seen a priest. I was indeed, sensible, that if the greatest number of the inhabitants had an indifference towards the exercises of religion, which is the common effect of the want of the facraments; feveral of them, however, expressed much eagerness to lay hold of the opportunity my voyage afforded them, to put the affairs of their confcience in order, and I did not believe it my duty, to fuffer myfelf to be much entreated on this occasion.

The first proposal made to me was to marry, in the face of the church, those inhabitants, who by virtue of a civil contract, executed in presence of the commandant and principal clerk of the place, had cohabited together without any scruple, alledging, for excuse, along with those who had authorized this concubinage, the necessity there was of peopling the country, and the impossibility of procuring a prieft. I represented to them, that there were priests at the Yasous and New Orleans. and that the affair was well worth the trouble of a voyage thither; it was answered, that the contracting parties were not in a condition to undertake so long a journey, nor of being at the expence of procuring a prieft. In short, the evil being done, the question was only how to remedy it, which I After this, I confessed all those who offered themselves; but their number was not so great as I expected.

Nothing

Nothing detaining me longer at the Natchez, I fet out from thence on the 26th of December pretty late, in company with M. de Pauger, King's engineer, who was employed in visiting the coony, in order to examine the proper places for building forts. We advanced four leagues, and encamped on the banks of a small river on the left; next day we reimbarked two hours before it was light, with a pretty strong wind against us. The river in this place makes a circuit or winding of fourteen leagues, and according as we turned, the wind being reflected by the land, and the islands which are here in great number turned with us, so that we had it the whole day in our teeth. Notwithstanding we got ten leagues farther, and entered another small river on the same side. whole night we heard a very great noise, which I imagined was the effect of the winds growing stronger; but I was told that the river had been very calm, and that the noise which kept us awake had been occasioned by the fishes beating the water with their tails.

On the 28th, after advancing two leagues farther, we arrived at the river of the Tonicas, which at first appears to be no more than a brook; but at the distance of a musket-shot from its mouth, forms a very pretty lake. If the river continues to carry its stream or course towards the other side, as it has done for some time past, all this place will become inaccessable. The river of the Tonicas rifes in the country of the Tchaetas, and its navigation is very much interrupted with falls or rapid The village stands beyond the lake on a pretty eminence; yet its air is faid to be unwholfome, which is attributed to the bad quality of the water of the river; but I am rather of opinion, it is owing to the stagnation of the waters T 4

in the lake. This village is built round a very large square, and is indifferently populous.

The chief's cabbin is finely decorated for an Indian's, on the outfide; on which there are figures in relief, not so badly executed as one would expect. It is very obscure within doors, and I could fee nothing in it but chefts, full, as I was told, of goods and money. The chief received us very politely, he was dreffed after the French fashion, and feemed in no-ways incommoded with his cloaths. Our commandants repose greater confidence in this man, than in any other of the Indians of Louisiana: he loves our nation, and has no reason to repent the services he has done us. carries on a trade with the French, supplying them with horses and poultry, and is very expert at business. He has learned from us the art of laying up money, and is accounted very rich. He has long left off wearing the Indian habit, and takes great pride in appearing always well-dreffed.

The rest of the cabbins in this village are partly square, like that of the chief, and partly round, as at the Natchez; the square upon which they all stand is about a hundred paces in diameter, where though it was that day extremely hot, the young people were diverting themselves at a fort of truck, not unlike ours in Europe. There are two other villages belonging to this nation at no great distance from this, which are all that remains of a people heretofore very numerous. I have already observed, that they had a missionary whom they greatly esteemed, but have since learned they once expelled him, on account of his setting their temple on fire, which, however, they have not rebuilt or rekindled its fire, a certain proof of their indifference with

with respect to religion: soon after they even recalled the missionary, but he in his turn has now left them, on finding they listened to all he was able to say with an indolence which he was unable to get the better of.

From the bottom of the lake or bay of the Tonicas, were we to use canoes of bark, by a carrying place of two leagues, ten might be faved in the navigation of the river. Two leagues lower than the Tonicas, on the right-hand, is Red-river, or Rio Colorado, at the entrance of which the tamous Ferdinand de Soto, the conqueror of Florida, ended his exploits and life together. ver runs east and west for some time, and then turns to the fouth. For the space of forty leagues it is navigable for pirogues, beyond which are nothing but impassible morasses. Its mouth seems to be about two hundred toises in breadth; ten leagues above, it receives on the right-hand Blackriver, otherwise called the river of the Ouatchitas, which runs from the north, and for feven months in the year, has little or no water in it.

Notwithstanding, some grants have been obtained here, which, in all probability, never will be good for any thing; the motive for these settlements is the neighbourhood of the Spaniards, which has ever been a satal temptation to this colony, and through the hopes of trading with them, the best lands in the world have been lest uncultivated. The Natchitoches are settled on the banks of the Redriver, and we have thought proper to build a fore amongst them, in order to prevent the Spaniards from fixing themselves nearer us. We encamped on the 29th, a little below the mouth of the Redriver, in a very fine creek.

On the 30th, after advancing five leagues, we passed a second pointe coupée, or cut point; the river makes a very great turning in this place, and the Canadians by means of digging the channel of a small brook, have carried the waters of the river into it, where such is the impetuosity of the stream. that the point has been entirely cut through, and thereby travellers fave fourteen leagues of their The old bed is now actually dry, having never any water in it, but in the time of an inundation; an evident proof that the river inclines its channel towards the east, and a circumstance which cannot be too much attended to, by those who fettle on either fide. This new channel has been, fince that time, founded with a line of thirty fathoms, without finding any bottom.

Immediately below and on the fame fide, we faw the feeble beginnings of a grant, called Sainte Reine, belonging to Messes. Coetlogon and Kolli. It is fituated on a very fertile spot, and has nothing to fear from the overflowing of the river; but from nothing, nothing can proceed, especially, when people are not industrious, and in such a situation this fettlement appeared to be. Advancing a league farther this day, we arrived at the grant of Madame de Mezieres, where the rain detained us all the following day. A few huts covered with the leaves of trees, and a large tent made of canvas, are what the whole of this fettlement at present consists of. Planters and goods are expected from the Black-river, where the warehouses are, which they feem refolved not to abandon. But I am very much affraid, that by endeavouring to make two fettlements at once, both will probably miscarry.

The

The foil where this last is begun is very good, but it must be built a quarter of a league from the river, behind a cypress wood, where the bottom is marshy, which may be employed in raising rice or garden-stuff. Two leagues farther within the woods is a lake two leagues in circuit, the banks of which are covered with game, and which perhaps would also furnish abundance of fish, were the alligators with which it swarms at present, destroyed. At this place I learned some secrets which I shall communicate to your Grace at the price they cost me; for I have not had time to make trial of them.

The male cypress in this country bears a sort of of husk, which, as they say, must be gathered green, and yields a balm which is sovereign to the cure of cuts or wounds. The tree from which the copalm distills, has, among other virtues, that of curing the dropsy. The roots of those large cotton trees, which I have already spoken of, and which are found all along the road from lake Ontario, are a certain remedy for all kinds of burns; the interior pellicle must be boiled in water, the wound sometimed with this water, and afterwards the ashes of the pellicle itself laid upon it.

On the first day of the new year we said mass; about three leagues from the habitation of Madam de Mezieres, in a grant belonging to M. Diron d'Artaguette inspector-general of the troops of Louisiana. We had here a monstruous large tortoise brought us; and we were told that these animals had just broke through a large bar of iron; if the fact is true, and to believe it I should have seen it, the spittle of these animals must be a strong dissolvent: I should not, indeed, chuse to trust

my leg in their throat. What is certain is, that the creature I saw was large enough to satisfy ten men of the strongest appetites. We staid the whole day in this grant, which is no farther advanced than the rest, and is called le Bason rouge, or the Red-staff Plantation.

The next day, we advanced eleven leagues, and encamped a little below the Bayagoulas, which we left upon our right, after having visited the ruins of an ancient village, which I have already mentioned. This was very well peopled about twenty years ago; but the small pox destroyed part of the inhabitants, and the rest have dispersed in such a manner, that no accounts have been heard of them for feveral years, and it is doubted if so much as one fingle family of them is now remaining. Its fituation was very magnificent, and the Messrs. Paris have now a grant here, which they planted with white mulberries, and have already raifed very fine They have likewife begun to cultivate tobacco and indigo with fuccess. If the proprietors of the grants were every-where as industrious, they would foon be reimburfed their expences.

On the third of January, at ten in the morning, we arrived at the little village of the Oumas, which stands on the lest, and has some French houses in it. A quarter of a league farther within the country stands the great village. This nation is very well affected towards us. Two leagues above this, the Mississippi divides into branches: on the right, to which side it has a constant propensity, it has hollowed out for itself a channel called the fork of the Chetimaches or Sitimachas, which, before it carries its waters to the sea, forms a pretty large lake. The nation of the Chetimachas is almost entirely

entirely destroyed, the few that remain being slaves in the colony.

This day we advanced fix leagues beyond the Oumas, and passed the night upon a very fine spot, where the Marquis d'Ancenis has a settlement, which the burning of the publick ware house and feveral other accidents happening one after another, have reduced to ruin. The Colapissas had built a small village here, which sublisted no long time. On the fourth before noon, we arrived at the great village of the Colapiffas. This is the finest in all Louisiana, though there are not above two hundred warriors in it, who, however, have the reputation of being very brave. Their cabbins are in the form of a pavilion, like those of the Sioux; and like them they light fires in them very feldom. They have a double covering, that within being a tiffue of the leaves of Lataniers trees, and that without confifts of matts.

The chief's cabbin is thirty-fix feet in diameter: I have not hitherto feen any of a larger fize, that of the chief of the Natchez being no more than thirty. As foon as we came in fight of the village, they faluted us with beat of drum, and we had no fooner landed than I was complimented on the part of the chief. I was furprized, on advancing towards the village, to fee the drummer dreffed in a long fantastical parti coloured robe. I enquired into the origin of this custom, and was informed that it was not very ancient; that a governor of Louisiana had made a present of this drum to these Indians, who have always been our faithfull allies; and that this fort of beadle's coat, was of their own invention. The women here are handsomer handsomer than those of Canada, and are, besides, extremely neat in their dress.

After dinner we made a progress of five leagues farther, and stopt at a place called Cannes brulées. or Burnt-canes, belonging to M. le Comte d'Artagnar, who has a fettlement here, which is to serve him as an entrepot, or staple, provided it do not share the same sate with most of the rest. This plantation stands on the left, and the first object that attracted my notice, was a large cross erected on the banks of the river, round which I found them finging vespers. This is the first place of the colony, after leaving the country of the Illinois, where I faw this ceremony of our religion. Two Musquetaires, Messirs. d'Artiguere and de Benac, are the managers of this grant, and it is M. de Benac who has the direction of the plantation of Cannes brulées, together with M. Chevalier, nephew to the mathematical-master to the King's pages. They have no prieft which is not their fault, there having been one fent them, whom they were obliged to fend away for his drunkenness. wifely concluding, that more harm than good was to be expected from a bad priest, in a new settlement, where there was no superior to watch over his conduct. Between the Colapiffas and the Canwas brulees, you leave on your right, a place where an Indian nation called the Taenfas were formerly fettled, and who, in the time of M. de la Sale, made a great figure in this colony, but have for some years past entirely disappeared. This has one of the most beautiful situations as well as one of the best soils in all Louisiana. M. de Meuse to whom it has been granted has as yet done nothing in it, notwithstanding he maintains a director who has neither goods nor work-men.

We stoped to dine, on the fifth, at a place called the Chapitoulas, which is distant only three leagues from New Orleans, at which place we arrived about five o'clock in the evening. The Chapitoulas and some of the neighbouring plantations are in a very good condition, the foil is very fertile and has fallen into the hands of expert and laborious people. They are M. de Breuil and three Canadian brothers, of the name of Chauvin, who having brought nothing with them to this country but their industry, have attained to a perfection in that through the necessity of working for their subsistence. They have loft no time, and have spared themselves in nothing, and their conduct affords an useful lesson to those lazy fellows, whose misery unjustly discredits a country, which is capable of producing an hundred fold, of whatever is fown in it.

I am, &c.

LETTER XXXII.

Voyage from New Orleans to the Mouth of the Mississippi. Description of that River to the Sea. Reflections on the Grants.

Island of Thoulouse or Balise, January 26, 1722.

Madam,

HE country, in the neighbourhood of New Orleans, has nothing very remarkable; nor have I found the fituation of this city To very advantageous, as it has been faid to be: there are some who think otherwise, and support their opinion by the following reasons; and I shall afterwards lay before you those which induce me to differ from them. The first is, that a league beyond it, towards the north-east, there is a small river called le Bayouc de Saint Jean, or the Creek of St. John, Bayouc in the Indian language fignifying a rivulet, which, at the end of two leagues, discharges itself into the lake Pontchartrain, which has a communication with the sea, by means of which it would be easy, say they, to keep up a Vol, II.

trade between the capital Mobile and Biloxi, and with all the other posts we possess near the sea. The fecond is, that below the city the river makes a very great turning called le detour aux Anglois, or the Englith reach, which is imagined would be of great advantage to prevent a surprize. realons are specious, but do not appear to me to be folid; for, in the first place, those who reason in this manner suppose, that the river at its entrance can only receive fmall vessels: now in this case, what is to be feared from a furprize, provided the city be fortified, as I suppose it will soon be? . Will an enemy come to attack it with shallops, or with veffels which carry no guns? Befides, in whatever place the town be fituated, ought not the mouth of the river to be defended by good batteries, and a fort which would at least give them notice to hold them eves in readiness to receive an enemy? In the fecond place, what necessity is there for a communication, which can only be carried on by means of shallops, with posts which cannot be affilted in case they were attacked, and from which, on the other hand, but a feeble affistance could be drawn, and which, for the most part, would be good for nothing? To this it may be added, that when a vessel goes up the English reach, the wind mult change every moment, so that whole weeks may be spent in advancing seven or eight leagues.

A little below New Orleans the foil begins to be very shallow on both sides the Mississippi, and its depth continues to diminish all the way to the sea. This is a point of land which does not appear to be very ancient; for if it be ever so little dug up, water is sure to be found, and the great number of shoals and small islands, which within these twenty

twenty years have been formed at all the mouths of the river, leave no room to doubt that this neck of land has been formed in the fame manner. It appears certain, that when M. de Sale went down the Missishippi to the sea, the mouth of this river was quite different from what it is at present.

The nearer we approach the sea, the more senfible this becomes: the bar has little or no water on the greatest part of the out-lets which the river has opened for itself, and which have been so greatly multiplied by means of trees, which have been carried along with the current; and one of them being stopt, by means of its roots or branches. in a place where there is little depth of water, is the occasion of stopping a thousand more. I have feen, two hundred leagues from hence, heaps of them, one of which alone would fill all the timberyards in Paris. Nothing can then separate the mud from them which the river carries along with it; it ferves them as a cement, and covers them by little and little; every fresh inundation leaves a new bed, and after ten years at most the canes and shrubs begin to grow. It is in this manner, that the greatest part of these points of land and islands have been formed, which have so often caused a change in the course of the river.

I have nothing to add to what I have faid in the beginning of the foregoing letter, about the prefent state of New Orleans. The justest notion you can form of it is, to imagine to yourself two hundred persons, who have been sent out to build a city, and who have settled on the banks of a great river, thinking upon nothing but upon putting themselves under cover from the injuries of U 2

the weather, and in the mean time waiting till a plan is laid out for them, and till they have built houses according to it. M. de Pauger, whom I have still the honour to accompany, has just shown me a plan of his own invention; but it will not be so easy to put it into execution, as it has been to draw it out upon paper. We set out on the 28th, for Biloxi, where the general quarters are. There are no grants between New Orleans and the sea, the soil being of too little depth; but only some small private settlements and entreposs, or staples, for the large grants.

Behind one of these plantations, and immediately below the English reach, stood, not long since, a village of the Chouachas, the ruins of which I have visited. Nothing remains entire but the cabbin of the chief, which bears a great refemblance to one of our peafants houses in France, with this difference only, that it has no windows. It is built of the branches of trees, the voids of which are filled up with the leaves of the trees called lataniers, and its roof is of the same materials. The chief, like all the rest in Florida, is very abfolute; he hunts only for his pleasure, for his subjects are obliged to give him part of their game. His village is at present on the other side of the river, half a league lower, and the Indians have transported thither even the bones of their dead.

A little below their new habitation, the coast is much higher than any where else; and it seems to me, this would have been the best situation for a city. It is not above twenty leagues from the sea, and with a moderate south or south-east wind, ships might get up to it in sisteen hours. On the

the evening of the 23d, we quitted the shallop which had carried us to this place, and embarked on board a brigantine, in which we lay by during the whole night. On the morrow at break of day we found we had passed a new turn in the river, called *le detour aux Piakimines*, or the reach of the Piakimines.

We found ourselves soon after among the passes of the Mississippi; here one must sail with abundance of precaution, for fear of being drawn into one from whence it would be next to imposfible to extricate one's felf. Most of them are only small streams, and some are separated only by Thallows almost level with the water. The bar of the Miffiffippi is what has multiplied these passes to fuch a degree, it being easy to conceive, by the way in which I faid new lands are formed, how the river endeavouring after a passage where there is the least resistance, opens one, sometimes on one fide, fometimes on another; from whence it might happen, without great care to prevent it, that all the passes might become impassable to ships. In the evening of the 24th, we cast anchor without the bar, opposite the Island Balise.

The contrary wind still detaining us, we resolved to make some use of this delay. Yesterday being the 25th, I began by singing grand mass in the island called de la Balise, or the Buoy Island, on account of a buoy erected upon it for the convenience of shipping. Afterwards I blessed it, gave it the name of the island Thoulouse, and then sung Te Deum. This island together with another, which is separated from it by a creek where there is always water, is not more than half a league in U 3

circumference. It is besides very low, excepting one place only which is never overflowed, and where there is room enough to build a fort and ware-houses. Vessels might likewise unload here, which would have difficulty to get over the bar with their cargoes in.

M. de Pauger founded this place with the lead, and found the bottom pretty hard and clayey, though five or fix small springs rise from it, which do not throw up much water, but leave a very fine salt behind them. When the river is at its lowest, that is to say during the three hottest months of the year, the water is salt all round this island; but in the time of the floods it is entirely fresh, and the river preserves its freshness a league out at sea. During the remainder of the year it is a little brackish beyond the bar; consequently it is a meer sable, what has been afferted, that for the space of twenty leagues, the waters of the Mississippi do not mix with those of the ocean.

M. Pauger and I spent the rest of the day with M. Kerlasio, master of the Brigantine, in sounding and surveying the only mouth of the river which was then navigable; and here follow our observations on the condition in which we then sound it, for I cannot answer for the changes which may have since happened. It runs north-east and south-west, for the space of three hundred sathoms from the sea to the island of Thoulouse, opposite to which are three small islands, which have as yet no grass upon them, although they are of a tolerable height. For the whole of this space, its breadth is about two hundred and sifty sathoms, and its depth about eighteen seet in the middle; but those who

(295)

who are not well acquainted must keep the lead always going-

From thence, going up the river, the course lies still north-west, for the space of four hundred fathoms, having all along fifteen foot cepth of water and the fame bottom; the anchoring ground is every where good, and under cover from all but the fouth and fouth-west winds, which might, if violent, cause the vessels to drag their anchors, but without any danger; for they would run upon the bar, which is likewise a soft mud: the course is after this north-west, and one quarter north-east. for the space of five hundred tathoms. This is properly the bar, having twelve foot water middledepth, but much incumbered with banks and shoals, on which account, great care must be taken in working a veffel; this bar is two hundred and fifty fathoms broad betwixt the low-lands on each fide, which are covered with reeds.

In the east channel, which is immediately above the lar, the course is due west, for the space of a league: this is two hundred and fitty fathoms in breadth, and from sour to sifteen in depth. Then all of a sudden no bottom is to be found. On taking the large channel after going over the bar, the course is north-west, for the si always forty-sive feet depth of water. You leave the channel of Sanvole, on the right-hand, through which there is a passage for shallops to Biloxi, the course of which is northerly: this channel had its name from an officer whom M. d'Iberville, on his return to France, lest commandant of the colony.

 U_4

The

The course lies afterwards west, one quarter north-west, for the space of fifty fathoms in a sort of bay lying on the left, at the end of which there are three channels more, one running fouthfouth-east, another south, and the third west-southwest. This bay is but ten fathoms in depth and twenty over, and the channels have but little wa-Continuing to fleer on the fame point of the compass, and after running fifty fathoms more, you meet with a fecond bay on the same side, which is twenty fathoms over, and fifty in depth. This has two little channels, through which canoes of bark would have difficulty to pass, so that, for the most part, no account is made of them.

From hence the course is westerly for the space of five hundred fathoms, when you are opposite to the passe a la loutre, or the Otter channel, which lies on the right hand, and runs south-south-east, being a hundred fathom in breadth, but only navigable for pirogues. Afterwards you steer south-west for the space of twenty fathoms, then due west for three hundred: after this west, one quarter north-west, for the space of a hundred, as much west-north-west, and eight-hundred north-west; then you find on your left-had the south passage, which is two hundred and sifty fathoms in breadth, having nine sathoms depth of water at its entrance on the river side, and only two seet at its opening into the sea.

Two hundred and fifty fathoms farther, lies the fouth-west passage, nearly of the same breadth but with never less than seven or eight seet water. The country in this place is not so marshy as lower down, but is overslowed during sour months

of the year. It is bounded on the left by a feries of small lakes, lying at the end of the lake Chetimachas, and on the right by the ifles de la Chandeleur, or the Candlemas islands; it is believed that there is a channel for vessels of the greatest burthen, and that it would be very easy to make a very fine harbour among these islands. Large barks can get up from the sea to lake Chetimachas, and the finest oaks in the world might be cut there, the whole coast being covered with them.

I am likewise of opinion, that all the channels in the river ought to be stopt up, excepting the principal one, which would be extremely easy, nothing more being required, than to introduce into them those floating trees with which the river is always covered. The confequence of which would be, in the first place, that the river would be no longer accessible to barks and canoes, but upon one fide, which would put the colony out of all danger of being furprized; and, in the second place, the whole force of the current being united, the only opening, which the river would then have, would grow deeper as well as the bar. I ground this conjecture upon what has already happened at at the two cut points, of which I have already spoken. In this case there would be no more to do than to keep up one channel, and to prevent the floating trees from flopping in it, which, as appears to me, would be no difficult affair.

The breadth of the river between the channels, that is to fay, for the space of four leagues from the Island of Thoulouse to the south-west channel, is never more than fifty fathoms. But immediately above this channel, the Mississippi insensibly resumes

refumes its wonted breadth, which is never less than one mile, and seldom more than two. Its depth continually encreases beyond the bar, which is contrary to what happens in all other rivers, which are commonly deeper as they approach nearer the sea.

Here, Madam, would be an opportunity to give you an account of what has occasioned the failure of those numerous grants, which have made so much noise in France, and upon which so many had founded the greatest hopes; but I rather chuse to refer this to our first meeting, and content myself, at present, with imparting to you some reflections I have made on the manner of settling in this country, if our countrymen are not entirely disgusted at the bad success so many repeated efforts, and useless expences, have been attended with.

It appears to me, that the best place for settlements is not on the banks of the river, but at least a quarter if not half a league back in the country. I am not ignorant, that it is possible to guard against the ordinary inundations of the river by good ditches; but there is a great inconvenience in dwelling upon a soil, which affords water ever so little below the surface, and where, of course, there can be no cellars. I am even of opinion, that it would be very advantageous to leave free room to the annual overslowing of the river, especially for the soil, which is not very dry and would not be useless.

The slime, which remains upon it, after the waters are withdrawn, renews and fattens it; and one

one part might be employed in pasturage, and the other fown with rice, pulse, and, in a word, with every thing which thrives on fat and moist lands. So, that in time, nothing might be feen on both the banks of the Missiffippi, but gardens, orchards, and meadows, which would supply the inhabitants with food, and even furnish commodities for carrying on a trade with our islands and the neighbouring colonies. In a word, I believe, I may affirm that, having landed twice or thrice every day, when I was going down the river, there are almost every where, at a very small distance from the banks. high grounds, where houses might be built on a folid foundation; and corn would grow extremely well, after the air had got free access to it, by means of clearing away the woods.

The navigation of the river upwards will always be extremely difficult, on account of the strength of the current which even obliges those who are going down to take great care, for it frequently drives them upon points of land and upon shoals; so that, in order to proceed with safety, vessels must be made use of which can both sail and row. Besides, as it is not possible to advance in the night-time, these voyages will always be very tedious and expensive; at least till the banks of the river shall be well peopled, through the whole extent of country, from the Illinois to the sea.

Such, Madam, is the country which has been fo much talked of for some years past, and of which so few entertain a just idea. We are not the first Europeans who have been sensible of its goodness,

goodness, and have at the same time neglected it. Ferdinand de Soto went all over it, in the space of three years, and Garcilasso de Vega his historian has not been able to forgive him, for not having made a solid establishment upon it. "Where could he have gone," says he, "to "find a better."

In a word, I have met with none, who have been on the spot, who have spoken disadvantageously of Louisiana, but three forts of persons whose testimony can be of no great weight. The first are the failors, who, from the road at the island of Dauphine, have been able to fee nothing but that island covered with a barren sand, and the coast of Biloxi still more fandy, and have fuffered themselves to be persuaded, that the entrance of the Mississippi is impracticable to vessels above a certain bulk; and that the country is uninhabitable for fifty leagues up the river. would have been of a very different opinion, had they had penetration enough to distrust those persons who spoke in this manner, and to discover the motives which made them do fo.

The fecond are wretches, who being banished from France for their crimes or ill-behaviour, true or supposed, or who, in order to shun the pursuits of their creditors, listed themselves among the troops, or hired themselves to the plantations. Both of them, looking upon this country as a piace of banishment only, were consequently shocked with every thing: they have no tye to bind them, nor any concern for the progress of a colony of which they are involuntary members, and

(301)

and give themselves very little trouble about the advantages it is capable of procuring to the state.

The third are such, who having seen nothing but mifery, in a country for which excessive sums have been disbursed, attribute to it, without reflection, what ought folely to be laid to the incapacity or negligence of those who were charged with the fettling it. You are, besides, not unacquainted with the reasons for publishing, that Louisiana contained in its bosom immense treasures; and that its value to us was very near equal to the famous mines of St. Barbe, and others still richer, from which we flattered ourfelves we should be able to drive the possessors with ease: and because these ridiculous tales found credit with fools, instead of imputing the mistake to themselves, into which their foolish credulity had engaged them, they discharged their ill humour upon this country, in which they found no one article that had been promised them.

I am, &c.

LETTER XXXIII.

Description of Biloxi. Of the Plant Cassina or Apa-Cachina. Of Myrtle-wax, of the Mobile. Of the Tchaetas, of the Bay of St. Bernard. Voyage from Biloxi to New Orleans, by the Way of Lake Pontchartrain.

From on board the Adour, April 5, 1722.

Madam,

On the 26th, after closing my letter, I went on board and we got under fail; but after making a turn to the fouthward, the wind turning contrary, we were obliged to come to anchor again, where we remained the two following days. On the 29th, we weighed early in the morning; but there was fo little wind and the sea ran so high, that we got no farther than fourteen leagues, which was not above half the distance we intended. On the 30th, the wind was neither more favourable

able nor the sea any calmer till towards four o'clock in the evening, when a shower of rain cleared the sky, which was very foggy, and laid the sea: but about an hour or two after, the fog returned and became so thick, that not being able to see our course, we thought it best to come to anchor. The next day, the mist still continuing, M. Pauger and I sailed in the shallop to the road of the island aux Vaisseux, and about sive in the evening went ashore at Biloxi.

This whole coast is extremely flat, the merchant vessels not being able to approach nearer than four leagues, and the smallest brigantines not nearer than two. These last are even obliged to get farther off, when the wind blows from the north or north-west, or else ly dry, as happened that very night I landed. The road lies all along the island aux Vaisseaux, which stretches about a league from east to west, but is very narrow. To the east of this island lies the island Dauphine, formerly called Isle Massacre, where there was a tolerably convenient harbour, which a blast of wind destroyed in the space of two hours, not much above a year ago, by choaking up its entrance with fand. the westward of the isle aux Vaisseaux are the isle des Chats, or of Bienville, the isle a Corne, and the islands de la Chandeleur.

Biloxi is the coast of the main-land, lying to the northward of the road, which name it has from an Indian nation settled here formerly, who have since retired towards the north-west, on the banks of a small river, called the river of pearls, on account of some quantity of bad pearls having been found in it. A worse place than this could not have been chosen for the general quarters of the colony,

colony, seeing it can receive no assistance from shipping, nor afford them any, for the reasons already mentioned. Besides, the road has two great defects, the anchorage is not good, and is sull of worms, which destroy all the shipping: and the only advantage that can be drawn from it, is its serving for shelter to vessels in a gale of wind, before they discover the mouth of the Mississippi, which, being low land, it would be dangerous to approach, in bad weather, without having first seen it.

Biloxi is not of more value by land than by sea. The foil is very fandy, producing little but pines and cedars. Cassina, otherwise called Apalachina, grows here every where in abundance: it is a very small shrub, the leaves of which, infused like those of tea, are reckoned a good dissolvent and an excellent fudorifick, but their principal quality consists in their being diuretick. Spaniards make great use of it over all Florida: it is even their ordinary drink. It began to be in some repute at Paris when I left it; but that was a bad time for making fortunes, they disappearing or vanishing almost as suddenly as they were acquired. I know, however, that many who use Apalachina give it great commendations.

There are two forts of it, differing only in the fize of their leaves. Those of the large species are more than an inch in length, the others are about half as long. In shape and substance they are pretty much like the leaves of the box-tree, excepting that they are rounder towards the extremities, and of a brighter green. The name of Vol. II.

Apalachina, which we have given to this shrub, is derived from the *Apalaches*, a nation of Florida, from whom the Spaniards learned the use of this plant; and here sollows the manner of preparing it amongst both nations.

A quantity of leaves is fet on the fire in an earthen pot, and roafted till they become of a reddish colour; they then pour boiling water slowly upon them till the pot is full. This water takes the colour of the leaves, and when decanted off, rifes and foams like beer. It is taken as warm as possible, and the Indians would rather refrain from eating, than not drink it morning and evening; they believe they should fall sick should they leave it off; and it is said the Spaniards in Florida entertain the same notion.

Half an hour after it is taken, it begins to difcharge itself, and continues doing so about an hour. It is difficult to conceive how a beverage, which does nothing almost but run through one, can be so nourishing, as this is faid to be: but it is easier to understand how it cleanses the urinary passages, and prevents differences in the reins. When the Indians want to purge, they mix it with fea-water, which occasions great evacuations; but if the dose of fea-water be too ftrong, it may prove mortal, instances of which are not wanting. I have seen it taken in France, but without that apparatus, and in the same manner as they use tea; but the dose is doubled, and it boils near half an hour, and I doubt not but that it is then very efficacious.

There.

There is a species of myrtle with very large leaves found in this country, and which I know to to be likewise very common on the coasts of Acadia, and in the English colonies on the continent. Some have given it the name of laurel, but falfely, its leaf having the fmell of a myrtle, and the English have no other name for it, but that of the candle myrtle, le myrtle a chandelle. This shrub bears a small grain, which during the spring is sull of a gluey substance, and being thrown into boiling, water, fwims upon it, and becomes a kind of green wax, not so fat and more friable than bees-wax, but equally fit for burning. The only inconvenience attending it is that it is very brittle; but it may be mixed with another wax extremely liquid, gathered in the woods of the American islands, which, however, is not necessary, unless it is intended to be made into tapers. feen candles of it which gave as clear a light and lasted as long as ours. Our missionaries in the neighbourhood of Acadia mix it with tallow, which makes them liable to run; because the tallow does not incorporate well with the wax. The Sieur Alexander who is here, in the company's fervice, in quality of furgeon and botanist, uses it without any mixture, and his candles have not this defect, their light being foir and very clear, and the fmoke, which they yield, has the very agreeable smell of the myrtle. He even entertains hopes of making them perfectly white, and shewed me a piece which was more than half so *. He pretends, that had he five or fix of those slaves which are unfit for ordinary labour, he could

gather

^{*} This project has been fince given over, because they say this wax, by being whitened, undergoes confiderable alterations.

gather a quantity of the grains in a feason, sufficient to yield a quantity of wax, enough to load a vessel.

Thirteen or fourteen leagues from Biloxi, towards the east, you find the river, Mobile, which runs from north to south, and the mouth of which is opposite to the island Dauphine. It takes its rise in the country of the Chicachas, its course being about an hundred and thirty leagues. Its channel is very narrow and extremely winding, which, however, does not prevent its being very rapid: but no vessels, excepting small pirogues, can get up it, when the waters are low. We have a fort upon this river, which has been a long time the principal post of the colony; the soil, however, is not good, but there is an opportunity of carrying on a trade with the Spaniards, which was then our only object in view.

It is affirmed, that some leagues beyond this fort, a quarry has been discovered: if this discovery is real, and the quarry is large, it may prevent the entire defertion of this post, which several inhabitants had begun to leave, not caring to cultivate a foil, which would not answer the expences they were at. I do not, however, believe that we shall ever evacuate the fort of Mobile, were it only to preserve our alliance with the Tchactas, a numerous nation which forms a necessary barrier against the Chicachas and the other Indians bordering on Carolina. Garcilasso de la Vega, in his history of Florida, makes mention of a village called Mavilla, which has without doubt given its name to the river and the nation fettled upon its banks. The Mauvilians were then very powerful, but there are hardly any traces of them now remaining.

4

Our people are at present employed in seeking a proper place for a fettlement, to the westward of the Mississippi, and it is believed, that a place is found about a hundred leagues from the mouth of the river, in a bay, which fometimes bears the name of St. Magdalen, fometimes that of St. Lewis; but most commonly that of St. Bernard. It receives into it feveral pretty large rivers, and it was here that M. de la Sale first made land, when he missed the mouth of the Miffiffippi. A brigantine has been some time ago sent to make a survey of it, but they met with Indians who feemed little difposed to receive us, and who were not treated in fuch a manner as to gain their affections. I have just now heard, that the Spaniards have been beforehand with us.

There is in reality somewhat more pressing, and of greater consequence, than this undertaking. am fensible, that commerce is the foul of colonies, and that they are only useful to such a kingdom as ours by that means, and in order to prevent our neighbours from becoming too powerful; but if the cultivation of lands is not first attended to, trade, after enriching a few private persons, will foon fall to nothing, and the colony never be well fettled. The neighbourhood of the Spaniards may have its advantages; but, let us suffer them to draw as near as they think fit, we are not in a condition, and we have no occasion, to extend our fettlements farther. They are sufficiently peaceable in this country, and they never will be strong enough to give us any disturbance: it is not even their interest to drive us from hence; and if they are not as yet fensible, they will foon be so, that they cannot have a better barrier against the English than Louisiana.

The

The heats were very troublesome at Biloxi, from the middle of March; and, I imagine, when once the fun has taken effect upon the fand, the heat will become excessive. It is indeed said, that were it not for the breeze which springs up pretty regularly between nine and ten every morning, and continues till sun-set, it would not be possible to live here. The mouth of the Missimppi lies in twenty nine degrees of latitude, and the coast of Biloxi in thirty. In the month of February, we had fome piercing cold weather, when the wind was at north and north-west, but it did not last: they were fometimes followed by pretty sharp heats, accompanied with storms and thunder, so that in the morning we had winter, in the afternoon fummer, with fome small intervals of spring and harvest betwixt the The breeze blows commonly from the east: when it comes from the fouth, it is only a reflected wind, and not near so refreshing; but it is still a wind, and when that is entirely wanting, there is hardly any fuch thing as breathing.

On the 24th of March, I fet out from Biloxi, where I had been stopt above a month, by being taken ill of the jaundice, and took the route of New Orleans, where I was to embark in a vessel belonging to the company, called the Adour. I made this voyage in a pirogue and never made a more disagreeable one. The west wind, which in three hours time had carried me five leagues from Biloxi, gave place to a south wind so very violent, that I was obliged to halt. I had scarce time to set up my tent, when a dreadful shower of rain, accompanied with thunder, laid us all under water.

Two

Two small vessels, which set out at the same time with me, took advantage of this wind which carried them a good way in a few hours, and I regretted very much my not doing the fame: but I foon learned that their fate was rather to be pitied than envied; the first was in continual danger of shipwreck, and the people on board arrived at New Orleans rather dead than alive. The fecond failed half-way, and five of the passengers were drowned in a meadow, which the tempett had converted into a fwamp. The wind continued the whole night with the fame violence, and the rain did not cease till next day at noon. It began again in the evening, and lasted till day-light, accompanied with thunder.

When you range along within fight of this coast, it feems to be very agreeable, but on approaching nearer, it appears to be quite another thing. It is all a fandy bottom as at Biloxi, and nothing but a bad fort of wood is found upon it. I have obferved here a fort of forrel, which has the fame taste with ours, but its leaves are narrower, and occasion, as is said, the bloody-flux. likewise in these places a sort of ash, called bois d'Amourette; and its bank, which is full of prickles, is reckoned a speedy and sovereign remedy against the tooth-ach.

On the 26th, it rained the who'e day, and though the fea was calm, we made but little progress. We advanced somewhat farther on the twenty-feventh; but on the following night loft our way off the island of Pearls. The next day we encamped at the entrance of lake Pontchartrain, having a little before left upon our right the river of pearls, which has three mouths. These three branches branches separate, about four leagues from the sea, a little above Biloxi.

In the afternoon, we passed lake Pontchartrain, which is seven or eight leagues over; and at midnight entered Bayouc St. Jean. Those who have sailed the first upon this lake found it, as they said, so sufficiently for alligators, that they could hardly make a stroke with an oar without touching one of them. They are at present very scarce, and we saw only some marks of them at our encampment; for these animals lay their eggs upon land. After reposing myself a little, at leaving the lake, I pursued my journey by land, and arrived before day at New-Orleans.

The Adour was no longer there, but was at no great distance, and I went on board the next day, being the first of April. The inundation was now at its height, and, consequently, the river much more rapid than I had found it the month before. Besides, a ship, especially a slute or pink, is not so easily wrought as a coaster; and, as our crew were not accustomed to this navigation, we had a good deal of difficulty in getting out of the river. The ship being driven sometimes on one side, sometimes on the other, her yards and rigging frequently got soul of trees, and we were oftener than once obliged to cut the latter, in order to get clear.

It was still much worse, when we got the length of the channels; for the currents drove us always upon the first with extreme violence. We were even involved in one of the smallest, and I know not to this day how we got rid of it. We were, however, quit for an anchor which we lest there; having

having already lost one two days before, so that we had only two remaining. So discouraging a circumstance gave us some serious thoughts, but the youth and little experience of those, to whose management we were entrusted, occasioned us still greater uneasiness.

The Adour is a very fine veffel, three hundred tons burthen, and left France extremely well manned, under the direction of a captain well acquainted with his business, and a lieutenant who had an exceeding good character. The latter was left fick at St. Domingo, and the captain, having had a difference with one of the directors of the company, was by him turned out of his employment. In order to fill up the room of these two principal officers, they pitched upon a young Maloin, who had come three years before to Louisiana, in quality of a pilot or pilot's apprentice, and had in that time got the command of a coafter in the road of Biloxi, employed in carrying provisions, fometimes to the Mobile, and sometimes to New Orleans. He seems to have every thing requisite for forming an expert feaman; he loves and applies himself to his business: but we should be very well pleased not to be obliged to fee his apprenticeship, especially in a navigation attended with fo many difficulties.

He has for fecond, under him, an officer who came from France in quality of an enfign, who is still a young man, and very proper to be a subaltern under experienced chiefs, who should leave him nothing but the care of executing their orders. It would be no easy matter to find a hardier seaman in stormy weather, which he has braved from his infancy in the Newsoundland sisheries; and two or three ship-wrecks, from which he has happily extri-

cated himself, have inspired him with such a confidence, that I should be much surprized if in the end he does not come badly off.

Our first pilot seems to be a little riper than these two officers, and great stress is laid upon his knowledge of the gulph of Florida, which he has already once passed through. This, however, is but little for an acquaintance with the most dangerous passed in the American seas, where ship-wrecks happen by thousands. Besides, I am asraid, that an air of feir sufficiency I perceive in him, may produce some statal configuences. He has two subalterns who are good men; and we have sifty sailors of Bretaigne, a little mutinous, indeed, but strong and vigorous, most of them having been at the cod-sishery, which is a good school: their marine officers seem to me to be men of sense and execution.

In the mean time, notwithflanding all the delays I have spoken of, we anchored on the second in the evening, within-side of the bar; we passed it on the third, but for want of wind could get no farther. Yesterday we were stopped the whole day, and this night we had a gale of wind at south, which made us thankful we were not at sea so near the shore. I hope, Madam, to write you in a short time from St. Domingo, at which place our vessel is to take in a cargo of sugar, which lies ready for her. I take the opportunity of a coaster going up to New Orleans, to send you this letter by a vessel which is bound directly to France.

I am, &c.

LETTER XXXIV.

Voyage to the Gulf of Bahama. Shipwreck of the Adour. Return to Louisiana, along the Coast of Florida. Description of that Coast.

Biloxi, June 5, 1722.

Madam,

Promifed to write to you shortly from St. Domingo. Behold me, after two months have passed, as far from it as I then was. The account of the sad adventure, which has brought me back to this colony, and which has but too truly sulfilled what I foresaw, with a few observations on a country which I had thoughts of visiting, will form the substance of this letter. I am not, however, in other respects so much to be pitied as you may imagine. I am fully recovered of my satigues; I have run great hazards, but have been happily delivered from them: the past missfortune is like a dream, and often like a very agreeable one.

About half an hour at most, before I had closed my last, the wind coming about to the North

North-West, we made sail. I should have thought the fanctity of the sessival, which was that of Easter-day, would have prevailed with the captain to delay our departure till next day, especially as it was now afternoon. But as we were pretty short of provisions, a day's delay might be attended with disagreeable consequences. We soon lost sight of land, and after sailing about an hour, after enjoying the curious sight of the mixture of the waters of the sea and of the Mississippi, but so as to be still distinguishable, we at last sound ourselves got to pure salt water.

I may possibly be told, that we had quitted the right channel, and I will allow this might be the case. But the fight or struggle we observed so near the shore, is no sign that the river gets the better to such a degree as to force itself a passage, and for twenty leagues in the open sea, to give laws to the ocean itself. Besides, were this fact true, at least in the time of the great land sloods, in the place where we then were, how could men be at such a loss to find out the mouth of the river? The difference in the colour of its waters would have, sufficiently, guided the most inattentive.

With regard to this colour, I have told you that the Mississippi, after its junction with the Missouri, takes the colour of the waters of this river, which is white: but would you believe it, of all the forts of water which are made use of in long voyages, there is none which keeps so long as this! Besides it is excellent drinking after having been left to settle in jars, at the bottom of which is found a kind of white tartar, which in all appearance serves both to give it its colour, and to purify and preserve it.

On the twelfth at noon, after having suffered by extreme heats for several days, and which were still more intolerable in the night than in the day time, we discovered Cape de Sed on the North shore of the island of Cuba, and very high land. At sun set we were east of it, kept the Cape on our eastern quarter, and so sailed along in sight of the shore. On the morrow at day-break we were abreast of the Havanna. This city is eighteen leagues from Cape Sed; and half way to it, you discover a pretty high mountain, the summit of which is a kind of platform: they call it la table a Marianne, Marianne's table.

Two leagues beyond the Havanna, there is a small fort on the coast which bears the name of la Hogue, and from which you first discover le Pain, or loaf of Matanzas. This is a mountain, the summit of which is shaped like an oven, or if you will a loaf. This serves to distinguish the Bay of Matanzas, which is sourteen leagues from the Havanna. The heat continued to encrease, for we were now on the limits or frontiers of the Torrid Zone. Besides, we had scarce a breath of wind, and advanced only by savour of the current, which bore us to the eastward.

On the fourteenth, towards six in the evening, we saw from the top-mast head, the land of Florida. There is no prudent navigator who happens to have this prospect, without six or seven hours daylight at least, but who tacks about and stands out to the sea till morning; there being no sea in the whole ocean where there is a greater necessity of a clear prospect, because of the various currents, with which we can never, with reason, believe ourselves sufficiently acquainted. We have a recent

recent enough example in the Spanish Galleons, which were lost here some years ago, for having neglected the precaution I have just now mentioned. The Chevalier d' Here, captain of a ship who accompanied them, did his utmost to prevail with the general of the Flota to wait for the day before he entered the Gulf: he could not prevail, and did not think proper to throw himself headlong with him over this precipice.

Our captain, who had very good advice given him on this head, was fully refolved to profit by it; but too much eafinefs, on his fide, was attended with the same consequences as the presumption of the Spanish general had been. His first pilot, who imagined himself one of the most expert men in the world, and his lieutenant, who did not know what it was to doubt of any thing, were of opinion to continue their course, and the captain had not courage to oppose them. He advised, indeed, to steer at least north east, and the sequel fhewed, that if his opinion had been followed, we should have escaped being shipwrecked. could only obtain a north-north-east course; the pilot affuring him that the currents fet with impetuofity to the eastward, which was indeed true near the lands on the other side, but they set to the westward on that on which we were.

At feven o'clock, the land still appeared at a good distance, and we could not see it at first from the tops; half an hour after, one of the sailors, by means of the stasses of lightening, observed that the water had changed its colour. He took notice of it, but his information was received with derision, and he was told that was only the lightening which made the water look white. He still

persisted, and many of his companions soon came into his opinion: the officers would still have laughed at them, but they were in such numbers, and made such a noise, that at last the captain ordered soundings to be tried.

Six fathoms of water were only found; the only fafe part we could then have taken, was to cast anchor immediately, but there were none in readiness. It was proposed to wear the ship, and perhaps it was still time, had expedition been used; but they amused themselves with sounding again, when no more than five fathoms were found. The lead was cast a third time, and then there were only three. Conceive to yourself, Madam, a parcel of children, who saw themselves hurried on to a precipice, and had all their attention employed about discovering its depth, without taking any measures to avoid it: such was precisely our case.

Immediately a confused noise arose, every one crying with all his might, so that the officers could not make themselves heard, and two or three minutes after the vessel struck: that instance a storm arose, followed by rain which laid the wind, but it soon sprung up again at south, and blew harder than before. The ship immediately began to stick fast by the rudder, and there was great reason to sear that the mainmast, which at every stroke sprung up to a good height, should beat out a hole in her bottom; therefore it was immediately condemned in form, and cut away, the captain according to custom, giving it the first stroke with a hatchet.

The lieutenant upon this went on board the shallop, in order to discover in what place we were,

were, and what condition the ship was in. He found that there was only four feet water a-head, that the bank on which we had struck, was so small, that there was just a place for the vessel, and all around it she would have been a-float. But had we escaped this bank, we must have fallen upon another, for it was surrounded by them, and certainly we could not have met with one that was more convenient.

The wind still blew with violence, and the vesfel continued to strike, and at every stroke we expected she would have gone to pieces. All the effects of terror were painted on every face, and after the first tumult formed by the cries of the sailors who were working, and the groams of the pasfengers, who laid their account with perishing every moment, was over, a dead and profound filence reigned throughout the whole vessel. We have fince learnt that some few had secretly taken their measures not to be surprised in case the vessel should fall to pieces: not only the shallop, but the canoe were launched and in readiness, and some trusty failors had warning given them to hold themselves prepared for the first signal. I was afterwards told, that they had resolved not to leave me behind.

What is certain, is, I passed the night without closing my eyes, and in the situation of a man who never expects to see daylight again. It however appeared, and shewed us the land about two leagues from us, but it was not the same which we had at first seen, and which we still perceived, tho at a great distance, but a low land which did not seem at first to be inhabited. This sight, however, did not fail to give us pleasure, and somewhat to revive our spirits.

We then examined if there was any probability of getting the Adour a-float again, and as it was prudent to have more resources than one, we at the same time considered of the means of extricating ourselves from our present uncomfortable fituation, on the supposition it was impossible to recover the vessel. We then called to mind that we had a flat-bottomed boat on board, which was intended to be made use of in loading the sugars at St. Domingo. This was a very wife precaution taken by the captain, who had been informed that vessels were frequently detained longer in the road on that account, than was confistent with the interest of the owners, or the health of the crews: but providence had without doubt another view. when it inspired him with this thought. This boat was the instrument of our safety.

I do not know what passed this day between the officers and the pilot, but there was no more talk of getting off the vessel. Many have pretended that all endeavours for that purpose would have been in vain; but the captain has more than once complained to me that they would not suffer him to make the attempts as he wished to do. It was therefore resolved to carry all the people ashore this same day, and they were at work the whole morning in building a rast, that they might not be obliged to make several trips.

It was not, however, thought proper to abandon the ship as yet; and the passengers only were embarked in the shallop and on the rast. At the distance of a cannon shot from the ship we found the sea ran very high, and the biscuit we carried with us was damaged by the water; a small pirogue Vol. II.

which followed the shallop, had a good deal of difficulty to live; and the raft which carried two and twenty men, was driven so far out by the current, that we believed her lost.

The shallop in which I was, made all possible haste ashore, in order to go afterwards to the assistance of the rest; but just as we were ready to land, we perceived a large company of Indians, armed with bows and arrows coming down to the sea side. This sight made us reslect that we had no arms; and we stopt some time, not daring to advance. We even imagined, every thing considered, it would be imprudent to go any further. The Indians perceived our embarassment, and easily understood the cause. They drew near us, calling out in Spanish, that they were friends. But seeing that this did not encourage us, they laid down their arms and came towards us, having the water up to their middle.

We were foon furrounded by them, and it is certain that encumbered as we were with baggage, in a boat where we could hardly turn ourselves about; it would have been easy for them to have destroyed They asked us first if we were Englishmen, we answered that we were not, but good friends and allies to the Spaniards; at which they testified a great deal of joy, inviting us to come ashore on their island, and affuring us that we should be as lafe there as aboard our own vessel. Distrust, on certain occasions, shews only weakness, and befides gives rife to dangerous suspicions. We therefore thought we ought to accept the invitation of these barbarians; so we followed them to their island, which we found to be one of the Martyrs.

What was pleasant is, that we were determined to take this resolution by the arrival of the pirogue, in which there were only four or five men, when we were parlying with the Indians: we certainly ran a great risque in delivering ourselves into their hands without arms, and we were afterwards fenfible of it: four or five men more could not have made them alter their defigns, supposing they had been bad towards us; and I never reflect on the confidence which so slender a reinforcement infpired us with, but it brings into my mind, those persons who are afraid to be by themselves in the dark, but are at once encouraged by the presence of a child, by its diverting their imagination, which is the only cause of their fear.

We were no fooner landed on the island, than little satisfied as we were with respect to the Indians, we also fell into a distrust of our officers. The captain of the Adour had attended us thus far, but as foon as he had fet us on shore, he took leave of us, faying that he was obliged to return on board, where he had still a great many things to do, and that he would immediately fend us whatever we stood in need of, especially arms. There was nothing in this but what was reasonable, and we easily conceived that his presence might be necessary aboard the vessel; but we reflected that he had only taken the passengers out of her, and that upon his return, the whole crew would be all together on board.

This made us suspect that the boat of which I have spoken, was only a lure to amuse us, and that they had put us ashore, as being an encumbrance to them, in order to be able to make use of the shalop and canoe, to transport themselves to the

Havannah or St. Augustin in Florida. These suspicions were strengthened in every one of us, when we perceived that we were all in the same way of thinking, and this agreement made us imagine it was not without foundation; it was therefore resolved amongst ourselves, that I should return to the vessel with the captain, in order to prevent such a violent resolution, should they attempt it, from taking effect.

I therefore declared to the captain, that as his chaplain was to remain on the island, it was not proper I should stay likewise; that it would be better to separate us, and that I was resolved to seep no where but aboard, whilst any one remained in the ship. He seemed a little surprized at what I said, but made no opposition, and so set out. I found on getting aboard, that they had set the sails, to try as they said, to get her off; but a great many other things were to be done for that purpose, which however they did not think proper to attempt.

Half an hour after, the wind turned to the east and blew very hard, which obliged us to surl the sails; this gale, however, was the safety of those who were on the rast, which had been carried out very far in the offing. The waves drove her back towards us, and as soon as we perceived her, the captain sent the shallop, which took her in tow, and brought her along side. These unhappy men, were for the most part, poor passengers who looked for nothing but death; and we on our side, began to despair of being able to save them, when providence raised this little tempest in order to preserve them from shipwreck.

My presence was more necessary on board than I thought it would have been. Our failors, during the captain's absence, had thought fit to drown the sense of their missortunes in wine: in spite of the seutenant, whom they did not much regard, and whom several did not love, they had broken open the captain's case of liquors, and had got almost all of them dead drunk. I, besides, perceived in the crew, some seeds of dissention from which I imagined every thing was to be apprehended, if not remedied in time; and the more so as the captain, tho' well enough liked by the sailors, could not make himself obeyed by his officers, most of whom were disposed to mutiny, and could not endure his lieutenant.

To increase our perplexity, a number of the Indians had followed close after us, and we perceived if we had nothing to fear from their violence, it would not be easy to get rid of their importunities, especially as it behaved us to be very watchful over them, to prevent their stealing. He that feemed the principal man, called himself Don Antonio, and spoke indifferent good Spanish. He had been more successful in imitating the gravity and manners of the Spaniards. Whenever he faw any one tolerably dreffed, he asked if he was a Cavallero, having before told us that he was one himfelf and one of the greatest distinction in his na-His dispositions, however, were not much of the gentleman; every thing that he faw he coveted, and if he had not been prevented, he and his people would have left us nothing they could have carried away. He asked me for my girdle, I told him I had occasion for it, and could not part with it; notwithstanding which, he continued to demand it with great earnestness.

 \mathbf{Y}_3

We learned from this man, that almost all the Indians of this village had been baptized at the Havannah, to which they made a voyage every year. This city lies at the distance of forty-five leagues, and they make this passage in small very stat pirogues, in which we should hardly trust ourselves'a-cross the Seine at Paris. Don Antonio, added they, had a king called Don Diego, whom we should see to-morrow. He afterwards asked us what route we had resolved to take, and offered to conduct us to St. Augustine. We thanked him for his offer, treated him and all his company handsomely, who returned to all appearance very well satisfied with their reception.

These Indians have a redder skin than any of those I have yet seen: we could not learn the name of their nation: tho' they deserve no good character, yet they do not seem to be so bad as the Calos or Carlos, so infamous for their cruelty, whose country lies at no great distance from the Martyrs; I do not believe they are Canibals, but perhaps they appeared so tractable to us only because we were stronger than them. I do not know what has embroiled them with the English, but we had great reason to think that they did not love them. Perhaps Don Antonio had no other motive for his visit, but to examine if we were of that nation, or if they should not run too great a hazard in attacking us.

On the fixteenth I went ashore to those left on the island, and sulfilled the promise we had made them the evening before. I spent almost the whole day with them, and in the evening at my return, found the whole vessel in confusion. The authors of this disorder were the marine officers, and all the

the best sailors in the ship had taken their side. Their quarrel was with the lieutenant, who, they faid, had hitherto treated them with a great deal of haughtiness and severity. The wine, which they had at discretion, had inflamed their passions in fuch a manner, that it was scarce possible to make them liften to reason.

The captain shewed on this occasion a wisdom, firmness, and moderation, which could not well have been expected from his age, little experience and past conduct: he knew how to make himself loved and feared by people who feemed to be guided by nothing but fury and caprice. The lieutenant on his part confounded the most mutinous by his intrepidity, and having found means to separate and employ them, in the end made himself obey-They had at last drawn from the bottom of the hold the boat that had been fo long promiled, and had carried it to the island. now be equipped, lodgings must be found till it could be got ready, provisions and ammunition must be got from the ship, and lastly, they must fortify themselves against any surprize of the In-The captain employed in this service all fuch as he had most need to make sure of, and begged of me to remain on board to affift the lieutenant in restraining the rest within bounds.

On thetwenty-feventh at day-break there appeared a fail within two large leagues of us; we hung out the fignal of diffress, and sometime afterwards we observed that he had laid his ship to, to wait for us. lieutenant immediately embarked on board a canoe, and went on board to fee whether the captain would agree to receive all of us. But this was only a

brigantine of an hundred tons, that had been plundered by pirates, and which had for three days past done their utmost to get out of this bay, into which the currents, stronger this year than they had ever been known, had carried them in spite of all their efforts, and tho' the wind was at east north east. 'Tis true, we did not come to know this but by the account of the officer, who was by some imagined to have invented this story in order to lay to the charge of the irregularity of the current, the misfortune into which his own obstinacy had hurried us.

Be this as it will, the English master consented to embark twenty of our people, provided he was supplied with provisions and water, of which he stood in extreme want. The condition was accepted, and he accordingly drew near to cast anchor as close to us as possible. But a strong south-west wind arising, he was obliged to continue his course, least by endeavouring to assist us he should expose himself to ship-wreck.

On the twenty-ninth we had fight of three vessels more, and sent to make them the same proposals we had formerly done, but without effect. They were English too, and complained they had been plundered by pirates.

This very day, as there remained nothing on board the Adour which we could carry away with us, we bid her the last farewel; and with still more regret, as for the four days since she had been wrecked she had not made one drop of water, and we all went on shore after sun-set. Here we found tents, which had been made with the sails of the

the ship, a strong guard-room, where centinels were kept day and night, with provisions disposed in the best manner in the magazine, where also a guard was kept.

The island, on which we were, was in appearance about four leagues round; there were others near it of different extent, and that on which the Indians had their tents was the smallest of all and the nearest to ours. Here they lived solely by sishing, and this whole coast was as plentifully stocked in that, as the land was destitute of every article for the support of human life. As to their dress, a few leaves of trees, or a piece of bark was sufficient for them. They cover no part of their bodies but the part which all men from modesty conceal.

The foil of all these islands is a fort of very sine sand, or rather a sort of calcined chalk, interspersed with white coral, which is easily broken. Thus you see nothing on it but shrubs and bushes. The banks of the sea are covered with a pretty sort of shells, and some spunges are likewise sound on them, which seem to have been cast on shore here by the waves in stormy weather. 'Tis pretended that what keeps the Indians from leaving this place, is the number of shipwrecks that happen in the mouth of the gulph of Bahama, of which they never fail to make all the advantage possible.

There is not so much as a single foursooted beast on these islands, which seem to have been cursed of God and man, and which would be utterly uninhabited, except by a set of wretches, who subsist on the destruction and miseries of others, and by compleating what their ill destiny only begun. On the twentieth, Don Diego paid us a visit. He is a young man of a stature somewhat under the middle size, and with a very sorry presence. He is very near as naked as his subjects, and the few rags on his back were hardly worth picking up at one's feet. He wore on his head a sort of fillet, made of I know not what fort of stuff, and which some travellers would not have failed to call a diadem. He was without attendance, or any mark of distinction or dignity, or in short any thing to signify what personage he was. A young pretty handsome woman, and decently clothed for an Indian, accompanied him, and was, we were told, the queen his wife.

We received their majesties of Florida, in a cavalierlike manner enough; we made a fort of amity with them however, and they seemed well enough satisfied with us; but we could see none of these Caciques, whose power and wealth are so much vaunted by the historian of Florida. We said a word or two to Don Diego concerning the offer, which Don Antonio had made us, of carrying us to St. Augustin, and he gave us to hope for all the services that lay in his power. In order to induce him the more to perform his promise, I made him a present of one of my shirts, which he received very thankfully.

He returned next day, having my shirt above his own tatters, and it trailed upon the ground. He gave us to understand, that he was not properly the sovereign of his nation, but held of a Cacique at some distance. He is, notwithstanding, absolute in his own village, of which he lately gave us a convincing proof. Don Antonio, who seemed at least double his age, and who would have easily beaten

one double his strength, came to visit us a short while after, and told us, that Don Diego had drubbed him twice very heartily; for getting drunk on board the Adour, where probably some remainder of spirituous liquors had been left. The most sensible difference to be found between the Indians of Canada, and those of Florida, is this dependance on their chiefs, and the respect they shew them. Thus we see not in them as in the former those elevated sentiments, and that haughtiness which is the effect of their independance, and which is supplied in policied states by these principles of religion and honour, which are instilled into the mind by education in their early and tender years.

On the twenty-second, Don Diego came frankly, and without staying for any invitation to dine with us, clothed as on the preceding day. He seemed delighted with this dress, which gave him however a very ridiculous air, and which, joined to the badness of his physiognomy, made him exactly resemble a man going to pay an amende bonourable, that is, suffer some scandalous punishment. Whether from religion or natural reluctance, we could never prevail with him to eat any sless, we had still some fish left, which he himself had sent us the evening before: he eat of this, and drank pure water.

After the repast we were willing to speak about business; but he told us at once, that after having maturely considered the proposal we had made him, he could neither spare us Don Antonio nor any other of his people for guides to conduct us to St. Augustin, as there were numerous nations on the way we must of necessity take, with whom he was actually at war. I do not know whether we now

now did not feriously repent of having on such slight grounds abandoned the Adour; for after Don Diego less us, the canoe was fent to her, but those who visited her reported, that the Indians had entirely demolished her, and that she was filling full of water.

On the twenty-third, the boat was finished, and we began to think in good earnest of coming to some final resolution. Two ways offered, on which the opinions were divided; the first were for risking the passage to the Havannah, and the others for pursuing the coast to St. Augustin. The last seemed to be the safest, as the first was the shortest. But had this been solid, it ought to have been resolved upon the day after we were cast away, or rather we ought to have sent our long-boat to inform the governor of our situation, and pray him to send us a brigantine. The rigging only of the Adour, would have been sufficient to have indemnished him for his expences.

Be this as it will, the greatest part of our company were for this last resolution; and it was impossible for me to bring them to any other. were forty in number, they demanded the longboat and canoe, and we were obliged to comply. The captain of the Adour was of this number. Had it not been for this reason, I should have thought myself obliged in duty to accompany them; but there was a necessity of dividing their spiritual affistance, as well as the victuals and other stores. On the morrow after mess, the chaplain, who was a Dominican, would have me to bless the three vessels; I obeyed, and baptized the boat, to which I gave the name of the Saint Saviour. In the evening after prayers, I made one last effort to bring the

the whole company to an unanimous way of thinking; I easily obtained that they should all set out together next day, and encamp in the island which was farthest in the offing, and take our resolution as the wind favoured.

We fet out in effect on the twenty-fifth at noon, and failed together for feveral leagues; but towards fun-fet we faw the long-boat thread the channel, which must be crossed to get to the Havannah, without ever considering the canoe, whose provisions they had on board, and who not being in condition to follow them, was obliged to join us: we received them kindly, altho' there was one among them with whom we had no reason to be satisfied. We landed on the island, where we intended to rendezvous, and where a body of Indians had already landed, with what design we know not: we kept on our guard all night, and set out early in the morning.

The weather was delightful, the sea calm and pleasant, and our crew began to envy the lot of the long-boat. They even began to murmur very foon, and our chiefs thought it prudent to feem defirous of fatisfying them. We therefore took the course of the channel. Two hours afterwards the wind blew fresher, and we thought we discovered the appearances of an approaching storm. There was no body then who did not agree, that it would be a rash thing to hazard so long a passage in such veffels as ours, nothing being weaker than our boat, which made water every where. But as in order to go to St. Augustin, we should have been under a necessity of failing back again the whole way we had come hitherto, we came to an unanimous resolution to return by the way of Biloxi.

We therefore made sail westward, but could advance no great way that day, and were obliged to pass the whole night in the boat, where there was far from room sufficient for all of us to lie at our whole length. On the twenty-seventh we encamped in an island where we found the cabins abandoned, the roads beaten, and the traces of Spanish shoes. This island is the first of those called the Tortuës; the soil is the same with that of the isles aux Martyrs. I cannot conceive what men can have to do in so wretched places, and so remote from all manner of habitations. We continued to sail westward, and advanced with a rapidity which could only come from the currents.

We advanced likewise considerably on the twenty-eighth till noon; altho' we had very little wind, the islands seemed to ride post past us. At noon we took an observation of the latitude, and sound ourselves in twenty four degrees, sifteen minutes north. Had our sea charts been correct we should have been at the western extremity of the Tortuës. It was pretty hazardous to trust ourselves in the open sea, and had I had the management, we had left all these islands on our larboard side; but our conductors were assaid of missing the passage between them and the continent. They had all reason to repent it, for we were afterwards two whole days without seeing land, tho' we sailed always north or north-east.

Then despair seized our crew, and a single squall of wind, such as we had often experienced, could have sent us to the bottom. Even a calm was attended with inconveniences, as we were obliged to row all night, and the heat was excessive. The sailors had reason to be distatisfied, the obstinacy of

a few men having exposed us to the great hazard we were in; but the evil was already done, so that we wanted something different from murmuring to set us to rights. Since our departure to Louisiana, I could never prevail with most of them to approach the sacraments, and very sew of them had fulfilled the paschal duties. I profited of this occasion to prevail with the whole of them to promise to confess themselves, and to communicate as soon as we should come on shore. They had scarce promised this, when the land appeared.

We made strait towards it, and arrived before noon. On the twenty-fourth at noon, we were in twenty-fix degrees, fifty-six minutes. We had still the view of the main-land, without being able to approach it, it being skirted with peninsulas and islands, mostly very flat, barren, and between them scarce a passage for a canoe or bark. What we suffered most from was the want of water, there being none upon them. The following days we were often stopt by contrary winds, but found shelter every where, and sometimes a little hunting and sishing. Water was the only thing we could not find; I made use of this delay to bring the whole company to suffil their promise, to approach the sacraments.

It appears there are but few Indians in this whole country, only we faw one day four of them who came out towards us in a pirogue: we waited for them, but when they discovered us, they were afraid to come any farther, and made what haste they could back to the shore. On the tenth, we were obliged to retrench the allowance of spirituous liquors, which had been hitherto distributed among the crew, there remaining but little, which was thought

thought proper to referve for some more pressing occasion; we began likewise to be very frugal and sparing of our provision, especially the biscuit, part of which was spoiled; so that we were now reduced to the pure necessary, having often for a meal but a handful of rice, which we were obliged to boil in brackish water.

This coast is the dominion of oisters, as the great bank of Newfoundland and the gulf and river of St. Lawrence are that of the cod-fishes. All these low-lands, which we failed along as near as possible, are skirted with mangroves, to which are stuck a prodigious number of small oisters of an exquisite relish; others much larger and less delicate are found in the sea in such numbers, as to form shoals, which are at first taken for so many rocks level with the furface of the water. As we did not dare to go to any distance from shore, we often got into pretty deep bays or creeks, which we were obliged to coast quite round, and which lengthened our course prodigiously. But the moment the land disappeared, our crew thought themfelves wholly undone.

On the fifteenth in the morning, we met a Spanish shaltop, in which were about fifteen persons. These were part of a ship's crew that had been cast away near the river St. Martin. This missortune had befallen them about five and twenty days before, and they had but a very small shallop to contain forty-four persons, so that they were obliged to use it by turns, and consequently to make very short journies. This rencounter was to us a visible interposition of providence, for had it not been for the instructions which the Spanish captain gave us, we had never found the right course to steer, and

the uncertainty of what might become of us, might have prompted the mutineers amongst us to commit some act of violence, or perhaps even of despair.

The night following we were exposed to very great danger. We were all asleep in a very for all island, except three or four persons who guarded the boat: One of them had lighted his pipe, and imprudently laid the match on the edge of the boat just where the arms, powder, and provisions were kept in a cheft covered with a tarpaulin. fell asleep afterwards, and whilst he was in this condition the covering of the cheft took fire. flame awaked him as well as his other companions. and had they been a moment longer, the boat must have been blown up or shattered to pieces; and I leave you to think what must have become of us. being without any thing but a canoe, which could not have contained above one fixth part of our company, without provisions, arms, or ammunition, in a fandy island, on which nothing grew but a few blades of wild grass.

On the morrow, being the fixteenth, the canoe left us and joined the Spaniards. We had the wind contrary, and could not advance but with the lead in hand, the coast being so flat and covered with sharp flints in such manner at the distance of six leagues from it; our boat, which drew no more than two feet water, was every moment in danger of striking her bottom out. We were still under the same apprehensions the two sollowing days, and on the twentieth we encamped on an island, which forms the eastern point of the Baye des Apaleches. All night we perceived fires on the continent, which Vol. II.

we were very near, and we had observed the same thing for some days past.

The twenty-first, we set out in a very thick fog, which being soon dispersed, we perceived the balises or sea marks, which the Spaniards directed us to follow. We did this by steering north, and we saw that had it not been for this assistance, it would have been impossible for us to have shunned the sand-banks, with which this whole coast is covered, and which are full of oisters. About ten o'clock we perceived a small stone-fort, of a square form, with regular bastions; we immediately hung out the white-stag, and immediately after were told in French to proceed no farther.

We stopt, and immediately discovered a pirogue coming out to us, in which were three people. One of them was a native of Bayonne; he had been a gunner in Louisiana, and had the same employment at St. Mark: After the common questions, the gunner was of opinion, that the captain of the Adour and I only should go to speak with the governor: we went, and were very well received. This governor was a simple lieutenant, but a man of good fense; he made no difficulty of letting us bring our boat opposite to the fort; invited our officers and the principal passengers to dinner; but not till he had first examined our boat, and had transported into his magazine our arms and ammunition, on his parole to deliver them when we should want to depart.

This post, which Mons. Delille has marked in his map under the name of Ste. Marie d'Apalache, was never known by any other but that of St. Mark. The Spaniards formerly had a very confiderable

fiderable fettlement here, but which was already reduced to a very low estate, when in 1704 it was entirely destroyed by the English of Carolina, accompanied with a great number of Alibamoŭ Indians. The Spanish garrison, consisting of thirty-two men, were made prisoners of war; but the Indians burnt seventeen of them, amongst whom were three Franciscan friars; and of seven thousand Apalaches which were in this canton, and who had almost all embraced the christian religion, there now remain only four hundred at St. Mark, who retired hither from the coast of the Maubile, where most of the nation now dwell.

The forests and meadows near the fort are full of buffaloes and horses, which the Spaniards suffer to run about wild, and fend out Indians to catch them with noofes as they want them. Indians are likewife Apalaches, who had probably retired to a distance during the irruption of the English, and who came back after these were gone away. Moreover, this bay is precifely the fame that Garcilasso de la Vega calls, in his history of Florida, the port of duté. The fort is built on a Imail eminence furrounded with marshes, and a little above the confluence of the two rivers, one of which comes from the north-east, and the other from the north-west. These are narrow and full of alligators, but for all that well stocked with fish.

Two leagues higher, on the river of the northwest, stands a village of the Apalaches, and another a league and an half from the first, within the land. This nation, formerly exceeding numerous, and which, divided into several cantons, occupied a vast extent of country, is now reduced to a very low estate. They have long since embraced the christian religion; however, the Spaniards put no great confidence in them, and in so doing act very wisely: for, besides that these christians, who have been destitute of all spiritual assistance for many years, are only such in name; their conquerors at first treated them with so much severity, that they ought always to consider them as enemies not quite reconciled. It is very difficult to make good christians of people, who were begun to be converted by making christianity odious to them.

We were told at St. Mark, that a resolution had been taken to re-establish it on its former footing, and that they expected five thousand families: this is much more than the Spaniards of Florida are capable of furnishing. The country is charming, well wooded, well watered, and it is faid, the more vou advance up the country, the more fertile the They confirmed to us in the fort, what the foil. Spaniards we had met with had told us, that the Indians at the lile of Martyrs, with their king Don Diego, were a good-for-nothing fort of folks, and that if we had not kept strictly on our guard, they had certainly played us some scurvy trick. They also told us, that a Spanish brigantine had been lately cast away near the place, where we saw the four Indians in a pirogue, and that the whole crew had been empaled and eaten by those savages.

St. Mark is dependent on St. Augustin, both in a civil and military respect; as it is on the Havannah in spiritual matters. The chaplain, however, is sent by the convent of the Franciscans of St. Augustin. I met with one of them here, who was a very amiable person, and one who did us

considerable services: he gave us to understand that the commandant of St. Mark intended to detain us, till he should send advice of our arrival to the governor of St. Augustin, and should receive his I begged of this officer, that provided he had fufficient to maintain us all the time, we might be permitted to remain with him; as what provisions we had left, were scarce enough to carry us to Louisiana. He acquitted himself extremely well of his commission, and the discourse he made, accompanied with fome prefents which he hinted we should offer the commandant, had all the effect we hoped for from it. This officer, even frankly, offered us the guides we asked to carry us to St. Joseph, which lies thirty leagues from St. Mark, and to which they advertised us the course was very difficult to find. This obliged us to tarry the next day, and I was not displeased at it; as, besides that I was as well lodged in the fort as the Franciscan governor, (a distinction shewn to me alone, and which I owed to my habit) I was glad to furvey the parts adjacent to the fort. There is a way over land from St. Mark to St. Augustin, the diftance of which is fourfcore leagues, and the road exceeding bad.

We fet out the twenty third in the morning, and on the twenty fifth about ten o'clock, our guides made us undertake a traverse of three leagues, to get into a kind of channel formed by the continent on one side, and on the other by a series of islands of different extent. Had it not been for them, we durst never have ventured to engage in it, and so had missed the bay of St. Joseph. However, we were out of provisions, and the difficulty of sinding water encreased every day. One evening that we dug ten paces from the sea on a pretty rising Z 3 ground,

ground, we could find nothing but brackish water, which we found impossible to drink. I bethought myself of making a hole of a small depth on the very brink of the sea, and in the sand; it was presently silled with water, as sweet and clear as if it had been drawn from the most limpid stream; but after I had drawn up one quart of it, the spring dried up entirely, from whence I concluded it was rain water that had been collected in this spot, having sound the bottom very hard; and I imagine that to be very often the case.

After we had got a-head of the island, we advanced under fail till ten o'clock. Then the wind fell, but the tide, which began to ebb, supplied its place, so that we continued to make way all the night. This is the first time I observed any regular tides in the Gulf of Mexico, and our two Spaniards told us that from this place to Pensacola, the flux is twelve hours, and the reflux the same. On the morrow the twenty fixth, a contrary wind kept us till evening in an island indifferently well wooded, ten or twelve leagues long, and where we killed as many larks and wood-cocks as we could defire: we also saw a great number of rattle-snakes. Our guides called it the Island of Dogs; and from the first part of it we came to, they reckoned ten leagues to St. Mark and fifteen to St. Joseph; but they were certainly deceived with respect to this last article, there being at least twenty, and these very long.

On the twenty seventh at eleven at night, we struck upon a bank of oisters, which were about the size of the crown of my hat, and we were about an hour in getting clear of it. We went to pass the rest of the night in a country house belonging to a

captain of the garrison of fort St. Joseph, called Dioniz, where at our arrival he told us strangenews.

He affured us that all Louisiana was evacuated by the French; that a large vessel of that nation had appeared at the Island aux Vaisseau, and had taken on board the governour, directors, and all the officers; that after their departure, the Indians had massacred all the rest of the inhabitants and soldiers, except a small number who had escaped on board of two coasters; that being in want of provisions, they had gone to the bay of St. Joseph; that those who came first had been well received, but that the others were not suffered to land, for fear lest so many French in one body, might be tempted to make themselves masters of that post, which we had formerly occupied.

This whole account carried fo little probability in it, that I could not possibly believe it, but was fo well circumflanced, and told by people who had so little interest in deceiving us, and who being at only feven leagues distance from St. Joseph, might have daily intelligence from thence, that it feemed hard to get over allowing it had fome foun-Most of our people were in great consternation at it; and I even felt that these general panicks touch the heart in spite of all our endeavours and understanding, and that it is impossible not to feel some fear amidst a number of persons who are feized with that passion, or to help lamenting with those who shed tears. I could by no means credit what they told me, but for all that, I had very little confidence that it was not fo.

However, our crew, in spite of their despair, finding plenty of provisions, and the domestic ser-

vants of Don Dioniz very obliging, made good cheer all the rest of the night: next morning our guides took their leave of us, according to their orders. We had now no need of them, for besides the impossibility of losing our way to St. Joseph, we met at the house of Don Dioniz, a Frenchman who was a soldier in his company, and formerly a deserter from the Maubile, who was grown weary of the Spanish service, where he was dying of hunger, as he said, tho' he had good enough pay: we had no great difficulty to prevail with him to accompany us to St. Joseph, and from thence to Louisiana, provided he were able to obtain his ditcharge.

We arrived at five in the evening at St. Joseph, were we were perfectly well received by the governor. Here we met with two large shallops from Biloxi with four French officers, who had come to claim some deserters, but sound them not. We had seen them on the day of Pentecoste, in a small vessel which was under fail, and went close by us. They did not probably touch at St. Joseph, and in order to conceal their being deserters, had given out the news which had alarmed us so much the evening before. Two Franciscans who officiated in the chapel of the fort, being informed of my arrival, came to offer me a bed in their house, which I thankfully accepted.

Moreover, I do not believe there is a place in the known world, where one would think there was less likelihood of meeting with men, especially Europeans, than at St. Joseph. The situation of this bay, its shores, the soil, every thing near it, and indeed every circumstance about it, render the reasons of such a choice utterly incomprehensible,

A flat coast, and that quite exposed to all the wincis that blow, a barren sand, a country lost and hid from all the world, and without the least commerce, and without being fit for even an entrepot or repository, could only be chosen out of that jealousy, which our settling Louisiana has occasioned in the minds of the Spaniards. We had been guilty of this folly before them, but this lasted not long. There is reason to believe that they too will soon repent their choice, and that after they shall have re-established Pensacola, they will transport thither every thing they have at St. Joseph.

The fort is not even situated in the bay, but in the bight of a crooked point in which there is an island. This fort is built only of earth, but that well lined with palisadoes, and desended with a numerous artillery. There is also a pretty strong garrison, an etat major compleat, and almost all the officers have their families with them. Their houses are neat and commodious, indifferently well furnished, but in the streets you walk up to the ankle in sand. The ladies never come abroad but when they go to church, and that always with a train and a gravity which is not to be seen any where but amongst the Spaniards.

Next day after our arrival, which was on the twenty ninth, there was a grand dinner at the ferjeant major's. We had feen this officer formerly at Louisiana, and had treated him magnificently, so that he was ravished with this opportunity of shewing his gratitude.

He had entered into a particular intimacy and friendship with Mons. Hubert, who was then commissiaire ordannateur, a kind of surveyor, and who

was then with us. We learnt that a daughter of his friend three years of age, and whom her father was conveying back into France, was no more than fprinkled, and he was therefore defirous the remaining part of the ceremonies of the Sacrament of Baptism should be performed here, and that he should stand godfather. This was performed with great ceremony, and under a discharge of the cannon; the godmother was a niece of the governor's, who gave at night a magnificent supper, and by an excess of politeness, rare enough amongst Spaniards, would have the ladies to be prefent at it. He concluded fo many civilities with furnishing us with provisions to enable us to continue our carrey, tho' he had not as yet received the convoy which was to supply him with provisions from the Havannah, and had for that reales refused any to the officers of Biloxi: but our fituation had touched him extremely.

We fet out on the thirtieth, with the two shallops, and were faluted by the fort with five pieces of cannon. We advanced seven leagues that day, and came to an anchor at the mouth of a river which comes from a bay which opens to the foutheast. At eleven at a the wind becoming favourable, we took the advantage of it and failed west north west; the whole coast lies open to the fame winds for twenty leagues, as far as the island of Saint Rose; and there is not one place where you can be sheltered from the squalls or gales of wind which should come large or full upon the shore. On the thirty first at four in the afternoon, we had failed these twenty leagues, and came to an anchor behind the island, which incloses the great bay of St. Rose, the entry of which is dangerous when the sea is high. Had we been but a moment later later we should have been hard put to it, the wind changing suddenly from north-east to south-west, and the sea rising so high at the same instant, that it had been impossible for us to ride it out.

On the first of June, towards two or three in the morning, the tide beginning to flow we reimbarked, and after advancing a short league, entered the channel of St. Rose, which is fourteen leagues in length. It is formed by the island of St. Rose which is of this length, but very narrow, appearing to be covered with fand, but for all that not ill wooded: the continent is very high, and bears trees of all forts: the foil is almost as fandy as at St. Mark, but on digging even so short a way into the ground, you meet with water. wood here is very hard, but easily rots. coast swarms with game, and the sea with fish. The channel is narrow at the mouth, but grows broader afterwards, and retains as far as the Bay of Penfacola half a league of breadth; the current here was very strong, but favourable for us.

Towards eleven o'clock, we doubled the Pointe aux Chevreuils, or Roebuck point, beyond which the bay begins. Here you turn first to the north, and afterwards to the north-east. The fort stands a short league farther, and you discover it from the point aux Chevreuils. We arrived here at noon, and were much surprised to see it in so bad a condition, and it appears to be pretty much neglected. The Sieur Carpeau de Montigni who commands in it, was gone to Biloxi, and we only found a few soldiers in it. The Spanish fort which was taken two years ago by the Count de Champmélin, was behind this, and there remains nothing of it but a very sine cistern, which is said to have cost sour-

teen thousand piastres building. Both of them stand on the island, almost close to the main land, and not above fisteen toises long; and the soil of which appear to be none of the best.

The bay of Pensacola would be a very good port, were it not for the worms which eat thro' the bottoms of ships, and if its entry had a little more depth of water. But the Hercules, on board of which Mons. Champmelin was, struck upon it. This entry is directly between the western extremity of St. Rose, where the Spaniards had also built a fort, and a reef of rocks. It is so narrow that one ship only can pass at a time: its opening lies north and south. Beyond the reef is another pass, where there is only water for small vessels, and which opens to the south-west. This is also very narrow. The anchorage of ships in the bay of Pensacola, is along the island of St. Rose, and is very good holding ground.

We fet out from Penfacola at midnight, and about four in the morning we left on our right the Rio de los Perdidos: this river was so named, because a Spanish ship was cast away in it, and all the crew lost. The island Dauphine is five leagues farther on the left, and is five leagues long, but very narrow. Here is at least one half of this island without a single tree on it, and the other is not a whit better. The fort, and the only human habitation remaining on it, are in the western part Between this, and the Isle a Corne, which is about a league distant, there is scarce any water. At the end of this, is another very small one called l'isle Ronde, on account of its figure. We passed the night on this last.

(349)

Opposite, is the Baye des Pascagoulas, where Madame de Chaumont has a grant, which is not likely very soon to repay the money advanced on it. There is a river of the same name which comes from the north, and discharges itself into the same bay. Next day about ten o'clock, one of our sailors died of a quinsey. This is the only man we lost in our tiresome and dangerous passage. An hour after we came to an anchor at Biloxi, where every body was assonished to see us. I went immediately to celebrate the Holy Mass, to render thanks to Almighty God, for having supported us amidst so many fatigues, and delivered us from so many dangers.

I am, &c.

LETTER XXXV.

Voyage from Biloxi to Cape François in St. Domingo.

Cape François, September 6, 1722:

Madam,

That you fould hear no more from me, till I should arrive at Cape François, for fear I should not be able to keep my word, and indeed my apprehensions were very near being justified by the event. I am, however, at last arrived at this so long defired harbour, having entered it at a time when we had almost lost all hopes of ever seeing it. But before I enlarge upon the adventures of this voyage, I must resume the course of my journal.

The first news we learned upon our arrival at Biloxi was, that a peace was concluded with Spain, and a durable alliance agreed on betwixt the two crowns. One article of the peace was, the restitution of Pensacola, the news of which was brought to Louisiana by Dom. Alexander Walcop, an Irishman,

man, and captain of a vessel in New-Spain. He had embarked at la Vera Cruz on board a brigantine, commanded by Dom. Augustin Spinola, and carrying one hundred and fifty men, and mounting fourteen pieces of cannon. It is given out here, that the Spaniards intend to make a great settlement at Pensacola, and to transport thither the garrison with the whole inhabitants of St. Joseph; and that D. Alexander Walcop is to be the governor, who is a man of an exceeding good appearance, great piety, and extreme good sense.

D. Augustin Spinola is a young man full of fire, and of a very amiable character; his fentiments and behaviour fufficiently declare his high birth, and are every way worthy of the name he bears. He is lieutenant of the vessel, and has engaged to ferve three years in Mexico, after which he proposes to return to Spain, and there to settle. was a good deal chagrined on being informed, that an English interloper called Marshal, had just left the road of Biloxi, where he had been carrying on a considerable trade with the French as he This man would not have gone, faying he was not afraid of the Spaniards, had not M. de Bienville obliged him to it, not chusing to be spectator of a combat, which our officers imagined would not end in the favour of the aggressors though fuperior in force. We shall soon see if they were mistaken in this advantageous idea they had conceived of Marshal.

Notwithstanding some of the company's ships had brought in some provisions to Louisiana, yet the scarcity there was still very great, and the discontent of the inhabitants encreased every day so much, that in spite of all the care M. de Bienville took

to make them eafy, nothing was heard of but schemes for deserting. Besides, the sloop which we had met on the route from St. Mark to St. Joseph, all the Swiss, who were at Biloxi with their captain and officers at their head, having been ordered for New Orleans on board a coaster, which had been extremely well victualled and fitted out on purpose for them, instead of steering for the Missisfippi, had been seen with their colours slying, standing for the eastward; and it was not doubted, intended for Carolina, as being all protestants, there was no probability of their stopping any where among the Spaniards *.

Finally, I discovered on the 8th of June a confpiracy formed to carry off the Spanish brigantine. About seven o'clock in the evening, I got secret information of it, and was affured that before nine o'clock it would be put in execution, the commander of the brigantine not being used to go on board before that time. The conspirators were to the number of an hundred and fifty, and their intention was, if they succeeded in their enterprize, to turn pirates. I immediately sent to give notice of it to M. de Bienville, who was then at table with D. Augustine Spinola, who rose up that instant and went on board, and the major of Biloxi had orders immediately to go the rounds.

From these different movements the conspirators perceived their design had taken air, and the major could not observe above four or sive men together, who making off as soon as he saw them, he was not able to lay hold on any of them, so that it was believed I had given a false alarm; but besides that for some time after, the soldiers and inhabitants were every day disappearing, some of these

Vol. II. A a desertors

^{*} We have fince learned that they have gone there.

deserters being retaken, confessed the conspiracy of which I had given information.

On the 12th, one of the chiefs of the Tchactas came to inform M. de Bienville, that the English had made them great promises, to bring them over to their interest, and to engage them to have no more commerce with the French. On this occasion the commandant gave a proof of his great dexterity in managing the Indians. He so well cajoled this chief, that, by means of a few inconfiderable prefents, he fent him back extremely well disposed to remain firm in our alliance. This nation would have occasioned us great trouble, had they declared against us; the Chicachas, Natchez, and Yasous would have immediately joined them, and there would have been no longer any fafety in our navigating on the Mississippi; even though these four nations had not carried all the rest along with them; which, however, in all probability, would have been the case.

About the end of the month, an inhabitant of the country of the Illinois, who had been trading at the Missouri, arrived at Biloxi, and gave an account, that he and one or two Frenchmen more, having penetrated as far as the Octotatas, who in 1719 defeated the Spaniards, in the manner already mentioned, had been very well received by them; and that the goods they had carried along with them, had produced seven or eight hundred franks of silver, partly wrought, and partly in ingots; that some of these Indians had accompanied them as far as the Illinois, and had assured M. de Boisbriant, that the Spaniards, from whom they had taken that money, got it from a mine at no

great distance from the place, where they encountered with them; and that they had offered to conduct the French thither, which offer the commandant had accepted. Time will inform us, whether these Indians have been more fincere than many others, who for a long time had been endeavouring to draw the French amongst them, with this bait of their having mines, all which have hitherto proved only imaginary *.

On the 22d, I embarked on board the Bellona, which fet fail on the 30th. On the second of July, we reckoned ourselves north and south of Penfacola, from whence we thought it best to depart; because the longitude of the mouth of the Mississippi is not, as yet, well determined. Since that time till the twentieth, nothing remarkable happened. We had then the fun directly above our heads, and in our voyage from the Martyrs to Biloxi, had laboured under the greatest heats of the folflice, without being able to defend ourselves against them in any shape, no more than against the dews which fell during the nights in great abundance. Yet, would you believe it, Madam, we fuffered much less from the heat in this stason, than we had done in the month of April, before our ship-wieck.

Nothing is, however, more certain, and I then called to mind, that I had been often much surprized to see persons born within the tropicks complaining heavily of the great heats in France. We were in the same situation in the month of April, we then experienced the same heats which

This mine has never been heard of fince that time.

Aa2

are felt in France and even in Italy; in the month of July, during the dog-days, we had the fun above our heads, and the heat was certainly much greater, but more supportable. This difference does not arise from the winds, for we not only had them, but always have the same in both seasons. Neither was it owing to their being more accustomed to them, for we were not subject to those continual sweats which had been so troublesome to us in the month of April.

We must therefore search for some other reason. and this readily prefents itself to me. In the spring, the air is still full of those vapours which have been collected during the winter. These vapours, at the approach of the fun, are at first set on fire, and this is what occasions those unsufferable heats and profuse sweats with which we were oppressed in the month of April; we were almost always as it were in Balneo Mariae. These vapours are disfipated in the month of July, and though the fun was much nearer us, the least air of wind was sufficient to refresh us, by blunting the vigour of his rays, then almost perpendicular over our heads; whereas in France the fun never thoroughly diffipates the vapours, as he does between the tropicks, at least they are here not near so gross, which is the cause that produces, not only the difference of heat, but likewise of the sensation of that heat.

On the twentieth, we discovered the same land of Cuba which we had seen seven days, three months before. Two things occasioned this delay. The first was, the not being able to depend upon an observation, when the sun is so high, because

cause at that time his rays make no sensible angle: on which account, when there is the least suspicion of being near the land, sailors dare not carry much sail in the night-time. The second was, that the captain of the Bellona was resolved to touch at the Havannah; and, being persuaded, that the currents set to the east, he made as much westing as he thought necessary, not to overshoot his port.

He was, however, very near passing by the Havannah, without knowing it. I was told, early in the morning, that they faw land; I asked how it appeared, and from the description he gave me, I was certain, that it was Cape de Sed. They laughed at me, and two officers of the Adour, who were with us, were the first to maintain that I was mistaken. I got upon deck and still persisted in my opinion contrary to that of the whole crew, our pilots affuring us, that we were fixty leagues farther to the west. At sun-set I perceived the table of Marianne, but I was still singular in my opinion; in the meantime we had a contrary wind, which obliged us to tack all night, standing out to fea-wards, and then afterwards, in towards the fhore.

On the morrow, at mid-day, we were still in sight of the two lands which had been the subject of our dispute, when drawing nearer the shore, we perceived the Havannah before us, which gave great joy to the captain, he having a large private adventure, which he expected to dispose of to advantage among the Spaniards. His interest did not concern me; but if we had been farther out at sea, and had not had contrary winds during the

A a 3

night, the mistakes and obstinacy of our pilots and officers had cost us dear. The wind was fair for the Havannah, and about five in the evening we were about a league from it, when we fired two guns, one upon hoisting our colours, and the other after we had made a fignal with the ensign, for a pilot from the fort.

None appearing, it was refolved to fend the canoe to ask leave to go in; but it being now late, this was deferred till next day, and the whole night was spent in tacking. On the twenty-third, an officer of the Bellona went ashore, in order to ask the governor's permission to water and purchase provisions in his harbour; because we had not been able to lay in a sufficient quantity at Biloxi. This was only a pretence, which I did not then know, and the captain desiring me to accompany his officer, I thought myself obliged to comply with his request.

The entrance of the port of the Havannah lies north-west quarter west: on the less-hand, on going in, is a fort built upon a rock, at the soot of which all vessels must pass: it is called the fort du More. It is a solid building, and has three good batteries of brass cannon, one above the other. On the right-hand is a row of bastions, which seemed to me to be newly finished, or but lately repaired. The entrance is in this place but five or six hundred paces in breadth, and is shut up with an iron chain, which would stop a ship for a considerable time, till having shartered it with cannon-shot they should be able to break through it.

The passage grows afterwards a little larger. till you come to the town, which is about the diftance of two or three hundred paces. The channel turns from thence to the left beyond the town. which lies upon the right, and this is all 1 can fay of it, having been no farther. The town takes up the point of a peninfula; and the land fide, which is its whole length, is defended by a good wall with bassions. It has a very agreeable prospect, after you have passed the fort du More. The streets are well laid out, the quay large and in good condition, and the houses, for the most part, well built; the churches are pretty numerous, and some of them make a good appearance, but I did not visit any of them. In a word, a town in which there is twenty thousand inhabitants does not make a finer show, but the Havannah, as I have been told, has not near that number.

On my landing, I met with several sailors who had belonged to the Adour, and of those who had gone both in the shallop and in the canoe. first informed me, that they had been five days in making this port, from the place where they were cast away, having been almost the whole time in the most immediate danger of perishing. I had not time to learn, by what means the fecond had got there. But the furgeon who went on board our canoe at fort du More as our guide, took great pains to shew me Marshal's brigantine, mentioned in the beginning of this letter. He had cast anchor along-fide of a sloop so very small that it could not contain above fifteen or twenty men, who, however, carried her by boarding. It must be confessed, that the crews of the armed vessels belonging Aa4

belonging to Cuba and the neighbouring islands are very brave, our buccaneers having been enured to war: but considering the disproportion of force, the valour and cannon of the English, these last must needs have been surprized.

The governor received us coldly, and after having heard us, told us, that he should have been very glad to have granted our request, but that the King his master had tied his hands, in particular, expressly forbidding him to receive into the harbour any vessel coming from Louisiana. He added, that there were several places on the same coast, where we might stop without any danger, and furnish ourselves with what refreshments we stood in need of. We were obliged to rest contented with this answer, and after paying a visit to the rector of the jesuit's college in this city, I returned on board.

Next day being the 24th, we were north of the Pan of Matanzas, and at half an hour after eleven opposite to the Rio de Ciroca, where there is a Spanish settlement. But as the captain was resolved to try if he could succeed better at Matanzas than he had done at the Havannah; and we were still at the distance of seven leagues from it, he turned to and fro during the whole night; and, on the twenty sisth, at break of day we found ourselves at the entrance of the bay, which is two leagues over.

But, before you go in, you must first double a point which does not advance very far into the sea, then make a west course for the space of a league,

after which you perceive on the fame hand, being the right, another point, behind which lies the fort, and a large quarter of a league farther than the town of Matanzas, between two rivers which wash its walls on each fide. About ten o'clock an officer was fent to the fort in a canoe, who did not find the commandant at home. He informed the lieutenant of the pretended necessity we were in; but this officer told him, he could not take it upon himself to grant him the permission he demanded; that all he could do was to fend a courier to the Havannah, to know the intentions of the governor of that city, who was his general; and that if this fuited us, we might wait at anchor on the other fide, where we should be in more fafety.

This answer, together with the declaration which the pilots then thought fit to make, that they could not undertake to carry the veffel into the bay of Matanzas, by reason they were not sufficiently acquainted with it, at last determined the captain to continue his course, with all his adventure on board, for the sake of which he had made us lose at least sisteen days of our most precious time. The next day at six in the morning, we had still behind us and within sight the Pan of Matanzas, from which we reckoned ourselves distant from 12 to sisteen leagues; and, on the 27th, at sive in the morning, we discovered the land of Florida, from the mast-head.

Upon feeing this, we steered north-north-east; two hours afterwards, we steered a little more eastward, but at nine o'clock kept our former course, and found ourselves in the real current of

the gulph; for we went like an arrow out of a bow. At this time we saw the Adour from the mast-head, whose hull was almost entirely under water, and now perceived that she was not cast away at the northernmost of the Martyrs, as some had believed; for we were abreast of her at half an hour after ten, and half an hour after one, the last of these islands was still to the northward of us.

About three o'clock, we faw from the tops a breaker, close along-fide of which our course lay. and somewhat farther a shoal, which run out into the offing. This shoal seemed to be the end of the Martyrs, and in order to clear it, we steered the remaining part of the day fouth and by east, the current still carrying us to the northward, and about evening we made a north-east course. On the twenty eighth at mid-day, the pilot reckoned himself at the entrance of the gulph, being in twenty-five degrees thirty minutes; but, at half an hour after feven, fearing he was too near the land, he turned her head fouth-fouth-east till mid-night with a very good At mid-night he continued his former course; and on the twenty ninth we were out of light of land. At fun-fet we reckoned we were out of the gulph, but for the greater safety we steered north-north-east, till ten o'clock.

During all the rest of our voyage, till our arrival at cape François, we had light winds and frequently calms. From time to time there arose storms, when the sky and sea were on sire, and the vessel lying along on one side, went like the wind:

wind; but this did not last, and rain of a quarter of an hour's duration cleared the sky and laid the waves of the sea; which greatly resembled those persons, who are of a soft and mild temper, but are sometimes liable to violent sits of passion, which, however, are soon appealed. I imagine that the currents contribute to calm the sea so speedily after these violent agitations. They are indeed very sensibly felt throughout all this passage, and, besides, with their continual variation, disconcert the most expert pilots.

After leaving the gulph of Florida, the streight course for St. Domingo would be south-east; but the winds, which almost constantly blow from the eastern quarter, prevent this course being steered, so that it is necessary to go as high as Bermudas, which it would even be convenient to make, if possible, in order to be certain of the longitude. For want of this, vessels are sometimes obliged to go as far to the north-ward as the great bank of Newsoundland, that they may be sure of being far enough to the eastward to avoid all those rocks which lie to the northward of St. Domingo.

This great circuit, however, has not always been taken in going from the gulph of Mexico to this island. At the first discovery of the new world, after coasting along the northern side of Cuba, as far as point *Itaque*, which is its eastern extremity, about fourteen leagues from Matanzas, they turned to the right, leaving on the left all the Lucayo islands, of which Bahama is the chief. This is what is called the old

old straits of Bahama, in which there is water for the largest ship, but so full of rocks and shoals, that at present it is only used by small vessels.

After having made the latitude of thirty degrees and a half, our pilots reckoned themfelves far enough to the east to steer south, without fear of falling upon any of those shoals I have mentioned. They therefore fleered boldly to the fouth, and in a few days made great way, failing continually upon a fine fea, and carried along by the trade winds. On the twenty feventh of August the man who was looking out at the mast head, cried out Land, which occasioned a great joy, which, however, was but short; for on his coming down and being asked if it was high land, he answered that it was very low, consequently could be no other than one of the Caicoes or Turk islands.

We were very lucky in feeing them by day, for had we fallen in with them in the night, we must have been infallibly ship-wrecked and every person lost; for these islands have no banks, most of them are surrounded with reefs of rocks, which run far out to sea, between which there are small channels, where there is not water enough for a shallop. Besides, they are so very low, that they are not seen in the night-time, till one is upon them.

But our having discovered our danger did not save us; the land which we saw before us seem-

ed a pretty large island and well-wooded in several places, which made us conclude it was the Grand Caicos, and consequently that we were forty or fifty leagues too far to the westward. To gain our longitude, we must, perhaps, have been obliged to fleer two or three hundred leagues to the northward, and laid our account with a voyage of five or fix weeks. But this was impracticable; for we had scarce water and provisions for fifteen days, with the greatest economy. The captain was prodigiously embarraffed, he faw his pilots in the fault, he had reason to reproach himself with having reposed too much confidence in them, and not having taken an observation himself, and with having contantly preferred the opinion of the fecond pilot, a young blundering presumptuous fellow, to that of the first, who was a much abler and more experienced feaman, and never had approved their management.

It was, in the mean time, necessary to take a resolution on the spot: had we met with a gale of wind at north, it would have thrown us upon these low lands, where we must all have infallibly perished. But as no measure could be pitched upon which had not its inconveniencies, the captain resolved to have the advice of all the people. One propofed a fafe expedient, which was to bear away before the wind for Carolina, where we could arrive in ten or twelve days, and there purchase provisions. This advice was rejected and another followed, which put all to the hazard, and feemed to me to be folely inspired by despair; and this was to coast coast along the grand Caicos, till we came to the opening between all these rocks and the Bahama islands.

This is the passage for all the vessels which return from St. Domingo to France, but then there is nothing to fear, for they can take their own time to enter the straits, and this passage lying open to the north-west, they are almost certain of having good weather to carry them through it. But in order to enter on the side in which we were, we must reckon on the northeast, and it is a great chance to find the wind on that point. Thus none that we know of have as yet attempted this passage. In short, we were resolved to run all hazards, and drew near the grand Caicos.

Two hours after mid-day, we were no more than a cannon-shot from it, and, perhaps, we were the sirst, who without an indispensable necessity had ventured so near it in a ship. The coast is, however, very clear, and about seven or eight soot high, sometimes a little more, but steep and without any beach. The soil has not every where the appearance of barren. Geographers place this island directly under the tropick, which was a point we could not examine into, it being then hazy weather; but I believe it lies a little farther to the southward, for there certainly is not three degrees difference of latitude, between this island and cape François.

We coasted along the grand Caicos till four o'clock in the evening, having both wind and currents

currents in our favour. Then fending a man up to the mast-head to observe what was before us, he foon came down, telling us that he had feen the extremity of the island; but that beyond it he could discover nothing but low lands interfected with channels in which the water appeared entirely white. Upon hearing this, we thought proper to tack, and lay the vessel's head north-north-east. At mid-night we lay fouth-fouth-east, and it seemed as if the wind turned about at our pleasure; but it was very weak and the currents carried us with great violence to the westward; so that at break of day the low lands and shoals which we the evening before faw fo far a-head of us, were now almost as far behind us, and the passage we were in quest of began to open.

The moment now approached which was to decide our fate, and what gave us great hopes was, that the wind by degrees veered about to the north-east. At eleven o'clock we lay fouth-east one quarter fouth, and soon after fouth-east: but the currents made us fall so fast to leeward, that we scarce made a south course. At noon we had no observation, and the western point of the Caicos lay north quarter north-east. At last, in an hour's time we were got into the passage; and I cannot better explain to you what appeared on the faces of all, in proportion as we advanced in the channel, than by comparing it to what happens to those animals which are put into the receiver of an air-pump, and lie as dead when the air is almost all extracted out of it, but

but are restored to life by degrees, when it is suffered slowly to enter again.

We durst not, however, flatter ourselves with being able to make cape François, which lay to the windward, but we could not miss Port de paix, or at least Leogane; and after the extreme danger we had just escaped, we thought ourfelves very lucky, provided we could get into any harbour. At mid-night, we had a pretty violent gale of wind at fouth, but of short duration; and next day about nine o'clock in the morning, we perceived the land of St. Domingo, but cou'd not diffinguish what part it was all that day, it being very foggy. A vessel, which we reckoned from her appearance might be a privateer, took us up good part of the afternoon: we prepared feriously for an engagement, or rather to defend ourselves in case we should be attacked; for we did not change our course to give chace.

At last we discovered, she was only a small vessel, a hundred and sitty tons burthen at most, and was probably more assaid of us. By her course we imagined she had come out of Cape François, and seemed to be deep loaded. The whole night we made tacks to the north-east, with a little variation, which gained us ground, and as soon as it was day, we perceived to our great joy, that we were to the windward of cape François. We had a full view of it, and were almost close in with it, but there was so little wind, that we could not get in before the first of September, at sour o'clock in

(369)

the evening. Since that time I have not had as yet a moment to myself to give you an account of this country; and this letter is asked from me to put on board a vessel which is bound for Nants. I intend to depart myself in sisteen days for Havre de Grace, from whence I shall have the honour to write you once more.

I am, &c.

Vol. II. Bb LETTER

LETTER XXXVI.

Description of Cape François in St. Domingo. Return to France, and the Author's touching in England.

Rouen, January 5, 1723.

Madam,

I Staid but a day at Havre, not caring to miss the Rouen coach, and am come here to refresh myself after the longest and severest voyage I have ever as yet made at sea. I am now entirely recovered, and shall make use of the short leisure my waiting for the Paris coach affords me, to finish the account of all my adventures for these last two years and an half I have been rambling over the different parts of the world.

Cape François in St. Domingo, is the harbour where the French carry on the greatest trade in all America. Properly speaking, it is only a bay, not quite a league in depth, the entrance of which B b 2 is

is very wide: but this entrance is encumbered with reefs, in failing betwixt which too much precaution cannot be used. On going in, you must keep on your right along a point on which is a redoubt mounted with cannon; but it is customary before engaging in these narrow passes, where two ships cannot go a-breast, to get a pilot from the fort; and in order to prevent the desire of saving a pistole, which is his fee, from occasioning people to risk the losing their vessels, it is very wisely ordered, that this sum shall be paid, even should they come in without his assistance.

The town stands in the bottom of the bay, upon the right fide. It is not very confiderable, because almost all but those who are tradesmen, shop-keepers, soldiers, or inn-keepers, refide in the plain, as much as their duty will fuffer the officers; the exercise of justice, the magistrates; and the affairs of trade those who are concerned in it, that is to fay, almost all those who are reckoned here people of credit: fo that, in order to fee genteel company, you must go to the country. Thus nothing can be more charming than the plain, and the vallies betwixt the mountains with which it is furrounded. The houses are not magnificent but decent and convenient, and the roads are in a streight line, of a good breadth, bordered with hedges of citrons, and fometimes planted with large trees, and cut from space to space with rivulets of a clear fresh water. All the plantations seem very well cultivated, and are indeed very fine pleafure-houses: an air of ease is every where to be feen, which gives a great deal of pleasure.

This

This plain is the north-west extremity of that famous Vega Real, so much spoke of in the Spanish histories of St. Domingo, and faid to be eighty leagues in length, and by the famous bishop of Chiappa, Bartholomew de las Casas, to be watered by five and twenty thousand rivers. founding names cost the Spaniards nothing; these pretended rivers are, for the most part, nothing but small brooks, the number of which is indeed incredible, and would render this royal plain fomething more delightful and charming than the valley of Tempé, so much boasted of among the Greeks, if it did not lie within the torrid There are even places where the air is exzone. tremely wholfome, and heat supportable, such as that where the town of St. Jago de los Cavalleros has been built; and the fame thing may be faid of the vallies between the mountains, with which the plain of the Cape is bounded to the fouthward. They are beginning to be peopled, and will be foon more fo than the plain itself, on account that there are few fick people there; and that those who come from other places foon recover of their distempers, after all other remedies have failed of fuccess.

I was in all the plantations near the town, but had not leisure to make many observations on them. Besides, in the day-time it was extremely hot; and in the evening after sun-set, muskettoes and other such like insects prevented me from walking far. These insects six particularly upon new comers, who have a tenderer skin and fresher blood. I have been informed, that in the Spanish part of this island, they are free from this inconvenience; but in recompence we have no venomous serpents, of which they have great numbers.

B b 3

It has likewise been observed to me, that all garden stuff, except lettuce, must in this island be renewed every year with seed from Europe.

The most curious things I have seen here are the fugar-mills; but I shall fay nothing of them, as father Labat has treated of them in a much better manner than I can pretend to do. Next to the fugar, the greatest riches of this colony confifts in the Indigo, which the same author has likewise handled very learnedly. This plant has an irreconcileable enemy, which makes as great havock amongst it, as darnel does among our corn. It is an herb called Mal nommée, and in fpringing from the earth carries a feed which spreads every where. It grows in a tust, and by its bulk, and prodigious fruitfulness, stifles the Indigo in such a manner that it kills it; so that if it makes the least progress in a field, it is entirely loft.

The coasts of St. Domingo are not very plentifully supplied with fish; but a little out at sea, all forts of them are to be found. Coming from Louisiana, we caught, in particular, a great many gilt-heads or bonettas, upon which fish our seamen pretend to have made a very singular observation. Which is, that when this fish is catched before the moon comes to its height, its flesh is firm and of an exquisite taste, whereas when it is taken in the wane, it is insipid, of no consistence, and looks like slesh boiled to rags. It is true, that we experienced both the one and the other, in the two seasons; but that this always happens, and that the moon is really the cause of it, is what I cannot take upon me to affirm.

We departed from cape François in a merchant ship belonging to Havre called Louis de Bourbon, and commanded by one of the ablest navigators I have known: but we were scarce out at sea when we perceived that she made water in two places. so that during the whole passage, which lasted for ninety two days, they were obliged to pump morning and evening, which together with the scarcity of provisions, which, indeed, had been laid in, in abundance, but had been by no means managed during the first month, occasioned our captain to be frequently upon the point of touching at the Azores. We should have been reduced to greater inconveniencies still, had we fallen into the snare which a captain of an English ship laid for us, whom we fell in with about half way.

He had left Jamaica, in company with a fleet, of which, as he faid, he had been at first the best failor; but in loading his ship, having been so imprudent as to stow all his provisions in the same place, it happened, that in proportion as these were confumed, his veffel loft her trim, and by degrees that advantage he had over the rest, so that at last he was left behind by the whole fleet: we met-him, indeed, alone and going fo flowly, that compared with him our vessel, which was by no means a flyer, went like a bird; and he was afraid that his provision should entirely fail him, before he could reach England. He told us his uneafiness at this, and to explain himself better, invited . himself to dine on board us. He was answered, that he should be very welcome, and our captain shortened fail to wait for him.

B b 4

During

During dinner-time the conversation turned upon our course, and he asked us where we believed we The captain shewed him, at which he appeared surprized. He affured us afterwards that we were at least two hundred leagues farther advanced than we thought we were; which he endeavoured to prove by the last lands he had obferved. This gave great pleasure to the most part of our people, who were already very uneafy at fo long a paffage, and at being obliged to struggle continually against boistrous winds and a tempestuous fea, in a very crazy veffel. But I had some suspicion that the English Captain only said we were so far advanced, in order to induce us to part with some of our provisions. I communicated my suspicion to our captain, who told me he was of the fame opinion, and contented himself with treating our guest genteelly and evading his demand. continued his course upon his own reckoning, which he found so just, that he entered the channel the same day, and almost the same hour, he had faid some time before he would do.

On the second of December, without any apparent necessity, we went into Plymouth harbour, but our captain had certainly some business there. We found there la Thetis a King's frigate, which a gale of wind had entirely disabled, though it was her first voyage from Havre de Grace, where she had been built. She was under the command of the Chevalier de Fontenay, who was bound for the American islands against the pirates, who had lately taken a great many vessels. As soon as he knew I was in the harbour, he did me the honour of paying me a visit, before I could have the opportunity of paying my duty to him, and carried me on board his vessel, where I spent in a very agreeable

agreeable manner, all the time I was in this port.

Plymouth is one of the five large ports of England, and one of the finest in Europe. It is a double one, and before you enter it you must pass under the cannon of the citadel. From thence you turn to the right, in order to go into the town harbour, which is the smallest, and there the Thetis lay at an anchor. You turn to the lest, in order to enter the other harbour, where the King's vessels are laid up opposite to a magnificent arsenal. This harbour is of great extent, and we anchored at its mouth, because the wind was then fair to go higher up the channel.

The town of Plymouth is of no great confequence, but the country about it where I frequently amused myself with walking, is very agreeable. I have not seen a richer country: the weather was very mild, the fields as green as in spring; and I saw sheep of a monstrous size seeding upon them. Their wool is very good, but their flesh being too gross has a ball relish; their beef, on the other hand, is excellent, because it is very fat.

On the eve of the Conception and all the day of the festival, they never ceased ringing in one of the two belfreys which are at Plymouth; and though there were but two bells, I never heard ringing which gave me greater pleasure. I asked in whose honour this was done; for I suspected that it was not done in honour of the holy virgin, and was told that it was a custom in this country, when any one makes a great entertainment

tainment, to pay the ringers for their trouble. I likewise observed just upon the harbour, and not far from the town, a large and very ancient building, which was made use of for an inn, but did not seem to have been built for that purpose; I was told, that it was the remains of a celebrated abby of the Benedictines.

I should have been well pleased to take the tour of Plymouth and the country about it, but the Chevalier de Fontenay advised me against it; because every thing was then suspected in England, on account of the affair of the bishop of Rochester, which was still recent. I could not, indeed, appear in my habit at Plymouth, or in places that were inhabited, without being exposed to some infult, and it was too late to put on another dress, feveral of the English having seen me in my own, fo that I was reduced to the necessity of walking only in some fields near the harbour, where nobody was to be met with. I had, however, good company on board the Thetis. The Chevalier de Fontenay has been all over the world, and has besides, an understanding extremely well cultivated. I have feen and heard of him, instance of a generofity truly heroick. But what crowns all these estimable qualities, is a great fund of religion and fincere piety. He seems to have communicated his sentiments to his officers, whom I faw almost all of them present at the facraments, and nothing can be more edifying than his whole crew, by whom he is adored.

At last, on Christmas night, after I had celebrated three masses, we set sail, and the whole day had a fair wind. Two frigates of sifty guns each had weighed anchor two hours before us, which

we foon came up with. This furprized me, because we did not sail very well ourselves; but what aftonished me still more, was to see these vesfels under fail, which, if I had not feen them get under way, I should not have believed to be the same. which appeared to be so large in the harbour; on which I was told this was owing to a particular construction, and manner of rigging, contrived on purpose to draw the pirates into a snare; and that on this account they are called in the style of failors des Attrapes Lourdeaux. In effect, it is faid, that the pirates feeing them, and judging them from their appearance to be merchantmen, bear down upon them, as to a certain prey. But when they are engaged in fuch a manner as not to be able to extricate themselves, they find whom they have to deal with, and are taken in the trap without being able to make any resistance; so that of all the nations of Europe, the English are those whom the pirates stand most in sear of, and whom they use worst when they can get them into their hands.

The night following, we met with as terrible a ftorm, as I have feen for a long time in the Channel. The next day in the morning, though the wind was almost entirely fallen, the fea was still in such agitation as to terrify the boldest; we even shipped some feas which put us in great danger; one, in particular, came into the cabbin, when I was beginning to say mass, which prevented me from going on; and when about noon we got into Havre de Grace, every one asked us how we had been able to bear up against the tempest, which had made its effects be selt even in the harbour.

But they might have been still much more surprized how we came to stand it out, when two days after, our vessel being hauled ashore, sell to pieces through rottenness. This was the first news I heard after my arrival here. Judge you, Madam, on what tenure we held our lives on board such a vessel, during a voyage of eighteen hundred leagues, in a season when the sea is always in a sury; and what thanks we ought to render to Almighty God, not only for delivering us from so imminent a danger, but likewise for keeping it from our knowledge, which alone would have been sufficient to make us die a thousand times, through mere fear.

I am, &c.

F I N I S.

BOOKS Printed for R. and J. DODSLEY. at Tully's Head, in Pall-mall.

Just published, in two large Volumes, Octavo, illustrated with Maps and useful Cuts, Price 12 s.

A Practical Book for the Use of Schools.

Approved and made Use of by the most eminent Masters, entituled, HE Preceptor. Containing a General Course of Education. Wherein the first Principles of Polite Learning are laid down in a Way most suitable for trying the genius and advancing the Instruction of Youth.

In Twelve Parts, Viz.

- 1. On Reading, Speaking, and 7. On Logick. Writing Letters.
- 2. On Geometry.
- nomy.
- 4. On Chronology and History.
- 5. On Rhetorick and Poetry.
- 6. On Drawing.

- 8. On Natural History.
- 9. On Ethicks or Morality.
- 3. On Geography and Aftro- 10. On Trade and Commerce.
 - 11. On Laws and Government.
 - 12. On Human Life and Man-

The feveral Parts of this Compendium of Polite Learning, are executed in fo judicious a Manner, as to render them, not only necessary for Youth at Schools, but of Service to Gentlemen, who would either retain what they have formerly learned there, or acquire what has hitherto been feldom there taught.

2. Polymetis: or an Enquiry concerning the Works of the Roman Poets, and the Remains of the Ancient Artists. Being an attempt to illustrate them mutually from one another. By the Rev. Mr. Spence. Folio. Also, an Essay on Mr. Pope's Translation of Homer's Odyssey. Dialogues. By the fame Author. Second Edition Price bound in 12mo. 3s. 3. The

BOOKS Printed for R. and J. Dodsley.

- 3. The Letters of *Pliny* the Consul: With Occasional Remarks. By *William Melmoth*, Esq, in Two Volumes Octavo. Price bound 8 s. 3d Edition.
- 4. The Letters of Sir Thomas Fitzosborne, on several Subjects. By the Translator of Pliny's Letters. Third Edition. Price bound 5 s.
- 5. The Letters of Marcus Tullius Cicero, to several of his Friends. With Remarks. By William Melmoth, Esq. 3 Vol. 8vo. Price 15 s.
- 6. An Apology for the Life of Colley Cibber, Comedian and late Patentee of the Theatre Royal, with an Historical View of the Stage, during his own Time, written by himself. The 3d Edit. to which is added, a short Account of the Rise and Progress of the English Stage: Also a Dialogue on old Plays and Players, 8vo. Price bound 6 s.
- 7. The Memors of the Duke de Sully, Prime Minister of Henry IV. King of France. Translated from the French. 3 Vols. Quarto. Price 2 l. 2 s.
- 8. The Commentaries of Casar, translated into English. To which is prefixed, a Discourse concerning the Roman Art of War. By William Duncan, Professor of Philosophy in the University of Aberdeen. In one large Volume, Folio, illustrated with a great Number of Cuts, being the same Plates which were engraved for Dr. Clarke's Edition of the Latin. Price 3 l. 3 s. This Translation of Casar, without Cuts, is also printed in 2 Vols. 8vo. Price 10 s.

9. Travels

BOOKS Printed for R. and J. Dodsley.

- 9. Travels through Russia into Persia; and back through Russia, Germany, and Holland, including an historical Account of the British Trade over the Caspian Sea. To which are added, the Revolutions of Persia, and a particular History of the great Usurper Nadir Kouli. Illustrated with Maps and Copper-Plates. By Jonas Hanway, Merchant. In 2 Vols. Quarto. Price 1 l. 10. s.
- 10. A Collection of the best and most entertaining Voyages and Travels. 7 Vols. 12mo. Price 1 l. 1 s.
- shewing the French Encroachments upon the English, and also the just Limits of the Colonies of both Nations, neatly engrav'd and colour'd. Price 5 s.
- wherein the Significations of Words are illustrated by Examples from the best English Writers, 2 Vols. Folio. Price 4 l. 10 s. An Abridgment of the same Work, in which the Examples are excluded, is printed in 2 Vols. 8vo. Price 10 s.
- 13. A Map of the Middle British Colonies in North-America, with a printed Analysis of the same. Quarto. Price 9 s. sewed.
- 14. The Five Books of Polybius, translated from the Greek, by Mr. *Hampton*. Quarto. Price 11. 1s.
- 15. A New History of the East-Indies, ancient and modern, giving an Account of the Religion, Government,

BOOKS Printed for R. and J. Dodsley.

Government, Manners and Customs, Natural History, Revolutions, &c. of these Countries; and also an Account of the Rise, Progress, and present State of the Commerce of the Europeans to the Indies, 2 Vols. 8vo. Price 10. s.

- 16. An Account of the European Settlements in America, 2 Vols. 8vo. Price 8 s.
- 17. Conjunct Expeditions: or Expeditions which have been executed jointly by the Fleet and Army, from the Time of Cafar, to the Affair of Rochfort, &c. inclusive, by Thomas More Movelyneux, Esq; Price bound 7 s. 6 d.
- 18. Davila's Civil Wars of France. Translated from the *Italian*, by Mr. Farnworth, 2 Vols. 4to. Price bound 1 l. 15 s.
- 19. Travels into Ægypt, Palæstine, or the Holy-Land, Syria, Mesopotamia, Cyprus, and Candia, &c. By Richard Pococke, L. L. D. F. R. S. now Lord Bishop of Osfory. Illustrated with a great Number of fine Cuts, 2 Vols. Folio. Price bound 3 l. 3 s.
- 20. Miscellaneous Tracts, relating to Natural History, Husbandry and Physick. Translated from the Latin, by Mr. Stillingsleet. 8vo. Price sewed 3 s.
- 21. The Works of *Tacitus*, with Political Discourses upon that Author. By *Thomas Gordon*, Esq; 5 Vols. 12mo. Price bound 15 s.

I N E

OF THE

PRINCIPAL MATTERS,

Contained in these two Volumes.

N. B. The Letters mark the Volume, and the Figures the Pages.

A Benaquis. Of the village of these Indians at Beckancourt, i. 176. Of the Abenaquis village of St. Fran-

cis, i. 190. Of the Abenaquis nations, i. 283. Adour. The company's ship, the author goes on board

her, ii. 312. This vessel ill commanded, ii. 313, 314. She sets sail, ii. 315, 316. Bad management on board this vessel, ii. 318. She is cast away, ii. 319, &c.

Akansas. An Indian nation. Description of the river of Akansas, different tribes of that people, ii. 245, 246.

Mortality amongst these Indians, ii. 247.

Algonquins. Of the Algonquin language, i. 283. The inferior Abronquins, i. 284. The superior or true Algonquins, . . 85. Character of the Algonquin language, i. 300. Paracular properties of that language, i. 301, 302. Difference between the Huron and the Algonquin nations, i. 303. Origin of the war between the Algonquins and Iroquois, i. 304, &c. Consequences of that war, i. 308, 309.

Ambassadors. The manner of their reception amongst the

Natchez, ii. 271, &c.

Americans. Differtation on their origin: opinions of feveral learned authors who have handled this subject at large, Сc Vol. II.

INDEX.

large, i. 1, &c. To what this question may be reduced and how it may be answered, i. 47, &c.

Anticosti, Island of, its description, i. 88.

Apalaches; an Indian nation, ii. 339.

Arms, offensive and defensive of the Indians, i. 337, 338.

Association; in what manner it is punished amongst the Hurons, i. 33.

Affinibilis. Indians, their character, of the lake of the Affinibolis, i. 281, &c.

Autmoins. Jugglers of Acadia, ii. 178.

В

Bahama, opening the gulph of Bahama, ii. 361-2. Course from thence to St. Domingo, ii. 363. Old Straits of Bahama, ii. 364.

Palize, Island of, ii. 293, 294.

Bay, St. Bernard, ii. 309.

Bay of Mutanzas, its description, ii. 360.

Bay, Hudson's: the nations in its neighbourhood, i. 276, &c.

Bay of the Tsonnonthouans, its description, i. 340.

Eay of the Noquets, ii. 60.

Bay of the Stinkards, or fimply the Pay: fort and mission there, ii. 62. The Indians of this bay dance the dance of the Calumet, ii. 70.

Bayagoulas, an Indian nation, ii. 284.

Bank, (Great) of Newfoundland. Its description, i. 68, &c. Causes of the winds and fogs which prevail there, i. 70, &c.

Be. ver. See Castor.

Beckancourt, its fituation, i. 173. River of the same name, whence it has got that of the flinking river, i. 174-5.

Bellona. The company's vessel, the author embarks in her, ii. 355. The governor of Havannah resuses her entrance into his port, ii. 350. Mistake of her pilots in their reckoning, ii. 364. Their consustion in discovering land; what resolution they take, ii. 366. Its unexpected success; arrival at Cape François, ii. 367, 368.

Diloxi. Arrival at Biloxi, ii. 304. Description of the coast and road of Biloxi: origin of that name, ii. 304, 305.

INDEX.

Climate of Biloxi. Departure from thence. Remarks on its coast, ii. 310, 311. Return of the author and crew of the Adour to Biloxi, ii. 349. Second departure from thence, ii. 355.

Buffaloe, of the hunting of the Buffaloe in Canada, i. 203. Description of this animal, i. 204.

Buffaloe, Musked, its description, i. 205.

Birds. Of the principal kinds of birds in Canada, i. 238,

Bears: Superfitious preparations of the Indians for hunting that animal, i. 181, &c. He passes fix months without eating, i. 183. Manner of hunting the bears, ridiculous ceremony when one of them is killed, reception of the hunters at their return, i. 184, 185. Some particulars relating to this animal, i. 186.

C

Caicos. Description of the great Caicos, ii. 366.

Calumet. Of the Calumet of the Indians and its use, i. 320, 321. Of its origin, i. 322, 323. Description of the dance of the Calumet, ii. 67. Of the treaties made by means of that dance, ii. 70.

Canada; false notions entertained of it in France, i. 121, 122. Faults which have been committed in its settlement, i. 125, &c. Bad conduct with respect to the fur trade, i. 125, &c. Of the licences and their abuse, i. 127, &c. Alterations made in their money, i. 146. Difference between the Beaver of Canada and that of Europe, i. 151, 152. Lordships of Canada: commerce allowed to the gentlemen of the country, i. 172, 173. It is only known in France by its worst side, excessive cold which prevails there, i. 253, &c. Happy condition of its inhabitants, i. 263. Its extent, i. 279. Of its vines, i. 312. Why the trees have not leaves as yet in the month of May, i. 315.

Canadians. Creols of Canada; their happy condition, i. 263. Many of them know not how to profit by it, i. 264. Good and bad qualities of the Creols, i. 264, &c.

Canes in Louisiana, ii. 239.

Canoet of bark, their description, i. 294, 295. Carcajou; how it hunts the Elk, i. 201, 202.

Cc 2

Car-

INDEX.

Cardinali, a bird in Canada, i. 240.

Caribor, description of that animal, i. 202.

Cape François of St. Domingo, its description, ii. 371, 372. Of the plain of the Cape: observations on that colony, ii. 374. Departure from the Cape, ii. 375. Coffine, or Apalachina, a shrub, virtues of its leaves,

11. 305, 306.

Coffer, or Beaver, difference betwixt the leaves of Canada and that of Europe, i. 151, 152. Of the skin of the Peaver, i. 152, 153. Its Anatomical description, i. 153, 154. Of the green Beaver, and the dry Beaver, i. 157. Different uses made of the skin of the beaver, i. 158. Of the industry and labours of the beaver, i. 159, &c. Their foresight, i. 161, &c. Of the land Beavers, i. 163. Hunting of these animals, i. 164, &c. Some remarkable particulars of these amphibious creatures, i. 166, 167.

Caffor. Of the islands and nation of the Castor, ii. 47.

Coftoroum. What it is, i. 156.

Cataroccuy. Reflection on the fort of Catarocouy, and on the way that is taken to it, i. 292, 293. Description of the fort, i. 297. Route from that place to the Anse de la Famine, or Creek of Famine; description of the country, i. 312, &c.

Cedars. Two forts of in Canada, i. 247. White and red cedar, ii. 4.

Chambiy, fort of, its fituation, i. 252.

Charlevela. (Father) Author of this journal, his journey from Paris to Rochefort: his danger on the Loire, i. 63, 64. He embarks and fets fail, i. 68. Meets with a storm, i. 72, 73. His reception amongst the Poatewatamies, ii. 12. His departure from the Narrows for Michillimakinac, ii. 39. His adventure on the river St. Joseph, ii. 93. His departure from fort St. Joseph, ii. 184. The news which he hears at Pimiteouy, he finds himself between four parties of the enemies, ii. 205, 206. He is greatly embarrassed, ii. 207. Solicitude of the chief of Pimiteouy for his safety, ii. 210, 211. He baptizes the chiefs daughter, ii. 212. His departure from the Natchez, ii. 270. He embarks on board the Adour, ii. 312. He arrives at Havre de Grace, ii. 379.

Cats, wild of Louisiana, ii. 242.

Chaouacheis, an Indian nation, ii. 292.

Chapitoua'as, an Indian nation, ii. 287.

Chetimachas, an Indian nation, ii. 284.

Chicachas, an Indian nation, ii. 243. River of the Chicachas, ii. 244.

Chiefs, of the Indians: remarks on their names, ii. 23. Of the order of succession and election of these chiefs: of their power, ii. 23, 24. Of the war-chiefs, ii. 25. Citrons, of the narrows, ii. 17.

Colopissas, an Indian nation, ii. 285.

Collars, of Porcelaine or Wampum: their use amongst the Indians, i. 319, 320.

Cotton, on a tree of Louisiana, ii. 253. Observation on the root of that tree, ii. 283.

Council, held by three Indian nations, with the commandant at the Narrows: refult of it, ii. 8, &c. Of the affistants or counsellors at the Indian councils, ii. 24. Wisdom of these councils; of the orators who have right to speak in them, ii. 26, 27.

Currents. Observation on those in the lakes of Canada, ii. 78. Great currents between the Martyrs and the Turtle islands, ii. 334.

Cuba. Description of the Northern coast of that island, ii. 317.

Cypress of Louisiana: observation on its virtues, ii. 283.

Cows, sea; their description, and fishery of them, i. 226. Cold. Excessive in Canada, i. 254, 255. Inconveniencies occasioned by it, i. 256. Reslections on the causes of this great cold, i. 257, &c.

Compass, Observation on its variations, i. 96.

Corn putrified; use made of it by the Indians, ii. 124.

Crow of the Adour; measures they take for their safety, ii. 321. Are suspected by the passengers, ii. 323, 324. Their disorder, ii. 325. Dissention which follows; resolution of the officers, ii. 327. An English ship endeavours in vain to affish them, ii. 328. Deliberate what to do, they divide; greatest part return to Biloxi, ii. 332, 333. Their despair, provisions sail them, ii. 334, 335. Meet with some shipwreckt Spaniards; danger of being utterly lost, ii. 336, 337. Arrive at St. Mark of Apalache, ii. 338, 339. Departure from that place, ii. 341. Are salsely alarmed, ii. 343. Arrive at St. Joseph, ii. 344. Departure from thence, C c 3

11. 346. Arrive at Pensacola, ii 349. And at Biloxi, ii. 348. Cod. And its fishery, i. 73, &c.

D.

Dance of fire, amongst the Indians, its description, i. 347. Story on that subject, i. 348.

Dance, of the Calumet, its description, ii. 67, &c. Of the treatiles made by means of that dance, ii. 70. Other dances ii. 71. Dance of the Buffelo.

ther dances, ii. 71. Dance of the Buffalo, ii. 72. Dances prescribed by the physicians, ii. 72. Deluge. Tradition of a deluge among the Indians, ii.

228.

Description of the great bank of Newfoundland, i. 68, &c. Of a florm, i. 72, 73. Of the island of Anticosti, i. 58. Of Quebec, i. 99, &c. Of the mission of Lo-1etto, i. 110, &c. Of the town of the Trois Rivieres, i. 178. Of the Elk, i 197, 198. Of the wild Buftalo, and the musk Buffalo, i. 204, 205. Of the island and city of Montreal, i. 213. 214. Of the fea-wolf, i. 222, 223. Of the Rapides in the river St. Lawrence, i. 292, 293. Of the bark canoes, i. 394, 295. Of the fort of Catarocouy, i. 297. Of the fouthern coast of lake Ontario, i. 326, 327. Of the Snow-Shoes and carriages for baggage, i. 335, 336. Of the river of Casconchiagon, i. 339. Of the bay of the Tsonnonthouans, i. 240. Of the river of Niagara, i. 341. Of the country in the neighbourhood of that river, i. 345, 345. Of the fire dance, i. 347. Of the falls of Niagara, i. 353, Ge. Of lake Erie, ii. 2. Of lake Superior, ii. 43. Of the dance of the Calumet, ii 67, Cc. Of the Festival of dreams, ii. 159, Cc. Of the The kiki, il 197, 198. Of Kaskasquias, il. 221. Of the Miffisppi above the Illinois, ii. 224, &c. Of the country of the Natchez, ii. 257, &c. Of the great village and temple of the Natchez, ii. 253, &c. Of a festival among the Natchez, ii. 265. Of new Orleans, ii. 275, 276. Of the river and village of the Tonicas, ii. 279, 280. Of the mouths of the Missifippi, ii. 294, &c. Of the coast road and port of Biloxi,

ii. 304. Of the northern coast of Cuba, ii. 317. Of

the

the islands of the Martyrs, ii. 329. Of the country of Apulache, ii. 339. Of St. Joseph, ii. 344. Of the bay of Pensacola, ii. 348. Of the port of Havanna, ii. 358, 359. Of the bay of Matanzas, ii. 368. Of the grand Caicos, ii. 366. Of Cape François, ii. 372. Of the harbour of Plymouth, ii. 377.

Desertions frequent in Louisiana, ii. 352.

Doradoes, or Giltheads, a fish; observation on them, ii.

Don Dieps, Cacique of the Indians of the Martyrs, pays a visit to the French shipwreckt in the Adour, ii. 330.

His authority; he refuses the French guides to St.

Augustin, ii. 331.

Death. What passes at the death of the Indians, ii. 185, 186. Their generosity with respect to the dead: sunerals, tombs, apparitions, ii. 186, &c. Different customs with respect to the dead, ii. 189. What passes after burial; of their mourning, ii. 190. Notions of the Indians about those who die a violent death, ii. 192. Of the session of the dead, ii. 193. Manner of lamenting the dead amongst the Illinois, ii. 210.

Dreams, Of their nature according to the Indians, ii. 156. Story on that subject, ii. 157, 158. Manner in which they ditengage themselves from a dream, when it would be too troublesome to sulfil it, ii. 158, 159. Of the festival of dreams; description of one of those sessions.

ii. 159, &c.

E.

Eclipses. The Indians opinion of them, ii. 231. Erié. Description of lake Erié, ii. 2. Of the northern coast of that lake, ii. 3.

Eskimeaux, Indians; their character and customs, i. 273.

Eagles of two kinds in Canada, i. 237.

Elk; description of that animal, i. 197. When it ought to be hunted, i. 199. Different methods of hunting it, i. 20, 21. How the Canajou hunts it, i. 201, 202. Eels; of the fishery of eels in Canada, i. 261, 262.

English. Difference between the French and English colonies, i. 113. Fruitless opposition of the English to a set-Cc 4 tlement

tlement on the river Niagara, i. 344, 345. English ship attempts in vain to affist the crew of the Adour, ii. 328. English interloper at Biloxi; his fate, ii. 352. They endeavour to draw our allies from us, ii. 354. Rencounter with an English captain, his cunning, ii. 375. Artifice of the English to surprize pirates, ii. 379.

F.

Famine. Route from Catarocouy to the Anse de la Famine, or Creek of famine, i. 312, &c. Description of that place, i. 312, &c. Festival of the dead among the Indians of Canada, ii. 192, &c. Festival of the Natchez, ii. 265.

Fire. Description of the fire-dance: flory on that subject, i. 347. Religion of fire throughout Florida, ii. 273.

Florida. Inconveniencies of the coast of Florida, ii.

335.

Fountains, fingular, i. 340.

Forests of Louisiana, ii. 245.

French. Difference between the French and English colonies, i. 113. French destitute of spiritual succours among the Natchez, ii. 278. Their frequent desertions in Louisiana: conspiracy of some of them discovered, ii. 352, 353.

Funerals, of the Indians of Canada, ii. 187.

Fasts, of the Indians, ii. 148.

Fall of Montmorency, i. 100. Fall at the Recollet, i. 217.

Fall of St. Lewis: Iroquoise village at that fall, i, 218. Origin of that settlement, i. 269, 270. Religious zeal of its first inhabitants, i. 271.

Fish Of those that are found in the gulph and river of St Lawrence, i. 233, &c. Fish peculiar to Canada, i. 237. Fish armed; its description, how it hunts birds, i. 234, 235.

Firs. Bad conduct with respect to the Fur-trade, i. 124, &c. Of what is called the small surs or Peltry, i. 208,

G.

Gaspey. Bay and point of that name, i. 86.

Genii, good and evil according to the Indians, ii. 144.
Dispositions required to have a tutelary genius, ii. 145.
The Indians change sometimes their tutelary genius; and why, ii. 147. of evil Genii, ii. 165.

Gin-Seny. Of that of Canada, ii. 99. Gulph in the place of a mountain rooted up, i. 93. Gulph in the

river Missisppi, ii. 252.

Games. Of the game of the Platter or the Bones, ii. 13. Superstitious use of this game for the cure of the sick, ii. 15. Game of the straw, and other games used by the Miamis, ii. 102, &c.

Ghosts. From what reason the Indians believe in them, ii. 188.

H.

Havanna. Description of the harbour of Havanna, ii. 358, 359. The governor of that place resules a French thip the liberty of entering his port, ii. 360.

Hebrews. Refemblance of the Indians to the Hebrews,

ii. 150.

Hontan, (Baron de la) Ly, which he tells on account of the fair of Montreal, i. 200.

Horun, (George de) His opinions about the origin of the Americans, 32, &c.

Hurons. An Indian nation: of the people of the Huron language, ii. 288. Character of the Huron language, i. 299. Remarkable things of that language, i. 300. Difference between the people of the Huron nations, and those of the Algonquin nations, i. 303. Original of the war betwixt them and the Iroquois, i. 304, &c. Consequences of that war, i. 307, &c. Extraordinary distempers of a Huron woman: ridiculous methods used for her cure, i. 349, &c. In what disposition the author finds the Hurons of the Narrows, ii. 11. In what manner they punish assassing ii. 33.

Hair. Why the Indians have no hair on their bodies,

ii. 91.

I.

Jefuits. Description of their college at Quebec, i. 106,

Illinois, an Indian nation; their origin appears to be the fame with that of the Miamies, i. 287. River of the Illinois, ii. 199. Reception they give to prisoners, ii. 201, &c. Manner in which they burn them, ii. 203. Remarks on their parties of war, ii. 203. Mournful fongs of these Indians, ii. 204. Remarkable story of one of their chiefs, ii. 208, 209. Manner of lamenting their dead, ii. 210. Different tribes of these Indians, ii. 227, 228. Usefulness of the port of the Illinois, ii. 235, 236. Distinguishing marks of the Illinois warriors, ii. 243.

Indians. Devotion of the christian Indians of Loretto, i. 117, 118. Preparations and superstitious practices of the Indians, for hunting the bear, i. 180, &c. Manner of their hunting that animal: ridiculous ceremony when they have killed a bear, i. 184, 185. Reception of the hunters at their return, i. 185. Of their hunting dogs, i. 187. They marry the net before they use it, i. 23. Character of the Indians about Hudfon's bay, i. 281. Of the other Indians of Hudson's bay, i. 281. Of the other Indians of Hudson's bay, i. 286, 287. Manner of declaring war among the Indians, i. 315, 316. Motives which engage them to war, i. 327, 328. See War.

Indians. Their nation of courage, i. 332. Cause of the barbarity they exercise towards their prisoners of war, i. 375. Their dexterity in negotiation, i. 380, &c. Indians of Canada, why more easily converted than civilized nations, ii. 20. General idea of their government, ii. 21. Division of the nation into tribes, ii. 21, 22. Observation on the names of the chiefs: of the succession and election of those chiefs and their power. ii. 23, 24. Of the assistants or counsellors of the body of the elders of the war chiefs, ii. 24, 25. Power of the women in some nations, ii. 25, 26. Wisdom

of their councils: their orators, ii. 26, 27. Of the government of villages; its defects; their causes, ii. 29. Of their sensibility of the point of honour, ii. 36. Care of the young Indians in adorning themselves, ii. 40, 41. Indian sabout lake Superior, ii. 44, 45. Their traditions about Michillimakinac, ii. 45. Their Marriages, ii. 48, &c. Jealousy of the Indians, ii. 50. Of the imposing this name amongst them: remarks upon it, ii. 55, 56. The Indians of the bay dance the Calumet, ii. 67. Superstition of the Indians bordering on the bay, ii. 73, 74. Different nations to the northward and the westward of Canada, ii. 74, 75.

Indians of Canada; their personal appearance; their strength; their vices, ii. 78, 79. Why they do not encrease; advantages they have over us, ii. 80, 81. Their eloquence, ii. 83. Their memory, penetration, and judgment, ii. 83, 84. Their greatness of soul, ii. 84. Their constancy under pain; their valour, ii. 84, &c. Their regard for one another, ii. 86, 87. Their fierceness and other faults; of the qualities of the heart, ii. 87, 88. Instances of the little natural affection children have for their parents; particular societies amongst them, ii. 89, 90. Of their colour; why they have no hair on their bodies, ii. 90, 91. Their fecrefy with respect to the simples and mines of their country, ii. 101. Dreadful consequences of drunkenness amongst them, ii. 105, 106. Their happinefs, ii. 107. Contempt of our manner of life, ii. 108. Care the Indian mothers take of their children; ridiculous shapes which some of them give them, ii. 109, Gr. What strengthens and renders them so well made; their first exercises and the emulations amongst them, ii. 114. To what the education given them may be reduced to, ii. 114, 115. Their passions, ii. 115. Their dress, ii. 116, 117. In what manner they prick their whole bodies, ii. 118. How and for what purpose they paint their faces, ii. 119. Ornaments of the men, of the women, ii. 119, 120. Their occupations; of the culture of the land; of feed-time and harvest, ii. 121, 122. Of the different grains and pulse they cultivate, of their manner of dressing them; of their other victuals, ii. 123, 124. Labours of the

men and women, ii. 125, 126. Their utenfils; form of their villages, ii. 126, 127. Their manner of fortifying them, ii. 128. Of their winter encampments, and what they suffer in them, ii. 129, &c. nastiness, ii. 133. Inconveniences which summer occasions them, ii. 1:4. Their character in brief, ii. 136, &c. Origin of mankind according to the Indians. Their notion of spirits, ii. 143, 144. ii. 141, &c. Their facrifices, ii. 148. Their fasts and vows, ii. 148, 149. Resemblance of the Indians to the Hebrews; their priests, ii. 150, 151. Indian vestals, ii. 151. Their opinion of the immortality of the foul, of what becomes of it after it is separated from the body: why they carry victuals to the tombs, ii. 152, 153. Presents which they make to the dead, ii. 153. How they pretend to merit eternal happiness, ii. 154, 155. notion of the fouls of beafts, ii. 155. Of the nature of dreams according to them, ii. 156, &c. Ordinary diseases amongst these people, ii. 176, &c. they make of their fimples, ii. 173. Divers other remedies they use, ii. 174, 175. Principles on which their medicine is founded; their extravagant notion of diseases, ii. 176, 177. What passes at their death, ii. 189. Their generosity to the dead of their funerals and tombs, ii. 186, 187. Their notion of ghosts, ii. 183. Their different practices with respect to the dead, ii. 189. Their notion of those who die a violent death, ii. 192. The pains they take to surprize their enemies, ii. 216. Traditions of the fin of the first woman, and the deluge amongst the Indians, ii. 228, 229. Their notion of the stars, how they know the north when the sky is overcast, ii. 230. notion of eclipses and thunder, ii. 231. Their manner of dividing time, ii. 232, 233. On the islands of the Martyrs; what passes between them and the French that were shipwrecked, ii. 322. Embarrassment on their part, ii. 325. Who these Indians were, ii.

Iraigo of Louisiana, ii. 255.

Iroquois of the Fall of St. Lewis and the mountain; disorders amongst them occasioned by brandy, i. 219. Origin of their settlement at the Fall of St. Lewis, i. 269, 270.

Religious zeal of the first inhabitants of that colony, i. 271. Policy of the Iroquois, ii. 28.

Island of Birds, i. 85.

Island aux Coudres, its situation, i. 93.

Island of Orleans, i. 97.

Island of Richelieu and St. Francis, i. 189, 190.

Isle of Jesus, i. 216. Isles of St. Peter, i. 83.

Jugglers of Canada, ii. 167, 168. Their tricks, ii. 168. &c. Installation of the Jugglers, ii. 171. Impostures of the Jugglers, their cruelty to sick persons when given over, ii. 177. Jugglers of Acadia called Autmoins, ii. 178. Jugglers of the Natchez, ii. 270.

K.

Kaskasquias, description of it, ii. 221, 222. Kicapous, an Indian nation, i. 287.

L.

Lakes of Canada, observation on their currents, ii. 78. Lake of Pontchartrain, ii. 312.

Lake of St. Peter, i. 177.

Lake of the Assiniboils, i. 282.

Lakes, flux and reflux of those of Canada, i. 314.

Lake Superior, its description, ii. 43, 44. Indian fable about that lake: mines of copper on its banks, ii. 44,

Laët, (John de) what he thought of the opinions of father Acosta, Lescarbot, Brerewood, and Grotius, of the origin of the Americans, i. 11, &c. His quarrel with Grotius on that subject, i. 16, &c. His own opinion, i. 27, &c. What he says of that of Moraëz, i. 31.

Languages of Canada. The Huron language; the Algonquin language: character of those two languages, i.

299, &.

Law, (M.) his grant at the Akeonsas, ii. 247.

Loretto, village in Canada; description of his mission in that place: zeal of the Indians in that place, i. 116,

Louisiana.

Louisiana. Fruit trees of that country, ii. 223. Its forests, ii. 345. Where the settlements ought to be placed, ii. 298. Cause of the unjust notion entertained of it in France, ii. 300. Desertions frequent in Louisiana, ii. 353.

Licenses, abuse of, i. 127.

M.

Maïz. The corn of Canada, ii. 122. Of Maïz bread, ii. 124.

Maladies, the ordinary, amongst the Indians, ii. 172. Their extravagant notions about them, ii. 177.

Magdalen, Cape of, i. 79.

Alagicians, their punishment amongst the Indians, ii.

Mallomines, or wild-oat men, an Indian nation, ii. 6r.

Marameg, river; its mines, ii. 219.

Marriages, of the Indians, of the plurality of wives and husbands, ii. 48, 49. Particular laws relating to marriage, ii. 49. In what manner marriages are contracted, ii. 50. Ceremonies usual in it, ii. 52.

Marshal, English interloper at Biloxî, ii. 352. His fate,

Martyrs Indians on the Islands of Martyrs, ii. 322. Description of these islands, ii. 329. Great currents between these islands and the Tortugas, ii. 334.

Matanzas. Description of the bay of Matanzas, ii. 361.

Maubile, river of, ii. 308.

Mascoutius, an Indian nation, i. 287.

Medicine, principles upon which that of the Indians turns,

ii. 179. Miamis, Indians, feem to have the fame original with the Illinois, i. 287. Customs peculiar to them in preparing for war, i. 334. Games used amongst them, ii. 102, Cc.

Michigan, lake, danger of the navigation on it: observation on the rivers which run into it from the East, ii.

Michillimakinac. Situation of that post, ii. 43. Traditions of the Indians about Michillimakinac: plentiful fishery in that canton, ii. 45, 46.

Missippi.

Missippi. Entrance into that river by that of the Illinois. ii. 217. Confluence of the Missouri and Missippi, ii. 218. Description of it above the Illinois, ii. 224, &c. Manner of sailing on it, ii. 237. Changes which have happened at its mouth, ii. 291. Of its channels, ii. 293. Of its principal mouth; other channels, ii. 294, &c. Its breadth between the channels, ii. 297. Description on the water of the Missisppi, ii. 316.

Missionaries at the Natchez, ii. 277.

Missiouri, the Indians of Missiouri, defeat a Spanish party, ii. 64. Missiouri river, of its confluence with the Mississippi, ii. 218. Nations settled on its banks, ii. 224.

Mines. Secrefy of the Indians with respect to their mines, ii. 101. Mines of the river Marameg, ii. 219. Mines of iron, ii. 241.

Money, changes made in that of Canada, i. 146.

Montreal. Difference between the country of Quebec and that of Montreal, i. 212. Description of the island and city of Montreal, i. 213, &c. Of the environs of that island, i. 217. Of the fair of Montreal, i. 220, 221.

Mourning, of the Indians of Canada, ii. 191. That of the Natchez, ii. 271.

Men, their origin, according to the Indians, ii. 141, &c.

N.

Natchez, an Indian nation, description of their country, ii. 252, &c. Description of their grand village and their temple, ii. 255, &c. Remarkable particularities of that nation, ii. 259, 260. Of their grand chief, and the woman chief, what happens at their death, ii. 260, &c. Their manners and customs, ii. 264, &c. Description of one of their festivals, ii. 266. They offer the first fruits in their temple: their marriages, ii. 266, 267. How they levy soldiers; of provisions; of their marches and encampments, ii. 267, 268. How they treat their prisoners; change of name in their warriors for a reward of their exploits; their jugglers, ii. 269, 270. In what their mourning consists;

inds; their treaties; audience given to embassadors, ii. 271, &c.

Niagara, River; its description, i. 341. Project for a fettlement on that river; fruitless opposition of the English, i. 343. Description of the country of Niagara, i. 345. Description of the falls of Niagara; observations on, i. 352, &c.

wame, observation on the names of the Indian chiefs, ii. 23. Of the ceremony of imposing names among these people: observations on that subject, ii. 55, 56.

Noquets, Indians; bay of the Noquets, ii. 60.

Newfoundland. Of the inhabitants of that island, i. 273.

O.

Officeations on the heat and on the latitudes, ii. 355, 356. Observations on the colony of Cape François, in St. Domingo, ii. 373.

Olivau Mouche of Canada, in what it differs from the Colibry of the islands, i. 241.

Ontario. Description of the southern coast of lake Ontario, i. 326, 327.

Onneyouth. Courage of an Onneyouth captain, burnt by the Hurons, i. 277, &c.

Orleans New; its description, ii. 273, 274. Remarks on its situation; little depth of soil below that city, ii. 289, 290. Its condition at the departure of the author, ii. 291.

Onabuche river; its fituation, ii. 241.

Ouma:, an Indian nation, ii. 284.

Outagamies, Indians, i. 287.

Outawars. Indians, i. 285.

Oaks of two kinds in Canada.

Oysers of two forts on the coast of Florida, ii. 336.

Ρ.

Parrots of Louisiana, ii. 205.

Passengers, escaped from the shipwreck of the Adour; what pass between them and the Indians of the Martyrs, ii. 322. They suspect the clew, ii. 323. Several saved by interposition of providence, ii. 324. Anxiety which the Indians occasion them, ii. 325.

Partridges,

Partridges, three kinds of, in Canada, i. 238.

Pensaccia. Tides on that coast, ii. 342. State of that port in 1722. Description of the bay of Pensaccia, ii. 348. It is given up to the Spaniards, ii. 351, 352. Pimiteouy. Village of the Illinois, ii. 205. Remarkable

Pimiteouy. Village of the Illinois, ii. 205. Remarkable flory of the chief of that village, ii. 209. His follicitude for the fafety of father Charlevoix, ii. 210, 211. His daughter is baptized, ii. 212.

Pines, red and white, ii. 97. Of two forts in Canada, i. 246.

Plymouth; arrival at Plymouth; description of that harbour, ii. 376, 377.

Pointe coupee, ii. 249. Second Pointe coupec, ii. 282.

Poutewatamies, Indians. i. 286. Their reception of the author, ii. 12. Islands of the Poutewatamies, ii. 60. Of their chief and orator, ii. 104.

Priests, who are priests among the Indians, ii. 171.

Prisoners of war among the Indians; their first reception, i. 368. Their bravadoes, i. 369. Their sufferings on entering a village, i. 370. Distribution made of them, i. 371. In what manner their sate is determined, i. 371, &c. Of those who are adopted: of those who are condemned to b. burnt, i. 373. In what manner they receive their condemnation, i. 374. Causes of the barbarity exercised against them, i. 375. Their reception amongst the Illinois, and the manner in which they are burnt, ii. 201, &c. How they are treated among the Natchez, ii. 269.

Provençal. Remarkable adventure of a Provençal ship, i. 115, 116.

Pyromancy practifed among the Indians, ii. 170.

Q.

Quebec. Origin of the name of that city, i. 99. Its fituation, i 100: Description of that city and its principal edifices, i. 101, &c. The bishoprick, i. 103. The cathedral and seminary, i. 104. Of the fort and cape Diamond, ii. 105. Of the Recollets and Ursulines, i. 106. Of the college of Jesuits, i. 107. The Hotel Dieu, i. 108. The hospital general, i. 109. The fortifications, i. 110. Of the inhabitants, i. 112. Difference between the country of Quebec and that of Montreal, i. 212.

Vol. II. D d Rapides.

R.

Description of the rapides of the river St. Rapides. Laurence, i. 292, 293, 296. Rat, Musk; its description, i. 168. Rac. Cape, of its fituation, i. 82. Recollets. Description of their house at Quebec, i. Richelieu. Islands of, i. 189. Fort of Richelieu, i. 194. River of Beckancourt, whence it has got the name of the Stinking River, i. 174, 175. River of the Meadows, i. 217. River of father Marguette, ii. 95, 96. River of the Illinois, ii. 199, &c. Its course, ii. 216, 217. Its entry into the Miffinippi, ii. 217. River Onabache, ii. 240, 241. River of the Chicachas, ii. 244. River of the Akansas: its Description, ii. 246. River of the Yasous, ii. 249. River, Red, ii. 281. River of the Maubile, ii. 308. Rivers. Observations on those which fall into lake Mi-

S.

chigan, ii. 94.

Saguenay, river, i. 91.
Sacrifices of the Indians, ii. 147.
Sagamety, ordinary food of the Indians, ii. 123.
St. Bernard, bay of, ii. 309.
St. Mark of Apulache, Spanish fort; description of its environs, ii. 338, 339.
St. Joseph. Description of the bay and fort of St. Joseph: civility of the Spanish governor, ii. 345, 346.
St. Domingo. Course from the gulph of Florida to St. Domingo, ii. 362.
St. Rose. Channel and island of, ii. 347.
St. Lawrence. Gulph of, i. 85.
St. Lawrence. River of, entrance into it, i. 86, 87. Of its tides, and the variation of the compass, i. 96.

INDEX:

Fish found in it, i. 233, &c. Description of its Rapides, i. 292, 293, 296.

St. Francis. Islands and village of, i. 190. Lake of St. Francis, i. 295, 296.

St. Paul. Bay of, i. 94.

St. Peter, Islands of, i. 83. Lake of St. Peter, i. 177,

An Indian nation, ii 63. Council held by them, and on what account, ii. 65, 66.

Sassafras tree of Canada, ii. 100.

Seine. The Indians marry that net before they use it, i. 236.

Simples. Secrely of the Indians with respect to the Simples of their country, ii. 101. Use they make of them, ii. 173.

Snake. Rattle-snake; its description; remedy against its bite, i. 243, 244.

Siouse Indians, their manner of living, i. 280, &c.

Sorcerers amongst the Indians, ii. 165, 166,

Sweating. Use made of it by the Indians, ii. 175.
Spaniards. One of their parties defeated by the Indians of Missouri, ii. 64.

Sturgeon. Manner of fishing it, i. 236.

Sword-fish. Description of it, and its combat with the whale, i. 77.

Stinkards. Indians so called, ii. 61. Fort and mission of the bay of the Stinkards, ii. 62.

Spirits. What they are amongst the Indians, ii. 143. See Genii.

Ť.

Tastouffue, Harbour of, i. 92, 93.

Tuënsas, an Indian nation, ii. 286.

Tamarouas, Illinois nation, their village, ii. 218, 219.

Tempest. Its bad consequences, ii. 311,

Temple of the Natchez; its description, ii. 255, 2. First fruits offered in that temple, ii. 266, 267.

Thenkiki river; its source, ii. 184. Its description, 197, 198.

Thou-

Thou'ouse, Island of, ii. 293, 294.

Thunder. Opinion of the Indians about it, ii. 231.

Tombs. Why the Indians carry victuals to their tombs, ii. 153. Of the Indian tombs, ii. 187, 188.

Tonicus. Indian nation; description of their village; of their chief; state of that nation, ii. 280.

Tonibata. Island, its fituation, i. 296.

Torro fes. In what those of Canada and Acadia are remarkable, i. 234.

Tortugus. Islands of, great currents between them and the Martyrs, ii. 334.

Trade in brandy; diforders it occasions among the Iroquois of the fall of St. Lewis, and of La Montagne, i. 219.

Trois Rivieres, Town of, its fituation, i. 176. Defeription of it, i. 178. Origin of its settlement, i. 179.

Trates. A kind of branchers; their paffage into Canada, i. 262.

Tides in the river St. Laurence, i. 96. Sort of tide in the lakes of Canada, i. 314. Tides on the coast of Benfacola, ii. 312.

Tres pocular to Canada, i. 249. Why the trees in Canada have no leaves in the month of May, i. 315. Front trees in Louisiana, ii. 223. Why the leaves fall so soon and come out so late in Louisiana, ii. 238.

V.

Virch res, (madame and mademoiselle de) brave action of these two Canadian ladies, i. 195.

Testals. If there are any fuch among the Indians, ii.

Villages. Form of the Indian ones; manner in which they are fortified, ii. 127, &c.

Vows of the Indians, ii. 149.

Fixa es. Inconveniencies of voyages in Canada, i. 325, 326. Pleasures of such voyages, ii. 3. U sulines of Quebec, i. 106.

W.

Wampum, or Porcelain of Canada, i. 318. Of the branches and collars of Wampum, their use, i. 319, 320.

War. Manner of finging the war fong among the Indians, i. 315. Of the God of war, i. 316. Of the declaration of war, i. 317. Motives which engage the Indians to make war, i. 327, 328. In what manner they refolve upon it; preparations of the chief, i. 328, 329. Deliberations of the council; measures taken for having prisoners, i. 330. Songs, dance, and feasts of the warriors, i. 331, 332. Trials made of the warriors; precautions for the wounded, i. 333. Farewell of the warriors, i. 336, Their arms offensive and defensive, i. 337, 337. 338. Their care to take their Gods along with them, i. 338. Of the march of the warriors, i. 357, 358. Of their encampment; of the meeting of different warlike parties, i. 358. Of their entering an enemy's country; of the approaches and attack, i. 359, 360. Their manner of fighting; their instinct in finding out the tracks of the enemy, i. 361. monuments they leave of victory; precautions for fecuring the retreat and guarding the prisoners, i. 362. How they proclaim the victory in the villages, i. 363. Triumph of the warriors, i. 368.

Widowhood. Of widowhood and fecond marriages among

the Indians, ii. 191.

Woman. Tradition of the fin of the first woman among the Indians, ii. 228, 229. Woman chief of the Natchez, ii. 260, &c. Women, their power in some Indian nations, ii. 25, 26. Advantages of the mothers over the fathers, ii. 53. Of their lying-in, and its consequences, ii. 54. Of the care they take of their children, ii. 55.

II hale. His combat with the fword fish, i. 77. Of the

whale-fishery in the river St. Laurence, i. 229.

Wolf, Sea. Of its fishery, i. 222. Description of that animal; its different kinds, i. 223. Use of its flesh

and skin, i. 224. Remarkable things of that animal, i. 225, 226.

Wheat. Why it has not succeeded in Louisiana, ii. 239.

Y,

Vafous. Indian nation: river of the Yasous, ii. 250. Of the fort of the Yasous, i. 250. Alligators in the river, i. 251.

FINIS.